# **BOOK OF ABSTRACTS**

The 3rd International Conference and Summer School Numerical Computations: Theory and Algorithms NUMTA 2019



edited by

Yaroslav D. Sergeyev Dmitri E. Kvasov Marat S. Mukhametzhanov Maria Chiara Nasso

# UNIVERSITÀ DELLA CALABRIA

Centro Editoriale e Librario



#### University of Calabria, Rende (CS), Italy in cooperation with Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, USA

## Book of Abstracts of the 3rd International Conference and Summer School

## Numerical Computations: Theory and Algorithms

edited by
Yaroslav D. Sergeyev
Dmitri E. Kvasov
Marat S. Mukhametzhanov
Maria Chiara Nasso

Le Castella - Isola Capo Rizzuto Crotone, Italy June 15-21, 2019

> UNIVERSITÀ DELLA CALABRIA Centro Editoriale e Librario















**Gruppo Nazionale** per il Calcolo Scientifico





In cooperation with **Siam**.

and under the high patronage of the municipality of Crotone

Centro Editoriale e Librario dell'Università della Calabria

Edizione eBook 2019 isbn 9788874581016

Via A. Savinio (Edificio Polifunzionale) - 87036 Rende (CS) - Italy

Tel. (0984) 493440

Sito web: http://cel.unical.it

#### Scientific Committee

Lidia Aceto, Italy Andy Adamatzky, UK Francesco Archetti, Italy Thomas Bäck, Netherlands Roberto Battiti, Italy Roman Belavkin, UK Giancarlo Bigi, Italy Paola Bonizzoni, Italy Luigi Brugnano, Italy Sergiv Butenko, USA Sonia Cafieri, France Tianxin Cai, China Cristian Calude, New Zealand Antonio Candelieri, Italy Mario Cannataro, Italy Giovanni Capobianco, Italy Domingos Cardoso, Portugal Francesco Carrabs, Italy Emilio Carrizosa, Spain Leocadio Casado, Spain Carmine Cerrone, Italy Raffaele Cerulli, Italy Marco Cococcioni, Italy Salvatore Cuomo, Italy Louis D'Alotto, USA Oleg Davydov, Germany Renato De Leone, Italy Alessandra De Rossi, Italy Kalyanmoy Deb, USA Francesco Dell'Accio, Italy Branko Dragovich, Serbia Gintautas Dzemyda, Lithuania Yalchin Efendiev, USA Michael Emmerich, Netherlands Adil Erzin, Russia Yury Evtushenko, Russia Giovanni Fasano, Italy Serife Faydaoğlu, Turkey

Luca Formaggia, Italy

Elisa Francomano, Italy Masao Fukushima, Japan David Gao, Australia Manlio Gaudioso, Italy Victor Gergel, Russia Jonathan Gillard, UK Daniele Gregori, Italy Vladimir Grishagin, Russia Mario Guarracino, Italy Nicola Guglielmi, Italy Jan Hesthaven, Switzerland Felice Iavernaro, Italy Mikhail Khachay, Russia Oleg Khamisov, Russia Timos Kipouros, UK Lefteris Kirousis. Greece Yurv Kochetov, Russia Olga Kostyukova, Belarus Vladik Kreinovich, USA Dmitri Kvasov, Italy Hoai An Le Thi, France Wah June Leong, Malaysia Øystein Linnebo, Norway Antonio Liotta, UK Marco Locatelli, Italy Stefano Lucidi, Italy Maurice Margenstern, France Vladimir Mazalov, Russia Francesca Mazzia, Italy Maria Mellone, Italy Kaisa Miettinen, Finland Edmondo Minisci, UK Nenad Mladenovic, Serbia Ganesan Narayanasamy, USA Ivo Nowak, Germany Donatella Occorsio, Italy Marco Panza, USA Massimo Pappalardo, Italy

Remigijus Paulavičius, Lithuania Hoang Xuan Phu, Vietnam Stefan Pickl, Germany Raffaele Pisano, France Yuri Popkov, Russia Mikhail Posypkin, Russia Oleg Prokopyev, USA Davide Rizza, UK Massimo Roma, Italy Valeria Ruggiero, Italy Maria Grazia Russo, Italy Nick Sahinidis, USA Leonidas Sakalauskas, Lithuania Yaroslav Sergeyev, Italy (Chair) Khodr Shamseddine, Canada Sameer Shende, USA Vladimir Shvlo, Ukraine Theodore Simos, Greece Vinai Singh, India Majid Soleimani-Damaneh, Iran William Spataro, Italy Maria Grazia Speranza, Italy Giandomenico Spezzano, Italy Rosamaria Spitaleri, Italy Alexander Strekalovskiy, Russia Roman Strongin, Russia Gopal Tadepalli, India Tatiana Tchemisova, Portugal Gerardo Toraldo, Italy Vassili Toropov, UK Hiroshi Umeo, Japan Michael Vrahatis, Greece Song Wang, Australia Gerhard-Wilhelm Weber, Poland Luca Zanni, Italy Anatoly Zhigliavsky, UK Antanas Žilinskas, Lithuania Julius Žilinskas, Lithuania Joseph Zyss, France

#### Organizing Committee

Panos Pardalos, USA

Francesco Dall'Accio (Rende, Italy)
(SIAM representative)
Alfredo Garro (Rende, Italy)
Vladimir Grishagin (Nizhni Novgorod, Russia)
Dmitri Kvasov (Rende, Italy)

Marat Mukhametzhanov (Rende, Italy) Maria Chiara Nasso (Rende, Italy) Clara Pizzuti (Rende, Italy) Davide Rizza (Norwich, UK) Yaroslav Sergeyev (Rende, Italy) This page intentionally left blank

# Table of Contents

Welcoming message of Chairman of NUMTA-2019 Yaroslav D. Sergeyev	21
Plenary lectures	23
Infinite Games on Finite Graphs using Grossone	25
Recent advances on the use of ${\mathfrak D}$ in optimization and regularization problems $\ .\ .\ .$ $Renato\ De\ Leone$	26
Karush-Kuhn-Tucker Proximity Measure for Convergence of Real-parameter Single and Multi-Objective Optimization	27
Numerical modeling of flow in fractured porous media and fault reactivation $Luca\ Formaggia,\ Anna\ Scotti$	28
Precision Algorithms	29
Numerical differentiation on the Infinity Computer and applications for solving ODEs and approximating functions	30
Generalizations of the intermediate value theorem for approximations of fixed points and zeroes of continuous functions	31
Uniformly distributed sequences and space-filling	32
Tutorials	33
Vector kinetic approximations to fluid-dynamics equations	35
Grossone-based Infinity Computing with Numerical Infinities and Infinitesimals . $Yaroslav\ D.\ Sergeyev$	36
Design optimization techniques for industrial applications: challenges and progress	37
Special sessions	39
$Approximation:\ methods,\ algorithms\ and\ applications\ \dots\dots\dots$	41
Laplace Transform Inversion for multiexponential decay data by smoothing	
L-splines	43
An Adaptive Refinement Scheme for Radial Basis Function Collocation	44

Interpolation by bivariate quadratic polynomials and applications to the scattered data interpolation problem	45
A 3D efficient procedure for Shepard interpolants on tetrahedra	46
Comparison of Shepard's like methods with different basis functions Filomena Di Tommaso, Francesco Dell'Accio	47
A SVE approach for the numerical solution of ordinary differential equations $Nadaniela\ Egidi,\ Pierluigi\ Maponi$	48
Edge-driven interpolation with discontinuous kernels and applications in medical imaging	49
Wolfgang Erb, Stefano De Marchi, Francesco Marchetti, Emma Perracchione and Milvia Rossini	
A New Remez-type Algorithm for Best Polynomial Approximation Lorella Fatone, Nadaniela Egidi, Luciano Misici	50
Gauss and anti-Gauss quadrature rules applied to integral equations of the second kind	51
Advanced numerical treatment of an accurate SPH method	52
On non-parametric regressions by means of multivariate polysplines	53
Weighted polynomial approximation on the square by de la Vallée Poussin	
means	54
Recovering discontinuous functions via local multiquadric interpolation with adaptive nonlinear estimate of the shape parameter	55
On some applications of generalized Kantorovich sampling operators Gert Tamberg, $Olga\ Graf$	56
Numbers, Algorithms and Applications (Pythagorean Stream)	<b>57</b>
New approaches to basic calculus: an experimentation via numerical computation Fabio Caldarola, Luigi Antoniotti, Gianfranco d'Atri, Antonino Leonardis, Marco Pellegrini	59
From the ancient Pythagorean School to contemporary mathematical models: paradoxes of the infinite and ontological dilemmas	60
Numerical problems in XBRL reports and the use of blockchain as trust enabler Gianfranco d'Atri, Le Van Thanh, Dino Garrì, Stella d'Atri	61

Modelling on human intelligence a Machine Learning System	62
Algorithms for Jewelry Industry 4.0	63
Addition of Integers Embodied in Cellular Automata with Different Representations	64
Clustering analysis to profile customers behaviour in POWER CLOUD energy community	65
A symbolic model for infinitesimal calculus	66
A geometrical proof for generalized Goodstein's theorem	67
A multi-factor RSA-like scheme with fast decryption based on Rédei rational functions over the Pell hyperbola	68
Some results about n-sets	69
The Carboncettus quasi-regular octagon and other polygons	70
The Arithmetic of Infinity within the continuum of enquiry: experiences in schools	71
A computational approach with MATLAB software for nonlinear equation roots finding in High School Maths	72
A problem-solving approach to Diophantine equations in Math education contest $Sabrina\ Tiralongo,\ Annarosa\ Serpe$	73
Optimization and Management of Water Supply	<b>75</b>
Numerical experimentations for a new set of local indices of a water network Marco A. Bonora, Fabio Caldarola, Joao Muranho, Joaquim Sousa, Mario Maiolo	77
A useful mathematical framework acting on a new set of local indices for urban water networks	78

approach for the optimal recognition of sensitive nodes in a water distribution network	79
Gilda Capano, Marco Amos Bonora, Manuela Carini, Mario Maiolo	
Performance management of demand and pressure drive analysis in a monitored water distribution network	80
Manuela Carini, Marco Amos Bonora, Gilda Capano, Rocco Cotrona, Daniela Pantusa, Joaquim Sousa, Mario Maiolo	00
Optimization model for water distribution network planning in a realistic orographic framework	81
Francesco Chiaravalloti, Marco Amos Bonora, Gilda Capano, Manuela Carini, Daniela Pantusa, JoaquimSousa, Mario Maiolo.	01
Seeking for a trade-off between accuracy and timeliness in meteo-hydrological modeling chains	82
Luca Furnari, Alfonso Senatore, Giuseppe Mendicino	
Scenario optimization in complex water supply systems for energy saving and a correct management under uncertainty	83
Optimizing rainwater harvesting systems for non-potable water uses and surface runoff mitigation	84
New Mathematical Optimization Approaches for LID Systems under Fuzzy Environment	85
Evaluation of an integrated seasonal forecast system for agricultural water management in Mediterranean regions	86
Optimization of submarine outfalls with a multiport diffuser design	87
Computational Methods for Data Analysis	89
Exact and Approximate Analytical Solutions for Nonlinearly Colloid	
Facilitated Solute Transport	91
Performance analysis of a multicore implementation for solving a two-dimensional inverse anomalous diffusion problem	92
Stochastic Mechanisms of Information Flow in Phosphate Economy of	0.0
Escherichia Coli	93

Adaptive RBF Interpolation for Estimating Missing Values in Geographical Big Data	94
	0.5
Data-based models for satellite images	95
Approximate leave-one-out cross-validation for nonparametric Bayesian Gaussian Process methods with applications to neural data	96
Numerical approach for NMR-based analysis of water mobility in wheat flour dough	97
First Order Methods in Optimization: Theory and Applications	99
Proximal Approaches for Matrix Estimation Problems	101
A Neural Network Approach for Parameters Estimation in Image Deblurring Carla Bertocchi, Marie-Caroline Corbineau, Emilie Chouzenoux, Marco Prato, Jean-Cristophe Pesquet	102
Learning the Invisible: Limited Angle Tomography, Shearlets and Deep Learning Tatiana A. Bubba, G. Kutyniok, M. Lassas, M. März, W. Samek, S. Siltanen and V. Srinivasan	103
Barzilai-Borwein rules in gradient projection methods: a redefinition for special constrained problems	104
Augmented Lagrangians with adaptive augmentation for bound and equality constrained quadratic programming problems	105
On the steplenght selection in Stochastic Gradient Methods	106
Adapting MPRGP Algorithm For Supervised Modelling of Biochemical Activities Employing SVM Classification	107
Convergence of an inexact forward–backward method for nonconvex nonsmooth problems	108
A gradient-based globalization strategy for the Newton method	109
	111
A parallel software platform for pathway enrichment	113

Improving Efficiency in Parallel Computing Leveraging Local Synchronization Franco Cicirelli, Andrea Giordano, Carlo Mastroianni	114
A General Formalism for Multidimensional Space-Time Discrete Structured Grid Modelling	115
Donato D'Ambrosio, Paola Arcuri, Mario D'Onghia, Rocco Rongo, William Spataro, Andrea Giordano, Davide Spataro, Alessio De Rango, Alfonso Senatore	
Preliminary model of saturated flow using Cellular Automata	116
A cybersecurity framework for classifying non stationary data streams exploiting genetic programming and ensemble learning	117
Neural word embeddings approach for a distributed management system in healthcare	118
A Dynamic Load Balancing technique for Parallel Execution of Structured Grid Models	119
Final Sediment Outcome from Meteorological Flood Events: a Multi-Modelling Approach	120
Parallel Algorithms for Multifractal Analysis of River Networks Leonardo Primavera, Emilia Florio	121
A methodology approach to compare performance of parallel programming models on HPC applications	122
Hierarchical Clustering of Spatial Urban Data	123
Numerical Analysis of Complex and Multiscale Systems	<b>125</b>
Numerical Algorithms for the Parametric Continuation of Stiff ODEs deriving from the Modeling of Combustion with Detailed Chemical Mechanisms Luigi Acampora and Francesco S. Marra	127
Modelling and Analysis of Functional Connectivity in EEG source level in Chlidren with Epilepsy	128
Pattern formation and numerical bifurcation analysis for a vegetation model Francesco Giannino, Konstantinos Spiliotis, Constantinos Siettos, Lucia Russo	129

The dynamics of a ring network with switched connections
Numerical approximation of center, stable and unstable manifolds of multiscale/stochastic systems
Effect of human interaction on forest-grassland dynamics: a numerical bifurcation analysis
Variational Analysis and Optimization Methods with Applications in Finance and Economics
Dynamic Risk Aversion and Risk Vulnerability
Characterization of efficient solutions in nonsmooth multiobjective problems using generalized invexity
Discrete Models for Dynamic Competitive Economic Equilibrium Problems 137 Shapour Heidarkhani, David Barilla, Giuseppe Caristi
Qualifications and stationary conditions for nonsmooth multiobjective mathematical programming problem with vanishing constraints
Agent-based models of spatial aggregation and their continuum limits 139 $Theodore\ Kolokolnikov$
A model of optimal consumption and borrowing with random time scale 140 Aleksandra Zhukova, Igor Pospelov
Philosophy of Mathematics: Applicability, Practice, and Numerical Computations
On the notion of mathematical formalism
A new syntax for diagrammatic logic: a generic figures approach
Concepts of approximate solutions and the finite element method
A comparison of new approaches to infinity
Re-evaluating the role of mathematics in biology: Is systems biology a break with the past?
Applied Infinity: Accuracy and Artefact

Bijections and Euclidean set-size measures	149
Affinity of views of Florenskij and Sergeyev on numeral systems and their applications in mathematics and computer science	150
Applied versus Situated Mathematics in Ancient Egypt: Bridging the Gap between Theory and Practice	151
In Quest for Invariant Structures through Graph Theory, Groups and Mechanics: Methodological Aspects in the History of Applied Mathematics Sandra Visokolskis, Carla Trillini	152
Regular Presentations	153
Rational Approximations of the Fractional Laplacian in Reaction-Diffusion Problems	155
Lidia Aceto, Paolo Novati	
Stability of DESA Optimization Algorithm and its Application to time series Susceptible-Infected-Recovered models	156
Applying Linear Optimization Methods to Problems with Internal Dependencies $Vladyslav\ Aksonov$	157
Preserving Stone Fruits	158
Conditions of the Stability Preservation under Discretization of a Class of Nonlinear Time-Delay Systems	159
A matlab code for the numerical solution of Multiparameter Spectral Problems . $Pierluigi\ Amodio,\ Giuseppina\ Settanni$	160
A Reinforcement Learning Approach to a Multi-agent N-armed Functional Bandit	161
Ovidiu Bagdasar, Sam O'Neill, Antonio Liotta	
Algorithms of 3D wind field reconstructing by lidar remote sensing data Nikolay Baranov	162
Intelligent Management Systems in Hotels: Machine Learning Meets Optimization Heuristics	163
Novel pinning adaptive intermittent control for finite-time function projective synchronization of delayed nonlinear complex dynamical networks with	164
hybrid coupling	164
Verified solution of ODEs by Taylor models implemented in MATLAB/INTLAB Florian Bünger	165

Bayesian Optimization of partially defined functions under unknown constraints: approximating feasible region boundary via Support Vector Machine Antonio Candelieri, Francesco Archetti	166
Dimensionality Reduction methods to scale Bayesian Optimization up	167
Pump Scheduling Optimization for water supply systems: a pilot in the peri-urban area of Milan	168
Network Science Strategies for Accelerating the Training of Artificial Neural Networks	169
Numerical simulation of astrophysical and astrochemical problems on supercomputers	170
An Efficient Solution to a Series of Weighted Least Squares Problems if Only Weights Vary	171
Approaching Lexicographic Mixed-Integer Linear Programming Problems	172
Objective and Violation Upper Bounds on a DIRECT-filter Method for Global Optimization	173
The approximate synthesis of optimal control for heterogeneous discrete systems with intermediate criteria	174
Modelling climate changes with stationary models: is it possible or is it a paradox?	175
An efficient optimal solution approach for the preference-based multicriteria shortest path problem with reference points	176
A Novel Geometric Approach to the Problem of Multidimensional Scaling Gintautas Dzemyda, Martynas Sabaliauskas	177
Finite-time stability for neural networks with time varying delay based on an improved reciprocally convex inequality	178

A Simulink-based Infinity Computer simulator and some applications Alberto Falcone, Alfredo Garro, Marat S. Mukhametzhanov, Yaroslav D. Sergeyev	179
Issues on Large Symmetric Indefinite Linear Systems and Grossone	180
Non-Archimedean Game Theory and the Infinity Computer: a Numerical Approach	181
High-performance algorithms for large-scale multiobjective radiotherapy planning problems	182
A Spherical Separation Approach for Multiple Instance Learning	183
Computing Stationary Equilibria in Multi-Leader-Follower Games $\ldots \ldots Masao\ Fukushima$	184
Enclosure of the Range of a Complex Polynomial Over a Complex Interval  Jürgen Garloff, Jihad Titi	185
MINLP formulations of the Feature Selection problem in SVM framework Manlio Gaudioso, Giovanni Giallombardo, Giovanna Miglionico	186
Multidimensional global search using numerical estimations of minimized function derivatives and adaptive nested optimization scheme	187
On a Family of Fourth-order Simple-root Finders	188
Convex Optimization for Structured Matrix Completion	189
Adaptive Nested Multiextremal Optimization in Accessible Region with Computable Boundaries	190
Fluid Flow and Meniscus Behavior during Horizontal Single Belt Casting (HSBC) of Aluminum Strips	191
Novel criteria for finite-time stability, dissipativity, and passivity analysis of discrete-time neural networks with time-varying delays	192
A dynamic precision floating-point arithmetic based on the Infinity Computer framework	193
Ensemble Modeling for Minimization of Noisy Expensive Functions	194

Noise-induced kinetic transition in two-component environment	195
Effect of Education Campaign on Mathematical Model SEIR for Controlling the Spread of Chickenpox	196
Constant-factor approximations for generalizations of the asymmetric Vehicle Routing and Traveling Salesman Problems	197
Exact Parameterized Linear-Time Algorithm for $K$ -Means Problem with Optimized Number of Clusters for the 1D Case	198
Polynomial-Time Approximation Scheme for a Problem of Searching for the Largest Subset	199
On a comparison of several numerical integration methods for ordinary systems of differential equations	200
On Polyhedral Estimates of Reachable Sets of Discrete-Time Systems with Uncertain Matrices and Integral Bounds on Additive Terms	201
Numerical Investigation Of Natural Rough-Bed Flow	202
Numerical Simulation Of Ski-Jump Hydraulic Behavior	203
Approximating the solution set of nonlinear inequalities by using Peano space-filling curves	204
Numerical simulation of Hyperbolic conservation laws using high Resolution schemes with the indulgence of Fuzzy logic	205
General framework for binary nonlinear classification on top samples $V\'{a}clav\ M\'{a}cha,\ Luk\'{a}\check{s}\ Adam,\ V\'{a}clav\ \check{S}m\'{i}dl$	206
On Faber's type decomposition for minimal spline spaces	207
Methodology for interval-valued matrix games with 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic information	208
Molecular Dynamics Performance Evaluation With Modern Computer Architecture	209

Existence and uniqueness of time-fractional diffusion equation on a star graph  Vaibhav Mehandiratta, Mani Mehra, Günter Leugering	210
Handling Ill-Conditioning in Some Optimization Problems via Infinity	
Computing	211
On the Exact Higher Order Differentiation Techniques on the Infinity Computer Marat S. Mukhametzhanov, Dmitri E. Kvasov, Yaroslav D. Sergeyev	212
Set-membership computation of integrals with uncertain endpoints $\dots \dots \dots$ Olivier Mullier, Julien Alexandre dit Sandretto	213
On Acceleration of Derivative-Free Univariate Lipschitz Global Optimization	04.4
Methods	214
On simplicial distances with a view to applications in statistics	215
Parallel Algorithms for Convex Mixed-Integer Nonlinear Optimization	216
An Approximation Polynomial-Time Algorithm for One Hard-to-Solve Weighted 2-Partitioning Problem of a Sequence	217
Finding Multiple Solutions to a Class of <i>p</i> -Laplace Problems Using Newton's Method	218
Suchismita Patra, V.V.K Srinivas Kumar  An enhanced BASBL solver for bilevel problems	219
Delay-dependent on Robust Exponential Stability Analysis and $H_{\infty}$ Performance for Uncertain Neutral Time-varying Delays Systems	220
Epidemic spreading curing strategy over directed networks	221
The singular value decomposition of the operator of the dynamic ray transform acting on 2D vector fields	222
Numerical investigation into a combined ecologically pure plasma-vortex generator of hydrogen and thermal energy	223
A massively parallel Lipschitzian global optimizer	224

computer modeling of electrochemical impedance spectra for defected phospholipid membranes: finite element analysis	225
Penkauskas Improved less conservative stability criteria for stochastic uncertain discrete-time neural networks with mixed delays and an impulse	226
A system of p-Laplacian equations on the Sierpiński gasket	227
Performance comparison of a geophysical code on manycore processors and hybrid clusters	228
Analysis of systems for operational data processing based on Big Data and their practical application	229
On an effective usage of numerical infinities and infinitesimals in economic models	230
Practical Enhancements for the LP/NLP Algorithm for Convex MINLPs $Meenarli\ Sharma\ and\ Ashutosh\ Mahajan$	231
Developing clustering algorithm for descriptor entities in education sector $\dots$ Ivan Sharun, Anna Zykina, Olga Kaneva,	232
Compact filter regularization and error estimate for solving sideways heat equation	233
Finite Difference Approximation for Space-Time Fractional Diffusion Wave Equations	234
Artificial Neural Network Model to Prediction of Eutrophication and <i>Microcystis aeruginosa</i> Bloom in Maekuang Reservoir, Chiangmai, Thailand <i>Pawalee Srisuksomwong, Jeeraporn Pekkoh</i>	235
Acceleration of global search through dual Lipschitz constant estimates	236
The method of approximate inverse in slice-by-slice vector tomography problems Ivan E. Svetov, Svetlana V. Maltseva, Alfred K. Louis	237
A Numerical Approach of a Certain Type of Mixed Functional Differential Equations	238

Robust $H_{\infty}$ control for polytopic uncertainties discrete-time neural networks with leakage time-varying delay	239
Sasithorn Udpin, Eakachai Suntonsinsoungvon	
Computational Fluid Dynamics Methods for Wind Resources Assesment  Sabine Upnere, Valerijs Bezrukovs, Vladislavs Bezrukovs, Normunds  Jekabsons, Linda Gulbe	240
On Stationary Points of Distance Depending Potentials	241
Learning Aerial Image Similarity using Triplet Networks	242
Integral and differential operators as the tools of integral geometry and tomography	243
Modelling population size using Horvitz-Thompson approach based on the Poisson Lindley distribution	244
On unconstrained optimization problems solved using CDT and triality theory . $Constantin\ Z\breve{a}linescu$	245
Potential usefulness of the grossone and infinity computer in probability $\dots \dots$ $Anatoly\ Zhigljavsky$	246
On some challenges in Bayesian global optimization	247
Ranking-based Discrete Optimization Algorithm for Asymmetric Competitive Facility Location	248
Formulation of the preparation problem of a commercial product batch under uncertainty	249
List of authors	<b>254</b>

# NUMERICAL COMPUTATIONS: THEORY AND ALGORITHMS Third International Conference and Summer School NUMTA-2019 15-21 June 2019, Le Castella - Isola Capo Rizzuto (Crotone), Italy

Dear Participants,

Welcome to the Third Triennial International Conference and Summer School NUMTA-2019 "Numerical Computations: Theory and Algorithms". The Conference is organized by the University of Calabria, Department of Computer Engineering, Modeling, Electronics and Systems Science, Italy. We are proud to inform you that, as the previous two editions, NUMTA-2019 is organized in cooperation with the Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), USA. This edition has been organized under the high patronage of the municipality of Crotone - the city of Pythagoras and his followers, the Pythagoreans. In fact, Pythagoras has established the first Pythagorean community in this city in the 6th century B.C. It is a very special feeling to return to these holy for any mathematician places with a conference dedicated to numerical mathematics.

This edition of the NUMTA Conference is dedicated to the 80th birthday of Professor Roman Strongin. For the past 50 years Roman Strongin has been a leader and an innovator in Global Optimization being an important field of Numerical Analysis having numerous real-life applications. His book on global optimization published in 1978 was one of the first in the world on this subject. Now it is a classic and has been used by many as their first introduction and continued inspiration for global optimization. Since that time Roman has published numerous books and more than 400 papers in several scientific fields and has been rewarded with many national and international honors including the President of the Russian Federation Prize. For decades Roman served as Dean, First Vice-Rector, and Rector of the famous Lobachevsky State University of Nizhniy Novgorod. Since 2008 he is President of this university. He is also Chairman of the Council of Presidents of Russian Universities, Vice-President of the Union of the Rectors of Russian Universities, and Chairman of the Public Chamber of the Nizhniy Novgorod Region.

The goal of all NUMTA Conferences is to create a multidisciplinary round table for an open discussion on numerical modeling nature by using traditional and emerging computational paradigms. The NUMTA-2019 Conference will discuss all aspects of numerical computations and modeling from foundations and philosophy to advanced numerical techniques. New technological challenges and fundamental ideas from theoretical computer science, machine learning, linguistic, logic, set theory, and philosophy will meet requirements and new fresh applications from physics, chemistry, biology, and economy.

Researchers from both theoretical and applied sciences have been invited to use this excellent possibility to exchange ideas with leading scientists from different research fields. Papers discussing new computational paradigms, relations with foundations of mathematics, and their impact on natural sciences have been particularly solicited. A special attention during the Conference will be dedicated to numerical optimization techniques and a variety of issues related to theory and practice of the usage of infinities

and infinitesimals in numerical computations. In particular, there will be a substantial bunch of talks dedicated to a new promising methodology allowing one to execute numerical computations with finite, infinite, and infinitesimal numbers on a new type of a computational device - the Infinity Computer patented in EU, Russia, and USA.

We are happy to inform you that researchers from the following 30 countries participate at the Conference: Argentina, Bulgaria, Canada, China, Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, India, Iran, Italy, Japan, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherlands, Philippines, Portugal, Romania, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Korea, Spain, Switzerland, Thailand, Ukraine, UK, and USA.

Authors of selected talks will be invited to submit full papers to special issues of the international journals Applied Mathematics and Computation and Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics (both produced by Elsevier) and Soft Computing (produced by Springer) dedicated to the Conference.

The Organizing Committee expresses its gratitude to institutions that have offered their support to the international conference NUMTA-2019. This support was essential for the success of this event:

- University of Calabria (Italy);
- Department of Computer Engineering, Modeling, Electronics and Systems Science of the University of Calabria (Italy);
- Italian National Group for Scientific Computation of the National Institute for Advanced Mathematics "F. Severi";
- Institute of High Performance Computing and Networking of the National Research Council (Italy);
- Springer;
- International Association for Mathematics and Computers in Simulation;
- International Society of Global Optimization.

We wish to all participants a very successful work and hope that the Conference will give you a lot of inspiration leading to new important results in your research fields.

Yaroslav D. Sergeyev Chairman of NUMTA-2019 President International Society of Global Optimization Distinguished Professor Head of Numerical Calculus Laboratory Department of Computer Engineering, Modeling, Electronics and Systems Science University of Calabria, Rende, Italy

# Plenary lectures

This page intentionally left blank

## Infinite Games on Finite Graphs using Grossone

#### Louis D'Alotto

York College, The City University of New York, Jamaica, Queens, New York 11451, USA and The Graduate Center, The City University of New York, 356 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York, 10016, USA ldalotto@york.cuny.edu

Keywords. Infinite games; Grossone; Finite Automata.

Finite board games that are played to infinity may sound like computer science fiction. Indeed, following the traditional Turing machine model, a computation is complete when it halts and produces some type of result. However when a game is played to infinity, it is implied that the game continues for an indefinite period (play continues without bound). It is easily seen that in a multiprogramming computer, when one process is satisfied, the operating system must continue and select another process to be executed. This is the ongoing operation and hence computation actually becomes a continuation action and, theoretically, without end. In the seminal work by Robert McNaughton (see [1]) a model of infinite games played on finite graphs is developed. The model proposes two players, Red and Black, that take turns moving from vertex to vertex along the directed edges of a bipartite graph, where each move corresponds to a different game configuration. This paper presents a new model of infinite games played on finite graphs using the Grossone paradigm (see [2] and [3]). The new Grossone model provides certain advantages such as allowing for a draw, which can result and are not uncommon in board games, and a more clear and decisive (accurate) method for determining the winner. Then, and subsequently, motivated by this infinite duration game model, a model to represent communication networks problems is proposed. Such a game model will be called an update network.

- [1] McNaughton, R. (1993) Infinite games played on finite graphs, Annals of Pure and Applied Logic, 65, pp. 149-184.
- [2] Sergeyev, Y.D., Arithmetic of Infinity, Edizioni Orizzonti Meridionali, Italy, 2003.
- [3] Sergeyev, Y.D., A New Applied Approach for Executing Computations with Infinite and Infinitesimal Quantities, Informatica, 19(4), (2008) 567-596.

# Recent advances on the use of ① in optimization and regularization problems

#### Renato De Leone

Università di Camerino, School of Science and Technology, Camerino (MC), ITALY renato.deleone@unicam.it

**Keywords.** Optimization problems, regularization problems,  $\mathfrak{D}$ ,  $l_0$  minimization.

In recent years, several classical optimization problems have been tackled using the novel approach to infinite and infinitesimal numbers proposed by Sergeyev [1–3]. The use of ① has been beneficial both in defining new approaches in constrained optimization [4] (for example, new differentiable exact penalty methods) and unconstrained problems (for example, conjugate gradient methods for indefinite matrices, variable metric approach to nonsmooth optimization).

After a review of the most important results in this context the talk will concentrate on regularization problems with smoothed  $l_0$  penalty. In order to avoid the difficulties due to the use of the  $l_0$  norm, two different approaches have been proposed in literature. The first is to replace the  $l_0$  norm with the  $l_1$  or  $l_2$  norm; the second technique uses a smooth function that will approximate the  $l_0$  norm of a vector. This approach requires the usage of a parameter  $\delta$  that must converge to 0. This difficulty can be avoided by using the novel approach to infinite and infinitesimal numbers. The methods used can be extended to classification and regression problems.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the grant from Indam-GNCS; 2018.

- [1] Sergeyev Y.D. Arithmetic of Infinity. Edizioni Orizzonti Meridionali, CS, 2003.
- [2] Sergeyev Y.D. A new applied approach for executing computations with infinite and infinitesimal quantities. *Informatica*, 19(4):567—596, 2008.
- [3] Sergeyev Y.D. Numerical point of view on calculus for functions assuming finite, infinite, and infinitesimal values over finite, infinite, and infinitesimal domains. Nonlinear Analysis Series A: Theory, Methods & Applications, 71(12):e1688–e1707, 2009.
- [4] De Leone R. Nonlinear programming and grossone: Quadratic programming and the role of constraint qualifications. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 318:290–297, 2018. cited By 8.

# Karush-Kuhn-Tucker Proximity Measure for Convergence of Real-parameter Single and Multi-Objective Optimization

#### Kalyanmoy Deb

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48864, USA kdeb@egr.msu.edu

**Keywords.** KKT optimality conditions; proximity measure; convergence, multiobjective optimization.

The proximity of an obtained solution to theoretical optimum is always the first priority to any optimization algorithm developer. In constraint optimization problems, Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) optimality conditions can at most determine a binary decision about a solution - a likely candidate of being the optimum, or not an optimum. However, further information about a solution's proximity to the theoretical optimum either in the variable space or in the objective space would be valuable to the algorithm developer. Such information will also be valuable to the applicationists in assessing the solution's quality and acceptability as a final solution. In this talk, we shall present a KKT proximity measure (KKTPM) based on approximate KKT point concepts suggested in the literature. KKTPM exhibits a high correlation of the difference from optimal objective value to the KKTPM value., thereby making KKTPM a measure of convergence to the true optimum. The concept of KKTPM is also extended for multiobjective optimization to determine the proximity of a solution's objective vector from the theoretical efficient set, without any knowledge of the theoretical efficient set. Results on standard two to 15-objective test problems and on a few engineering design optimization problems will be shown. The computational burden of optimization-based KKTPM calculation is reduced using a direct approach in which an approximate KK-TPM is computed. KKTPM has also been used to improve the performance of an evolutionary multi-objective optimization (EMO) algorithm in a unique way. Some other extensions and applications of the KKTPM will also be discussed to highlight the usefulness of the proposed KKTPM in single and multi-objective optimization. For further information, refer the following articles:

- [1] Dutta, J., Deb, K., Tulshyan, R. and Arora, R. (2013). Approximate KKT points and a proximity measure for termination. *Journal of Global Optimization*, 56(4), 1463-1499.
- [2] Deb, K. and Abouhawwash, M. (2016). An Optimality Theory Based Proximity Measure for Set Based Multi-Objective Optimization. *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, 20(4), 515-528.

# Numerical modeling of flow in fractured porous media and fault reactivation

Luca Formaggia, Anna Scotti

MOX, Department of Mathematics, Politecnico di Milano, Italy luca.formaggia@polimi.it, anna.scotti@polimi.it

**Keywords.** Fractured porous media; Frictional contact.

The study of flow in heterogeneous and fractured porous media finds application in several fields, from material science to bio-medicine, and geophysics. In the last here we have investigated several numerical techniques to describe flow in porous media in the presence of fracture networks, mainly with applications in subsurface flows.

Fractures in the subsurface are present with a very large variation of spatial scales, they may form complex networks and influence the underground flow considerably.

A common characteristic of fractures is the fact that their width (technically called aperture) is much smaller than the other dimensions. Therefore, it may be convenient to model them as as one-codimensional manifolds immersed in the porous matrix rock, possibly forming a network. We have then a coupled differential problem formed by the equations for the flow in the rock matrix and a reduced model posed on the tangential plane of the fracture. The model is completed by suitable coupling conditions describing the mass flow interchange between fracture and rock matrix and, in the case of networks, coupling conditions at the fracture intersections. We will review some recent results concerning the properties of numerical schemes for this class of problems.

In the case of faults, alteration of the flow field due, for instance, human activity, may alter the stress distribution and cause the risk of (micro)seismic activity (fault activation). In this situation the flow problem has to be coupled with a mechanical model of the rock, giving rise to a Biot model, and a frictional model to account the possibility of fault slip. We will present recent studies of a technique based on the minimization of a non-linear functional that allows to impose the friction condition without resorting to Lagrange multipliers.

- [1] Antonietti P.F., Formaggia L., Scotti A., Verani M. and Verzotti N. (2016) Mimetic finite difference approximation of flows in fractured porous media. *ESAIM:M2AN*, Vol. 50, pp. 809-832.
- [2] Formaggia L., Scotti A. and Sottocasa F. (2018) Analysis of a mimetic finite difference approximation of flows in fractured porous media. *ESAIM:M2AN*, Vol. 52, pp. 595-630.

## **Precision Algorithms**

Jan S. Hesthaven and Deep Ray

Chair of Computational Mathematics and Simulation Science (MCSS)
Institute of Mathematics, EPFL, Lausanne, CH
Jan.Hesthaven@epfl.ch, Deep.Ray@epfl.ch

**Keywords.** Nonlinear algorithms, neural networks conservation laws

Many algorithms contain parameters or specific nonlinear steps that require problem specific tuning for the algorithm to perform optimally. Classic examples include the definition of shape parameter in radial basis interpolation or the detection of bad cells when one solves conservation laws with high-order methods. However, choosing such parameters or local strategies is often complicated and difficult to achieve in an optimal manner since they depend on the solution/iteration etc. Another common bottleneck is a specific element of a algorithm in which the majority of the computational effort is spent, e.g., multi-scale problems in which the microscopic solver is very expensive.

In this talk we shall discuss the potential of using artificial neural networks to overcome such bottlenecks to allow optimal local parameter choices and a resulting acceleration or improved performance of the algorithm.

After a brief introduction to neural networks, we demonstrate this general idea through a number of specific examples, primarily motivated by challenges associated with the numerical solution of conservation laws.

While exemplified trough specific examples, the overall philosophy is general and conclude with a slightly more general discussion of the potential of such enhanced methods, referred to in this talk as precision algorithms.

# Numerical differentiation on the Infinity Computer and applications for solving ODEs and approximating functions

#### Francesca Mazzia

Dipartimento di Informatica, Università degli studi di Bari, Italy

**Keywords.** Ordinary Differential Equations, BS-Hermite-Obrechkov spline approximation, Initial Value Problems, grossone (①), Infinity Computer.

The computation of derivatives using the Infinity Computer arithmetic has recently motivated the analysis of algorithms for the numerical solution of ordinary differential equations that involve higher derivatives. Moreover the relation of some of these algorithms with spline quasi-interpolation methods of differential type allowed us to use the infinite computer arithmetic also in the context of approximation theory.

After a review of the most important results already reached in this context, the talk will deal with Hermite-Obrechkov methods for the solution of ODEs and their related spline quasi-interpolation schemes. We shall see that the use of ① produces a precise value of the total derivative without explicitly evaluating its analytical expression in terms of the derivatives of f. The final goal of this new approach is to improve the computational effort associated with the evaluation of the involved derivatives and make them competitive with respect to more standard integrators. A novel application that will be described is the use of the Infinity Computer also in the approximation context, using ② to compute the input data of quasi-interpolation schemes.

**Acknowledgements.** This work was funded by the INdAM-GNCS 2018 Research Project "Numerical methods in optimization and ODEs" (the author is member of the INdAM Research group GNCS).

- [1] Mazzia F., Sestini A., (2018) On a class of conjugate-symplectic Hermite-Obrechkov methods Hermite-Obreshkov One-Step Methods with Continuous Spline Extension Axioms, 7(3),58
- [2] Amodio P., Iavernaro F., Mazzia F., Mukhametzhanov M.S., and Sergeyev Ya.D. (2016). A generalized Taylor method of order three for the solution of initial value problems in standard and infinity floating-point arithmetic. Mathematics and Computer in Simulation,141:24-39.
- [3] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2013). Solving ordinary differential equations by working with infinitesimals numerically on the Infinity Computer. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 219(22):10668–10681.
- [4] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2011). Higher order numerical differentiation on the Infinity Computer. *Optimization Letters*, 5(4):575–585.

# Generalizations of the intermediate value theorem for approximations of fixed points and zeroes of continuous functions

#### Michael N. Vrahatis

Department of Mathematics, University of Patras, GR-26110 Patras, Greece vrahatis@math.upatras.gr

**Keywords.** Bolzano theorem; Bolzano-Poincaré-Miranda theorem; intermediate value theorems; existence theorems; fixed points; nonlinear equations; numerical optimization.

Generalizations of the tractional intermediate value theorem are presented. The obtained generalized theorems are particular useful for the existence of solutions of systems of nonlinear equations in several variables as well as for the existence of fixed points of functions and the localization and computation of extrema of objective functions.

The only computable information required by the numerical methods based on these generalized theorems is the algebraic sign of the function that is the smallest amount of information (one bit of information) necessary for the purpose needed, and not any additional information. Thus, these numerical methods are of major importance for tackling problems with imprecise (not exactly known) information. This kind of problems occurs in various scientific fields including mathematics, economics, engineering, computer science, biomedical informatics, medicine and bioengineering among others. This is so, because, in a large variety of applications, precise function values are either impossible or time consuming and computationally expensive to obtain.

Furthermore, these methods are particularly useful for tackling various problems where the corresponding functions take *very large* and/or *very small* values.

- [1] Vrahatis M.N. (1988) Solving systems of nonlinear equations using the nonzero value of the topological degree. *ACM Transactions on Mathematical Software*, Vol. 14, pp. 312–329.
- [2] Vrahatis M.N. (1989) A short proof and a generalization of Miranda's existence theorem. *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society*, Vol. 107, pp. 701–703.
- [3] Vrahatis M.N. (1995) An efficient method for locating and computing periodic orbits of nonlinear mappings. *Journal of Computational Physics*, Vol. 119, pp. 105–119.
- [4] Vrahatis M.N. (2016) Generalization of the Bolzano theorem for simplices. *Topology* and its Applications, Vol. 202, pp. 40–46.

## Uniformly distributed sequences and space-filling

Anatoly Zhigljavsky

Mathematics Institute, Cardiff University, CF24 4AG, UK zhigljavskyaa@cardiff.ac.uk

**Keywords.** Computer experiments; space covering; global optimization; kernel methods; discrepancy; dispersion

Let X be a compact subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and f be a black-box function on X. A standard objective in global optimization, computer experiments as well as in diverse applications is to approximate the behaviour of f on X from only a few evaluations in X. When little is known about the function, space-filling design is advisable: typically, points of evaluation spread out across the available space are obtained by minimizing a certain criterion measuring distance to uniformity.

In this talk, we follow [1,2] and review several classes of uniformity criteria including dispersion (or covering radius) and various discrepancies and establish connections between some of these criteria. We also investigates connections between design for integration (quadrature design), construction of the (continuous) best linear unbiased estimators for the location model, and minimization of energy (kernel discrepancy) for signed measures. Integrally strictly positive definite kernels define strictly convex energy functionals, with an equivalence between the notions of potential and directional derivative, showing the strong relation between discrepancy minimization and more traditional design of optimal experiments. In particular, kernel herding algorithms, which are special instances of vertex-direction methods used in optimal design, can be applied to the construction of point sequences with suitable space-filling properties.

We will pay special attention to kernels with singularities where the space-filling sequences have some very attractive properties of but the machinery of the reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces is not applicable. Various regularization techniques should be used in practise for solving arising optimization problems. In doing this we have to work with infinitesimals; in doing so we would advocate the use of the infinity computer of Ya.Sergeyev [3]. We will also observe big differences between the cases when the dimension d is small and when d is large.

- [1] Pronzato, L., Zhigljavsky, A. (2017). Measures minimizing regularized dispersion. Journal of Scientific Computing, 1-21.
- [2] Pronzato, L., Zhigljavsky, A. (2018). Bayesian quadrature and energy minimization for space filling design, https://arxiv.org/pdf/1808.10722.pdf
- [3] Sergeyev, Y.D. (2017). Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, 4(2), 219-320.

# **Tutorials**

This page intentionally left blank

# Vector kinetic approximations to fluid-dynamics equations

Roberta Bianchini, Roberto Natalini

Ecole Normale Supérieure de Lyon, UMPA, UMR CNRS-ENSL 5669, 46, allée d'Italie, 69364-Lyon Cedex 07, France

Istituto per le Applicazioni del Calcolo, Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, via dei Taurini 19, 00185 Rome, Italy

 $\verb"roberta.bianchini@ens-lyon.fr", "roberto.natalini@cnr.it"$ 

**Keywords.** Kinetic numerical schemes, Naviers-Stokes Equations, Hyperbolic problems

A singular semilinear hyperbolic approximation to the Euler and the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations in 2D, inspired by the kinetic theory, is considered. This approximation is interesting for numerical reasons, but also as a fully hyperbolic approximation.

In the first part of the talk, I will illustrate the structure of this approximation and its numerical advantages, already presented in [3]. Then, I will present a result of convergence of the vector-BGK to the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations in the diffusive scaling, see [1,2].

This result deeply relies on the dissipative properties of the system and on the use of an energy which is provided by a symmetrizer whose entries are weighted in a suitable way with respect to the diffusive parameter. This convergence is valid for smooth solutions and it is global in time.

- [1] Bianchini R., Natalini R. (2019) Convergence of a vector-BGK approximation for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations. *Kinet. Relat. Models* 12, no. 1, 133– 158.
- [2] Bianchini R. (2019) Strong convergence of a vector-BGK model to the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations, to appear on *Journal Math. Pures et Appl.*.
- [3] Bouchut, F., Yann J., Natalini R. (2018) Occelli, René; Pavan, Vincent. Second-order entropy satisfying BGK-FVS schemes for incompressible Navier-Stokes equations. *SMAI J. Comput. Math.* 4.
- [4] Carfora M., Natalini R. (2008) A discrete kinetic approximation for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations, ESAIM: Math. Modelling Numer. Anal. 42, 93-112.

## Grossone-based Infinity Computing with Numerical Infinities and Infinitesimals

Yaroslav D. Sergeyev

University of Calabria, Via Pietro Bucci, 42C, 87036 Rende (CS), Italy Lobachevsky State University, Gagarin Av. 23, 603950 Nizhni Novgorod, Russia yaro@dimes.unical.it

Keywords. Infinity Computing; Grossone; Numerical Computation

In this tutorial, a recently developed computational methodology is described (see patents [1] and a comprehensive description given in [2]). It allows one to execute numerical (not symbolic) computations with a variety of infinities and infinitesimals based on the principle 'The part is less than the whole' applied to all quantities: finite, infinite, and infinitesimal. This methodology does not contradict Cantor, Levi-Civita, and Robinson evolving their ideas in a more applied way and moving from purely symbolic to numerical calculus. A computational device called the *Infinity Computer* (see patents [1]) is used to work numerically with infinite and infinitesimal numbers that can be written in a positional system with an infinite base that is denoted by the symbol ① called *Grossone*. A number written in this numeral system can have several infinite and infinitesimal parts, a finite part can be either present or absent. On a series of theoretical and practical examples dealing with Turing machines, set theory, numerical differentiation, optimization, divergent series, ODEs, fractals, etc. (see, e.g., [1,3,4]) it is shown that the new way of counting can be very useful. Obtained results and their accuracy are repeatedly compared with answers provided by traditional tools used by mathematicians to work with objects involving infinity.

The *Infinity Calculator* working with the introduced infinities and infinitesimals numerically is shown during the presentation. A lot of information can be found at the dedicated web page http://www.theinfinitycomputer.com

- [1] Sergeyev Ya.D. Computer system for storing infinite, infinitesimal, and finite quantities and executing arithmetical operations with them: EU patent 1728149; RF Patent 2395111; USA patent 7,860,914.
- [2] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4(2), 219–320.
- [3] Sergeyev Ya.D., Garro A. (2013) Single-tape and multi-tape Turing machines through the lens of the Grossone methodology, *Journal of Supercomputing*, Vol. 65(2), 645–663.
- [4] Sergeyev Ya.D., Mukhametzhanov M. S., Mazzia F., Iavernaro F. and Amodio P. (2016) Numerical Methods for Solving Initial Value Problems on the Infinity Computer. *International Journal of Unconventional Computing*, Vol. 12(1), 3-23.

## Design optimization techniques for industrial applications: challenges and progress

#### Vassili Toropov

Queen Mary University of London, UK v.v.toropov@qmul.ac.uk

**Keywords.** Design optimization; metamodel; trust region strategy.

Current industrial applications of design optimization exhibit several features that are not yet adequately addressed by commercially available optimization tools:

- Large scale (1000+ design variables) optimization problems with expensive (10+ hours) response function evaluations that are polluted by numerical noise
- Discrete optimization with even moderately expensive response functions
- Multidisciplinary optimization in an industrial setting
- Optimization with non-deterministic responses.

The presentation discusses recent progress towards addressing these issues by identifying general trends and appropriate methods for solving large scale optimization problems focusing on the trust region-based metamodelling techniques [1], specifically addressing the issues of numerical noise and uncertainty and occasional failures of the solvers to produce responses [2,3]. The use of variable fidelity responses is identified as a highly beneficial approach as it allows to establish high accuracy metamodels using only small-scale sampling of the high fidelity responses. The presentation is illustrated by examples of industrial optimization problems with a focus on the aerospace sector [4].

### Acknowledgements.

Research was supported by Rolls-Royce plc, Airbus and European Commission.

- [1] Viana F.A.C., Simpson T.W., Balabanov V., Toropov V.V. (2014) Metamodeling in multidisciplinary design optimization: How far have we really come? AIAA Journal, Vol. 52(4), pp. 670-690.
- [2] Ollar J, Toropov V.V., Jones R.D. (2017) Sub-space approximations for MDO problems with disparate disciplinary variable dependence, Structural and Multi-disciplinary Optimization, Vol. 55, pp. 279–288.
- [3] Korolev Y., Toropov, V.V., Shahpar, S. (2017). Design optimization under uncertainty using the Multipoint Approximation Method. Paper AIAA-2017-1934, AIAA SciTech, 9-13 January 2017, Grapevine, TX.
- [4] Liu, D., Lohse-Busch, H., Toropov, V, Hühne C., Armani, U. (2016) Detailed design of a lattice composite fuselage structure by a mixed optimization method, Engineering Optimization, 48(10): 1707-1720.

This page intentionally left blank

### Special sessions

This page intentionally left blank

# Approximation: methods, algorithms and applications

### Organizers:

Alessandra De Rossi
University of Turin, Italy
Francesco Dell'Accio
University of Calabria, Italy
Elisa Francomano
University of Palermo, Italy
Donatella Occorsio
University of Basilicata, Italy

This page intentionally left blank

# Laplace Transform Inversion for multiexponential decay data by smoothing L-splines

Rosanna Campagna<sup>1</sup>, Costanza Conti<sup>2</sup>, Salvatore Cuomo<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Naples Federico II, Department of Agricultural Sciences, Italy <sup>2</sup>University of Florence, Department of Industrial Engineering, Italy <sup>3</sup>University of Naples Federico II, Department of Mathematics and Applications "R. Caccioppoli", Italy

rosanna.campagna@unina.it, costanza.conti@unifi.it, salvatore.cuomo@unina.it

**Keywords.** L-spines; Laplace transform; Bernstein bases; B-spline bases.

In many applications, the definition of fitting models that mimic behaviors of experimental data to numerically investigate problems is a challenging issue. In this paper a data-driven approach to represent (multi)exponential decay data is presented. More in details, a functional description of these information give the possibility to adopt powerful mathematical tools for data analysis such as the Laplace transform [1]. We propose a fitting model that is a piecewise smoothing L-spline satisfying a suitable differential operator tailored to represent the data behaviour. The main contribution is to define B-spline like functions locally represented by Bernstein-like bases satisfying Hermite interpolation conditions ([2], [3], [4]). Numerical experiments on the inversion of real multi-exponential decay data of a Laplace Transform have been carried out in a case study.

### Acknowledgements.

The authors are members of the INdAM Research group GNCS and of the "Research ITalian network on Approximation (RITA)".

- [1] D'Amore L., Campagna R., Galletti A., Marcellino L., Murli A. (2012) A smoothing spline that approximates Laplace transform functions only known on measurements on the real axis, *Inverse Problems* 28 (2). doi:10.1088/0266-5611/28/2/025007.
- [2] Brilleaud M., Mazure M.-L. (2012) Mixed hyperbolic/trigonometric spaces for design, Computers & Mathematics with Applications 64 2459-2477.
- [3] Mainar E., J. P. na (2010) Optimal bases for a class of mixed spaces and their associated spline spaces, *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, Volume 59 Issue 4, Pages 1509-1523
- [4] Beccari C. V., Casciola G., Mazure M.-L. (2018) Design or not design? A numerical characterisation for piecewise chebyshevian splines, *Numerical Algorithms*, pp. 1-31, doi:10.1007/s11075-018-0533-z.

### An Adaptive Refinement Scheme for Radial Basis Function Collocation

Roberto Cavoretto, Alessandra De Rossi

Department of Mathematics "Giuseppe Peano", University of Turin, Via Carlo Alberto 10, 10123
Turin, Italy

roberto.cavoretto@unito.it, alessandra.derossi@unito.it

**Keywords.** Meshless methods; Adaptive algorithms; Elliptic PDEs.

The problem of constructing adaptive meshless-based collocation methods is widely studied in literature, see e.g. [1,2,3,4] and references therein.

In this paper we present an adaptive refinement algorithm for solving elliptic partial differential equations via a radial basis function (RBF) collocation method. The adaptive scheme is based on the use of an error indicator, which is characterized by the comparison of two RBF collocation solutions evaluated on a coarser set and a finer one. This estimate allows us to detect the areas that need to be refined by adding collocation points. Numerical results support our study and points out the effectiveness of our algorithm.

### Acknowledgements.

The authors acknowledge support from the Department of Mathematics "Giuseppe Peano" of the University of Torino via Project 2019 "Mathematics for applications". Moreover, this work was partially supported by INdAM – GNCS Project 2019 "Kernel-based approximation, multiresolution and subdivision methods and related applications". This research has been accomplished within RITA (Research ITalian network on Approximation).

- [1] Cavoretto R., De Rossi A. (2019) Adaptive meshless refinement schemes for RBF-PUM collocation. *Applied Mathematics Letters*, Vol. 90, pp. 131–138.
- [2] Chen W., Fu Z.-J., Chen C.S. (2014) Recent advances on radial basis function collocation methods. Springer Briefs in Applied Science and Technology, Springer, Berlin.
- [3] Fasshauer G.E. (2007) Meshfree approximation methods with MATLAB. Interdisciplinary Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 6. World Scientific Publishing Co., Singapore.
- [4] Libre N.A., Emdadi A., Kansa E.J., Shekarchi M., Rahimian M. (2008) A fast adaptive wavelet scheme in RBF collocation for nearly singular potential PDEs. *CMES. Computer Modeling in Engineering & Sciences*, Vol. 38, pp. 263–284.

# Interpolation by bivariate quadratic polynomials and applications to the scattered data interpolation problem

Francesco Dell'Accio, Filomena Di Tommaso

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science University of Calabria francesco.dellaccio@unical.it, ditommaso@mat.unical.it

**Keywords.** Multinode Shepard methods; Rate of convergence; Approximation order.

As specified by Little [2], the triangular Shepard method can be generalized to higher dimensions and to set of more than three points. In this line, the hexagonal Shepard method has been recently introduced by combining six-points basis functions with quadratic Lagrange polynomials interpolating on these points and the error of approximation has been carried out by adapting to the case of six points the technique developed in [1]. As for the triangular Shepard method, the use of appropriate set of six-points is crucial both for the accuracy and the computational cost of the hexagonal Shepard method. In this talk we discuss about some algorithms to find useful six-tuple of points in a fast manner without the use of any triangulation of the nodes.

### Acknowledgements.

This work was partially supported by the INdAM-GNCS 2019 research project "Kernel-based approximation, multiresolution and subdivision methods and related applications". This research has been accomplished within RITA (Research ITalian network on Approximation).

- [1] Dell'Accio F., Di Tommaso F., Hormann K. (2016) On the approximation order of triangular Shepard interpolation. *IMA J. Numer. Anal.*, Vol. 36(1), pp. 359-379.
- [2] Little F. (1983) Convex Combination Surfaces. In Surfaces in Computer Aided Geometric Design, pp. 99-108.

### A 3D efficient procedure for Shepard interpolants on tetrahedra

Alessandra De Rossi<sup>1</sup>, Roberto Cavoretto<sup>1</sup>, Francesco Dell'Accio<sup>2</sup>, Filomena Di Tommaso<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics "Giuseppe Peano", University of Turin, Via Carlo Alberto 10, 10123 Turin, Italy

alessandra.derossi@unito.it, roberto.cavoretto@unito.it,
 francesco.dellaccio@unical.it,ditommaso@mat.unical.it

**Keywords.** Scattered data interpolation; Fast algorithms; Approximation algorithms.

The need of scattered data interpolation methods in the multivariate framework and, in particular, in the trivariate case, motivates the generalization of the fast algorithm for triangular Shepard method [4, 3] presented in [2]. There a block-based partitioning structure procedure introduced in [1] was applied to make the method very fast in the bivariate setting. Here the searching algorithm is extended, it allows to partitioning the domain and nodes in cubic blocks and to find the nearest neighbor points that need to be used in the tetrahedral Shepard interpolation.

#### Acknowledgements.

The authors acknowledge support by INdAM – GNCS Project 2019 "Kernel-based approximation, multiresolution and subdivision methods and related applications". This research has been accomplished within RITA (Research ITalian network on Approximation).

- [1] Cavoretto R., De Rossi A., Perracchione E. (2016) Efficient computation of partition of unity interpolants through a block-based searching technique. *Comput. Math. Appl.*, Vol. 71, pp. 2568–2584.
- [2] Cavoretto R., De Rossi A., Dell'Accio F., Di Tommaso F. (2019) Fast computation of triangular Shepard interpolants. *J. Comput. Appl. Math.*, Vol. 354, pp. 457–470.
- [3] Dell'Accio F., Di Tommaso F., Hormann, K. (2016) On the approximation order of triangular Shepard interpolation. *IMA J. Numer. Anal.*, Vol. 36, pp. 359–379.
- [4] Little F. F. (1983) Convex combination surfaces. In Surfaces in Computer Aided Geometric Design (ed. Barnhill R. E., Boehm W.), Amsterdam (North-Holland), pp. 99–108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Calabria, via P. Bucci, Cubo 30A, 87036 Rende (CS), Italy

### Comparison of Shepard's like methods with different basis functions

Filomena Di Tommaso, Francesco Dell'Accio

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science University of Calabria ditommaso@mat.unical.it, francesco.dellaccio@unical.it

**Keywords.** Shepard method; Quasi-interpolation operators; Fast approximation methods.

The problem of reconstruction of an unknown function from a finite number of given scattered data  $(x_i, f_i)$ , that is data which consist of functional values corresponding to points which do not obey any structure or order between their relative locations, is well known and well studied in approximation theory. Several methods both which require a mesh (here we mention that one based on multivariate splines, finite elements, box splines) or meshless methods, mainly based on radial basis functions, have been developed with this goal and are successfully applied in different contexts. Recently [2], it has been pointed out the need of fast approximation methods which overcome the high computational cost and the slowness of interpolation schemes which entail the solution of large linear systems or the use of elaborated mathematical procedures to find the values of parameters needed for setting those schemes. The Shepard method [3] and some of its variations [1] belong to this class of methods. In this talk we compare methods which are variations of the classic Shepard method obtained by considering different basis functions.

### Acknowledgements.

This work was partially supported by the INdAM-GNCS 2019 research project "Kernel-based approximation, multiresolution and subdivision methods and related applications". This research has been accomplished within RITA (Research ITalian network on Approximation).

- [1] Dell'Accio F, Di Tommaso F., Hormann K. (2016) On the approximation order of triangular Shepard interpolation. *IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis* Vol. 36, pp. 359-379.
- [2] Senger S., Sun X., Wu Z. (2018) Optimal order Jackson type inequality for scaled Shepard approximation. *Journal of Approximation Theory* Vol. 227, pp. 37-50.
- [3] Shepard D. (1968) A two-dimensional interpolation function for irregularly-spaced data. In Proceedings of the 23rd ACM National Conference (ed. by ACM Press), New York (USA) pp. 517-524.

# A SVE approach for the numerical solution of ordinary differential equations

Nadaniela Egidi, Pierluigi Maponi

Università di Camerino, Scuola di Scienze e Tecnologie, Camerino (MC), 62032, Italy nadaniela.egidi@unicam.it, pierluigi.maponi@unicam.it

**Keywords.** Approximation; Ordinary Differential Equation; Numerical Differentiation; Singular Value Expansion; Volterra Integral Equation.

The derivative operator can be easily reformulated as a Volterra integral operator of the first kind, see [1] for a detailed discussion. So the singular value expansion (SVE) of the kernel of such integral operator [2] can be used to obtain new numerical methods to solve ordinary differential equations (ODE).

We present an iterative scheme where global error in the solution of the ODE is gradually reduced at each step. The global error is approximated by using the system of the singular functions in the aforementioned SVE.

Some experiments are used to show the performances of this proposed numerical method.

- [1] Zhang H., Zhang Q. (2011) Sparse discretization matrices for Volterraintegral operators with applications to numerical differentiation. *J. Integral Equations Appl.*, Vol. 23(1), pp. 137–156.
- [2] Egidi N., Maponi P. (2018) The singular value expansion of the Volterra integral equation associated to a numerical differentiation problem. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, Vol. 460, pp. 656–681.

## Edge-driven interpolation with discontinuous kernels and applications in medical imaging

Wolfgang Erb<sup>1</sup>, Stefano De Marchi<sup>1</sup>, Francesco Marchetti<sup>2</sup>, Emma Perracchione<sup>1</sup> and Milvia Rossini<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dipartimento di Matematica "Tullio Levi-Civita", Università di Padova,

<sup>2</sup>Dipartimento di Salute della Donna e del Bambino, Università di Padova

<sup>3</sup>Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni, Università di Milano - Bicocca erb@math.unipd.it,

demarchi@math.unipd.it, francesco.marchetti.1@phd.unipd.it,

emma.perracchione@math.unipd.it, milvia.rossini@unimib.it

**Keywords.** Scattered Data Interpolation of Discontinuous functions, Edge-driven Interpolation, Interpolation Artifacts, Variably Scaled Discontinuous Kernels, Classification of Images with Kernel Machines.

To construct an interpolation scheme that maintains the edges of a function we study an edge-driven interpolation method based on variably scaled discontinuous kernels [1]. As a main result obtained in [2], we present a characterization for the native space generated by these discontinuous kernels and provide, similar as in [3], Sobolev type error estimates for the interpolation error. Our numerical experiments confirm that the theoretical convergence rates given in terms of a local fill distance are correct. We further study the effect of perturbations of the scaling function on the resulting interpolant and demonstrate that an accurate estimate of the discontinuities is necessary in order to obtain a faithful interpolation.

If this information of the discontinuities is not a priori given, we need an edge detector to estimate the discontinuities. For this purpose, we use kernel machines that are trained with the given scattered data. The results of our interpolation method applied to a problem in medical imaging are promising and show that reconstruction artifacts, as for instance ringing and truncation artifacts, can be sensibly reduced in the interpolation process.

Acknowledgements. This research has been accomplished within Rete ITaliana di Approssimazione (RITA) and was partially funded by GNCS-IN $\delta$ AM and by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme ERA-PLANET, grant agreement no. 689443, via the GEOEssential project.

- [1] Bozzini, Lenarduzzi, Rossini, Schaback, *Interpolation with variably scaled kernels*, IMA J. Numer. Anal. **35** (2015), 199–219.
- [2] De Marchi, Erb, Marchetti, Perracchione, Rossini, Shape-Driven Interpolation with Discontinuous Kernels: Error Analysis, Edge Extraction and Applications in MPI, arXiv:1903.03095 [math.NA] (2019).
- [3] Fuselier, Wright, Scattered Data Interpolation on Embedded Submanifolds with Restricted Positive Definite Kernels: Sobolev Error Estimates, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 50, 3 (2012), 1753–1776.

### A New Remez-type Algorithm for Best Polynomial Approximation

Lorella Fatone, Nadaniela Egidi, Luciano Misici

Dipartimento di Matematica, Università degli Studi di Camerino, Via Madonna delle Carceri 9, 62032 Camerino (MC), Italy lorella.fatone@unicam.it, nadaniela.egidi@unicam.it, luciano.misici@unicam.it

**Keywords.** best polynomial approximation; Remez algorithm; interpolation.

The best approximation problem is a classical topic of the approximation theory and the Remez algorithm is one of the most famous methods for computing minimax polynomial approximations [2].

We present a slight modification of the Remez algorithm where a new approach to update the trial reference is considered. In particular at each step, given the local extrema of the error function of the trial polynomial, the proposed algorithm replaces all the points of the trial reference considering some ad hoc oscillating local extrema and the global extremum of the error function. Moreover at each step the new trial reference is chosen trying to preserve a sort of equidistribution of the nodes at the ends of the approximation interval. This method is particularly appropriate when the number of the local extrema of the error function is very large.

Several numerical experiments are performed to assess the real performance of the proposed method in the approximation of continuous and Lipschitz continuous functions. In particular, we compare the convergence properties of best approximants computed with different numerical methods. Among the other we consider the algorithm proposed in [3] where an update of the Remez ideas for best polynomial approximation in the context of the chebfun software system is studied (see [1]).

- [1] Battles Z., Trefethen L.N. (2004) An extension of MATLAB to continuous functions and operators. SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, Vol. 25(5), pp. 1743–1770.
- [2] Remez E.Y. (1934) Sur la détermination des polynômes d'approximation de degré donné. Communications of the Kharkov Mathematical Society, Vol. 10.
- [3] Pachón R, Trefethen L.N. (2009) Barycentric-Remez algorithms for best polynomial approximation in the chebfun system. *BIT Numerical Mathematics*, Vol. 49(4), pp. 721–741.

## Gauss and anti-Gauss quadrature rules applied to integral equations of the second kind

Luisa Fermo, Patricia Diaz de Alba, Giuseppe Rodriguez

University of Cagliari, Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Viale Merello 92, Cagliari, Italy patricia.diazdealba@gmail.com, fermo@unica.it, rodriguez@unica.it

**Keywords.** Gauss quadrature; anti-Gauss quadrature; integral equations.

At the beginning of the nineteenth century Carl Friedrich Gauss developed an interpolatory formula having the maximal algebraic degree of exactness. Today such a rule is known as the Gauss quadrature formula [1].

In 1996 Dirk Laurie was the first to coin the anti-Gauss quadrature rule, an interpolatory formula designed to have the same degree of exactness of the Gauss formula and an error precisely opposite to the error of the Gauss rule, if applied to polynomials having a specific degree [2].

The aim of this talk is to present a global approximation method based on the above quadrature rules for the following integral equation of the second kind

$$f(y) - \int_{-1}^{1} k(x, y) f(x) w(x) dx = g(y), \quad y \in [-1, 1]$$

where f is the unknown function, k and g are two given functions and  $w(x) = (1 - x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}$  is a Jacobi weight with parameters  $\alpha, \beta > -1$ .

The convergence and the stability of the proposed method will be discussed in suitable weighted spaces and numerical tests will show the accuracy of the approach.

Acknowledgements. This research was supported by the following grants: INdAM-GNCS project 2019 "Discretizzazione di misure, approssimazione di operatori integrali ed applicazioni", research project "Algorithms for Approximation with Applications [Acube], Fondazione di Sardegna - annualità 2017" and research project "Algorithms and Models for Imaging Science (AMIS), FSC 2014-2020 - Patto per lo Sviluppo della Regione Sardegna". This research has been accomplished within the RITA "Research ITalian network on Approximation".

- [1] Gauss C.F. (1886) Methodus nova integralium valores per approximationwm inveniendi. K. Gesellschaft Wissenschaft, Vol. 3, pp. 163–196.
- [2] Laurie D.P. (1996) Anti-gaussian quadrature formulas. *Math. Comput.*, Vol. 65, pp. 739–747.

### Advanced numerical treatment of an accurate SPH method

Elisa Francomano<sup>1</sup>, Laura Antonelli<sup>2</sup>, Daniela di Serafino<sup>3</sup>,, Francesco Gregoretti<sup>2</sup>, Marta Paliaga<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Palermo, Viale delle Scienze, Palermo, Italy
<sup>2</sup> ICAR-CNR, Via P. Castellino 111, Napoli, Italy
<sup>3</sup> University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Viale A. Lincoln 5, Caserta, Italy elisa.francomano@unipa.it, laura.antonelli@icar.cnr.it, daniela.diserafino@unicampania.it, francesco.gregoretti@icar.cnr.it, marta.paliaga@unipa.it

Keywords. IFGT; SPH; GPUs.

The summation of Gaussian kernel functions is an expensive operation frequently encountered in scientific simulation algorithms and several methods have been already proposed to reduce its computational cost. In this work, the Improved Fast Gauss Transform (IFGT) [1] is properly applied to the Smoothed Particle Hydrodynamics (SPH) method [2] in order to speed up its efficiency. A modified version of the SPH method is considered in order to overcome the loss of accuracy of the standard formulation [3]. A suitable use of the IFGT allows us to reduce the computational effort while tuning the desired accuracy into the SPH framework. This technique, coupled with an algorithmic design for exploiting the performance of Graphics Processing Units (GPUs), makes the procedure promising as shown by preliminary numerical simulations.

### Acknowledgements.

The authors acknowledge support by INdAM–GNCS Project 2019 "Kernel-based approximation, multiresolution and subdivision methods and related applications". This research has been accomplished within RITA (Research ITalian network on Approximation).

- [1] Morariu V.I., Srinivasan B.V., Raykar V.C., Duraiswami R. and Davis L.S. (2008), Automatic online tuning for fast Gaussian summation. *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, Vol. 21, pp. 1113–1120.
- [2] Liu M.B. and Liu G.R. (2010), Smoothed Particle Hydrodynamics (SPH): An overview and recent developments. Archives of Computational Methods in Engineering, Vol. 17(1), pp. 25–76.
- [3] Francomano E. and Paliaga M. (2018), Highlighting numerical insights of an efficient SPH method. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, Vol. 339, pp. 899–915.

# On non-parametric regressions by means of multivariate polysplines

#### Ognyan Kounchev

Institute of Mathematics and Informatics, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Acad. G. Bonchev st., bl.8, 1113 Sofia, Bulgaria okounchev@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Non-parametric regression; polysplines; smoothing polysplines.

One of the main approaches of the modern Data Analysis and Machine Learning is to use regressions for data interpolation/extrapolation. In the case of one-dimensional data there is a large variety of methods many of which are using non-parametric regressions based on splines, or alternatively spline regressions. The splines used are the usual polynomial, trigonometric, or generalized splines, as the so-called L-splines and Chebyshev splines. We have to mention the names of the pioneers and most active researchers in the area, as G. Wahba, L. Schumaker, T. Lyche, J. Ramsay, Ch. Gu and others. From the point of view of Data Analysis, it is important that for these regressions, the spline approach provides estimates for error, Cross-validation, Confidence intervals, and Residuals. We refer to the monographs [4], [2] and the references therein. On the other hand for the case of multivariate data the usual approaches use Kriging, Thin Plate Splines, Radial Basis Functions, for which there is still a limited success in obtaining regressions with fast computational methods, as well as fast computation of estimates for the error, the Cross-validation scores, Confidence intervals, and the Residuals. We have recently proposed in [3] to use multivariate polysplines developed in [1] for construction of non-parametric regressions, and regression polysplines. For these new methods it is possible to find fast methods for their computation as well as efficient computation of the error, Cross-validation scores, Confidence itnervals, and Residuals.

### Acknowledgements.

This is a joint research with Tsvetomir Tsachev and Hermann Render. All authors were partially supported by the grant DH-02/13 with Bulgarian NSF.

- [1] Kounchev O. (2001) Multivariate Polysplines. Applications to Numerical and Wavelet Analysis. Academic Press/Elsevier, San Diego-London.
- [2] Gu Ch. (2013) Smoothing Spline ANOVA Models. Springer, NY.
- [3] Kounchev O., H. Render, Ts. Tsachev, (2018) L-spline smoothing for differential operators with constant coefficients of order 4, submitted.
- [4] Ramsay J. and B. Silverman (2005) Functional Data Analysis. Springer, NY.

### Weighted polynomial approximation on the square by de la Vallée Poussin means

Donatella Occorsio<sup>1</sup>, Woula Themistoclakis<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Potenza, Viale dell'Ateneo Lucano 10, Potenza, Italy <sup>2</sup>CNR - IAC, National Research Council of Italy, via P. Castellino, 111, Napoli, Italy donatella.occorsio@unibas.it, woula.themistoclakis@cnr.it

**Keywords.** Approximation by Polynomials; Polynomial Interpolation; de la Vallée Poussin means; Orthogonal Polynomials

The talk deals with the generalization of discrete de la Vallée Poussin means on the square, obtained via tensor product by the univariate case [1]. Pros and cons of such a kind of filtered approximation are discussed. In particular, under simple assumptions on the involved Jacobi weights, we get near—best discrete approximation polynomials in the space of all locally continuous functions on the square with possible algebraic singularities on the boundary, equipped with the weighted uniform norm. In the four Chebychev cases, these polynomials also interpolate the function. Moreover, for almost everywhere smooth functions, the Gibbs phenomenon appears reduced. Comparison with other interpolating polynomials are proposed [2], [3].

### Acknowledgements.

This research has been accomplished within the RITA "Research ITalian network on Approximation". It has been partially supported by GNCS project 2019, "Discretiz-zazione di misure, approssimazione di operatori integrali ed applicazioni".

- [1] Themistoclakis, W., Van Barel, M. (2017), Generalized de la Vallée Poussin approximations on [-1, 1], Numerical Algorithms Vol. 60 (4), pp. 593–612.
- [2] Bos, L., Caliari, M., De Marchi, S., Vianello, M., Xu, Y. (2006), Bivariate Lagrange interpolation at the Padua points: The generating curve approach, *Journal of Approximation Theory* Vol. 143 (1), pp. 15–25.
- [3] Occorsio, D., Russo, M.G. (2011), Numerical methods for Fredholm integral equations on the square, *Applied Mathematics and Computation* Vol. 218 (5), pp. 2318–2333.

# Recovering discontinuous functions via local multiquadric interpolation with adaptive nonlinear estimate of the shape parameter

Milvia Rossini<sup>1</sup>, Francesc Aràndiga<sup>2</sup>, Rosa Donat<sup>2</sup>, Lucia Romani<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Milano - Bicocca, Italy

<sup>2</sup>Universitat de València, Spain

<sup>3</sup>University of Bologna, Italy

milvia.rossini@unimib.it, francesc.arandiga@uv.es, rosa.m.donat@uv.es,

lucia.romani@unibo.it

**Keywords.** Radial basis functions; Jump discontinuity; Weighted Essentially Non-Oscillatory methods; Adaptive parameter; Approximation order.

We discuss a new approach for the reconstruction of discontinuous one dimensional functions. It consists in applying a parameter-dependent local multiquadric interpolant that incorporates the ENO/WENO (Essentially Non Oscillatory/ Weighted ENO) techniques in the computation of the locally optimized shape parameter. The resulting nonlinear adaptive estimation of the shape parameter leads to accurate reconstructions in the smooth regions and to sharp solution profiles near jump discontinuities avoiding Gibbs phenomena. Differently from what proposed in [1], [2] this is a true radial WENO method that does not revert to classical polynomial WENO approximation near discontinuities. We present also some numerical examples that confirm the theoretical approximation orders.

- [1] Guo J. and Jung J.-H (2017) A RBF-WENO finite volume method for hyperbolic conservation laws with the monotone polynomial interpolation method, Appl. Numer. Math., 112, pp. 27–50.
- [2] Guo J., Jung J.-H. (2017) Radial basis function ENO and WENO finite difference methods based on the optimization of shape parameters, J. Sci. Comput., 70, pp. 551–575.

## On some applications of generalized Kantorovich sampling operators

Gert Tamberg, Olga Graf

Tallinn University of Technology, Ehitajate tee 5, 19086 Tallinn, Estonia gert.tamberg@taltech.ee, olga.a.graf@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Sampling theory; Kantorovich sampling operators; approximation.

In this talk we consider a construction of fractional derivative masks for image edge detection and enhancement, based on generalized Kantorovich sampling operators. Edge detection and image enhancement methods, based on derivatives are well-known. Recently there is development to use several generalized fractional derivatives instead of the classical derivetaives of order 1 and 2 (see [2] and references cited there). For practical application of derivatives to images we need masks. For the classical case the Sobel masks are well-known. We introduce a construction of fractional derivative masks based on generalized sampling operators. For  $f \in C(\mathbf{R})$  the generalized sampling operators are given by  $(t \in \mathbf{R}; W > 0;)$ 

$$(S_W f)(t) := \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} f(\frac{k}{W}) s(Wt - k), \quad s \in L^1(\mathbf{R}), \quad \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}} s(u - k) = 1.$$
 (1)

Generalized sampling operators (1) are a natural way to represent images. Such representation gives us a possibility to define different derivative masks, also for fractional derivatives. We use generalized Kantorovich sampling operators, introduced in [1], for more flexibility of the construction of masks.

### Acknowledgements.

This research was partially supported by European Union, European Regional Development Fund (Tallinn University of Technology's ASTRA project "Institutional development program of TUT for 2016-2022," doctoral school "Estonian Doctoral School in Mathematics and Statistics," 2014-2020.4.01.16-0032

- [1] Orlova O., Tamberg, G. (2016) On approximation properties of generalized Kantorovich-type sampling operators. *Journal of Approximation Theory*, Vol. 201, pp. 73–86.
- [2] Yang Q., Chen D., Zhao T., et al. Fractional calculus in image processing: a review. Fractional Calculus and Applied Analysis, Vol. 19, pp. 1222–1249.

# Numbers, Algorithms and Applications (Pythagorean Stream)

Organizers:

Fabio Caldarola
Gianfranco D'Atri
Mario Maiolo
University of Calabria, Italy
Giuseppe Pirillo
University of Florence, Italy

This page intentionally left blank

# New approaches to basic calculus: an experimentation via numerical computation

Fabio Caldarola, Luigi Antoniotti, Gianfranco d'Atri, Antonino Leonardis, Marco Pellegrini

Università della Calabria, Arcavacata di Rende (CS), Italy caldarola@mat.unical.it, antoniottiluigi@tiscali.it, datri@mat.unical.it, antonino.leonardis@unical.it, m19700530@hotmail.com

**Keywords.** Numerical computing; mathematics education; grossone.

The introduction of the first elements of calculus both in the first university year and in the last class of high schools, presents many problems both in Italy and abroad. Emblematic are the (numerous) cases in which students decide to change their course of study or give it up completely cause the difficulties with the first exam of mathematics, which usually deals with basic calculus.

The central part of the talk concerns an educational experimentation involving above all some 5th classes of the IPS "F. Besta" in Treviso (IT), with partecipants' age about 19 years old, and also other classes. The project aims to explore the teaching potential offered by non-classical approaches to calculus jointly with the so-called "unimaginable numbers". In particular, we employed the computational method proposed by Y.D. Sergeyev (see, e.g., [3]) and widely used in mathematics, applied sciences and, recently, also for educational purposes.

In the talk there will be illustrated tools, investigation methodologies, collected data (before and after the teaching units), and the results of various class tests.

Lastly, we will also give some hints about recent related researches from analytic mechanics to supertrack functions and chaos theory, following the common thread of numerical computing and simulation.

### Acknowledgements.

This research is partially supported by POR Calabria FESR-FSE 2014-2020, research project IoT&B, CUP J48C17000230006.

- [1] Bertacchini F., Bilotta E., Caldarola F., Pantano P. (2019) The role of computer simulations in learning analytic mechanics towards chaos theory: a course experimentation, Int. J. Math. Educ. in Science and Techn., Vol. 50 No. 1, pp. 100–120.
- [2] Iannone P., Rizza D., Thoma A. (2018) Investigating secondary school students' epistemologies through a class activity concerning infinity. In Proceedings of the 42nd Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education Vol. 3 (ed. by Bergqvist E. et al.), Umeå(Sweden): PME, pp. 131-138.
- [3] Sergeyev Y.D. (2003) Arithmetic of infinity, Ediz. Orizzonti Meridionali, Cosenza.
- [4] Sergeyev Y.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4(2), pp. 219–320.

# From the ancient Pythagorean School to contemporary mathematical models: paradoxes of the infinite and ontological dilemmas

Domenico Cortese, Fabio Caldarola, Gianfranco d'Atri

University of Calabria, Arcavacata di Rende (CS), Italy domcor87@hotmail.it, caldarola@mat.unical.it, datri@mat.unical.it

Keywords. Infinite; Greek Philosophy; grossone.

Since the birth of philosophy in ancient Greece, the concept of infinite has been closely linked with that of contradiction and, more precisely, with the intellectual effort to overcome contradictions present in an account of Totality as fully grounded. The present work illustrates the ontological and epistemological nature of the paradoxes of the infinite, focusing on the theoretical framework of Aristotle, Kant and Hegel. Interestingly, Aristotle solves the dilemmas of the infinite by hypothesizing a finite universe, by denying the existence of "actual" infinite and by supposing a non-dimensional entity which is at the origin of any movement and alteration of matter and which is beyond empirical verification: such a move cannot be embraced by modern philosophy and by modern mathematics, for different reasons. The work also attempts to realize an ontological interpretation of the necessity of mathematical instruments such as limits and infinitesimals and of their coexistence with paradoxes of the infinites and infinitesimals. Recent conceptual mathematical solutions to these paradoxes, such as Sergeyev's notion of grossone, are then compared with Hegel's notion of true infinite in their pragmatic significance.

The so-called "unimaginable numbers", also, can be considered as a subcase of the same Hegelian approach to the systematization of notions threatening the rationality and the compactness of experience.

### Acknowledgements.

This research is partially supported by POR Calabria FESR-FSE 2014-2020, research project IoT&B, CUP J48C17000230006.

- [1] Crivelli P. (2004) Aristotle on Truth. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (UK).
- [2] Theodossiou E., Mantarakis P., et al. (2011) From the Infinity (Apeiron) of Anaximander in ancient Greece to the Theory of infinite Universes in modern Cosmology. *Astronomical and Astrophysical Transactions*, Vol. 27(1), pp. 162–176.
- [3] Sergeyev Y.D. (2003) Arithmetic of infinity, Ediz. Orizzonti Meridionali, Cosenza.
- [4] Sergeyev Y.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4(2), pp. 219–320.

### Numerical problems in XBRL reports and the use of blockchain as trust enabler

Gianfranco d'Atri<sup>1,4</sup>, Le Van Thanh<sup>2</sup>, Dino Garrì<sup>3</sup>, Stella d'Atri<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dep. of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Calabria, Italy

<sup>2</sup>Faculty of Computer Science, Free University of Bolzano, Italy

<sup>3</sup>BlockchainLab, Milano (IT)

<sup>4</sup>Blockchain Governance, Cosenza (IT)

datri@mat.unical.it, vanle@unibz.it,
garridino@gmail.com, s.datri@dcgovernance.it

Keywords. Financial models, blockchain, laws of Bradford and Zipf.

Financial statements are formal records of the financial activities that companies use to provide an accurate picture of their financial history. Their main purpose is to offer all the necessary data for an accurate assessment of the economical situation of a company and its ability to attract stakeholders. Our goal is to investigate how blockchain can be used for improving trustworthiness in the published financial reports. Our contribution is threefold: (i) providing a methodology to automatically evaluate and validate the consistency of the generated reports, (ii) to use Blockchain to store information as an immutable and uninterruptible worldwide database, (iii) to apply numerical tools to detect possible errors or even frauds in the reports.

For (i) we use ASP (answer set programming) to automize reasoning on the XBRL data. For (ii) we analyze the implementation of smart contracts on the Ethereum Blockchain. For (iii) we explore the so called Bradford's and Zipf's laws as tools for checking numerical values in the specific domain of company balance sheets.

For a possible use of an ASP language to analyse XBRL financial reports and a preliminary experimental data on some real world companies, see [1,3].

### Acknowledgements.

This research is partially supported by POR Calabria FESR-FSE 2014-2020, research project IoT&B, CUP J48C17000230006.

- [1] D'Atri G. (2014) Logic-based consistency checking of xrbl instances. *IJACT*, Vol. 3-6, pp. 126–131.
- [2] Pietronero L., Tosatti E., Tosatti V., Vespignani A. (2001) Explaining the uneven distribution of numbers in nature: the laws of benford and zipf. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, Vol. 293, No. 1-2, pp. 297–304.
- [3] Van Thanh L., Pahl C., El Ioini N., d'Atri G. (2019) Towards trustworthy financial reports using blockchain. *Submitted*.

### Modelling on human intelligence a Machine Learning System

Michela De Pietro, Francesca Bertacchini, Pietro Pantano, Eleonora Bilotta

University of Calabria, via Pietro Bucci, 17b, Arcavacata di Rende, Italy michela.depietro@unical.it, francesca.bertacchini@unical.it, pietro.pantano@unical.it, eleonora.bilotta@unical.it

Keywords. Emotion Recognition; Machine Learning; Data Processing.

Recently, a huge set of systems, devoted to emotions recognition has been built, especially due to its application in many work domains, with the aims to understand human behaviour and to embody this knowledge into human-computer interaction or human-robot interaction [1]. The recognition of human expressions is a very complex problem for artificial systems, caused by the extreme elusiveness of the phenomenon that, starting from six basic emotions, creates a series of intermediate variations, difficult to recognize by an artificial system. Furthermore, the expression of the emotions has been simplified. Artificial systems are tuned on negative and positive emotions, so many times the recognition fails. To overcome these difficulties, and expand artificial knowledge, a Machine Learning (ML) system has been designed with the specific aim to develop a recognition system modelled on human cognitive functions. In particular, the code was developed in Mathematica [2] and organised in two steps: recognition of the 6 basic emotions and recognition of emotions in its different nuances in the same subject. Cohn-Kanade database images [3] was used precisely for the specifications of this data set. Subjects gradually express the six basic emotions from the onset of specific emotion (neutral expression) towards its peak, allowing the ML to recognise them even if produced by subjects from different perspectives and different levels. After training the ML, it was tested on a representative sample of unstructured data, acquired from social media. The results show a surprising progress in performance, compared to traditional systems, such as Azure and Watson.

- [1] Bertacchini F., Bilotta E., Pantano P. (2017) Shopping with a robotic companion. Computers in Human Behavior.
- [2] Wolfram S. (2017) An Elementary Introduction to the Wolfram Language. Wolfram Media, Inc.
- [3] Kanade T., Cohn J. F. Tian Y. (2000) Comprehensive database for facial expression analysis. In Automatic Face and Gesture Recognition. In Proceedings of the *Fourth IEEE International Conference* (ed. by Editor IEEE), pp. 46-53.

### Algorithms for Jewelry Industry 4.0

Francesco Demarco, Francesca Bertacchini, Carmelo Scuro, Eleonora Bilotta, Pietro Pantano.

Dipartimento di Fisica, Università della Calabria, Rende, Italia francesco. demarco @unical.it, francesca. bertacchini @unical.it, carmelo.scuro @unical.it, eleonora. bilotta @unical.it, pietro.pantano @unical.it

**Keywords.** algorithm for jewelry; computational desig, parametric jewelry.

This paper proposes a novel approach to improve the smart manufacture in jewelry industry 4.0 using parametric modeling systems that permits at the customers to modify the 3D virtual model. Parametric design systems model a design as a constrained collection of schemata (Aish, Woodbury, 2005) in the form of a graph named Direct Acyclic Graph (DAG). The 3D models of the jewels have been developed in Wolfram Mathematica® and Grasshopper software through a search of complex shape obtained from mathematical functions. The principal aim of designers has always been the development of a generative design system that applies affine transformations to original elements and create new 3D shapes based on a finite set of shape rules (Kielarova, et al. 2013). In this approach, designers define the geometry relationships and the constrains establishing the structure of the DAG. This allows to explore the design space when input parameters are changed in real-time. A generic DAG, grouped in a unit called User Object (Harding, Shepard, 2017), operates as a cognitive artifact shifting the focus from final form to the digital process (Oxman, 2005). Consequently, it can return countless and unique combinations so that the user can choose his preferred object. The object is ultimately physicalized via a 3D printer and used to build the final jewel. The latest version of prototype is made by wax-based resins that melt in low temperatures and it can be used in traditional goldsmith processes.

- [1] Aish, R., & Woodbury, R.(2005) Multi-level interaction in parametric design. *In International symposium on smart graphics* (ed. by Taylor R. et al.), Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 151–162.
- [2] Kielarova, S. W. et al. (2013) An approach of generative design system: Jewelry design application. In IEEE International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management, (ed. by Ershi Qi.) Piscataway, NJ pp. 1329–1333.
- [3] Harding, J. E., & Shepherd, P. (2017) Meta-Parametric design *Design Studies*, Vol. 52, pp. 73–95.
- [4] Oxman, R. (2006) Theory and design in the first digital age. *Design Studies*, Vol. 27, pp. 229–265.

### Addition of Integers Embodied in Cellular Automata with Different Representations

#### Salvatore Di Gregorio

Dept. of Mathematics and Computer Science, Univ. of Calabria, 87036 Rende, CS, IT ISAC-CNR, UOS Lamezia T. Zona Industriale, 88046 Lamezia Terme, CZ, IT salvatore.digregorio@unical.it

Keywords. Cellular Automata; Binary Representation; Integers Addition.

Diverse numeral representations can be embodied inside Cellular Automata (CA) for operating related operations. The CA calculation for the canonical representations doesn't involve significant time improvements if the operation is intrinsically sequential [1], while the CA parallelism could be completely exploited for the same operation with a redundant representations in a trade-off space/time [2]. The more efficient redundant representations are preferable if the computation result has not to be used in the canonical representations, because the translation "redundant/canonical", unlike the translation "canonical/redundant", has a computational cost that annuls the advantage. This research investigates such a problem for the addition of integer numbers, it is an extension of an analogous study related to the natural numbers [3]. Two 1-dimension CA with ring topology are considered: cIadd, performing addition of two addends in the conventional binary representation cI for integer numbers and rIadd performing addition in a redundant binary representation of integers rI, where a couple of binary digits shares the same positional weight. Relevant theorems about properties of both CA are demonstrated.

The worst case of computational cost for an addition in cIadd is given by l CA steps, where l is the cIadd number of cells. Computational cost for an addition of two addends n and m in rIadd is 2 rIadd steps, independently of the number of the CA cells. rIadd looks more efficient, if the results don't need to be produced in cI. The passage from redundant representation to the conventional one can be performed inside rIadd with a time cost of l step in the worst case. Such results demonstrate that computations involving long successions of operations based exclusively on additions can satisfactorily exploit the representation redundancy.

- [1] Sheth, B., Nag, P., Hellwarth, R. W. (1991) Binary addition on cellular automata, Complex Systems, Vol. 5(5), pp. 479–486.
- [2] Clementi, A., De Biase, G. A., Massini, A. (1994) Fast parallel arithmetic on cellular automata, *Complex Systems*, Vol. 8(6), pp. 435–442.
- [3] Di Gregorio S. (2018) The Representation Role for Basic Operations Embodied in Cellular Automata: a Suitability Example for Addition in Redundant Numeral Systems vs Conventional Ones. In ACRI 2018 LNCS 11115, pp. 307–318.

## Clustering analysis to profile customers behaviour in POWER CLOUD energy community

Lorella Gabriele, Francesca Bertacchini, Simona Giglio, Daniele Menniti, Pietro Pantano, Anna Pinnarelli, Nicola Sorrentino, Eleonora Bilotta

University of Calabria, via Pietro Bucci, 17b, Arcavacata di Rende, Italy {lorella.gabriele, francesca.bertacchini, simona.giglio, daniele.menniti, pietro.pantano,anna.pinnarelli, nicola.sorrentino, eleonora.bilotta}@unical.it

**Keywords.** Machine learning; Cluster analysis; Consumer behaviour.

This paper presents a cluster analysis study on energy consumption dataset to profile "groups of customers" to whom address POWERCLOUD services. POWER CLOUD project (PON I&C2014-2020) aims to create an energy community where each consumer can become also energy producer (PROSUMER) and so exchange a surplus of energy produced by renewable sources with other users, or collectively purchase or sell wholesale energy. In this framework, an online questionnaire has been developed in order to collect data on consumers behaviour and their preferences. Together with demographic data, the most relevant information has been collected on home appliances and their actual power consumption, main sources of heating or cooling, the availability to adopt domotic solutions and in general, their availability to change their consumption profile according to renewable source. A clustering analysis was carried on the filled questionnaires using Wolfram Mathematica software, in particular FindClusters [1] function, to automatically group related segments of data. FindCluster function applies Machine Learning techniques to select and group homogeneous elements in a set of data to reduce the search space and to find the optimal solutions [2]. In our work, clustering analysis allowed to better understand the energy consumption propensity according the identified demographic variables. Thus, the outcomes highlight how the availability to adopt technologies to be used in Power-Cloud energy community, increases with the growth of the family unit and, a greater propensity is major present in the age groups of 25-34 and 35-44.

**Acknowledgements.** This research was supported by the following grants POW-ERCLOUD (PON I&C2014-2020-MISE F/050159/01-03/X32)

- [1] Wolfram, S. (2017). An elementary introduction to the Wolfram Language. Wolfram Media, Incorporated.
- [2] Nerurkar, P., Shirke, A., Chandane, M., Bhirud, S. (2018). Empirical analysis of data clustering algorithms. *Procedia Computer Science*, Vol. 125, pp. 770-779.

### A symbolic model for infinitesimal calculus

Francesco Ingarozza, Maria Teresa Adamo, Maria Martino, Aldo Piscitelli

Liceo Scientifico Statale "Filolao", Crotone francesco.ingarozza@filolao.it, mariateresa.adamo@filolao.it, maria.martino@filolao.it, aldo.piscitelli@filolao.it

**Keywords.** Grossone; mathematics education; computer applications.

The knowledge and understanding of abstract concepts systematically occur in the studies of mathematics. The epistemological approach of these concepts gradually becomes of higher importance as the level of abstraction increase and the risk of developing a "primitive concept" which is different from the knowledge of the topic itself. A typical case relates to the concepts of infinity and infinitesimal. The basic idea is to overturn the normal "concept-model" approach: no longer a concept which has to be studied and modeled in a further moment but rather a model that can be manipulated (from the calculation point of view) and that has to be associated to a concept that is compatible with the calculus properties of the selected model. The goal is the ability to express a concept regardless of the intrinsic difficulties of the representation. The symbol for the infinite is in use "gross one" (~ "big one"). With this model based approach, the "symbol-concept" association overcomes operational limits of an inadequate language.

### Acknowledgements.

The authors thank Fabio Caldarola, University of Calabria, for the supervision of the project and the DS (headmistress) of *Liceo Scientifico "Filolao"*, Antonella Romeo, for the economic support.

- [1] Bertacchini F., Bilotta E., Caldarola F., Pantano P. (2019) The role of computer simulations in learning analytic mechanics towards chaos theory: a course experimentation, International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology, Vol. 50 No. 1, pp. 100–120.
- [2] Iannone P., Rizza D., Thoma A. (2018) Investigating secondary school students' epistemologies through a class activity concerning infinity. In Proceedings of the 42nd Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education Vol. 3 (ed. by Bergqvist E. et al.), Umeå(Sweden): PME, pp. 131-138.
- [3] Sergeyev Y.D. (2003) Arithmetic of infinity. 2nd electronic ed. 2013. Edizioni Orizzonti Meridionali, Cosenza.
- [4] Sergeyev Y.D. (2015) Un semplice modo per trattare le grandezze infinite ed infinitesime. *Matematica, Società e Cultura: Rivista dell' Unione Matematica Italiana*, Vol. 8(1), pagg. 111–147.

### A geometrical proof for generalized Goodstein's theorem

Antonino Leonardis, Gianfranco d'Atri, Fabio Caldarola

Università della Calabria, Arcavacata di Rende, Italy a.leonardis@gmail.com, gdatri@yahoo.com, caldarola@mat.unical.it

Keywords. big data; goodstein; rooted trees.

Expressing a number as the sum of powers of some base b multiplied by digits  $\in \{1, \ldots, b-1\}$  and recursively doing the same for the exponents involved in the sum leaves a notation where no number greater than b is involved, the so-called "hereditary base-b notation" which is considered in the statement of Goodstein's theorem (see [1]). Using a geometrical approach, one can turn these sums into a labeled rooted tree (see [2]) and give a more elementary and geometric proof for the aforementioned theorem. A more general version of the theorem can be stated (see [3]) and proved as well in this geometrical fashion. The simplification will allow us to better understand the underlying logical problems for the necessity of transfinite induction in the proof, as well as exploring other similar problems (for example, the "hydra game") and giving applications in the field of big data storage, where neural networks are indeed based on tree-like structures.

### Acknowledgements.

This work has been partially supported by POR Calabria FESR-FSE 2014–2020, with the grant for research project "IoT&B", CUP J48C17000230006.

- [1] Goodstein R. L., Transfinite Ordinals in Recursive Number Theory, The Journal of Symbolic Logic 12/4 (1947), pp. 123 129.
- [2] Leonardis A., d'Atri G., Caldarola F., Beyond Knuth's notation for "Unimaginable Numbers" within computational number theory, preprint (arXiv:1901.05372).
- [3] Juan A. Perez, A new proof of Goodstein's Theorem, preprint (arXiv:0904.1957).

### A multi-factor RSA-like scheme with fast decryption based on Rédei rational functions over the Pell hyperbola

Nadir Murru<sup>1</sup>, Emanuele Bellini<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>DarkMatter LLC, Abu Dhabi, UAE <sup>2</sup>Politecnico of Turin, Turin, Italy nadir.murru@unito.it, eemanuele.bellini@gmail.com

**Keywords.** cryptography; Pell conic; Rédei rational functions; RSA.

RSA is one of the most widespread asymmetric encryption scheme. During the years, several attacks have been studied, like the Wiener attack, which is possible when the (private) decryption key is small, or the Coppersmith method, which can be exploited for small (public) encryption keys. Moreover, RSA shows some vulnerabilities in broadcast scenarios, i.e., when the same message is encrypted for different receivers using the same encryption key. Some variants of the RSA scheme have been proposed for obtaining cryptosystems that are not subjected to the above problems and having also a faster decryption procedure (which is usually the more time consuming task in RSA). In [1], the authors presented an RSA-like scheme based on Rédei rational functions, which are classical tools in number theory, over the Pell hyperbola, defined by  $H = \{(x,y) \in \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R} : x^2 - Dy^2 = 1\}$ , with  $x^2 - D$  irreducible over  $\mathbf{R}$ , which can be equipped with the product

$$(x,y)\otimes(w,z)=(xw+yzD,yw+xz), \quad \forall (x,y),\ (w,z)\in H,$$

so that  $(H, \otimes)$  is a group. Then, for the cryptographic application, the operations are performed in  $\mathbb{Z}_N$ , with N product of two primes, like in RSA. We see that this scheme can be also exploited when the modulus is a product of more than two primes or when  $N = p^r q^s$ , for p, q primes. In this way, the exponentiations (i.e., encryption and decryption of messages) can be performed exploiting the Chinese remainder theorem and the Hensel lifting method, greatly improving the decryption procedure. The proposed scheme appears to be more efficient than the analog ones constructed over elliptic curves, like the KMOV cryptosystem [2]. Moreover, our scheme is not subjected to impossible group operation attacks for large ciphertext size.

- [1] Bellini E., Murru N. (2016) An efficient and secure RSA-like cryptosystem exploiting Rédei rational functions over conics. *Fields and their Applications*, Vol. 39, pp. 179–194.
- [2] Boudabra M., Nitaj A. (2017) A new generalization of the KMOV cryptosystem. Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computing, Vol. 357, pp. 1–17.

### Some results about n-sets

Marco Pellegrini, Fabio Caldarola, Gianfranco d'Atri

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Calabria, cubo 31/A, Arcavacata di Rende (CS), Italy m19700530@hotmail.com, caldarola@mat.unical.it, datri@mat.unical.it

**Keywords.** *n*-sets; divisor; multiple.

A result of a student of Erdős is well-know: for every integer  $n \geq 1$ , each subset of  $I(2n) = \{1, 2, \ldots, n+1, n+2, \ldots, 2n\}$  having size n+1, contains at least two distinct elements of which the smallest divides the largest. This is proved using the pigeonhole principle. On the other side, it is easy to see that there are subsets of I(2n) of size n without divisor-multiple pairs; we call them n-sets.

We give a precise description of elements that, for a fixed n, do not belong to every n-set, as well as elements that do belong to every n-set.

Furthermore, we give an algorithm to count n-sets, given n. In this way we can see the behavior of the sequence a(n) of the number of n-sets. We will show some different version of the algorithm, along with their performances.

### Acknowledgements.

This research is partially supported by POR Calabria FESR-FSE 2014-2020, research project IoT&B, CUP J48C17000230006.

- [1] Bindi C., Bussoli L., Grazzini M., Pellegrini M., Pirillo G., Pirillo M.A., Troise A., (2016) Su un risultato di uno studente di Erdős. *Periodico di Matematiche, Organo della Mathesis*, Vol. 8(XII).1, pp. 79–88.
- [2] Bindi C., Pellegrini M., Pirillo G. On a result of a student of Erdős. to appear.

## The Carboncettus quasi-regular octagon and other polygons

Giuseppe Pirillo<sup>1</sup>, Fabio Caldarola<sup>2</sup>, Gianfranco d'Atri<sup>2</sup>, Mario Maiolo<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Florence, Firenze, Italy <sup>2</sup>University of Calabria, Arcavacata di Rende (CS), Italy pirillo@math.unifi.it, caldarola@mat.unical.it, datri@mat.unical.it, mario.maiolo@unical.it

**Keywords.** Fibonacci numbers; golden ratio; irrational numbers.

In [1,3] G. Pirillo presented the audacious thesis that the first mathematicians who discovered the "so-called" Fibonacci numbers were some members of the Pythagorean School, well documented and active in Crotone in the 6th, 5th and 4th centuries B.C., hence more than 1,500 years before *Leonardo Pisano*, known as "Fibonacci", wrote his famous Liber Abaci (1202). Such a thesis is mainly supported by computational evidences arising from pentagon and pentagram.

The paper [2], on the other hand, is centered on some geometric figures present on the sides of a portal of the cathedral of Prato (FI, Italy), which date back to around the middle of the 12th century (hence before the *Liber Abaci* as well) and should be works of *Carboncettus marmorarius*. The paper in question, that highlights the differences between the regular octagon and the one that has been named the *Carboncettus quasi-regular octagon*, likewise involves Fibonacci numbers and shows a beautiful symbolism typically medieval. Moreover, it has greatly stimulated many discussions and further investigations in different directions among the authors, and towards possible geometric generalizations both theoretically and numerically.

Finally, the importance of the octagonal shape in architecture and engineering will be also briefly discussed.

### Acknowledgements.

This research is partially supported by POR Calabria FESR-FSE 2014-2020, research project IoT&B, CUP J48C17000230006.

- [1] Pirillo G. (2018) A characterization of Fibonacci numbers. Chebyshevskii Sbornik, Vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 259–271.
- [2] Pirillo G. (2017) Figure geometriche su un portale del Duomo di Prato. *Prato Storia e Arte*, No. 121, pp. 7–16.
- [3] Pirillo G. (2017) L'origine pitagorica dei numeri di Fibonacci. *Periodico di Matematiche*, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 99–103.

# The Arithmetic of Infinity within the continuum of enquiry: experiences in schools

#### Davide Rizza

University of East Anglia, School of Politics, Philosophy, Languages and Communication Studies, Norwich Research Park, NR4 7TJ, United Kingdom d.rizza@uea.ac.uk

Keywords. Grossone; infinity; paradox; education; Dewey; enquiry.

As a rule, European mathematical curricula present school students with the notion of infinity in the context of the calculus. Infinity remains implicit in acquired techniques, e.g. differentiation, and becomes explicit when it proves a source of problems, e.g. when limits are hard to evaluate or certain calculations are forbidden. The introduction of infinity settles some problems and, at the same time, provides data for new ones. It is, in the terminology of [1], set within the continuum of enquiry. Nevertheless, the curricular aim to instil canonical intellectual habits usually abridges enquiry into the notion of infinity by imposing set bounds upon it. In this presentation we examine episodes from school workshops held in Italy and the UK, in which students were encouraged to overstep curricular bounds, reflect on straightforward issues posed by the calculus notion of infinity and, finally, consider and adopt new resources in order to tackle those issues. Typically, issues were highlighted by means of wellknown paradoxes of infinity and new resources were taken from the framework of The Arithmetic of Infinity (AoI) described in [3], which was made available to students through simple exercises or a short presentation. Results (a preliminary discussion appears in [1]) show that students were often able to reinsert the notion of infinity within the continuum of enquiry and, when they did, they could also make insightful observations and personal discoveries.

- [1] Dewey J., (2008) The Collected Works of John Dewey. The Later Works: 1925–1953. Volume 12. Logic: The Theory of Enquiry, Southern Illinois University Press, Carbondale.
- [2] Iannone P., Rizza D., Thoma A. (2018) Investigating secondary school students' epistemologies through a class activity concerning infinity, in E. Bergqvist, M. Österholm, C. Granberg, & L. Sumpter (Eds.). Proceedings of the 42nd Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education (Vol. 3, 131-138). Umeå, Sweden: PME.
- [3] Sergeyev Y.D., (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4, pp. 219–320.

# A computational approach with MATLAB software for nonlinear equation roots finding in High School Maths

### Annarosa Serpe

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Calabria, CUBE 30/A, Rende (CS), ITALY annarosa.serpe@unical.it

**Keywords.** Math Education; Iterative methods; MATLAB software.

Solving nonlinear equations is a part of the Maths syllabus of the experimental sections of the Italian secondary school for decades and is often present in the questions of the written test of the State Exams (National High School Examination). Despite its considerable relevance, in classroom teaching practice this subject is often overlooked or treated more from a theoretical than from a computational point of view. It is believed that this constitutes a serious gap in educational standards because the topic is understood in its essence only if various examples are resolved supported by mathematical software, and not by reducing it to a series of calculations, mostly by hand, often insignificant and detached from real contexts. The use of mathematical software not only supports an education of Applied Mathematics but at the same time provides teachers with tools and ideas conducive to engaging the students in activities-based learning of mathematics encouraging several aspects of maths - empirical, speculative, formal, and reflective.

This paper is part of the debate surrounding computer programming in the secondary school mathematics curriculum, with special focus on implementing algorithms related to appropriate methods for solving the nonlinear equation f(x)=0 with the use of MATLAB software. The aim is to favour the algorithm as a synthesis between the syntactic and semantic aspects of mathematical objects as well as encouraging computer simulation interpreted as a 'physical' experiment and a source of conjecture.

- [1] Gautschi W. (1997) Numerical Analysis. Springer Science Business Media, New York.
- [2] Cretchley P., Harman C., Ellerton N., Fogarty G. (2000) MATLAB in early undergraduate mathematics: An investigation into the effects of scientific software on learning. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*, 12(3), pp. 219–233.
- [3] Goos M., Galbraith P., Renshaw P., Geiger V. (2003). Perspectives on technology mediated learning in secondary school mathematics classrooms. *The Journal of Mathematical Behavior*, 22(1), pp. 73–89.

# A problem-solving approach to Diophantine equations in Math education contest

Sabrina Tiralongo, Annarosa Serpe

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Calabria, CUBE 30/A, Rende (CS), ITALY tiralongo@mat.unical.it, annarosa.serpe@unical.it

**Keywords.** Bézout Theorem; Diophantine equations; Math education.

The search for integer solutions to a problem for which the mathematical model is a linear Diophantine equation ax + by = c,  $a, b, c \in \mathbb{N}_0$  shows, on the one hand, how many situations requiring integer solutions are manifold and, on the other, it makes us understand how important it is to establish in which numerical set we look for solutions.

In the didactic practice of the Italian secondary school the Diophantine equations, in most cases, are not studied very much, in part because the textbooks devote little space to solvable problems or equations with integer solutions and a lot, instead, to the resolution of problems and equations in the set of real numbers. In those few cases where exercises are encountered in which students are asked to search for integer solutions, this never comes from a problematic situation. Consequently, there grows in students the conviction that an equation is solvable with on solution or non-solvable "in absolute".

This paper illustrates a practical, coherent example of problem-solving approach to linear Diophantine equations aimed at making students reason that such equations can admit more than one solution or even an infinite number of solutions. The aim is to favour the formulation of conjectures and the process of logical deduction (demonstration) to reach the resolution of a linear Diophantine equation, using the Euclidean algorithm for the calculation of the Greatest Common Divisor (GCD) of two or more integers which are not all zero, and the Bézout Theorem.

- [1] Andreescu T., Andrica D., Cucurezeanu I. (2010) An introduction to Diophantine equations: a problem-based approach. Springer Science Business Media, New York.
- [2] Costică, L. (2014) Methods of solving Diophantine equations in secondary education in Romania. Science Journal of Education 2,(1), pp. 22–32.
- [3] Abramovich S., Sugden S. J. (2008) Diophantine equations as a context for technology-enhanced training in conjecturing and proving. *PRIMUS* 18,(3), pp. 257–275.
- [4] Sultan A., Artzt A. F. (2010) Basics of Number Theory. In *The mathematics that every secondary school math teacher needs to know Book* (ed. by Routledge), New York (USA), pp. 17–68.

This page intentionally left blank

# Optimization and Management of Water Supply

Organizers:

Fabio Caldarola Mario Maiolo Giuseppe Mendicino Patrizia Piro

University of Calabria, Italy

This page intentionally left blank

### Numerical experimentations for a new set of local indices of a water network

Marco A. Bonora<sup>1</sup>, Fabio Caldarola<sup>1</sup>, Joao Muranho<sup>2</sup>, Joaquim Sousa<sup>3</sup>, Mario Maiolo<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Calabria, Arcavacata di Rende (CS), Italy

<sup>2</sup>Universidade da Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal

<sup>3</sup>Polytechnic Institute of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

marcoamos.bonora@unical.it, caldarola@mat.unical.it, jmuranho@ubi.pt,

jjoseng@isec.pt, mario.maiolo@unical.it

**Keywords.** Urban water supply systems; performance indices; network analysis.

Very recently in CaMa, a new set of local indices has been proposed for an urban water distribution network together with a useful mathematical framework that organizes and provides the tools to treat the complex of these local parameters varying from node to node. In this talk, the applicability of such indices to various models of both abstract and real hydraulic networks will be explored through direct numerical computations and hydraulic simulations. Furthermore, starting from explicit data sets for these local parameters and using the tools offered by the mentioned mathematical setting, some well known and very frequently used global energetic indicators will be calculated in a new way and through new formulas (for example, measures of resilience, pressure, deficiency, etc.).

Finally, since the tools and the framework proposed in CaMa have the important advantage of favoring in many cases a more in-depth structural analysis of global indices, new interpretations and new implications will be briefly discussed.

### Acknowledgements.

This research is partially supported by POR Calabria FESR-FSE 2014-2020, research project "origAMI, Original Advanced Metering Infrastructure" - CUP J48C17000170006.

- [1] Caldarola F., Maiolo M. (2019) Local indices within a mathematical framework for urban water distribution systems. Submitted for publication.
- [2] Muranho J., Sousa J., Sá Marques A., Gomes R. (2018) Water distribution network reliability: are surrogate measures reliable? In Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Hydroinformatics, HIC 2018 Vol. 3 (ed. by La Loggia G. et al.), Palermo (Italy), pp. 1470–1477.

### A useful mathematical framework acting on a new set of local indices for urban water networks

Fabio Caldarola, Mario Maiolo

University of Calabria, Arcavacata di Rende (CS), Italy caldarola@mat.unical.it, mario.maiolo@unical.it

**Keywords.** Mathematical modeling; urban water networks; performance indices.

In recent years many authors have introduced, sometimes with considerable success, a multitude of indices, especially of energetic-hydraulic nature (for example, indices of resilience, robustness, pressure, failure, flow deficit, mechanical redundancy, balance, reliability, entropy, etc.), to characterize and summarize in a single parameter some of the most important peculiar characteristics of a complex water network (for a recent review of 21 different resilience measures see, for instance, [2]). Therefore these indices, which are expressly designed to be of global nature, do not adapt very well to local analysis even applying them to a small portion of the network (a small portion of a network, in fact, is not the same as a small independent network).

We propose here a new set of local indicators within a mathematical framework which is also unprecedented, as far as we know, for hydraulic-engineering purposes. Such indices, besides providing the basis for a local analysis of the water network, can be seen as the bricks with which, by means of the mathematical tools offered by the aforementioned setting, one can construct as many global indices as one wants, and naturally recover many of those already known, often also giving a deeper structural interpretation of the same (see [1] for details). This possibility, which will be explicitly illustrated in many cases during the talk, gives a strong automatic validation to the new proposed machinery.

### Acknowledgements.

This research is partially supported by the projects "origAMI, Original Advanced Metering Infrastructure", CUP J48C17000170006, POR Calabria FESR-FSE 2014-2020, and I-BEST, CUP B28I17000290008, PON "Innovazione e competitività" 2014/2020 MiSE Horizon 2020.

- [1] Caldarola F., Maiolo M. (2019) Local indices within a mathematical framework for urban water distribution systems. Submitted for publication.
- [2] Shin S., Lee S., Judi D.R., Parvania M., Goharian E., McPherson T., Burian S.J. (2018) A systematic review of quantitative resilience measures for water infrastructure systems, *Water*, Vol. 10(2), 164.

# Identification of Contamination Potential Source (ICPS): a topological approach for the optimal recognition of sensitive nodes in a water distribution network

Gilda Capano, Marco Amos Bonora, Manuela Carini, Mario Maiolo

University of Calabria, Rende, Italy gilda.capano@unical.it, marcoamos.bonora@unical.it, manuela.carini@unical.it, mario.maiolo@unical.it.

**Keywords.** Water quality; contamination sources; graph theory.

The correct management of urban water networks have to supported by monitoring [1] and estimating water quality. The infrastructure maintenance status and the possible of a prevention plan availability influence the potential risk of contamination [2]. In this context, the Contamination Source Identification (CSI) models aim to identify the contamination source starting from the concentration values referring to the nodes [3]. This paper proposes a methodology based on Dynamics of Network Pollution (DNP). The DNP approach, linked to the pollution matrix [4] and the incidence matrix, allows a topological analysis on the network structure in order to identify the nodes and paths most sensitive to contamination, namely those that favor a more critical diffusion of the introduced contaminant. The procedure is proposed with the aim of optimally identifying the potential contamination points. By simulating the contamination of a synthetic network, using a bottom-up approach, an optimized procedure is defined to trace back to the chosen node as the most probable contamination source.

**Acknowledgements.** Research supported by the Italian Regional Project (POR CALABRIA FESR 2014-2020): "origAMI—original Advanced Metering Infrastructure" [J48C17000170006].

- [1] Maiolo M., Carini M., Capano G., Pantusa D., Marco Iusi (2019). Trends in metering potable water", Water Practice & Technology, Vol 14 (1), pp. 1-9.
- [2] Maiolo M., Pantusa D. (2018). Infrastructure Vulnerability Index of drinking water systems to terrorist attacks., Cogent Engineering, Vol.5(1), 1456710.
- [3] Adedoja O.S., Hamam Y., Khalaf B., Sadiku R. (2018). Towards Development of an Optimization Model to Identify Contamination Source in a Water Distribution Network., Water, Vol.10(5), pp. 579-606.
- [4] Boulos P., Altman T. (1993). Explicit calculation of water quality parameters in pipe distribution system., Vol. 10, pp. 187-206.

# Performance management of demand and pressure drive analysis in a monitored water distribution network

Manuela Carini<sup>1</sup>, Marco Amos Bonora<sup>1</sup>, Gilda Capano<sup>1</sup>, Rocco Cotrona<sup>1</sup>, Daniela Pantusa<sup>2</sup>, Joaquim Sousa<sup>3</sup>, Mario Maiolo<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Calabria, Rende, Italy
<sup>2</sup>University of Salento, Lecce, Italy
<sup>3</sup>Polytechnic Institute of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal
manuela.carini@unical.it, marcoamos.bonora@unical.it, gilda.capano@unical.it,
roccocotrona@hotmail.it, daniela.pantusa@unisalento.it, jjoseng@isec.pt,
mario.maiolo@unical.it.

**Keywords.** Water distribution network (WDN); pressure driven analysis (PDA); demand driven analysis (DDA).

The hydraulic modeling of the drinking water networks has been conditioned by the scarce availability of quality data but current technological advances can contribute to the improvement. In this context, the present work describes the research activity carried out in relation to the modeling aspects of drinking water networks in particular with referring to the simulation and calibration models. For this purpose, we have used WaterNetGen[1], an extension of the Epanet hydraulic simulation software. The EPANET simulation model assumes that water demand is always satisfied regardless of pressures (DDA)[2], indeed WaterNetGen associates a new solver (PDA)[3]. A comparison between the software outputs is the starting point for a new method of allocation and distribution of demand and water losses along the network, obtaining values closer to the measured data. The case study is the water distribution network of Nicotera (Italy).

**Acknowledgements.**Research supported by the Italian Regional Project (POR CALABRIA FESR 2014-2020): "origAMI—original Advanced Metering Infrastructure" [J48C17000170006].

- [1] Muranho J., Ferreira A., Sousa J., Gomes A. and Marques A. S. (2012). Water-NetGen: an EPANET extension for automatic water distribution network models generation and pipe sizing., Water Science and Technology: Water Supply, Vol. 12(1), pp. 117-123..
- [2] Rossman L. A. (2000). In EPANET 2: user manual. US Environmental Protection Agency: Cincinnati, OH.
- [3] Muranho J., Ferreira A., Sousa J., Gomes A. and Marques A. S. (2014). Pressure-dependent demand and leakage modelling with an EPANET extension-WaterNetGen., Procedia Engineering, Vol. 89, pp. 632-639.

# Optimization model for water distribution network planning in a realistic orographic framework

Francesco Chiaravalloti<sup>1</sup>, Marco Amos Bonora<sup>2</sup>, Gilda Capano<sup>2</sup>, Manuela Carini<sup>2</sup>, Daniela Pantusa<sup>3</sup>, JoaquimSousa<sup>4</sup>, Mario Maiolo<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Research Institute for Geo-Hydrological Protection, CNR, Rende (CS), Italy,

<sup>2</sup>University of Calabria, Rende, Italy,

<sup>3</sup>University of Salento, Lecce, Italy,

<sup>4</sup>Polytechnic Institute of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal.

f\_chiaravalloti@yahoo.it, marcoamos.bonora@unical.it, gilda.capano@unical.it,

manuela.carini@unical.it, daniela.pantusa@unisalento.it, jjoseng@isec.pt,

mario.maiolo@unical.it

**Keywords.** Optimization model; graph theory; water planning model.

Defining criteria for correct distribution of water resource is a common engineering problem. Stringent regulations on environmental impacts underline the need for sustainable management and planning of this resourceusage, which is sensitive to many parameters [1]. To manage optimally their number and variability are often used an optimization models. This work takes up and revises the minimum cost optimization model of a water distribution network with multiple supply sources andusers presented in [2] with the aim of overcoming the limits linked to the territory orographic complexity. In this direction, the model presented proposes an advancement of the optimization model, using the calculation of geodetic paths [3], compatible with hydraulic constraints. The method complexity is mainly linked to identifying geodetic pathways, which represents an intricate problem in computational and differential geometry. The application of the model is presented in a real case in Calabria.

**Acknowledgements.** Research supported by the Italian Regional Project (POR CALABRIA FESR 2014-2020): "origAMI — original Advanced Metering Infrastructure" [J48C17000170006].

- [1] Loucks D.P., Van Beek E. (2017) Water resource systems planning and management: An introduction to methods, models, and applications.. Springer, Berlin.
- [2] Carini M., Maiolo M., Pantusa D., Chiaravalloti F., Capano G. (2017) Modelling and optimization of least-cost water distribution networks with multiple supply sources and users. *Ricerche di Matematica*, pp. 1-15.
- [3] Yazdani A., Jeffrey P. (2012) Water distribution system vulnerability analysis using weighted and directed network models. *Water Resources Research*, Vol. 48 (6).

# Seeking for a trade-off between accuracy and timeliness in meteo-hydrological modeling chains

Luca Furnari, Alfonso Senatore, Giuseppe Mendicino

DIATIC, University of Calabria, Rende (CS), Italy luca.furnari@unical.it, alfonso.senatore@unical.it, giuseppe.mendicino@unical.it

**Keywords.** hydro-meteorological modeling; warning lead time; weather mo-del resolution.

The level of detail achieved by operational General Circulation Models (e.g., the HRES 9 km resolution 10-day forecast recently launched by the ECMWF) raises questions about the most appropriate use of Limited Area Models, which provide for further dynamical downscaling of the weather variables. The two main objectives targeted in hydro-meteorological forecasts, i.e. accuracy and timeliness, are to some extent conflicting. Accuracy and precision of a forecast can be evaluated by proper statistical indices based on observations, while timeliness, once the calculation domain has been set, mainly depends on the spatial resolution of the grid and the computational resources used.

In this research a number of experiments is set up applying the Advanced Research Weather Research and Forecasting (WRF-ARW) Model [1] to two extreme weather events with different meteorological characteristics occurred in Southern Italy in 2016 and 2018 [2]. The accuracy of the forecast is evaluated both for the HRES ECMWF output and that provided by WRF dynamical downscaling at different resolutions. Furthermore, timeliness of the forecast is assessed adding to the time needed for GCM output availability the time needed for Limited Area simulations at different resolutions and using varying core numbers.

The research provides useful insights for operational forecast in the study area, highlighting the level of detail required and the current weaknesses hindering correct forecast of the hydrological impact of extreme weather events.

### Acknowledgements.

L. Furnari acknowledges for the program "POR Calabria FSE/FESR 2014/2020 - Mobilità internazionale di Dottorandi a Assegni di ricerca/Ricercatori di Tipo A" Actions 10.5.6 and 10.5.12.

- [1] Skamarock W.C. et al. (2008) A description of the Advanced Research WRF Version 3. National Center for Atmospheric Research, Boulder (CO).
- [2] Avolio E., Cavalcanti O., Furnari L., Senatore A., Mendicino G. (2019) Brief communication: Preliminary hydro-meteorological analysis of the flash flood of 20 August 2018 on "Raganello Gorge", Southern Italy. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences Discussions*, DOI 10.5194/nhess-2019-62.

# Scenario optimization in complex water supply systems for energy saving and a correct management under uncertainty

Jacopo Napolitano, Giovanni M. Sechi

University of Cagliari, Via Marengo 2, Italy jacopo.napolitano@unica.it, sechi@unica.it

**Keywords.** Energy optimization; Water management; Scenario analysis; Cost-risk balancing approach.

The management of complex water supply systems needs a close attention to economic aspects concerning high costs related to energetic management [4]. Specifically, the optimization of water pumping plants activation schedules is an important issue, especially managing strategic and costly water transfers under drought risk [1]. In such management context and under uncertainty conditions, it is crucial to assure simultaneously energy savings and water shortage risk alleviating measures. The model formulation needs to highlight these requirements duality: to guarantee an adequate water demands fulfilment respecting an energy saving policy. This modelling approach has been developed using a two stages scenario analysis [3] with a cost-risk balancing approach [2], achieving simultaneously an energetic and operative costs minimization and assuring an adequate water demand level fulfilment for users. This model has been implemented using the software GAMS interfaced with CPLEX solvers. An application of the proposed optimization approach has been tested considering the draft of a real supply system located in a drought-prone area in North-Sardinia (Italy). By applying the optimization procedure, a robust decision strategy in pumping activation was obtained considering this real case study.

- [1] Mateus M.C., Tullos D. (2016) Reliability, sensitivity, and vulnerability of reservoir operations under climate change. *Journal of Water Resources and Planning Management*, Vol. 143, pp. 257–265.
- [2] Napolitano J., Sechi G.M., Zuddas P. (2016) Scenario optimization of pumping schedules in a complex water supply system considering a cost-risk balancing approach. *Water Resources Management*, Vol. 30, pp. 2231–5246.
- [3] Pallottino S., Sechi G.M., Zuddas P. (2004) A DSS for water resource management under uncertainty by scenario analysis. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, Vol. 20, pp. 1031–1042.
- [4] Pasha M.F.K., Lansey K. (2014) Strategies to develop warm solutions for real-time pump scheduling for water distribution systems. *Water Resources Management*, Vol. 28(12), pp. 3975–3987.

## Optimizing rainwater harvesting systems for non-potable water uses and surface runoff mitigation

Stefania Anna Palermo, Vito Cataldo Talarico, Behrouz Pirouz

 $\label{thm:condition} University\ of\ Calabria,\ Rende(CS),\ Italy\ stefania.palermo@unical.it,\ vitocataldo.talarico@unical.it,\ behrouz.pirouz@unical.it$ 

**Keywords.** Rainwater harvesting; water supply; flood risk mitigation.

Rainwater harvesting (RWH) systems represent sustainable solutions which meet the challenges of water saving and surface runoff mitigation. The collected rainwater can be re-used for several purposes irrigation of green roofs and garden, flushing toilets, etc. Optimizing the water usage in each section is a significant factor and, therefore, in the current paper was considered.

To achieve this goal different methods for Multi-Objective Optimization can be considered. The ranking methods such as TOPSIS (Technique for Order Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution) can be used for comparing algorithms and to evaluate the performance of alternatives to reach to the ideal solution. The results of ranking methods such as TOPSIS or multiple attributes decision-making methods such as Rough Set method can increase the efficiency and reduce the cost of project by preventing uncertainties. Moreover, the analysis by Rough Set method not only can provide a baseline for decision making but also insights to the problem of concern.

In conclusion, the numerical optimization of RWH systems will improve the previous studies in the field, and provide an additional tool to identify the optimal rainwater reuse in order to save water and reduce the surface runoff discharged into the sewer system.

### Acknowledgements.

The study was co-funding by the Italian PON "I-BEST: Innovative Building Envelope trough Smart Technology" – Axis I, Action 1.1.3

- [1] Ghaffarian Hoseini A., Tookey J., Ghaffarian Hoseini A., Yusoff S.M., Hassan N.B. (2016) State of the art of rainwater harvesting systems towards promoting green built environments: a review. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, Vol. 57(1), pp. 95–104.
- [2] Krohling R.A., Pacheco A.G. (2015) A-TOPSIS—an approach based on TOPSIS for ranking evolutionary algorithms. *Procedia Computer Science*, Vol. 55, pp. 308-317.
- [3] Pawlak Z. (1998) Rough set theory and its applications to data analysis. Cybernetics & Systems, Vol. 29(7), pp. 661–688.

## New Mathematical Optimization Approaches for LID Systems under Fuzzy Environment

Behrouz Pirouz, Stefania Anna Palermo, Michele Turco, Patrizia Piro

 $\label{eq:continuous} University\ of\ Calabria,\ Rende(CS),\ Italy \\ \ behrouz.pirouz@unical.it,\ stefania.palermo@unical.it,\ michele.turco@unical.it, \\ patrizia.piro@unical.it \\$ 

**Keywords.** Optimization; LID; Rough Set theory.

The urbanization affects the ecosystem health and downstream communities by changing the natural flow regime. In this context, Low impact development (LID) systems are important tools in sustainable development.

There are many components in design and operation of the LID systems and even choosing the selected LID and the location of that in the basin can affect the results. In this regards, the Mathematical Optimization Approaches can be used as an ideal method to optimize the use of LIDs. In the current research, the application of TOPSIS (Technique for Order Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution) and Rough Set theory (multiple attributes decision-making method) was considered. One of the advantages of using the Rough Set method in LID systems is that the selected decisions are explicit and method is not limited to restrictive assumptions.

The new presented mathematical optimization approaches for LID systems under fuzzy environment will improve the previous studies in this subject and will provide engineers an additional valuable tool in analyzing essential attributes to select and optimized the best LID system for the project.

### Acknowledgements.

The study was co-funding by the Italian National Operative Project (PON) PON01\_02543 - I Axis - Operative objective 4.1.1.1. - Action II

- [1] Hwang C.L., Yoon K.P. (1981) Multiple attributes decision-making methods and applications. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- [2] Pawlak Z. (2002) Rough set theory and its applications. *Journal of Telecommunications and Information Technology*.
- [3] Zhang G., Hamlett J.M., Reed P., Tang Y. (2013) Multi-Objective Optimization of Low Impact Development Designs in an Urbanizing Watershed. *Open Journal of Optimization*, Vol. 2, pp. 95-108.
- [4] Balioti V., Tzimopoulos C., Evangelides C. (2018) Multi-Criteria Decision Making Using TOPSIS Method Under Fuzzy Environment. *Application in Spillway Selection*, *Proceedings*, Vol. 2, 637.

# Evaluation of an integrated seasonal forecast system for agricultural water management in Mediterranean regions

Alfonso Senatore<sup>1</sup>, Domenico Fuoco<sup>1</sup>, Antonella Sanna<sup>2</sup>, Andrea Borrelli<sup>2</sup>, Giuseppe Mendicino<sup>1</sup>, Silvio Gualdi<sup>2</sup>

University of Calabria, Rende (CS), Italy
 Euro-Mediterranean Center on Climate Change, Bologna, Italy alfonso.senatore@unical.it, antonella.sanna@cmcc.it

**Keywords.** meteo-hydrological system; seasonal forecast; agricultural water management.

The Euro-Mediterranean Center on Climate Change (CMCC) seasonal forecasting system [1] is conceived and run in Italy and is based on the global coupled model CMCC-CM. The seasonal predictions are performed every month, producing a number of ensemble integrations conducted for the following 6 months. In this study, a performance evaluation of the skills of this system is performed in two neighbouring Mediterranean medium-small size basins located in Southern Italy, the Crati River and the Coscile River, whose hydrological cycles are particularly important for agricultural purposes.

Initially, the performance of the system is evaluated in terms of agreement both between observed and simulated precipitation and temperature anomalies and the associated large scale signals (composites of 500hPa geopotential height, MSLP and winds), in the irrigation periods of the years 2011-2017. Forecasts issued on April 1<sup>st</sup> (i.e., at the beginning of the irrigation period) are evaluated, considering two lead times (first and second trimester).

Afterward, the seasonal forecasts are integrated in a complete meteo-hydro-logical system. Precipitation and temperature anomalies provided by the global model are ingested in the spatially distributed and physically based In-STRHyM (Intermediate Space-Time Resolution Hydrological Model) model [2], which analyzes the hydrological impact of the seasonal forecasts.

The integrated seasonal forecast system showed to provide useful and timely indications for agricultural water management in the study area.

- [1] Alessandri A., A. Borrelli, S. Masina, A. Cherchi, S. Gualdi, A. Navarra, P. Di Pietro, A. Carri (2011) The INGV-CMCC Seasonal Prediction System: improved ocean initial conditions. *Monthly Weather Review*, Vol. 138, pp. 2930–2952.
- [2] Senatore A., G. Mendicino, G. Smiatek, H. Kunstmann (2011) Regional climate change projections and hydrological impact analysis for a Mediterranean basin in Southern Italy. *Journal of Hydrology*, Vol. 399, pp. 70–92.

# Optimization of submarine outfalls with a multiport diffuser design

Salvatore Sinopoli<sup>1</sup>, Marco Amos Bonora<sup>1</sup>, Gilda Capano<sup>1</sup>, Manuela Carini<sup>1</sup>, Daniela Pantusa<sup>2</sup>, Mario Maiolo<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Calabria, Rende, Italy <sup>2</sup>University of Salento, Lecce, Italy

s.sinopoli8800@gmail.com, marcoamos.bonora@unical.it, gilda.capano@unical.it, manuela.carini@unical.it, daniela.pantusa@unisalento.it, mario.maiolo@unical.it.

**Keywords.** Sea water quality; submarine outfalls; optimization design.

Immission of civil sewage into the sea is realized to complete the depurative onshore process or to take out from the bathing area the already purified wastewater, ensuring a good perceived seawater quality [1]. Anyhow the compliance of the pollutants concentration limits is necessary to ensure safe bathing. The design of submarine pipes is usually completed contemplating a diffuser with a series of vents for the repartition of the wastewater discharge [2]. The real process of pollutants diffusion into the sea, simulated with complex diffusion-dispersion models in a motion field dependent from environmental conditions and drift speeds, affect the submarine pipe design [3]. An optimization procedure has been realized for the marine outfall pipe-diffuser system using a simplified zone model [4], subjected to a sensitivity analysis on the characteristic parameter. The method is shown using an example project for the submarine outfall at service for the sewage treatment plant of Belvedere Marittimo, on the southern Tyrrhenian Sea in Italy.

**Acknowledgements.** Research supported by the Italian Regional Project (POR CALABRIA FESR 2014-2020): "TEMAR" [J68C17000150006].

- [1] Roberts P.J.W., SalasH.J., Reiff F.M., Libhaber M., Labbe A., Thomson J.C. (2011) Wastewater Outfalls and Treatment Systems, 2nd ed., IWA Publishing, London (UK), pp. 51-134.
- [2] Beckman Wallace J. (1970). Engineering Considerations in the Design of an Ocean Outfall., Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation), Vol.42 (10), pp. 1805-1831.
- [3] Veltri P., Morosini A.F., Maiolo M., Carratelli E.P. (1996) "Analysis of Sea Current and Diffusion Data at a Submarine Sewerage Outfall." A paper. In Proceedings of the First International Conference on Environmental Problems in Coastal Regions (ed. by A.J. Ferrante And C.A. Brebbia), Southampton (UK) and Boston (USA), pp. 169-179.

This page intentionally left blank

## Computational Methods for Data Analysis

Organizers:

Rosanna Campagna Salvatore Cuomo Francesco Piccialli

University of Naples Federico II, Italy

This page intentionally left blank

## Exact and Approximate Analytical Solutions for Nonlinearly Colloid Facilitated Solute Transport

Salvatore Cuomo<sup>1</sup>, Fabio Giampaolo<sup>1</sup>, Gerardo Severino<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of MATHEMATICS, University of Naples - Federico II, Italy <sup>2</sup>Department of AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES, University of Naples - Federico II, Italy salvatore.cuomo@unina.it, fab.giampaolo@gmail.com, severino@unina.it

**Keywords:** nonlinear transport; colloids; analytical solutions.

Colloid facilitated solute transport in homogeneous porous media is investigated. Sorption on the matrix is modelled by the linear equilibrium isotherm whereas sorption on colloidal sites is regulated by nonlinearly equilibrium and nonequilibrium [3, 2]. Two equilibrium isotherms describing sorption on colloidal particles are considered, that is, Langmuir and Freundlich equations [1]. Exact analytical solutions for equilibrium are obtained and discussed in order to asses the impact of nonlinearly sorption. Travelling wave analytical solutions are obtained to describe the evolution in both the liquid and colloidal concentration. Besides expressions for the front shape, the mathematical shape of the front thickness and the front positions are also presented.

### Acknowledgements

The present study was developed within the  ${\sf GNCS}$  (Gruppo Nazionale Calcolo Scientifico - INdAM) framework.

- [1] Severino G., Dagan G., van Duijn C.J., A note on transport of a pulse of nonlinearly reactive solute in a heterogeneous formation. Computational Geosciences 4(3), 275286 (2000). doi:10.1023/A:1011568118126
- [2] Severino G., Monetti V., Santini A., Toraldo G., Unsaturated transport with linear kinetic sorption under unsteady vertical flow. Transport in porous media 63(1), 147174(2006). doi:10.1007/s11242-005-4424-0
- [3] Severino G., Indelman P., Analytical solutions for reactive transport under an in Infiltration-redistribution cycle. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 70(1), 89 115 (2004). doi:10.1016/j.jconhyd.2003.08.007

# Performance analysis of a multicore implementation for solving a two-dimensional inverse anomalous diffusion problem

P. De Luca<sup>1</sup>, A. Galletti<sup>2</sup>, G. Giunta<sup>2</sup>, L. Marcellino<sup>2</sup>, M. Raei<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Salerno, Department of Computer Science, Fisciano, Italy
<sup>2</sup> University of Naples Parthenope, Department of Science and Technology, Italy
<sup>3</sup> Malek Ashtar University of Technology, Department of Mathematics, Isfahan, Iran
p.deluca16@studenti.unisa.it,
{ardelio.galletti,giulio.giunta,livia.marcellino}@uniparthenope.it,
marzie.raei@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Fractional models; Multicore architecture; parallel algorithms.

In recent decades, fractional calculus has become highly attractive due to wide applications in science and engineering. Indeed, fractional models are beneficial and powerful mathematical tools to describe the inherent properties of processes in mechanics, chemistry, physics, and other sciences. Meshless methods represent a good technique for solving these models in high-dimensional and complicated computational domains. In particular, in the current work we deal with the solution of a two-dimensional inverse time fractional diffusion equation, involving a Caputo fractional derivative in his expression, using a sequential approach described in [1,2]. Since we deal with a huge practical problem with a large domain, by starting from an accurate meshless localized collocation method using RBFs, here we propose a fast algorithm, implemented in a multicore architecture, which exploits suitable parallel computational kernels. More in detail, we firstly developed, a C code based on the numerical library LAPACK to perform the basic linear algebra operations and to solve linear systems, then, due to the high computational complexity, when real datasets are considered, we propose a parallel algorithm specifically designed for multicore architectures and based on the Pthreads library. An easy-to-use interface makes possible to vary both the main parameters of the problem and the threads number. Experimental results together with a suitable performance analysis will prove the reliability and the efficiency of the developed algorithm. The performance gain is measured in terms of execution times, speed-up, efficiency and scalability.

- [1] Liu Q., Gu Y. T., Zhuang P., Liu F., Nie Y. F. (2011) An implicit RBF meshless approach for time fractional diffusion equations, 48(1) 1-12.
- [2] Abbasbandy S., Ghehsareh H. R., Alhuthali M. S., Alsulami H. H. (2014) Comparison of meshless local weak and strong forms based on particular solutions for a non-classical 2-D diffusion model, Engineering Analysis with Boundary Elements 39 121-128.

## Stochastic Mechanisms of Information Flow in Phosphate Economy of *Escherichia Coli*

Ozan Kahramanoğulları<sup>1</sup>, Martin M. Hancyzc<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Trento, Department of Mathematics, Italy <sup>2</sup>University of Trento, Centre for Integrative Biology, Italy

**Keywords.** synthetic biology; *E. coli*; modelling, stochasticity.

The rapidly growing field of synthetic biology, at the crossroads of molecular biology, genetics and quantitative sciences, aims at developing living technologies by re-engineering the make-up of organisms. The applications in this field are designed by channeling the quantitative understanding of the molecular processes to a methodological workflow that can be compared to the use of mechanics in civil engineering. The aim, in these applications, is to modify the organisms to enhance and benefit from their natural capacity for certain tasks. For example, in enhanced biological phosphorus removal (EBPR) micro-organisms such as E. coli are used to profit from their inherent regulatory mechanisms that efficiently respond to phosphate starvation. In previous work, we have presented a computational model and experimental results that quantify the dynamic mechanisms of auto-regulation in E. coli in response to varying external phosphate levels [1]. In a cycle of deterministic ODE simulations and experimental verification, our model predicts and explores phenotypes with various modifications at the genetic level that can optimise inorganic phosphate intake. Here, we extend our analysis with extensive stochastic simulations at a single-cell level so that noise due to small numbers of certain molecules, e.g., genetic material, can be better observed. For the simulations, we resort to a conservative extension of Gillespie's stochastic simulation algorithm that can be used to quantify the information flow in the biochemical system besides the common time series analysis [2, 3]. We argue that our stochastic analysis of information flow provides insights for designing more stable synthetic applications that are not affected by noise.

**Acknowledgements.** This work has been partially funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the grant agreement No 686585 – LIAR, Living Architecture.

- [1] Uluşeker C. et al. (2019) Quantifying dynamic mechanisms of auto-regulation in *Escherichia coli* with synthetic promoter in response to varying external phosphate levels. *Scientific Reports*, Vol. 9, 2076.
- [2] Kahramanoğulları O., Lynch J. (2013) Stochastic Flux Analysis of Chemical Reaction Networks. *BMC Systems Biology*, Vol. 7, 133.
- [3] Kahramanoğulları O. (2017) Quantifying Information Flow in Chemical Reaction Networks. In Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Algorithms for Computational Biology AlCoB 2017, Aveiro, Portugal, LNCS 10252, Springer.

# Adaptive RBF Interpolation for Estimating Missing Values in Geographical Big Data

Gang Mei<sup>1\*</sup>, Kaifeng Gao<sup>1</sup>, Salvatore Cuomo<sup>2</sup>, Francesco Piccialli<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>China University of Geosciences (Beijing), Beijing, China <sup>2</sup>University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy gang.mei@cugb.edu.cn

**Keywords.** Big data analysis; Data imputation; RBF interpolation; SVM.

The quality of datasets is a critical issue in big data mining. More interesting things could be found for datasets with higher quality. The existence of missing values in geographical big data would worsen the quality of big datasets. To improve the data quality, the missing values are generally needed to be estimated using various machine learning algorithms such as the Support Vector Machine (SVM) or mathematical methods such as approximations and interpolations [1-2]. In this paper, we propose an adaptive Radial Basis Function (RBF) interpolation algorithm for estimating missing values in geographical big data. In the proposed method, the samples with known values are considered as the data points, while the samples with missing values are considered as the interpolated points. For each interpolated point, first, a local set of data points are adaptively determined. Then, the missing value of the interpolated point is imputed via interpolating using the RBF interpolation based on the local set of data points. Moreover, the shape factors of the RBF are also adaptively determined by considering the distribution of the local set of data points. To evaluate the performance of the proposed method, we compare our method with the commonly used SVM, and conduct three groups of benchmark experiments. Experimental results indicate that the proposed method outperforms the SVM for irregularly distributed datasets, but worse than the SVM for regularly distributed datasets.

### Acknowledgements.

This research was jointly supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (11602235), and the Fundamental Research Funds for China Central Universities (2652018091, 2652018109).

- [1] Ding Z.Y., Mei G., Cuomo S., Xu N.X., Tian H. (2018) Performance evaluation of GPU-accelerated spatial interpolation using Radial Basis Functions for building explicit surfaces. *International Journal of Parallel Programming*, Vol. 46, No. 5, pp. 963-991.
- [2] Ding Z.Y., Mei G., Cuomo S., Li Y.X., Xu N.X. (2018) Comparison of estimating missing values in IoT time series data using different interpolation algorithms. *International Journal of Parallel Programming*. DOI:10.1007/s10766-018-0595-5

### Data-based models for satellite images

E. Perracchione and Padova GeoEssential Research Group

Department of Mathematics "Tullio Levi-Civita", University of Padova emma@math.unipd.it

**Keywords.** Kernel-based interpolation, Caratheodory-Tchakaloff compression, Padova points.

Exploitation of the huge amount of spatially distributed data via model simulation needs model reduction schemes to be able to deliver the sought services such as, e.g., short term real-time predictions, feature extraction, data comparison.

Effective synthesis via data-based modeling can be achieved only via suitable reduced order models that must be at the same time robust and provide controlled accuracy to ensure meaningful analysis of the variables of interest.

More specifically, we focus on two aspects of data-based modeling:

- Compression: reduce the number of sampling points in the reconstruction of satellite images via Caratheodory-Tchakaloff or Padova points subsampling; see e.g. [1,3].
- Reconstruction: accurately approximate the image via polynomial least squares or discontinuous kernel-based methods [2], using the compressed sampling points.

After providing a theoretical framework, we extensively test the proposed techniques on satellite images consisting of raw data by NASA Soil Moisture Active Passive (SMAP) satellite and simulated data obtained via the TERRestrial SYStem Modelling Platform (TerrSysMP).

### Acknowledgements.

This research has been accomplished within Rete ITaliana di Approssimazione (RITA), partially supported by GNCS-IN $\delta$ AM and UE ERA-PLANET GeoEssential GA n. 689443.

- [1] Bos L., Caliari M., De Marchi S., Vianello M., Xu Y. (2006) Bivariate Lagrange interpolation at the Padua points: the generating curve approach, J. Approx. Theory 143, pp. 15–25.
- [2] Bozzini M., Lenarduzzi L., Rossini M., Schaback R. (2015) Interpolation with variably scaled kernels, IMA J. Numer. Anal. 35, pp. 199–219.
- [3] Piazzon F., Sommariva A., Vianello M. (2017) Caratheodory-Tchakaloff Subsampling, Dolomites Res. Notes Approx. 10, pp. 5–14.

## Approximate leave-one-out cross-validation for nonparametric Bayesian Gaussian Process methods with applications to neural data

#### Kamiar Rahnama Rad

Department of Statistics, Baruch College, City University of New York kamiar.RahnamaRad@baruch.cuny.edu

**Keywords.** Scalability; Nonparametric Bayesian; Gaussian Processes; Generalized linear models; Laplace approximation; Neural data.

Recently, we developed a scalable methodology called approximate leave-one-out (ALO) as a computationally efficient alternative to the time-consuming and memory demanding leave-one-out cross-validation (LO) [Rahnama Rad and Maleki, 2019]. ALO uses all the data, estimates the model only once, and using an analytical approximation computes LO without repeatedly leaving a datum out and estimating the model again. In addition to obtaining the model estimate, ALO requires a matrix inversion and two matrix-matrix multiplications. Despite these extra steps ALO offers a significant computational saving compared to LO.

The ALO methodology was specifically innovated for point estimates of penalized generalized linear models. In this abstract we propose an extension of the ALO methodology for the tuning of hyper-parameters in Bayesian models. In our examples, we focus on Gaussian process nonparametric Bayesian techniques for spatio-temporal point process data. The computational efficiency of our algorithm is based on fast sparse matrix vector multiplications, low-rank updates, and the conjugate gradient method [Rahnama Rad et al., 2017]. The log-concavity of the posterior and the Laplace approximation provide further analytical simplifications [Rahnama Rad and Paninski, 2010]. Finally, we illustrate the computational efficiency and statistical robustness of this methodology by applying it to novel experimental data from the entorhinal cortex, a region of the brain involved in spatial navigation [Hafting et al. 2005].

Acknowledgements. This research was supported by the NSF Division of Mathematical Sciences award (Proposal ID: 1810880).

- [1] Rahnama Rad, K. and Maleki, A. (2019). A scalable estimate of the extra-sample prediction error via approximate leave-one-out. arXiv preprint:1801.10243.
- [2] Rahnama Rad, K., Machado, T. A., and Paninski, L. (2017). Robust and scalable Bayesian analysis of spatial neural tuning function data. Annals of Applied Statistics, 11(2), 598-637.
- [3] Rahnama Rad, K. and Paninski, L. (2010). Efficient, adaptive estimation of two-dimensional firing rate surfaces via Gaussian process methods. Network: Computation in Neural Systems, 21(3-4), 142-168.
- [4] Hafting, T., Fyhn, M., Molden, S., Moser, M. B. and Moser, E. I. (2005). Microstructure of a spatial map in the entorhinal cortex. Nature, 436(7052), 801.

# Numerical approach for NMR-based analysis of water mobility in wheat flour dough

Annalisa Romano<sup>1,2</sup>, Rosanna Campagna<sup>1</sup>, Paolo Masi<sup>1,2</sup>, Gerardo Toraldo<sup>2,3</sup>

 $^{1}\mathrm{Department}$  of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, Italy  $^{2}\mathrm{Centre}$  for Food Innovation and Development in the Food Industry, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

<sup>3</sup>Department of Mathematics and Applications "R. Caccioppoli", University of Naples Federico II, Italy

anromano@unina.it, rosanna.campagna@unina.it, paolo.masi@unina.it, toraldo@unina.it

Keywords. Bread making; Dough; Laplace transform.

The understanding of the breadmaking process requires to understand the changes in water mobility of dough. The dough ingredients as well as the processing conditions determine the structure of baked products which in turn is responsible for their apparence, texture, taste and stability. The transition from wheat flour to dough is a complex process in which several transformations take place, including those associated with changes in water distribution [1]. The molecular mobility of water in foods can be studied with proton nuclear magnetic resonance (1H NMR). Low-resolution (LR) 1H NMR has been mainly used to measure the transverse relaxation times (T2) in dough and bread [2]. In this study, the measured T2 was used to investigate wheat dough development during mixing. The interactions of the flour polymers with water during mixing reduce water mobility and result in different molecular mobilities in dough. The molecular dynamics in heterogeneous systems are very complex. From a mathematical point of view the NMR relaxation decay is generally medelled by the linear superposition of a few exponential functions of the relaxation times. This could be a too rough model and the classical fitting approaches could fail to describe physical reality. A more appealing procedure consists in describing the NMR relaxation decay in integral form by the Laplace transform (LT) [3]. In this work an algorithm for the LT inversion is considered and compared with other classical numerical techniques.

- [1] Goesaert, H.; Slade, L.; Levine, H.; Delcour, J. A. (2009) Amylases and bread firming: an integrated review. *J. Cereal Sci.*, 1-8.
- [2] Bosmans G. M., Lagrain B., Deleu L. J., Fierens E., Hills B. P., Delcour J. A. (2012) Assignments of proton populations in dough and bread using NMR relaxometry of starch, gluten, and flour model systems *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 60, 5461-5470.
- [3] Barone P.; Ramponi A.; Sebastiani G. (2001) On the numerical inversion of the Laplace transform for nuclear magnetic resonance relaxometry. *Inverse Problems*, Volume 17, Number 1.

This page intentionally left blank

# First Order Methods in Optimization: Theory and Applications

### Organizers:

Simone Rebegoldi

University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Italy Marco Viola

University of Rome La Sapienza, Italy

This page intentionally left blank

### Proximal Approaches for Matrix Estimation Problems

Alessandro Benfenati<sup>1</sup>, Emilie Chouzenoux<sup>2</sup>, Jean-Christophe Pesquet<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dipartimento di Scienze e Politiche Ambientali, Via Celoria 2, Milano, Italy <sup>2,3</sup>CentraleSupélec, 9 rue Joliot Curie, Gif Sur Yvette France <sup>1</sup>alessandro.benfenati@unimi.it, <sup>2</sup>emilie.chouzenoux@centralesupelec.fr, <sup>3</sup>jean-christophe.pesquet@centralesupelec.fr

Keywords. Matrix Estimation, Non-convex Optimization, Graphical Lasso

In recent years, there has been a growing interest in problems such as graph estimation, gene expression, brain network analysis, computer vision: the mathematical formulation of such applications leads to the minimization of a Bregman distance [1] coupled with a regularization term. The variational models describing the above problems usually involve convex functionals, but some practical applications actually require concave ones. We propose two strategies, in order to address both the convex and the non–convex case.

The first approach consists in splitting the regularization functional in two terms, one being a spectral function while the other is arbitrary: a Douglas–Rachford approach [2] is proposed to address such problems and several options for the fit–to–data functional and for the regularization term are considered, providing a list of proximity operators. The second strategy minimizes non–convex problems via a majorization–minimization technique [3], i.e. modifying the original objective function with a convex approximation and solving the inner subproblems via the aforementioned Douglas–Rachford algorithm. Each proposed technique is numerically tested, in comparison with state–of–the–art algorithms [4]: the achieved results are very promising and competitive.

**Acknowledgements.** This work was funded by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche under grant ANR14-CE27-0001 GRAPHSIP.

- [1] Benfenati A and Ruggiero V (2013) Inexact Bregman iteration with an application to Poisson data reconstruction, Inv. Prob., 29, 065016
- [2] Combettes P.-L. and Pesquet J.-C. (2007) A Douglas-Rachford splitting approach to nonsmooth convex variational signal recovery, IEEE J. Sel. Topics Signal Process., vol. 1, pp. 564–574.
- [3] Chouzenoux E. and Pesquet J.–C. (2016) Convergence Rate Analysis of the Majorize–Minimize Subspace Algorithm, IEEE Sig. Proc. Lett., Vol. 23, pp. 1284–1288
- [4] Friedman J. Hastie T. and Tibshirani R (2008) Sparse inverse covariance estimation with the graphical lasso, Biostat., vol. 9, pp. 432–441.

### A Neural Network Approach for Parameters Estimation in Image Deblurring

Carla Bertocchi<sup>1</sup>, Marie-Caroline Corbineau<sup>2</sup>, Emilie Chouzenoux<sup>3</sup>, Marco Prato<sup>1</sup>, Jean-Cristophe Pesquet<sup>2</sup>

**Keywords.** Image restoration; neural network; forward-backward algorithm.

Image deblurring is a well-known problem usually faced by means of a reformulation as an optimization problem, in which the objective function to be minimized is made up by a data discrepancy measure plus a regularization term, with the possible imposition of contraints to reduce the feasible set and incorporate a priori knowledge on the desired solution. According to the mathematical properties of the several terms (e.g, convexity, smoothness, contraints form), suitable numerical optimization methods have to be adopted to perform the minimization step.

In this talk we consider smooth data-fidelity and regularization functionals and we include the constraints in the objective function by means of a logarithmic barrier. A proximal interior point method (IPM) is adopted to address the minimization step [3], in which the proximity operator is restricted only to the barrier function. The key issue of our proposed approach is that the regularization parameter, the barrier parameters and the steplengths needed in the iterations of the IPM are chosen by exploiting suitable deep learning strategies [4].

We used benchmarks image datasets to train the neural networks architectures and test our approach. Comparisons with standard gradient projection methods and recent machine learning based algorithm have been performed and showed encouraging performances.

- [1] Bertocchi C., Chouzenoux E., Corbineau M.-C., Pesquet J.-C. and Prato M. (2018) Deep Unfolding of a Proximal Interior Point Method for Image Restoration, arXiv:1812.04276
- [2] Combettes P.L., Pesquet J.-C. (2011). Proximal splitting methods in signal processing. In Fixed-Point Algorithms for Inverse Problems in Science and Engineering (ed. by Springer), New York (NY), pp. 185–212.

## Learning the Invisible: Limited Angle Tomography, Shearlets and Deep Learning

Tatiana A. Bubba<sup>1</sup>, G. Kutyniok<sup>2</sup>, M. Lassas<sup>1</sup>, M. März<sup>2</sup>, W. Samek<sup>3</sup>, S. Siltanen<sup>1</sup> and V. Srinivasan<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Helsinki, 00014 Helsinki, Finland <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Mathematics, Technische Universität Berlin, 10623 Berlin, Germany <sup>3</sup>Dept. of Video Coding & Analytics, Fraunhofer HHI, 10587 Berlin, Germany tatiana.bubba@helsinki.fi, kutyniok@math.tu-berlin.de, matti.lassas@helsinki.fi, maerz@math.tu-berlin.de, wojciech.samek@hhi.fraunhofer.de, samuli.siltanen@helsinki.fi, vignesh.srinivasan@hhi.fraunhofer.de

**Keywords.** Deep neural networks; limited angle CT; shearlets; sparse regularization; wavefront set.

Limited angle geometry is still a rather challenging modality in computed tomography (CT), in which entire boundary sections are not captured in the measurements making the reconstruction a severly ill-posed inverse problem. Compared to the standard filtered back-projection, iterative regularization-based methods help in removing artifacts but still cannot deliver satisfactory reconstructions. Based on the result that limited tomographic data sets reveal parts of the wavefront (WF) set in a stable wav and artifacts from limited angle CT have directional properties [3], we propose a hybrid reconstruction framework that combines model-based sparse regularization with data-driven deep learning. The core idea is to solve the compressed sensing formulation associated to the limited angle CT problem to recover the so called "visible" part of WF and learning via a convolutional neural network architecture the "invisble" ones, which provably cannot be handled by model-based methods [1]. Such a decomposition into visible and invisible parts is achieved using the shearlet transform that allows to resolve WF sets in the phase space [2]. Our numerical experiments show that our approach surpasses both pure model- and more data-based reconstruction methods, while offering an (heuristic) understanding of why the method works, providing a more reliable approach especially for medical applications.

- [1] Bubba T.A., Kutyniok G., Lassas M., März M., Samek W., Siltanen S., Srinivasan V. (2019) Learning the Invisible: a hybrid deep learning-shearlets framework for limited angle computed tomography, *under revision*.
- [2] Kutyniok G., Labate D. (2012) Shearlets. Multiscale Analysis for Multivariate Data. Birkhäuser, Boston, MA (USA).
- [3] Quinto E.T. (1993), Singularities of the X-Ray Transform and Limited Data Tomography in  ${\bf R}^2$  and  ${\bf R}^3$ , SIAM J. Math. Anal. 24, no. 5, pp. 1215–1225.

## Barzilai-Borwein rules in gradient projection methods: a redefinition for special constrained problems

Serena Crisci<sup>1</sup>, Federica Porta<sup>2</sup>, Valeria Ruggiero<sup>1</sup>, Luca Zanni<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Ferrara, via Machiavelli 30, I-44121 Ferrara, Italy
<sup>2</sup> University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, via Campi 213/B, I-41125, Modena, Italy
serena.crisci@unife.it, federica.porta@unimore.it, valeria.ruggiero@unife.it,
luca.zanni@unimore.it

**Keywords.** steplength selection; gradient projection method; variable metric.

Starting from the pioneering paper by Barzilai and Borwein (BB), which opened the way to inexpensively accelerate first-order methods, in the last decades several efficient steplength techniques (see [1,2] and the references therein) have been designed in order to make gradient descent methods more and more effective also for problems which handle large-scale data and require real-time solutions. In a very recent paper [4], the authors proved that, for quadratic programs, the spectral properties of the original BB schemes are affected by the presence of box constraints. In this talk we analyze how, in quadratic and non-quadratic minimization problems, the presence of a more general feasible region, expressed by a single linear equality constraint together with lower and upper bounds, influences the spectral behaviour of the BB-based rules employed in classical and variable metric gradient projection methods [3]. Moreover, on a set of test problems arising also from data mining applications, we numerically verify the benefits which can be gained by taking into account this influence in a new BB approach able to capture not only second order information but also the nature of the feasible set.

### Acknowledgements.

This research was partially supported by INdAM-GNCS (Progetti 2019).

- [1] Zhou B., Gao L., Dai Y. H. (2006) Gradient Methods with Adaptive Step-Sizes Comput. Optim. Appl., Vol. 35-1, pp. 69–86.
- [2] Frassoldati G., Zanni L., Zanghirati G.(2008) New adaptive stepsize selections in gradient methods. *J. Ind. Manag. Optim.*, Vol. 4, pp.. 299–312.
- [3] Bonettini S., Zanella R., Zanni L. (2009) A scaled gradient projection method for constrained image deblurring. *Inverse Problems*, Vol. 25-1, 015002.
- [4] Crisci S., Ruggiero V., Zanni L. (2018) Steplength selection in gradient projection methods for box-constrained quadratic programs. http://www.optimization-online.org/DB\_HTML/2018/09/6825.html.

# Augmented Lagrangians with adaptive augmentation for bound and equality constrained quadratic programming problems

Zdeněk Dostál, Oldřich Vlach

VŠB Technical University of Ostrava, 17. listopadu 15, CZ-70833 Ostrava, Czech Republic zdenek.dostal@vsb.cz, oldrich.vlach2@vsb.cz

**Keywords.** quadratic programming; augmented Lagrangians; bound and equality constraints.

Augmented Lagrangian method combined with effective algorithms for the solution bound constrained problems can solve efficiently very large QP problems with bound and equality constraints. Here we are interested in improvement of the SMALBE-M algorithm (semi-monotonic augmented Lagrangian for bound and equality constrained problems) [1,2] which was a key ingredient of in a sense optimal algorithms for the solution of large (billions of nodal variables) discretized variational inequalities [4]. Recall that these algorithms can solve large discretized problems with asymptotically linear complexity [1,2,4].

The point of this lecture is to show that the performance of SMALBE-M can be essentially improved by plugging in the information on the active set from the current iterate by means of adaptive augmentation. The idea is related to the earlier experiments with adaptive projectors [3]. The improvement is demonstrated by solving large problems arising from the application of domain decomposition methods to the solution of elliptic variational inequalities.

**Acknowledgements.** This research is partially supported by Grant of SGS No. SP2019/84, VŠB - Technical University of Ostrava, Czech Republic.

- [1] Dostál Z. (2006) An optimal algorithm for bound and equality constrained quadratic programming problems with bounded spectrum. *Computing*, Vol. 78, pp. 311-328.
- [2] Dostál Z. (2009) Optimal Quadratic Programming Algorithms, with Applications to Variational Inequalities, 1st edition. Springer US, SOIA 23, New York.
- [3] Dostál Z., Gomes F.A.M., Santos S.A. (2000) Duality based domain decomposition with adaptive natural coarse space projectors for contact problems, *The Mathematics of Finite Elements and Applications 1999*, (ed. by Whiteman J.R.), Elsevier, Oxford, pp. 259-270.
- [4] Dostál Z.,. Kozubek T., Sadowská M, Vondrák V. (2017) Scalable Algorithms for Contact Problems, 1st edition. Springer US, AMM 36, New York.

## On the steplenght selection in Stochastic Gradient Methods

Giorgia Franchini, Luca Zanni

University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, via Campi 213/B, 41125, Modena, Italy giorgia.franchini@unimore.it, luca.zanni@unimore.it

**Keywords.** Stochastic optimization; stochastic gradient methods; steplenght selection; Barzilai-Borwein rules; limited memory strategies.

Many machine learning methodologies, based on the minimization of the empirical risk, lead to optimization problems in which the objective function is the sum of loss functions, depending on the samples of a finite training set. These optimization problems are challenging in the case of large scale training sets because the computation of the objective function and its gradient is too expensive. In these cases, Stochastic Gradient (SG) methods [1] are the main approaches. Many SG variants are available in literature, based on different strategies for reducing the adverse effect of noisy gradient estimates and for defining the steplength (or learning rate) parameter. In this work, starting from recent advances on state of the art steplength rules for deterministic gradient schemes [2] and noise reduction strategies, we investigate possible techniques for selecting the learning rate parameter in SG approaches. Preliminary studies on the behaviour of popular steplength selections, such as the Barzilai-Borwein rules, in the stochastic gradient framework, have shown that many interesting questions need to be fixed before obtaining effective benefits [4]. In this work, we investigate the possibility to make the SG algorithms more robust by exploiting steplength selections based on recently proposed limited memory strategies [3]. We also discuss some of these open problems on the steplength selection within other widely used stochastic optimizers, exploiting momentum terms and adaptive variance techniques.

### Acknowledgements.

This research was partially supported by INdAM-GNCS (Progetti 2019).

- [1] Bottou L., Curtis F.E., Nocedal J. (2018) Optimization methods for large-scale machine learning, SIAM Review, 60 223-311
- [2] di Serafino D., Ruggiero V., Toraldo G., Zanni L. (2018) On the steplength selection in gradient methods for unconstrained optimization, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 318 176-195
- [3] Fletcher R. (2012) A limited memory steepest descent method, Mathematical Programming, Volume 135, Springer
- [4] Tan C., Ma S., Dai Y.-H., Qian Y. (2016) Barzilai-Borwein Step Size for Stochastic Gradient Descent, Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 685-693

# Adapting MPRGP Algorithm For Supervised Modelling of Biochemical Activities Employing SVM Classification

Marek Pecha, David Horák

VŠB-Technical University of Ostrava, 17. listopadu 2172/15, Ostrava, Czech Republic Institute of Geonics CAS, Studentská 1768, Ostrava, Czech Republic marek.pecha@vsb.cz, david.horak@vsb.cz

**Keywords.** MPRGP; active-set method; SVM; chemogenomics;

Supervised modelling is widely used in the pharmaceutical industry, especially during the early stage of drug design and development. The aim is to train a model that generalizes biological activities of chemical compounds by reusing information from former laboratory experiments. Despite the fact that Deep Learning (DL) is getting popular in recent years, the Support Vector Machines (SVMs) are still applicable. Unlike the DL underlying architecture, SVMs could be considered as the single perceptron problems that find the learning functions that maximize the geometric margin between classes. Therefore, we can simply explain the qualities of a learning model and an underlying solver behaviour.

Our presentation deals with adapting the MPRPGP (Modified Proportioning with Reduced Gradient Projection), for the QP problems arising from the application of SVM formulations to the analysis of chemogenomics datasets. The MPRGP is an active-set method for solving the QP problems with bound or box constraints. For improving the convergence rate, we exploit the special structure of the dual QP-SVM. We are going to demonstrate the impact of an adaptive step-size in the expansion of an active-set. Numerical results obtained with different hinge-loss functions, a technique for calibrating a classification model, various performance scores, and binarization strategies will be presented as well.

### Acknowledgements.

This work has been supported by grant programme "Support for Science and Research in the Moravia–Silesia Region 2017" (RRC/10/2017), financed from the budget of the Moravian–Silesian Region.

- [1] Kružík J., Pecha M., Hapla V., Horák D., Čermák M. (2018) Investigating convergence of linear SVM implemented in PermonSVM employing MPRGP algorithm. In Proceedings of the *HPCSE "2017"*, Czech Republic
- [2] Pecha M., Horák D., Analyzing l1-loss and l2-loss Support Vector Machines Implemented in PERMON Toolbox, Accepted 2018
- [3] Dostál Z., Schöberl J. (2005) Minimizing Quadratic Functions Subject to Bound Constraints with the Rate of Convergence and Finite Termination. *Computational Optimization and Applications*, Vol. 30, pp. 23–43.

# Convergence of an inexact forward–backward method for nonconvex nonsmooth problems

Simone Rebegoldi, Silvia Bonettini, Marco Prato

Università di Modena e Reggio Emilia, Via Campi 287-213/B, Modena, Italy simone.rebegoldi@unimore.it, silvia.bonettini@unimore.it, marco.prato@unimore.it

**Keywords.** Forward–backward algorithm; nonconvex optimization; image restoration.

We consider a general inexact forward-backward (FB) algorithm suited for minimizing the sum of a continuously differentiable function and a lower semicontinuous, convex term. The proposed scheme introduces an error into the computation of the proximal operator, by means of an implementable inexactness criterion, and combines a variable metric in the FB step with a linesearch procedure along the feasible direction [2]. Recently, the convergence of the considered scheme has been proved without any convexity assumption on the differentiable term, by requiring that the objective function satisfies the so-called Kurdyka–Łojasiewicz (KL) inequality; however, the result is given only with exact proximal evaluations [1]. We fill the gap in the convergence analysis of the algorithm under the KL assumption by proving the convergence of the iterates sequence, as well as the rates for the function values, when the proximal operator is computed inexactly. To this aim, we exploit the notion of forward-backward envelope [3] to define a continuously differentiable surrogate function, which satisfies the KL property on its domain, has the same value of the objective function at each of its stationary points, and complies with a certain relative error condition which allows to prove convergence in the KL framework. Furthermore, we apply the proposed inexact FB scheme to the restoration of blurred images corrupted by Cauchy noise, and show the numerical improvements obtained by introducing a variable metric into the computation of the FB step.

- [1] Bonettini S., Loris I., Porta F., Prato M., Rebegoldi S. (2017) On the convergence of a linesearch based proximal—gradient method for nonconvex optimization. *Inverse Probl.*, Vol. 33, p. 055005.
- [2] Bonettini S., Prato M., Rebegoldi S. (2019) Convergence of inexact forward–backward algorithms using the forward–backward envelope. *In preparation*.
- [3] Stella L., Themelis A., Patrinos P. (2017) Forward-backward quasi-Newton methods for nonsmooth optimization problems. *Comput. Optim. Appl.*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 1–45.

### A gradient-based globalization strategy for the Newton method

Marco Viola<sup>1</sup>, Daniela di Serafino<sup>2</sup>, Gerardo Toraldo<sup>3</sup>

Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy
 University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli", Caserta, Italy
 University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy
 marco.viola@uniroma1.it, daniela.diserafino@unicampania.it, toraldo@unina.it

**Keywords.** Newton method; global convergence; spectral gradient methods.

The Newton method is one of the most powerful methods for the solution of smooth unconstrained optimization problems. It has quadratic local convergence in a neighborhood of a local minimum where the Hessian is positive definite and Lipschitz continuous [1]. Several strategies have been proposed in order to achieve global convergence. They are mainly based either on the modification of the Hessian together with a line search or on the adoption of a restricted-step strategy [2].

We propose a globalization technique that combines the Newton and gradient directions, producing a descent direction on which a backtracking Armijo line search is performed. Our work is motivated by the effectiveness of gradient methods using suitable spectral step-length selection rules [3]. We prove global convergence of the resulting algorithm, and quadratic rate of convergence under suitable second-order optimality conditions. A numerical comparison with a modified Newton method exploiting Hessian modifications [4] shows the effectiveness of our approach.

**Acknowledgements.** This work is partially supported by GNCS-INdAM (Projects 2019).

- [1] Fletcher R. (2000). Practical methods of optimization, second edition. John Wiley & Sons.
- [2] Moré J.J., Sorensen D.C. (1984). Newton's method. In *Studies in Numerical Analysis* (Golub G.H. ed.), the Mathematical Association of America, Providence, RI, pp. 29–82.
- [3] di Serafino D., Ruggiero V., Toraldo G., Zanni L. (2018). On the steplength selection in gradient methods for unconstrained optimization. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, Vol. 318, pp. 176–195.
- [4] Fang H., O'Leary D.P. (2008). Modified Cholesky algorithms: a catalog with new approaches. *Mathematical Programming*, Vol. 115(2), pp. 319–349.

This page intentionally left blank

# High Performance Computing in Modelling and Simulation

Organizers:

William Spataro
Donato D'Ambrosio
Rocco Rongo
University of Calabria, Italy
Andrea Giordano
ICAR-CNR, Italy

This page intentionally left blank

# A parallel software platform for pathway enrichment

Mario Cannataro, Giuseppe Agapito

University of Catanzaro, Viale Europa, Catanzaro, Italy cannataro@unicz.it, agapito@unicz.it

**Keywords.** Pathways; KEGG; REACTOME; Parallel computing.

Biological pathways are complex network models [1] able to provide a view on the interactions among bio-molecules inside the cell. Biological pathways are represented as a network, where the nodes are the bio-molecules, and the arches represent the interactions between two biomolecules.

All available information regarding the pathways are collected in several online repositories of pathways information such as KEGG [2] is a repository of metabolic pathways, Panther [3] comprises primarily signaling pathways, and Reactome [4] that contains information about metabolism and signal transduction pathways, to name few.

Pathways enrichment analysis is employed to help the researcher to discriminate relevant proteins involved in the development of both simple and complex diseases. To support the researcher to perform pathways enrichment analysis, several software tools are available. The main limitation of the current enrichment tools are: i) each tool can use only a single pathway source to compute the enrichment; ii) researcher have to repeat the enrichment analysis several times with different tools (able to get pathway data from complementary data sources); iii) enrichment results have to be manually merged by the user, a tedious and error-prone task even for a computer scientist. As a result, we propose a parallel enrichment tool able to retrieve at the same time pathways information from KEGG, Reactome, and Panther databases, with which to automatically perform pathway enrichment analysis, allowing to reduce the computational time of some order of magnitude, as well as the automatic merging of the results.

- [1] Bhalla, U.S. and Iyengar, R., 1999. Emergent properties of networks of biological signaling pathways. Science, 283(5400), pp.381-387.
- [2] Kanehisa, M. and Goto, S., 2000. KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. Nucleic acids research, 28(1), pp.27-30.
- [3] Mi, H., Lazareva-Ulitsky, B., Loo, R., Kejariwal, A., Vandergriff, J., Rabkin, S., Guo, N., Muruganujan, A., Doremieux, O., Campbell, M.J. and Kitano, H., 2005. The PANTHER database of protein families, subfamilies, functions and pathways. Nucleic acids research, 33(suppl\_1), pp.D284-D288.
- [4] Croft, D., Mundo, A.F., Haw, R., Milacic, M., Weiser, J., Wu, G., Caudy, M., Garapati, P., Gillespie, M., Kamdar, M.R. and Jassal, B., 2013. The Reactome pathway knowledgebase. Nucleic acids research, 42(D1), pp.D472-D47.

### Improving Efficiency in Parallel Computing Leveraging Local Synchronization

Franco Cicirelli, Andrea Giordano\*, Carlo Mastroianni ICAR-CNR, via P. Bucci, cubo 8/9C, Rende (CS), Italy

Keywords. Parallel Computing, Speedup, Synchronization, Max-Plus Algebra.

In parallel computing, a complex task is typically split among many computing resources, which are engaged to perform portions of such task in a parallel fashion. Except for a very limited class of application, computing resources need to coordinate with each other in order to carry out the parallel execution in a consist way. As a consequence, a synchronization overhead arises [1], which can significantly impair the overall execution performance. Typically, the synchronization is achieved by adopting a centralized synchronization barrier involving all the computing resources. In many application domains, though, such kind of global synchronization can be relaxed and a lean synchronization schema, namely local synchronization [2], can exploited. By using local synchronization, each computing resource needs to synchronize only with a subset of the other computing resources.

In this work, we evaluate the performance of the local synchronization mechanism when compared to the global synchronization scenario. As a key performance indicator, the efficiency index is considered, which is the speedup normalized with respect to the number of computing nodes. The efficiency trend is evaluated both analytically and through numerical simulation. More in particular, the analytical study is carried out by exploiting extreme value theory [3] for the case of global synchronization, whereas, the max-plus algebra theory [4] is used in the case of local synchronization.

- [1] Fujimoto, R. M. (2000). Parallel and distributed simulation systems (Vol. 300). New York: Wiley.
- [2] Cicirelli F., Forestiero A., Giordano A., Mastroianni C., Parallelization of space-aware applications: Modeling and performance analysis, Journal of Network and Computer Applications, Volume 122, 2018, Pages 115-127.
- [3] Madala S., Sinclair J. B., Performance of synchronous parallel algorithms with regular structures IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 105-116, Jan. 1991.
- [4] Heidergott, B., Olsder, G. J., Van Der Woude, J. (2014). Max Plus at work: modeling and analysis of synchronized systems: a course on Max-Plus algebra and its applications (Vol. 48). Princeton University Press.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Andrea Giordano, ICAR-CNR, I-87036 Rende, Italy; E-mail: giordano@icar.cnr.it

# A General Formalism for Multidimensional Space-Time Discrete Structured Grid Modelling

Donato D'Ambrosio<sup>1\*</sup>, Paola Arcuri<sup>1</sup>, Mario D'Onghia<sup>1</sup>, Rocco Rongo<sup>1</sup>, William Spataro<sup>1</sup>, Andrea Giordano<sup>2</sup>, Davide Spataro<sup>3</sup>, Alessio De Rango<sup>4</sup>, Alfonso Senatore<sup>4</sup>

DeMaCS, University of Calabria, Italy
 ICAR-CNR, Italy
 ASML, The Netherlands
 DIATIC, University of Calabria, Italy

**Keywords.** Structured Grid Modelling, Multidimensional space partitioning, Local and global transition rule, Aggregation and Disaggregation function, Parallel Computing.

Computational structured grids are often adopted in the simulation of complex systems, since they offer a good trade off between accuracy and efficiency [1]. Different formal models have been proposed in Literature to describe the computational process on the grid, such as Extended Cellular Automata [1] and Cellular Automata Neworks [3]. Here we propose a new formalism called *Structure+* with the aim of modeling multidimensional space-time discrete complex systems by means of one or more structured grids, each one with its own dimensionality and dimension. Both local and global transition rules can be defined to permit the different grids to evolve. Interface operators, like aggregation and disaggregation functions, can also be defined to allow the different domains to communicate and synchronize. A first example of a coupled surface to groundwater hydrological model is presented. Considerations about parallel computational aspects are eventually discussed.

- [1] Reguly Z., Mudalige G.R., Giles M.B. (2017) Loop Tiling in Large-Scale Stencil Codes at Run-time with OPS. *IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems*, Vol. 29 (4). pp. 873–886.
- [2] Di Gregorio S., Serra R. (1999) An empirical method for modelling and simulating some complex macroscopic phenomena by cellular automata. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, Vol. 16, pp. 259–271.
- [3] Calidonna C.R., Naddeo A., Trunfio G.A., Di Gregorio S. (2010) CANv2: a hybrid CA model by micro and macro-dynamics examples. In Proceedings of the *International Conference on Cellular Automata*, Ascoli Piceno (Italy), pp 128-137.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Donato D'Ambrosio, Department of Mathematics and Computer Science (DeMaCS), University of Calabria, Italy, I-87036 Rende, Italy; E-mail: donato.dambrosio@unical.it

# Preliminary model of saturated flow using Cellular Automata

Alessio De Rango<sup>1</sup>, Luca Furnari<sup>1</sup>, Andrea Giordano<sup>3</sup>, Alfonso Senatore<sup>1</sup>, Donato D'Ambrosio<sup>2</sup>, Salvatore Straface<sup>1</sup>, Giuseppe Mendicino<sup>1</sup>

DIATIC, University of Calabria, Italy
 DeMACS, University of Calabria, Italy
 ICAR-CNR, Italy

**Keywords.** High-performance Computing; Extended Cellular Automata; Computational Fluid Dynamics.

A fully-coupled from surface to groundwater hydrological model is being developed based on the Extended Cellular Automata formalism (XCA) [1], which proves to be very suitable for high performance computing. In this note, the module related to three-dimensional saturated flow in porous media is presented by using the OpenCAL library [2], allowing to exploit multi-core CPUs and many-core devices like GPUs. The XCA-based model is evaluated in terms of both accuracy and precision of modeling results and computational performance, using two- and three-dimensional test cases at different resolutions (from parcel to catchment scale), simulating pumping from one or more wells, river-groundwater interactions and varying soil hydraulic properties. Model accuracy is compared with analytic solutions, when available, and with the widely used MODFLOW model [3], while the computational performance is evaluated using both CPU and GPU devices. Overall, the XCA-based model proves to be accurate and, mainly, computationally very efficient thanks to the many options and tools available with the OpenCAL library.

### Acknowledgements.

L. Furnari acknowledges for the program "POR Calabria FSE/FESR 2014/2020 - Mobilità internazionale di Dottorandi a Assegni di ricerca/Ricercatori di Tipo A" Actions 10.5.6 and 10.5.12.

- [1] Di Gregorio S., Serra R. (1999) An empirical method for modelling and simulating some complex macroscopic phenomena by cellular automata. Future Generation Computer Systems, Vol. 16, pp. 259–271.
- [2] D'Ambrosio D., De Rango A., Oliverio M., Spataro D., Spataro W., Rongo R., Mendicino G. and Senatore A. (2018) The Open Computing Abstraction Layer for Parallel Complex Systems Modeling on Many-Core Systems. Journal of Parallel and Distributed Computing. Vol. 121, pp. 53–70.
- [3] Harbaugh A.W. (2005) MODFLOW-2005, the U.S. Geological Survey modular ground-water model the Ground-Water Flow Process. U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods 6-A16.

# A cybersecurity framework for classifying non stationary data streams exploiting genetic programming and ensemble learning

Gianluigi Folino<sup>1</sup>, Francesco Sergio Pisani<sup>1</sup> and Luigi Pontieri<sup>1</sup> ICAR-CNR, Italy

**Keywords.** Genetic Programming, Cybersecurity, Data streams.

The problem of classifying attacks in the cybersecurity field involves many issues, such as the need of dealing with fast data streams, the non-stationary nature of attacks (concept drift) and the uneven distribution of the classes. Classical data mining algorithms usually are not able to handle all these issues. Ensemble-based algorithms [2] fit well this challenging scenario, as they are incremental, robust to noise, scalable and operate well on unbalanced datasets. However, a clever and not computationally expensive strategy has to be designed to combine the classifiers composing the ensemble.

To this aim, a distributed genetic programming (GP) tool [1] is used to generate the combiner function of an ensemble; this tool does not need an heavy additional phase of training, after the classifiers composing the ensemble are trained, and, therefore, it can answer quickly to concept drifts, also in the case of fast-changing data streams. The above-described approach is integrated into a novel cybersecurity framework used for classifying non stationary and unbalanced data streams. This framework provides several drift detection functions and a strategy for replacing classifiers, which permits to build the ensemble in an incremental way. The architecture of the framework includes also a preprocessing module to extract and select data and context features and some repositories maintaining the discovered alerts and models.

We conducted experiments on artificial and real datasets and the framework is effective both in detecting attacks and in quickly reacting to concept drifts.

### Acknowledgment

This work has been partially supported under project POR "Spid Advanced Security (Spidasec)".

- [1] Folino G., Pizzuti C., Spezzano G. (2001) Cage: A tool for parallel genetic programming applications, in *EuroGP'2001*, Springer, Lake Como, Italy, pp. 64–73.
- [2] Folino G., Pisani F. S. and Sabatino P. Combining ensemble of classifiers by using genetic programming for cyber security applications. 18th European Conference, EvoApplications 2015, Copenhagen, Denmark, April 8-10, 2015, Proceedings, pages 54–66. Springer, 2015.

# Neural word embeddings approach for a distributed management system in healthcare

Agostino Forestiero\* and Giuseppe Papuzzo

ICAR-CNR Via P. Bucci 8-9C, 87036 Rende, Italy mail: {forestiero, papuzzo}@icar.cnr.it

**Keywords.** Neural word embeddings, Electronic Health Records, Semantic overlay network, Self-organization.

Today's health domain is characterized by heterogeneous, numerous, highly dynamics and geographically distributed information sources. Moreover, the increasing use of electronic health records (EHRs) has led to store an unprecedented amount of information. Managing this large amount of data can, often, introduce issues of information overload, with potential negative consequences on clinical work, such as errors of omission, delays, and overall patient safety [2]. Innovative techniques, approaches and infrastructures are needed to investigate data featured by high velocity, volume and variability. This paper introduces a distributed and self-organizing algorithm for building a management system for big data in highly dynamic environments like healthcare domain. EHRs and social data are represented with vectors obtained through the doc2vec model [1], a neural approach able to capture the semantic context representing documents in dense vectors namely neural word embeddings. Doc2vec is an unsupervised algorithm to generate vectors starting from sentences/documents based on word2vec approach which can generate vectors for words. Thanks to autonomous and local operations performed by the servers of a clinical distributed system, a logically organized overlay network emerges and the resource management operations become faster and efficient. Preliminary experimental results show the effectiveness of our approach.

- [1] Le, Q. and Mikolov, T. (2014) Distributed representations of sentences and documents. In International Conference on Machine Learning. pp. 1188–1196.
- [2] Pivovarov, R., Elhadad, N. (2015) Automated methods for the summarization of electronic health records. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association 22(5), pp. 938–947

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author

### A Dynamic Load Balancing technique for Parallel Execution of Structured Grid Models

Andrea Giordano<sup>1\*</sup>, Alessio De Rango<sup>2</sup>, Rocco Rongo<sup>2</sup>, Donato D'Ambrosio<sup>2</sup>, William Spataro<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> ICAR-CNR, Italy

**Keywords.** Parallel Computing, Parallel Software Tools, Load Balancing, Cellular Automata.

The distribution of computational load over different processing elements represents an important issue in parallel computing [1]. This is particularly relevant in the case of parallel execution of structured grid computational models, such as Cellular Automata (CA) [2], where the domain space is partitioned in region assigned to the parallel computing nodes. Load balancing techniques are particularly effective when structured grid computational models are exploited to simulate topologically connected physical phenomena like lava or debris flows (e.g., [3]), in which the evolution develops in a usually small sub-region of the domain. In this work, we present a dynamic load balancing technique that can provide performance improvements in structured grid model development on distributed memory architectures by adopting the MPI technology. First tests have demonstrated the usefulness of the feature in appreciably reducing execution times in comparison with not-balanced parallel versions.

**Acknowledgements.** Authors thank Rodolfo Calabrò from University of Calabria for helping in code implementation and testing phases.

- [1] Grama A., Karypis G., Kumar V., Gupta A. (2003) An Introduction to Parallel Computing: Design and Analysis of Algorithms, Second Edition, Addison Wesley.
- [2] von Neumann J. (1966) Theory of self reproducing automata, University of Illinois Press, Urbana.
- [3] Avolio M.V., Di Gregorio S., Mantovani F., Pasuto A., Rongo R., Silvano S., Spataro W. (2000) Simulation of the 1992 tessina landslide by a cellular automata model and future hazard scenarios. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 41–50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Calabria, Italy

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Andrea Giordano, ICAR-CNR, I-87036 Rende, Italy; E-mail: giordano@icar.cnr.it

### Final Sediment Outcome from Meteorological Flood Events: a Multi-Modelling Approach

Lupiano V.<sup>1a,2c</sup>, Calidonna C.R.<sup>2a</sup>, Avolio E.<sup>2a</sup>, Larosa S.<sup>1a</sup>, Cianflone G.<sup>2a,3</sup>, Viscomi A.<sup>1a</sup>, De Rosa R.<sup>1a</sup>, Dominici R.<sup>1a,3</sup>, Alberico I.<sup>2b</sup>, Pelosi N.<sup>2b</sup>, Lirer F.<sup>2b</sup>, Di Gregorio S.<sup>1b,2a</sup>

1 a) DIBEST, b)DeMaCS, University of Calabria, 87036 Rende, CS, Italy
2 a) ISAC-CNR UOS Lamezia Terme (CZ), b) ISMAR-CNR UOS Napoli, c) IRPI Rende, CNR, Italy
3 EalCUBO, Arcavacata di Rende 87036, CS, Italy
salvatore.digregorio@unical.it

**Keywords.** Extreme Event; Flood; Sediment Transport and Deposition; Subaerial and Subaqueous Flow-like landslide; Modelling and Simulation.

Coastal areas are more and more exposed to the effects of climatic change. Intense local rainfalls increases the frequency of flash floods and/or flow-like subaerial and afterwards submarine landslides. The overall phenomenon of flash flood is complex and involves different phases strongly connected: heavy precipitations in a short period of time, soil erosion, fan deltas forming at mouth and hyperpycnal flows and/or landslides occurrence. Such interrelated phases were separately modelled for simulation purposes by different computational models: PDE methods for weather forecasts and sediment production estimation [1], Cellular Automata (CA) for soil erosion by rainfall and "subaerial" sediment transport and deposit [4], the behavior in the earth/sea interface and subsequent submarine flow may be modelled by the CA model SCIDDICA. This research studies the coupling of these models and introduces in SCIDDICA the process concerning the interaction currents/subaqueous sediments. A first validation of SCID-DICA in simple cases of submarine current/sediment interaction looks satisfying. Our aim is to complete the model and validate it on the 2016 Bagnara case [1], whose data [2] are sufficient for a complete simulation.

- [1] Larosa S., et al. (2019), A PyQGIS plug-in for the sediments production calculation based on the Erosion Potential Method, (subm.) Frontiers of Earth Science, Ed.: Wei Gao, ISSN: 2095-0195 (print version), ISSN: 2095-0209 (el. version)
- [2] Avolio M. V., et al. (2009), An advanced Cellular Model for Flow-type Landslide with Simulations of Subaerial and Subaqueous cases, In Proceedings of the *EnviroInfo 2009*, Vol. 501, pp.131-140, .ISBN 978-3-8322-8397-1
- [3] Punzo M., et al. (2016), Remocean X-Band Wave Radar for wave field analysis: case study of Bagnara Calabra (south Tyrrhenian Sea, Italy). *Journal of Sensors*, Vol. 501, doi.org/10.1155/2016/6236925. Vol. 1, pp131–140

### Parallel Algorithms for Multifractal Analysis of River Networks

Leonardo Primavera<sup>1</sup>, Emilia Florio<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Università della Calabria, Dipartimento di Fisica, Ponte P. Bucci, 87036 - Rende, Italy
 <sup>2</sup>Università della Calabria, Dipartimento di Matematica e Informatica, Ponte P. Bucci, 87036 - Rende, Italy

leonardo.primavera@unical.it, emilia.florio@unical.it,

**Keywords.** Multifractal dimension; River networks; Parallel algorithms.

The dynamical properties of many natural phenomena can be related to their support fractal dimension. A relevant example is the connection between flood peaks produced in a river basin, as observed in flood hydrographs, and the multi-fractal spectrum of the river itself, according to the Multifractal Instantaneous Unit Hydrograph (MIUH) theory. Typically, the multifractal analysis of river networks is carried out by sampling large collections of points belonging to the river basin and analyzing the fractal dimensions and the Lipschitz-Hölder exponents of singularities through numerical procedures which involve different degrees of accuracy in the assessment of such quantities through different methods (box-counting techniques, the generalized correlation integral method by Pawelzik and Schuster (1987), the fixed-mass algorithms by Badii and Politi (1985), being some relevant examples).

However, the higher accuracy in the determination of the fractal dimensions requires considerably higher computational times. For this reason, we recently developed a parallel version of some of the cited multifractal methods described above by using the MPI parallel library, by reaching almost optimal speed-ups in the computations. This will supply a tool for the assessment of the fractal dimensions of river networks (as well as of several other natural phenomena whose embedding dimension is 2 or 3) on massively parallel clusters or multi-core workstations.

- [1] De Bartolo S. G., Gabriele S., Gaudio R. (2000). Multifractal behaviour of river networks. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, Vol. 4 (1), pp. 105-112.
- [2] Pawelzik K., Schuster H. G. (1987). Generalized dimensions and entropies from a measured time series. *Physical Review A*, Vol. 35 (1), pp. 481-484.
- [3] Badii R., Politi A. (1985). Statistical description of chaotic attractors: the dimension function. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, Vol. 40, pp. 725-750.
- [4] De Bartolo S. G., Primavera L., Gaudio R., D'Ippolito, A., Veltri, M. (2006). Fixed-mass multifractal analysis of river networks and braided channels. *Physical Review E*, Vol. 74 (026101), pp. 1-8.

# A methodology approach to compare performance of parallel programming models on HPC applications

Gladys Utrera, Marisa Gil, Xavier Martorell

Computer Architecture Department. Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya c/ Jordi Girona, 1-3, 08034 Barcelona, Catalunya, Spain gutrera@ac.upc.edu, marisa@ac.upc.edu, xavim@ac.upc.edu

Keywords. MPI; OpenMP; NUMA; HPC; Parallel programming patterns.

The majority of current HPC applications are composed of complex and irregular data structures that involve techniques such as linear algebra, graph algorithms, and resource management, for which new platforms with varying computation-unit capacity and features are required. Platforms using several cores with different performance characteristics make a challenge the selection of the best programming model, based on the corresponding executing algorithm. To make this study, there are approaches in the literature, that go from comparing in isolation the corresponding programming models' primitives to the evaluation of a complete set of benchmarks. Our study shows that none of them may provide enough information for a HPC application to make a programming model selection. In addition, modern platforms are modifying the memory hierarchy, evolving to larger shared and private caches or NUMA regions making the memory wall an issue to consider depending on the memory access patterns of applications. In this work, we propose a methodology based on Parallel Programming Patterns to consider intra and inter socket communication. In this sense, we analyze MPI, OpenMP and the hybrid solution MPI/OpenMP in shared-memory environments. We demonstrate that the proposed comparison methodology may give more accurate predictions in performance for given HPC applications and consequently a useful tool to select the appropriate parallel programming model.

### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the following grants Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation (contract TIN2015-65316), the Generalitat de Catalunya (2014-SGR-1051) and the European Commission through the HiPEAC-3 Network of Excellence (FP7/ICT-217068).

- [1] McCool M., Reinders J., Robison A. (2012) Structured Parallel Programming: Patterns for Efficient Computation (1st ed.). Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc., San Francisco, CA, USA.
- [2] Metzger P., Cole M., Fensch C. (2018) NUMA Optimizations for Algorithmic Skeletons. In: Aldinucci M., Padovani L., Torquati M. (eds) Euro-Par 2018: Parallel Processing. Euro-Par 2018. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 11014. Springer, Cham

### Hierarchical Clustering of Spatial Urban Data

Andrea Vinci<sup>1</sup>, Eugenio Cesario<sup>1,2</sup> and Xiaotian Zhu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>ICAR-CNR, Italy,
<sup>2</sup>Monmouth University, NJ, USA
andrea.vinci@icar.cnr.it, eugenio.cesario@icar.cnr.it, s1201934@monmouth.edu

**Keywords.** Machine Learning; Urban Data; Clustering.

The growth in data gathered in urban contexts opens up to their exploitation for improving citizen quality-of-life and city management issues, like resource planning (water, electricity), traffic, air and water quality, public policy and public safety services. Moreover, most of the available data are geo-referenced, due to the large-scale diffusion of GPS and scanning devices[2]. Considering such an abundance of data, a very desirable and common task is to identify homogeneous regions in spatial data by partitioning a city into uniform regions based on pollution density, mobility spikes, crimes, or on other characteristics[3]. Density-based clustering algorithms have been shown to be very suitable to detect density-based regions, i.e. areas in which urban events occur with higher density than the remainder of the dataset. Nevertheless, an important issue of such algorithms is that, due to the adoption of global parameters, they fail to identify clusters with varied densities, unless the clusters are clearly separated by sparse regions[1]. In this paper we provide a preliminary analysis about how hierarchical clustering can be used to discover spatial clusters of different densities, in spatial urban data. The algorithm can automatically estimate the area of the data having different densities, it can automatically estimate parameters for each cluster so as to reduce the requirement for human intervention or domain knowledge.

- [1] Catlett C., Cesario E., Talia D., Vinci A. (2019) Spatio-temporal crime predictions in smart cities: A data-driven approach and experiments, Pervasive and Mobile Computing, Volume 53, Pages 62-74, ISSN 1574-1192,
- [2] Altomare A., Cesario E., Comito C., Marozzo F. and Talia D. (2017) Trajectory Pattern Mining for Urban Computing in the Cloud, in IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 586-599, 1 Feb.
- [3] Catlett C., Cesario E., Talia D. and Vinci A. (2018) A Data-Driven Approach for SpatioTemporal Crime Predictions in Smart Cities, 2018 IEEE International Conference on Smart Computing (SMARTCOMP), Taormina, pp. 17-24.

This page intentionally left blank

# Numerical Analysis of Complex and Multiscale Systems

### Organizers:

Lucia Russo

CNR Combustion Research Institute, Italy

Francesco Giannino Constantinos Siettos

University of Naples Federico II, Italy

This page intentionally left blank

# Numerical Algorithms for the Parametric Continuation of Stiff ODEs deriving from the Modeling of Combustion with Detailed Chemical Mechanisms

Luigi Acampora and Francesco S. Marra

Istituto di Ricerche sulla Combustione - CNR, Napoli, Italy l.acampora@irc.cnr.it, marra@irc.cnr.it

**Keywords.** Bifurcation and stability of dynamical systems; Parametric continuation; Numerical algorithms; Computational efficiency.

The use of detailed chemical mechanisms is becoming increasingly necessary during the actual transition of the energy production from fossil to renewable fuels. Indeed, the modern renewable fuels are characterized by a composition more complex than traditional fossil fuels due to the variability of the properties of the primary source, i.e. biomass. Parametric continuation can be a formidable tool to study the behavior of these new fuels allowing to promptly assess equilibrium conditions varying the main operative parameters. However, parametric continuation is a very computationally demanding procedure, both for the number of elementary operations needed and for the memory requirements. Actually, only very recently some approaches that allow to afford this computation with chemical mechanisms composed of hundreds of chemical species and thousands of reaction have been proposed [1–3].

Starting from the procedure illustrated in [2], this paper illustrates further improvements of key steps that usually represents a bottleneck for the effective computation of parametric continuations and for the identification of bifurcation points.

- [1] Shan R., Lu T. (2014) A Bifurcation Analysis for Limit Flame Phenomena of DME/Air in Perfectly Stirred Reactors. *Combustion and Flame*, Vol. 161, pp. 1716–23.
- [2] Acampora L., Marra F.S. (2015) Numerical strategies for the bifurcation analysis of perfectly stirred reactors with detailed combustion mechanisms. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, Vol. 85, pp. 273-282.
- [3] Acampora L., Marra F.S., Numerical Strategies for Detection of Bifurcation Points in the Parametric Continuation of Model Reactors with Detailed Chemical Mechanisms, *ICCMSE 2017*, The Met Hotel, Thessaloniki, Greece, 21-25 April 2017

### Modelling and Analysis of Functional Connectivity in EEG source level in Chlidren with Epilepsy

Evangelos Galaris, Constantinos Siettos

Universitá degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni "Renato Caccioppoli", Italy

a.galaris10@yahoo.gr,constantinos.siettos@unina.it

Keywords. Source Localization; Reconstruction of Functional Connectivity; Epilepsy.

Epilepsy affects more than 65 million people worldwide and around 10.5 million of them are children. Although many children self-heal before adulthood, it has been shown that children with epilepsy confront various problems in learning, attention as well as in memory capacity. Thus, the systematic study of the brain (dys)functionality, and ultimately the design of proper treatments is one of the most challenging problems in neuroscience. Towards this aim, neuroimaging techniques and in particular EEG recordings, most commonly used for clinical assessment play an important role. However, an analysis at the scalp level does not give insight to the functionality and interactions of the "true" brain regions. On the other hand, the inverse problem, i.e. that of identifying the involved brain regions from scalp recordings is an ill-defined problem and as such a comparison between various numerical methods that solve it is critical. Here, we reconstruct the functional connectivity of brain activity of children with epilepsy based on EEG recordings of one-back matching visual discrimination working memory task [1, 2]. We first solve the inverse source localisation problem by using three methods, namely the standarized Low Resolution Electromagnetic Tomography (sLORETA), the weighted Minimum Norm Estimation (wMNE), and the dynamic Statistical Parametric Mapping (dSPM). Then using both linear and nonlinear causality models we reconstruct the functional connectivity network between the sources. A comparative analysis between methods and groups (epileptic vs. children) reveals different spatio-temporal patterns that may serve as "biomarkers" for diagnostic purposes and ultimately localised treatment.

- [1] Myatchin I., Mennes M., Wouters H., Stiers P., Lagae L. (2009) Working memory in children with epilepsy: An event-related potentials study. *Epilepsy Research*, Vol. 86, pp. 183–190.
- [2] Protopapa F., Siettos C.I., Myatchin I., Lagae L. (2016) Children with well controlled epilepsy possess different spatio-temporal patterns of causal network connectivity during a visual working memory task. *Cognitive Neurodynamics*, Vol. 10, pp. 99-111.

# Pattern formation and numerical bifurcation analysis for a vegetation model

Francesco Giannino<sup>1</sup>, Konstantinos Spiliotis<sup>1</sup>, Constantinos Siettos<sup>2</sup>, Lucia Russo<sup>3</sup>

Dipartimento di Agraria, University of Naples Federico II, Italy
 Dipartimento di Mathematica e Applicazioni, University of Naples Federico II, Italy
 Istituto di Ricerche sulla Combustione, Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Italy
 francesco.giannino@unina.it, spiliotiskos@gmail.com, constantinos.siettos@unina.it,
 l.russo@irc.cnr.it

**Keywords.** PDE; vegetation dynamics; Turing pattern.

Several mathematical models were formulated as systems of PDEs to simulate vegetation patterns. These vegetation patterns are observed in numerous regions around the world ([1]) and it has been hypothesized that their development is affected by global phenomena like climate change ([1]).

These mathematical models that has been used to simulate the vegetation pattern formation consider positive feedback mechanisms between water and biomass. Moreover, some studies explain pattern formation as a consequence of negative plant-soil feedback interactions.

In this work we present a pattern formation and a numerical bifurcation analysis of a vegetation model which includes negative plant-soil feedback, based on the PDE model of [3]. The study has revealed the existence of variety of different spatial patterns in the space arising from Turing bifurcation of the homogeneous state. The effect of the precipitation rate is analyzed as system parameter. Coexistence between different patterns has been observed in a wide range of precipitation rate. Moreover the effect of boundary conditions on the nonlinear dynamics is also discussed.

Acknowledgements. This work was supported by the System dynamics modeling of microbial cell cultures (ModCellDev) Project—Programma di finanziamento della ricerca di Ateneo 2015, University of Naples Federico II

- [1] Valentin C., d'Herbès J.-M., Poesen J. (1999) Soil andwater components of banded vegetation patterns. *Catena* 37(1):1–24
- [2] Scheffer M., Bascompte J., Brock W.A., Brovkin V., Carpenter S.R., Dakos V., Held H., Van Nes E.H., Rietkerk M. and Sugihara G. (2009). Early-warning signals for critical transitions. Nature 461, 53-59.
- [3] Marasco A., Iuorio A., Carten'ı F., Bonanomi G., Tartakovsky D.M., Mazzoleni S. and Giannino F. (2014). Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, 76, 2866-2883.

# The dynamics of a ring network with switched connections

Lucia Russo<sup>1</sup>, Erasmo Mancusi<sup>2</sup>, Constantinos Siettos<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Istituto di Ricerche sulla Combustione, Italy

<sup>2</sup>Facoltá di Ingegneria, Universitá del Sannio, Benevento, Italy

<sup>3</sup>Universitá degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni "Renato Caccioppoli"

1.russo@irc.cnr.it,mancusi@unisannio.it,constantinos.siettos@unina.it

Keywords. Ring Network; Periodically Forced Systems; Bifurcation Analysis.

In this work we analyse transitions between symmetric and asymmetric regimes in a ring network with periodically forced connections [1–3]. In particular, the network consists of a ring where the connections are periodically switched (ON/OFF) with a circular law. We consider, as an example, a sequence of n reactors where the feed position is periodically shifted according to a permutation law. We analyse the symmetry-breaking phenomena which are consequence of interaction between the natural and external forcing action. As the main parameters are varied due to the presence of Neimark-Saicker bifurcations, the system exhibits periodic regimes where the periods are exact multiples of the period of the forcing or quasi-periodic regimes. In addition to the standard phenomenon of frequency locking, we observe symmetry breaking transitions. While in a symmetric regime all the reactors in the network have the same time history, symmetry breaking is always coupled to a situation in which one or more reactors of the ring exhibit a greater temperature than the others. We found that symmetry is broken when the rotational number of the limit cycle, which arises from the Neimark-Saicker bifurcation, is an specific ratio. Finally, symmetry locking and resonance regions are computed through the bifurcational analysis to detect the critical parameters which mark the symmetry-breaking transitions.

- [1] Russo L., Mancusi E., Maffettone P.L., Crescitelli S. (2002) Symmetry properties and bifurcational analysis of a class of periodically forced chemical reactors. *Chemical Engineering Science*, Vol. 57, pp. 5065–5082.
- [2] Russo L., Altimari P., Mancusi E., Maffettone P.L., Crescitelli S. (2006) Complex dynamics and spatio-temporal patterns in a network of distributed chemical reactors with periodic feed switching. *Chaos Solitons Fractals*, Vol. 28,pp. 682–706.
- [3] Russo L., Crescitelli S., Mancusi E., Maffettone P.L., (2004) Non-linear analysis of a network of three continuous stirred tank reactors with periodic feed switching: symmetry and symmetry-breaking. *Int. Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*, Vol. 14, pp. 1325–1341.

# Numerical approximation of center, stable and unstable manifolds of multiscale/stochastic systems

Constantinos Siettos<sup>1</sup>, Lucia Russo<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni "Renato Caccioppoli"/, Italy

<sup>2</sup>Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Istituto di Ricerche sulla Combustione, Italy constantinos.siettos@unina.it, l.russo@irc.cnr.it

**Keywords.** Multiscale/ Stochastic Systems; Numerical Approximation of Manifolds; Equation-Free approach.

The numerical approximation of center, unstable and stable ivariant manifolds is important for a series of system-level tasks, particularly for the analysis and control large-scale systems. For example, embedding the high-dimensional dynamics on the center manifold allows the stability analysis and the control on a lower dimensional space. Here, we extend our previous work [1] to address a numerical methodology for the computation of such manifolds for multiscale/stochastic systems for which a "good" macroscopic description in the form of Ordinary (ODEs) and/or Partial Differential Equations (PDEs) does not explicitly/ analytically exists in a closed form. Thus, the assumption is that we have a detailed dynamical simulator of a complex system in the form of Monte-Carlo, Brownian dynamics, Agent-based e.t.c. but we don't have a explicitly a system of ODEs or PDEs in a closed form for the "slow" evolving variables. Based on this assumption, Gear & Kevrekidis [2] and Gear et al. [3] addressed an approach to compute "slow" manifolds by restricting the higher-order derivatives of the "fast" variables to zero. Our numerical scheme is a three-tier one including the (a) on "demand" detection of the (coarse-grained) non-hyperbolic equilibrium, (b) stability analysis of the critical point(s), and (c) approximation of local invariant manifolds by identifying the numerical quantities required (residuals, Jacobians, Hessians, etc)

- [1] Siettos C.I. (2014) Equation-Free computation of coarse-grained center manifolds of microscopic simulators. *Journal of Computational Dynamics-American Institute of Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 1, pp. 377–389.
- [2] Gear C. W., Kevrekidis I. G. (2005). Constraint-defined manifolds: a legacy code approach to low-dimensional computation. *J. Scientific Comput.*, Vol. 25, pp. 17–28.
- [3] Gear C. W., Kaper T. J., Kevrekidis I. G., Zagaris A. (2005). Projecting to a slow manifold: singularly perturbed systems and legacy codes. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst., Vol. 4, pp. 711–732.

# Effect of human interaction on forest-grassland dynamics: a numerical bifurcation analysis

Konstantinos Spiliotis<sup>1</sup>, Lucia Russo<sup>2</sup>, Francesco Giannino<sup>1</sup>, Constantinos Siettos<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Universita degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Dipartimento di Agraria, Italy
 <sup>2</sup>Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Istituto di Ricerche sulla Combustione, Italy
 <sup>3</sup>Universita degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni "Renato Caccioppoli", Italy

spiliotiskos@gmail.com, l.russo.ir.ccnr.it,
francesco.giannino,constantinos.siettos@unina.it

Keywords. Numerical Bifurcation Analysis; Ecosystems; Human Interaction.

Many ecosytems are characterized by multistability and/or oscillating regimes. Sudden shifts between states may emerge due to external disturbances and/or human intervention. Thus understanding how disturbances and human interaction influence the dynamics of ecosystems is very important for the prevention and control of ecological catastrophic shifts which may manifest as "sudden" phase transitions towards undesirable states [1,2]. Examples of such ecosystems are the forest-grassland mosaic ecosystems [3]. Thus, human preference and consequent actions have a direct effect on these transitions. Thus, understanding how the stability of such systems is affected by external perturbations and human intervention is of primary importance for their management and urban design. In this work we perform a one and two parameter numerical bifurcation analysis of a forest-grassland ecosystem model proposed by [3] which includes human inference. Our numerical analysis reveals that this simple model is able to approximate complex nonlinear behaviour including multistability and oscillations with shifts characterized by both catastrophic and smooth transitions including Bautin bifurcations [4].

- [1] Scheffer, M., Carpenter, S., Foley, J.A., Folke C., & Walker B. (2001) Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. *Nature*, Vol. 413, pp. 591-596.
- [2] Rietkerk, M., Dekker, S.C., de Ruiter, P.C., & van de Koppel J. (2004) Selforganized patchiness and catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. *Science*, Vol. 305, pp. 1926-9.
- [3] Innes, C., Anand, M. & Bauch C.T. (2013) The impact of human-environment interactions on the stability of forest-grassland mosaic ecosystems. *Scientific Reports*, Vol. 3, pp. 2689.
- [4] Russo, L., Spiliotis, K., Giannino, F., Mazzoleni, F. & Siettos, C.I. (2019) Bautin Bifurcations in a Forest-Grassland Ecosystem with Human-Environment Interactions. *Scientific Reports*, Vol. 9, pp. 2665.

# Variational Analysis and Optimization Methods with Applications in Finance and Economics

Organizers:

Giuseppe Caristi David Barilla

University of Messina, Italy

This page intentionally left blank

### Dynamic Risk Aversion and Risk Vulnerability

#### Martin Bohner

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Missouri ST, Rolla, MO 65409-0020, USA bohner@mst.edu

**Keywords.** Dynamic risk; Vulnerability; Portfolio problem.

This talk deals with money utility functions, in which money values are allowed from an arbitrary nonempty closed subset of real numbers, and therefore considers the classical case, in which this subset is the set of all real numbers, as well as the discrete case, in which this subset is the set of all integer numbers. The latter case has not yet received attention in literature, even though it may be seen as more appropriate than the continuous case for application in the real world. Risk aversion and risk premium are discussed and an analogue of Pratt's fundamental theorem is proved, while temperance, prudence and risk vulnerability are also scrutinized. Applications such as the standard portfolio problem are examined and multiple examples with varying underlying money set options are illustrated. This theme brings together the fields of mathematics (dynamic equations on time scales, see [2]) and economics (the economics of risk and time, see [3]). New results and example will be presented.

- [1] Bohner M. and Gelles G. M. (2012) Risk aversion and risk vulnerability in the continuous and discrete case. A unified treatment with extensions. Decis. Econ. Finance, 35:1-28.
- [2] Bekker M., Bohner M., Herega A., Voulov H. (2010) Spectral analysis of a q-difference operator. J. Phys. A 43(14), 15.
- [3] Bohner M. and Peterson A. (2001) Dynamic Equations on Time Scales: An Introduction with Applications, Boston.
- [4] Gollier C. (2001) The Economics of Risk and Time. The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, pp. 10–20.

### Characterization of efficient solutions in nonsmooth multiobjective problems using generalized invexity

Golnaz Edalat<sup>1</sup>, Ali Sadeghieh<sup>2</sup> and Giuseppe Caristi<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Payam Noor University, P. O. Box 19395-3697, Tehran, Iran <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, Yazd branch, Islamic Azad University, Yazd, Iran <sup>3</sup> University of Messina - Italy g.edalat69@gmail.com, alijon.sadeghieh@gmail.com, gcaristi@unime.it

**Keywords.** Optimality conditions; Multiobjective optimization; Constraint qualificatrion; Semi-infinite optimization.

A multiobjective semi-infinite programming (MOSIP in brief) is an optimization problem where two or more objectives are to be minimized on a set of feasible solutions described by infinitely many inequality constraint functions. The purpose of characterizing the efficient solutions of MOSIP is to provide the necessary and sufficient conditions for its optimal points. This characterization has been studied by many authors in smooth and nonsmooth cases. In all the articles in this field, the necessary conditions in Fritz-John (FJ) type are presented under some special continuity assumption respect to index set of constraints, the necessary conditions in Karush-Kahn-Tucker (KKT) type is stared under satisfying some constraint qualifications, and the sufficient conditions in FJ and KKT types are organized under convexity, quasiconvexity\pseudoconvexity, and invexity assumptions for objective and restriction functions. In the present paper, we prove the FJ necessary condition under an assumption, named PLV property, which is weaker that continuity assumption. Then, we justify the KKT necessary condition under a weak constrain qualification that is defined under an special kind of generalized invexity, called  $(\Phi, \rho)$ -invexity. Finally, we show that the FJ and KKT sufficient conditions are valid under  $(\Phi, \rho)$ -invexity.

- [1] Antczak, T.(2012). Proper efficiency conditions and duality results for nonsmooth vector optimization in Banach spaces under  $(\Phi, \rho)$ —invexity. Nonlinear Analysis. 75: 3107-3121.
- [2] Caristi, G., Ferrara, M. and Stefanescu, A.(2010). Semi-infinite multiobjective programming with generalized invexity. Mathematical Reports, 62: 217-233.
- [3] Kanzi, N.(2015). On Strong KKT Optimality Conditions For Multiobjective Semi-Infinite Programming Problems With Lipschitzian Data. Optim. Lett. 9: 1121-1129

### Discrete Models for Dynamic Competitive Economic Equilibrium Problems

Shapour Heidarkhani<sup>1</sup>, David Barilla<sup>2</sup>, and Giuseppe Caristi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Razi University-Iran, Dalhousie University-Canada
<sup>2</sup> University of Messina - Italy
sh.heidarkhani@yahoo.com, dbarilla@unime.it, gcaristi@unime.it

Keywords. Economic equilibrium problem; Discrete equilibrium problem.

Equilibrium is a central concept in numerous disciplines including economics, management science, operations research, and engineering. We consider a discrete dynamic competitive economic equilibrium problem in terms of maximization of utility functions and of excess demand functions. We study the discrete equilibrium problem by means of a discrete time-dependent quasivariational inequality in the discrete space  $l^2([0,T]_Z,R)$ . We ensure an existence result of discrete time-dependent equilibrium solutions.

- [1] Daniele P., Maugeri A., Variational inequalities and discrete and continuum models of network equilibrium problems, Mathematical and Computer Modelling, vol. 35, no. 5-6, pp. 689–708, 2002.
- [2] Donato M.B., Milasi M., Vitanza C., Quasi-variational approach of a competitive economic equilibrium problem with utility function: existence of equilibrium, Mathematical Models & Methods in Applied Sciences, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 351–367, 2008.
- [3] Idone G., Maugeri A., Vitanza C., *Topics on variational analysis and applications to equilibrium problems*, Journal of Global Optimization, vol. 28, no. 3-4, pp. 339–346, 2004.

# Qualifications and stationary conditions for nonsmooth multiobjective mathematical programming problem with vanishing constraints

Nader Kanzi<sup>1</sup>, David Barilla<sup>2</sup>, and Giuseppe Caristi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Payam Noor University, Tehran, Iran <sup>2</sup>University of Messina - Italy nad.kanzi@gmail.com, dbarilla@unime.it, gcaristi@unime.it

**Keywords.** Stationary conditions; MPVC; Constraint qualification.

In the context of optimization theory, the concept of multiobjective programming is very popular. At the other hand, a difficult class of optimization problems, introduced in 2007 and called mathematical programming with vanishing constraints (MPVC, in brief), has attracted the attention of researchers, due to their theoretical and practical scope. From the combination of these two issues, we will find a new important problem that we call it multiobjective mathematical programming problem with vanishing constraints (MMPVC). Defining of constraint qualifications and presenting of optimality conditions (named, stationary conditions) are two important features in studying of MPVCs, and the smoothness of considered functions are assumed in almost all these articles. The goal of present paper is extension of these results to the MMPVCs with nonsmooth objective and constraint functions. For this end, we introduce several kinds of constraint qualifications for nonsmooth MMPVCs and we study the relationships between them. Then, we apply the constraint qualifications in finding of necessary stationary conditions. Finally, we show these stationary conditions are sufficient for optimality (efficiently), too.

- [1] Achtziger W, Kanzow C. Mathematical programs with vanishing constraints: optimality conditions and constraint qualifications. Math Program. 2007; 114(1): 69-99.
- [2] Achtziger W, Hoheisel T, Kanzow C. A smoothing-regularization approach to mathematical programs with vanishing constraints. Comput Optim Appl. 2013;55(3): 733-767.
- [3] Kazemi S, Kanzi N. Constraint Qualifications and Stationary Conditions for Mathematical Programming with Non-differentiable Vanishing Constraints. Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 2018; DOI 10.1007/s10957-018-1373-7.
- [4] Kazemi S, Kanzi N, Ebadian A. Estimating the Frèchet Normal Cone in Optimization Problems with Nonsmooth Vanishing Constraints. Iranian Journal of Science and Technology, Transactions A: Science, 2019; DOI 10.1007/s40995-019-00683-8.

# Agent-based models of spatial aggregation and their continuum limits

Theodore Kolokolnikov

Dalhousie University, Canada tkolokol@gmail.com

Keywords. agent-based models, bacterial aggregation, wealth hot-spots

Agent-based models are widely used in numerous applications. They have an advantage of being easy to formulate and to implement on a computer. On the other hand, to get any mathematical insight (motivated by, but going beyond computer simulations) often requires looking at the continuum limit where the number of agents becomes large. In this talk I give several examples of agent- based models, starting from their derivation to taking their continuum limit, to analysis of the resulting continuum equations.

- [1] Chavy-Waddy P.C. and Kolokolnikov T. (2016) A local PDE model of aggregation formation in bacterial colonies. *Nonlinearity*, 29.10 (2016):3174.
- [2] Evers J.H.M., Iron D., Kolokolnikov T. and Rumsey J. (2017) Agent-based model of the effect of globalization on inequality and class mobility. *Physica D*, 2017.
- [3] Chen Y. and Kolokolnikov T. (2014). A minimal model of predator-swarm dynamics, Journal of the Royal Society Interface 11:20131208

# A model of optimal consumption and borrowing with random time scale

Aleksandra Zhukova, Igor Pospelov

Federal Research Center "Computer Science and Control" of RAS, Vavilov st. 40, Moscow, 119333, Russian Federation

Moscow Institute of Physics and Technology, 9 Institutskiy per., Dolgoprudny, Moscow Region, 141701, Russian Federation

National Research University Higher School of Economics, Myasnitskaya st. 20, Moscow, 101000, Russian Federation

sasha.mymail@gmail.com, pospeli@yandex.ru

**Keywords.** time scale; optimal control; functional Newton method.

This work is dedicated to modelling economic dynamics with random time scale. The need for such model appears when a theoretical model formulated in continuous time is applied to numerical computations using the statistical data is discrete time. Observed data have certain characteristic period - hour, month, quarter, year, whereas the underlying economic processes, especially in what relates to financial transactions, inventory management and trade in durable goods, may not have periodicity at all, or have a characteristic time of change different from what is observed on the available time. For example, for financial accounts with equal balances at the end of period, the turnover during the period might differ tenfold.

We propose a solution in the form a continuous time model where interactions of agents interactions of agents are random exchanges of finite portions of products and money at random points in time. In this framework, the economic agent determines the volume, but not the moments of the transactions and their order. The paper presents a correct formal description of optimal consumption and borrowing as a stochastic optimal control problem, which we study using the optimality conditions in the Lagrange's form. The solution appears to have a boundary layer near the end of planning horizon where the optimal control satisfies the specific functional equation. This equation was studied numerically using the functional Newton method [1] adapted for a two-dimensional case.

**Acknowledgements.** This research was supported by the following grants RFBR project 17-01-00588 A "Dynamic economic models with random time scale"

#### References

[1] Bezrodnykh S.I., Vlasov V.I. (2015) Analytic-numerial method for computation of interaction of physical fields in semiconductor diode. *Matematicheskoe Modelirovanie*, Vol. 27(7), pp. 15–24.

# Philosophy of Mathematics: Applicability, Practice, and Numerical Computations

Organizer: **Davide Rizza**University of East Anglia, UK

This page intentionally left blank

### On the notion of mathematical formalism

#### Anouk Barberousse

University of Paris Sorbonne and CNRS, France anouk.barberousse@gmail.com

**Keywords.** mathematical formalism; models; scientific practice.

This paper is about how scientists retrieve information from their mathematical models. Whereas the representational elements of models have been analyzed by several philosophy of science, their capacity to allow for predictions and explanations requires further investigation. The main proposal here is that a new component has to be taken into philosophical account, namely, mathematical formalism. A mathematical formalism is a mathematical theory as it is used by empirical scientists, especially physicists, who want to draw inferences from their models. Mathematical formalisms are thus both constrained by the logical relationships among mathematical theories and by the historical development of physics and the way physicists calculate the (usually) approximate solutions of their models. The life of mathematical formalisms is thus partly determined by practices that develop outside the realm of mathematics. The paper will examine several examples of formalisms in order to bring their components into light: calculus, cellular automata, Fourier transforms, and others.

#### References

[1] Ardourel V., Baberousse A. and Imbert C. (204) Inferential power, Formalis, and Scientific Models. *PSA2018: The 26th Biennial Meeting of the Philosophy of Science Association*, The Sheraton Grand Seattle, WA, USA, 1 to 4 November 2018.

# A new syntax for diagrammatic logic: a generic figures approach

Gianluca Caterina, Rocco Gangle

Endicott College gcaterin@endicott.edu, rgangle@endicott.edu

Keywords. Existential Graphs, Categorical Logic, Generic Figures

In this paper we present a new syntactical representation of the, often overlooked, diagrammatic models for propositional and predicate logic introduced by C.S. Peirce towards the end of the 19th century (so called Alpha and Beta Existential graphs). These are representations of syntax and semantic for propositional and first-order logic solely based on very simple diagrams and the topological/combinatorial relations that such diagrams entail.

For too long these graphs have been considered just a curious variation of standard linear notation. The renewed interest in diagrammatic reasoning via Category Theory however (see the work in diagrammatic quantum computation done by Bob Coecke [1], Spivak's wiring diagrams [4] and Ahti Pietarinen's diagrammatic proof analysis [2]) has motivated us to take a closer look to the inner structure of Peirce's graphs via the categorical notion of generic figure developed by Gonzalo Reyes [3].

The notion that category theory is a powerful and efficient framework for models of logic is based on the idea that objects in a suitable category model proposition, whereas morphisms model proofs. In our work we take a different approach, as we model propositions as functors from a suitable "base" category into the category of sets. Therefore, some of the lurking problems that arise when trying to formalize in a rigorous setting Peirce's diagrams, are solved in a single stroke by presenting the very simple base category that "generates" the desired language. In some sense, ours is a hybrid model that aims to fill an intellectual void in the link between the categorical and the classical approach to logic.

In this paper we provide the basic categorical background needed to define our base categories and present a full account of what these categories look like.

- [1] Coecke B. and Kissinger A. Picturing Quantum Processes: A First Course in Quantum Theory and Diagrammatic Reasoning, Cambridge University Press.
- [2] Ma M. and Pietarinen A. (2017): Proof analysis of Peirce's alpha system of graphs. Studia Logica, 105(3): 625-647.
- [3] Reyes M., Reyes G. and Zolfaghari H. (2004): Generic Figures and their Glueings. Polimetrica, Milan (Italy).
- [4] Spivak D. (2014): Category Theory for the Sciences, MIT Press, Cambridge MA.

### Concepts of approximate solutions and the finite element method

#### Nicolas Fillion

Simon Fraser University, 8888 University Drive, Burnaby, Canada nfillion@sfu.ca

**Keywords.** Computer simulation; Numerical solution; Finite element; Variational crime

This paper discusses epistemologically unique difficulties associated with the solution of mathematical problems by means of the finite element method. This method, used to obtain approximate solutions to multidimensional systems with possibly irregular boundary conditions, has received comparatively little attention in the philosophical literature, despite being the most dependable computational method used by structural engineers and other modelers handling complex real-world systems. As most numerical methods that are part of the standard numerical analysis curriculum do, this method breaks from the classical perspective on exact mathematical solutions, as it involves error-control strategies within given modeling contexts. This transition requires criteria to assess the justification of solutions that contain more complex semantic elements, whose murkier underlying logic is essential to a philosophical understanding of the lessons of applied mathematics.

To be sure, among practitioners, there is a practical acceptance of the finite element method as a method to overcome the inferential opacity of the models they use, mainly because it has proved to be tremendously successful. However, the finite element method differs in important respects from other numerical methods. What makes the method so advantageous in practice is its discretization scheme, which is applicable to objects of any shape and dimension. Officially, each simplified inside element is locally analyzed, and then they are recursively "glued" to obtain the solution over the whole domain. However, this presents applied mathematicians with a dilemma, since the standard mathematically sound methodology to perform local-global "gluing" is typically computationally intractable in this situation. Perhaps surprisingly, computational expediency is typically chosen over mathematical soundness. Strang has characterized this methodological gambit as a "variational crime." I explain how committing variational crimes is a paradigmatic violation of epistemological principles that are typically used to make sense of approximation in applied mathematics. On that basis, I argue that the epistemological meaning of these innovations and difficulties in the justification of the relationship between the system and the solution lies in an enriched concept of validity of solutions that is in line with recently developed methods of a posteriori error analysis.

#### A comparison of new approaches to infinity

#### Gabriele Lolli

Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, Italy gabriele.lolli@sns.it

**Keywords.** Infinite; Infinitesimal; Nonstandard.

Since Georg Cantor introduced infinite numbers, in the Eighties of the Nineteenth century, and "proved" that infinitesimals were inconsistent, the study of the latter continued in occasional ways in the realm of Non-archimedean fields (Veronese, Levi-Civita, Hardy). Only in 1963 Abraham Robinson was able, doting on logical concepts, to show that analysis and other mathematical disciplines could be developed in a systematic way by infinitesimal methods which he named "non-standard". He showed their power and relative consistency, vindicating Leibniz's ideas of (roughly) elementary conservative extensions.

The non-standard methods have proved their efficacy in many mathematical disciplines. Recently, after their success, new approaches to the concept of infinity have been independently devised by Vieri Benci (in Pisa, IT) and by Yaroslav Sergeyev (in Cosenza, IT) – besides others less systematic (such as that of Detlef Laugwitz).

Both Benci and Sergeyev start from the recovery of Euclid's fifth common notion – "the whole is greater than the parts" – which is violated by Cantor's definition of sameness of cardinality through the existence of a bijection. Benci has tried to build a theory of a different concept of cardinality, named numerosity, using the non-standard frame and concepts. Sergeyev is more interested in the computational aspects of his Grossone, the number of the natural numbers.

Actually the two approaches stem from two very different conceptions of mathematics and of mathematical research, which we will discuss and try to elucidate.

- [1] Cantor G. (1932) Gesammelte Abhandlungen mathematischen und philosophischen Inhalts, Springer, Berlin, 1932.
- [2] Robinson A. (1966) Non-Standard Analysis, North Holland, Amsterdam.
- [3] Benci V., Di Nasso M. (2003) Numerosity of labelled sets: A new way of counting. *Adv. Math.*, Vol. 173, pp. 50-67.
- [4] Sergeyev Y.D. (2003) Arithmetic of Infinity, Edizioni Orizzonti Meridionali, Cosenza (IT).

#### Re-evaluating the role of mathematics in biology: Is systems biology a break with the past?

#### Miles MacLeod

University of Twente m.a.j.macleod@utwente.nl

In "Untimely Births of a Mathematical Biology", Fox Keller (2003) analyzes the reasons behind the historical rejection by experimental biologists of mathematical methods and models in their own practices. One of the foremost reasons for this rejection according Fox Keller was the fact that mathematical models of biological phenomena were heavily idealized. Idealization and simplification were nonetheless advocated for in population ecology by Levins in 1966 on philosophical grounds and much of the mathematical modeling in fields studying biology seem to have stuck to this stricture, despite the opposition of biologists. While traditional mathematical biological fields like biophysics and mathematical ecology have persisted and developed, the advent of modern systems biology around the year 2000 arguably represents something of change to the traditional emphasis on idealized modeling. Systems biologists, often engineers, aim to some extent to reproduce the complexity of a biological system within a computational model, on the basis that only by doing so can we really make reliable predictions about the behavior of such systems in response to perturbations, and achieve forms of understanding (about robustness for instance) unobtainable through idealization alone. In this paper we evaluate whether or not the advent of modern systems biology can be said to transform the historical relationship between mathematics and biology, and in effect whether it is transforming the attitudes of biologists by conceding the limited value of highly idealized models in the face of complexity and variability. We will argue that while modern systems biology is a departure from highly idealized modeling in some respects, the sheer complexity of biological systems necessitates significant forms of abstraction regardless, which still complicates the relationships between experimental biologists and modelers. There are good grounds to support biologists' intuitions about the limits on the power of mathematical models to accurately represent biological systems. In practice these factors do oblige systems biologists to rely on simplified and abstract models, and pursue goals other than detailed representation alone. This does not however mean a return to idealization. Many novel uses of models have arisen as a result which often strike experimental biologists as reasonable, and may indeed represent a genuine break with the use of mathematics in past biology.

- [1] Fox Keller, (2003). "The Untimely Births of Mathematical Biology". Making sense of life. Harvard University Press. pp 79-112.
- [2] Levins, R. (1966). The strategy of model building in population biology. American scientist, 54(4), 421-431.

#### Applied Infinity: Accuracy and Artefact

#### Matthew Parker

Centre for Philosophy of Natural and Social Science, London School of Economics and Political Science, Houghton Street, London, WC2A 2AE, United Kingdom m.parker@lse.ac.uk

**Keywords.** Grossone; numerosity; arbitrariness; infinity; cardinality; accuracy; artefacts.

Recently, theories of infinite quantity alternative to Cantor's have emerged. We will consider the theories of numerosity and grossone. Both are Euclidean theories in the sense that they satisfy the principle that a set has more elements than any of its proper subsets. In [3], we argued that any Euclidean theory of set size suffers from arbitrariness. However, proponents of numerosity and grossone adopt epistemic and methodological stances that may be taken to defuse concerns about arbitrariness. Here we investigate the extent to which such stances do defuse practical concerns about arbitrariness in applications. We first consider numerosity theory from [1] and its application to probability in [1], where numerosity itself is defended against the charge of arbitrariness through a skeptical and pragmatic stance, arguing that probability models can only track chance in a mediated way. However, this claim does not diminish the concern that some models can mislead us more than others. The controversial theory of grossone emphasises the finitude of human capacities and the distinction between numbers and the linguistic tools used to represent them [4]. An analogy is drawn between numeral systems and optical instruments: observations with differently powered lenses differ in accuracy but are not simply incorrect; results about quantity are always relative to the numeral system used. However, the notion of accuracy suggests that there is an ultimate truth that the more accurate instruments better reveal, and it is not clear that this is the case for all of the free choices involved in constructing a theory of grossone. On the other hand, the applications of grossone may not depend on the arbitrary features of the theory.

- [1] Benci V., Horsten L., Wenmackers S. (2013) Non-Archimedean probability. *Milan Journal of Mathematics*, Vol. 81, pp. 121–151.
- [2] Benci V., Horsten L., Wenmackers S. (2018) Infinitesimal probabilities. *British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, Vol. 69, pp. 509–552.
- [3] Parker M.W., (2013) Set size and the part—whole principle. Review of Symbolic Logic, Vol. 6, pp. 589–612.
- [4] Sergeyev Y.D., (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4, pp. 219–320.

#### Bijections and Euclidean set-size measures

#### Davide Rizza

University of East Anglia, Faculty of Humanities, School of Politics, Philosophy, Language and Communication Science, Norwich, UK
d.rizza@uea.ac.uk

**Keywords.** Euclidean set-size; numerical infinities; invariance.

In recent years, the general project of introducing measures for infinite collections (notably N and its infinite parts) that discriminate between whole and part has been met by some penetrating criticism questioning the serviceability of such measures in light of distinctive limitations. In particular, [1] showed that whole-part discriminations in a discrete distribution over N violate the property that a relabelling of a sequence should not affect its probability. Even more significantly, [3] showed that, in elementary metric spaces, translations and rotations may affect the Euclidean measures of sequences. It is as if shifting around a given collection should modify the way its items are counted. In this talk I investigate these results in a constructive spirit, showing in what way they can be regarded as pointers to a key desideratum that a fruitful approach to Euclidean measures of infinite collections should take. In particular, I focus on the fact that the failures of invariance pointed out by [1, 3] are not caused solely by the requirement that measures should be Euclidean, but also by the presuppositions that classical bijections (i.e. ones identifying, relative to size, any two sequences) are an acceptable instrumentality for size comparisons. It is in fact the interaction of Euclidean measures and classical bijections that gives rise to the striking invariance failures detected in the literature. A promising way to avoid them is to devise a refinement in the treatment of bijections, along the lines suggested by [4], in such a way that whole and part are linked by refined bijections. I discuss the way in which a specific, formal notion of refinement can be used to circumvent the issues pointed out in [1,3] with reference to the axiomatic framework developed in [2].

- [1] Bartha P. (2004) 'Countable additivity and the De Finetti lottery'. British Journal for the Philosophy of Science, Vol. 55, pp. 301–321.
- [2] Montagna F., A. Sorbi and G. Simi. (2015) 'Taking the Pirahã seriously'. Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation, Vol. 21, pp. 52–69.
- [3] Parker, M. (2008) 'Set size and the part-whole principle'. The Review of Symbolic Logic, Vol. 4, pp. 589–612.
- [4] Sergeyev, Ya.D. (2017) 'Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems'. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4, pp. 219–320.

#### Affinity of views of Florenskij and Sergeyev on numeral systems and their applications in mathematics and computer science

Andrey L. Sochkov

N.I. Lobachevsky State University, Gagarin Av. 23, 603950 Nizhni Novgorod, Russia an.so2009@yandex.ru

Keywords. Numeral systems; numbers and numerals; Infinity Computer.

In 1916 in the work Reduction of numbers, P.A. Florenskij studied properties of numbers written down in a numeral system with a base  $\alpha$ . His discoveries can be briefly summarized as follows: 1) all numbers have a geometric interpretation and some numbers, for a specific value of  $\alpha$ , can be represented by points (indecomposable numbers in a geometrical sense) and the others can be represented by polygons (decomposable numbers in this geometrical sense); 2) there are no indecomposable numbers, to show this it is sufficient to increase the base of the numeral system  $\alpha$ ; in other words, by increasing  $\alpha$  one can see certain features that cannot be previously observed; 3) modification of a numeral system changes observed properties of numbers.

It seems that these interesting ideas regarding the influence of numeral systems on visible properties of numbers have not been in demand for a long time. However, in the beginning of the XXIth century, a new methodology using a fresh numeral system with an infinite base has been proposed (see [1]). This methodology emphasizes the crucial importance of numeral systems with respect to observability of numbers. It has allowed people to obtain a series of important results in a variety of applied and theoretical research areas (see [1]) and has attracted an attention of philosophers of mathematics (see [2-4]).

In this talk, we discuss both points of view and emphasize their importance for modern applied mathematics and computer science.

- [1] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4, pp. 219–320.
- [2] Sochkov A.L. (2009) Philosophical aspects of the newest arithmetic of infinity. Vestnik of Lobachevsky State University of Nizhni Novgorod: Social Sciences, Vol. 3(15), pp. 72–77. (In Russian).
- [3] Lolli G. (2015) Metamathematical investigations on the theory of Grossone. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, Vol. 255, pp. 3–14.
- [4] Rizza D. (2017) A Study of Mathematical Determination through Bertrand's Paradox. *Philosophia Mathematica* (III) Vol. 26(3), pp. 375–395.

#### Applied versus Situated Mathematics in Ancient Egypt: Bridging the Gap between Theory and Practice

Sandra Visokolskis, Héctor Horacio Gerván

National University of Cordoba, Cordoba, Argentina sandraviso@gmail.com, hectorg.horacio@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Situated mathematics; Ancient Egypt; Hellenocentrism.

This historiographical study aims at introducing the category of "situated mathematics" to the case of Ancient Egypt. However, unlike Situated Learning Theory (Lave, 1988; Greeno, Moore & Smith, 1993), which is based on ethnographic relativity, in this paper, the goal is to analyse a mathematical craft knowledge based on concrete particulars and case studies, which is ubiquitous in all human activity, and which even covers, as a specific case, the Hellenistic style, where theoretical constructs do not stand apart from practice, but instead remain grounded in it. On the one hand, the dominant Hellenocentric approach seeks to generate a body of principles that could then be applied in other fields, as  $M_A: T \to P$ , where T = theory and P = practice/applications, in accordance with Platonist arguments (Plato, Rep., VII, 527b). This practice of translating theoretical tenets directly into specific applications needs to be challenged. On the other hand, in situated mathematics, more complex transfer relations can be given like those of the type  $M_S: (T \leftrightarrow P) \lor (P \to \{P_i'\}_{i \in I}),$ with  $P'_i$  = other specific practices, rather than focusing in the production of supposedly context- free principles, that are independent of the contingencies of particular cases. Therefore, the concept of applied mathematics would be included within that of situated mathematics, and it would be a concrete case of it. The differences would then lie on the knowledge, skills and techniques of the specific original context, therefore contributing in other working areas.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by a grant from the Secretary of Research in Science and Technology (SECyT-UNC), and the Research Group of Visualization in Mathematics, National University of Cordoba, Argentina.

- [1] Greeno, J.G., Moore, J. and Smith, D. (1993) The Institute for Research on Learning. Transfer of Situated Learning. In *Transfer on Trial: Intelligence, Cognition and Instruction* (ed. by D.K. Detterman and R.J. Sternberg), Norwood, NJ, pp. 99–167.
- [2] Lave, J. (1988) Cognition in Practice. Mind, Mathematics and Culture in Every Day Life. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### In Quest for Invariant Structures through Graph Theory, Groups and Mechanics: Methodological Aspects in the History of Applied Mathematics

Sandra Visokolskis<sup>1</sup>, Carla Trillini<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>National University of Cordoba, Cordoba, Argentina <sup>2</sup>National University of Villa Maria, Argentina sandraviso@gmail.com, carlatrillini@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Invariants; graph theory; geometry.

The purpose of this paper is to analyse a geometrical case study as a sample of an intended methodology based on invariant theory's strategies, which have been developed particularly throughout the nineteenth century as one of the cornerstones of mathematics (Rota, 1998: 41), and whose resolution was reached by means of a combination of different disciplines: graph theory, mechanics and group theory, among others.

This case study presents the "perfect squared rectangle problem", that is an exhaustive classification of the dissection of a rectangle into a finite number of unequal squares. Despite its simplicity, in both description and mathematical resolution, it provides plausible elements of generalization from "the 'applied field' of mathematics" (Epple, Kjeldsen & Siegmund-Schultze, 2013: 658), as a special case of applied mathematical toolkit (Archibald, 2013: 715), related to the practice of invariant strategies that remain fixed through changes.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Research Group of Creativity and Innovation in Mathematics, National University of Villa Maria, Argentina.

- [1] Archibald, T. (2013) Transmitting disciplinary practice in applied mathematics? Textbooks 1900-1910.. In *Mathematisches Forschungsinstitut Oberwolfach Reports* 12/2013, DOI 10.4171/OWR/2013/12 (ed. by Epple, Kieldsen & R. J. Siegmund-Schultze), University of Georgia, Athens, pp. 714–719.
- [2] Epple M., Kjeldsen T.H. and Siegmund-Schultze R. (2013) From "mixed" to "applied" mathematics: Tracing an important dimension of mathematics and its history. In *Mathematisches Forschungsinstitut Oberwolfach Reports* 12/2013, DOI 10.4171/OWR/2013/12 (ed. by Epple, Kjeldsen and Siegmund-Schultze), University of Georgia, Athens, pp. 657–660.
- [3] Rota G.-C. (1998) What is Invariant Theory, really? In Algebraic Combinatorics and Computer Science. A tribute to Gian-Carlo Rota (ed. by Crapo and Senato), Springer-Verlag, Italy, pp. 41–56.

### Regular Presentations

This page intentionally left blank

## Rational Approximations of the Fractional Laplacian in Reaction-Diffusion Problems

Lidia Aceto<sup>1</sup>, Paolo Novati<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Pisa, Department of Mathematics, via F.Buonarroti 1/C, I-56127 Pisa <sup>2</sup>University of Trieste, Department of Mathematics and Geosciences, via Valerio 12/1, I-34127 Trieste lidia.aceto@unipi.it, novati@units.it

**Keywords.** Fractional Laplacian; matrix functions; Gauss-Jacobi rule; Padé approximants.

In this talk we consider mathematical models of fractional order in space in which the integer-order differential operator is replaced by a fractional correspondent. Such models have become increasingly used because they provide an adequate description of many processes that present an anomalous diffusion. In particular, we focus on the numerical solution of fractional in space reaction-diffusion equations on bounded domains under homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. By using the so-called matrix transfer technique introduced by Ilić et al. in [3, 4], the fractional Laplacian is replaced by a matrix which is generally dense. The proposed approach is based on the approximation of this matrix through the product of two appropriate banded matrices [1, 2]. This leads to a semi-linear initial value problem in which the involved matrices are sparse. The numerical experiments we present confirm the effectiveness of the proposed approach.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was partially supported by GNCS-INdAM, University of Pisa (Grant PRA 2017 05) and FRA-University of Trieste.

- [1] Aceto L., Novati P. (2017) Rational approximation to the fractional Laplacian operator in reaction-diffusion problems. SIAM J. Sci. Comput., Vol. 39, pp. A214–A228.
- [2] Aceto L., Novati P. (2018) Efficient implementation of rational approximations to fractional differential operators. *J. Sci. Comput.*, Vol. 76, pp. 651–671.
- [3] Ilić M., Liu F., Turner I., Anh V. (2005) Numerical approximation of a fractional-in-space diffusion equation I. Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal., Vol. 8, pp. 323–341.
- [4] Ilić M., Liu F., Turner I., Anh V. (2006) Numerical approximation of a fractional-in-space diffusion equation (II)-with nonhomogeneous boundary conditions. *Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal.*, Vol. 9, pp. 333–349.

## Stability of DESA Optimization Algorithm and its Application to time series Susceptible-Infected-Recovered models

#### Rizavel Corsino-Addawe

University of the Philippines Baguio, Baguio City, Philippines rcaddawe@up.edu.ph

**Keywords.** Differential evolution - simulated annealing; time series SIR; influenzalike fever.

Optimization of mathematical models derived from statistical inference techniques allows us to combine infectious disease theory and empirical data, unraveling the difficulty of predicting future trends from chaotic time series realizations. However, optimizing the parameters of a continuous-time process Susceptible-Infected-Recovered (SIR) model against the one state variable time-series data is a challenging mathematical problem.

This study investigates the dynamics of the hybrid evolutionary optimization algorithm, Differential Evolution-Simulated Annealing (DESA) algorithm with DE/rand/1/bin and SA-like selection operators. The stability of the DESA-population is established using Lyapunov?s stability theorems. Numerical experiments in the least squares fitting of chaotic time series processes show that DESA algorithm obtained global parameter estimates.

Specifically, DESA algorithm is used to optimize the parameters of the time-series SIR model for the weekly reported incidence of influenza-like fever in Baguio City, Philippines.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the University of the Philippines Baguio through the Ph.D. Incentive Grant.

- [1] Biswas A., Das S., Abraham A. and Dasgupta S. (2010) Stability Analysis of the Reproduction Operator in Bacterial Foraging Optimization. *Theor. Comput. Sci.*, Vol. 411, pp. 2127–2139.
- [2] B. Yushau B., Oma M. H.. (2018) Stability Analysis of Artificial Bee Colony Optimization Algorithm. *Theor. Comput. Sci.*, Vol. 8, pp. 1–15.
- [3] Becker A. D., and Grenfell B. T. (2017). tsiR: An R package for time-series Susceptible-Infected-Recovered models of epidemics. *PloS one*, Vol. 12, e0185528 pp. 1–10.

#### Applying Linear Optimization Methods to Problems with Internal Dependencies

#### Vladyslav Aksonov

Dniprovsk State Technical University, Kamjanske city, Ukraine Vladyslav. Aksonov@gmail.com

Keywords. Linear Optimization; Network Planing; Parametric Programming.

There are many problems that could be presented as linear optimization problems if you discard some interconnections between variables. For example, we can have a normal set of inequalities that can be solved by methods of linear programming. But additionally, we can have a set of requirements that we can not easily convert to inequalities.

If so, we can not use traditional linear programming methods such as Simplex method, since they are defined on sets of inequalities. A method to find at least a good approximation of the optimal result was proposed in [1]. The main idea of this method is to split the problem into smaller ones where there are no special requirements present. Solving these sub-problems should be possible by means of any applicable linear programming method. Possible restrictions can be then applied manually.

In this way, all specific restrictions could be satisfied and all problems solved before will have their impact on those solved subsequently. But an influence in reverse direction is still missing. Sub-problems solved later can not influence sub-problems that were solved previously, even if they were connected.

A way to fix this issue is proposed in this presentation (see also [2]). We can make a guess about future values of variables moved to sub-problems that will be solved later and use them instead of actual values. A genetic algorithm could be used on those predicted values to minimize the error.

The method was tested for an automated creation of syllabus in educational institutions and was implemented in the software Study Plan Generator now in use at the Technical College of the Dniprovsk State Technical University.

- [1] Aksonov V.S., Olijnyk L.O. (2016). Using parametric programming in curriculum generation process modeling. *Collection of scholarly papers of Dniprovsk State Technical University (Technical Sciences)*, Vol. 1(28), pp. 155-158 (in Ukrainian).
- [2] Aksonov V.S. (2018) Applying optimization methods for planing of educational process in educational institutions. In *Scientific Research Priorities 2018 Theoretical and Practical Value: Proceedings of the International Scientific and Practical Conference 26th-29th of June 2018*, Wyzsza Szkola Biznesu National-Louis University, Nowy Sacz(Poland), Vol. 2, pp. 132–134 (in Ukrainian).

#### **Preserving Stone Fruits**

#### Rajai Alassar

King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals, Dhahran, Saudi Arabia alassar@kfupm.edu.sa

Keywords. Prolate Spheroid; Heat Conduction; Stone Fruits.

Rapid cooling of stone fruits is common and necessary for extending the shelf life of such products. While several studies have been conducted to estimate the cooling time, it has usually been the case that such fruits (olives, dates, etc.) are modelled as spheres with internal spherical cores. The motive for such simplification is that the governing heat differential equation is easily solved in spherical coordinates. It is obvious that such fruits are not spherical. They are in the shape of prolate spheroids (i. e. elongated spheres with different major and minor axes). Such simplifications in the geometry of these fruits, naturally, induce errors in the estimation of the time needed and consequently in the amount of energy used in the cooling process.

In this research, we accurately determine the cooling time of stone fruits using their natural prolate spheroidal shapes. To solve the heat conduction over a prolate spheroid, we use a specially fit coordinates system, namely the prolate spheroidal coordinates system. Unlike the well-known coordinates systems (rectangular, cylindrical, and spherical), this system is capable of appropriately hosting such geometry. We consider different cooling conditions through varying the Biot number which is a dimensionless number that combines the effects of the conduction properties of the stone fruits, and the convection strength of the cooling media.

#### Acknowledgements.

The author would like to thank KFUPM for supporting this research.

- [1] Behzad Abbasnezhad, Nasser Hamdami, Jean-Yves Monteau, and Hamed Vatankhah. (2015) Numerical modeling of heat transfer and pasteurizing value during thermal processing of intact egg. Food Science & Nutrition, pp. 42-49, 2015.
- [2] Urszula Siedlecka. (2014) Radial Heat Conduction in A Multilayered Sphere. Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computational Mechanics 2014, 13(4), 109-116.
- [3] Alassar R.S. (1999) "Heat conduction from spheroids". ASME Journal of Heat Transfer, vol. 121, pp.497-499, 1999.
- [4] Alassar R.S. (2005) "Forced convection past an oblate spheroid at low to moderate Reynolds numbers". ASME Journal of Heat Transfer, Vol. 127, pp. 1062-1070, 2005.

#### Conditions of the Stability Preservation under Discretization of a Class of Nonlinear Time-Delay Systems

#### Alexander Aleksandrov

Saint Petersburg State University, 7–9 Universitetskaya nab., Saint Petersburg, 199034, Russia a.u.aleksandrov@spbu.ru

**Keywords.** Nonlinear system, discretization; stability; convergence rate.

Preserving qualitative characteristics, when passing from differential equations to difference ones, is a fundamental and challenging research problem [1]. In many cases it is necessary to modify numerical schemes in order to preserve required characteristics. Such modifications result in conservative numerical schemes [2]. However, the use of conservative schemes significantly complicates corresponding difference systems. Therefore, from a practical point of view, it is important to determine classes of systems for which discretization preserves qualitative properties without modifications of computational schemes.

In this contribution, nonlinear differential systems with nonlinearities satisfying sector constraints and with constant delays are studied. Such systems belong to well-known class of Persidskii-type systems, and they are widely used for modeling automatic control systems and neural networks, see [3]. We derive conditions of the stability preservation under discretization of the considered differential systems. The fulfilment of these conditions guarantees that the zero solutions of the corresponding difference systems are asymptotically stable for arbitrary values of delays. Moreover, estimates of the convergence rate of solutions are obtained.

The proposed approaches are used for the stability analysis of a discrete-time model of population dynamics.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, project no. 19-01-00146-a.

- [1] Stuart A.M., Humphries A.R. (1996) Dynamical systems and numerical analysis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- [2] Mickens R.E. (2000) Applications of nonstandard finite difference schemes. World Scientific, Singapore.
- [3] Kazkurewicz E., Bhaya A. (1999) Matrix diagonal stability in systems and computation. Birkhauser, Boston, Basel, Berlin.

#### A matlab code for the numerical solution of Multiparameter Spectral Problems

Pierluigi Amodio, Giuseppina Settanni

Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Bari, pierluigi.amodio@uniba.it, giuseppina.settanni@uniba.it

Keywords. Multiparameter spectral problems; Finite differences.

Many applications in physics and chemistry are connected with Sturm Liouville problems. For this reason, the numerical solution of such problems has been widely investigated in the recent years. Multiparameter spectral problems may be considered as a generalization of such problems, even if their solution requires additional care, since the discretized problem cannot be solved by standard algebraic techniques.

The goal of this talk is to present a new matlab code for the solution of multiparameter spectral problems for ordinary differential equations. The code is able to compute the couple eigen-parameters / eigen-functions corresponding to specified number of oscillations. It is based on High Order Finite Difference Schemes [1] that allow to obtain a discrete multi-parameter nonlinear system of equations.

Due to the intrinsic difficulty, the problem is solved in two different stages. The first one is necessary to get an initial estimation of the eigen-parameters and of the eigen-functions using constant stepsize; the second stage has the purpose of computing an accurate approximation of both eigen-parameters and eigen-functions applying a variable stepsize and a variable order.

The code will be tested on several problems, in particular arising from the solution of the so-called 'whispering gallery' modes (WGMs) occurring inside a prolate and oblate spheroidal cavity [2, 3].

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by Università di Bari, Fondi di Ateneo 2016

- [1] Amodio P., Settanni G. (2015) Variable-step finite difference schemes for the solution of Sturm-Liouville problems. *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, Vol. 20, pp. 641-649.
- [2] Amodio P., Levitina T., Settanni G., Weinmüller E. (2014) Numerical simulation of the whispering gallery modes in prolate spheroids. *Computer Physics Communications* Vol. 185, pp. 1200-1206.
- [3] Amodio P., Levitina T., Settanni G., Weinmüller E. B. (2015) Whispering gallery modes in oblate spheroidal cavities: calculations with a variable stepsize. *Numerical Analysis and Applied Mathematics*, AIP Conference Proceedings Vol. 1648, pp. 150019.

#### A Reinforcement Learning Approach to a Multi-agent N-armed Functional Bandit

Ovidiu Bagdasar, Sam O'Neill, Antonio Liotta

University of Derby, Kedleston Rd, Derby, DE22 1GB, United Kingdom o.bagdasar@derby.ac.uk, s.oneill@derby.ac.uk, a.liotta@derby.ac.uk

**Keywords.** multi-armed bandit; N-armed bandit; reinforcement learning; congestion games.

The classic N-armed bandit problem [1] is widely used as an example in the area of reinforcement learning to demonstrate the requirement for an agent to balance its strategy between exploration and exploitation. One can view this as a one state Markov Decision Process, with the agent returning back to the start state after receiving the reward for the chosen action. Many variants of this problem, such as the binary, Bernoulli and restless N-armed bandit machine, have been studied and practical applications include adaptive routing, portfolio design and clinical trials.

In this study we consider three extensions to this problem, the first is to consider rewards which are dependent on a sequence of k lever pulls, i.e., an episode of the game. The objective of the agent is to generate a policy that maximises the expected reward of playing an episode of the game.

Second, multiple agents simultaneously play the bandit machine receiving rewards that are dependent on the actions of other agents, e.g., the payoff matrix of a sequential social dilemma given in examples such as the Prisoner's Dilemma. Game theory concepts, such as greed and fear, are interrogated to understand an agent's motivation for co-operation, using a deep centralised and decentralised approach [2].

Finally we present a multi-agent functional variant that can be applied to network congestion games [3] such as the classic Traffic Assignment Problem [TAP] and explore the effectiveness and applicability of our reinforcement learning approach with known approaches such as Frank-Wolfe, Bar-Gera and Dial [4].

- [1] Berry D.A. and Fristedt B. (1985) Bandit problems: sequential allocation of experiments. Chapman and Hall.
- [2] Leibo J. Z., Zambaldi V., Lanctot M., Marecki J. and Graepel T. (2017) Multiagent Reinforcement Learning in Sequential Social Dilemmas. 2.
- [3] Rosenthal R. W. (1973) A class of games possessing pure-strategy Nash equilibria. International Journal of Game Theory, 2(1):65–67, 12.
- [4] Perederieieva O., Ehrgott M., Raith A. and Wang J.Y.T. (2015) A framework for and empirical study of algorithms for traffic assignment. Computers & Operations Research.

## Algorithms of 3D wind field reconstructing by lidar remote sensing data

Nikolay Baranov

Dorodnicyn Computing Centre, FRC CSC RAS, 40 Vavilova str., 119333, Moscow, Russia baranov@ians.aero

**Keywords.** Remote sensing; wind lidar; wind field recovery.

Data on the spatial distribution of the wind parameters in the surface layer is an important factor for aviation. To obtain this data, Doppler wind lidars scanning in PPI (Plan Position Indicator) mode with low elevation angles are used. However, only the wind component along the measurement direction is directly measured, and post-processing methods are required to determine wind speed and direction. Many works deal with the problem of wind profile reconstructing by lidar data. However, the procedures for reconstructing wind parameters for PPI mode with low elevation angles are studied in less detail. In this case, the problem of wind field reconstruction is different, as to determine the wind vector, data from scanning in a small sector only can be used. This is due to the fact that the surface wind is characterized by time-space variability, and the wind field structure on a small scale is of most interest. For a good conditionality of the equations system for determining wind parameters, it is necessary to increase the size of the averaging region. On the other hand, smoothing of the wind field occurs when the residual error is calculated over a large area. In this paper, the performance of wind field reconstruction from lidar data is analysed. Algorithms of reconstruction using different versions of the least squares method are considered, as well as the use of data spikes filtering procedures. The weights were calculated inversely with the local approximation error. The data of real measurements obtained in various wind conditions were used as the initial data. The situations of a stationary wind field, a wind field with speed gusts, a wind field with fluctuations in direction, a wind field of variable speed and direction are considered. The questions of the use of regularization methods are considered. The influence of the averaging region on the quality of the reconstruction was analysed. Optimized dependences of the averaging area sizes as a function of the distance to the reconstruction point are obtained.

- [1] Baranov N., Lemishchenko E. (2018) Windshear Identification Algorithms by Doppler Pulse Lidar. *ITM Web of Conferences*, Vol. 24, 01011.
- [2] Baranov N., Petrov G., Shiriaev I. (2018) Wind speed vector restoration algorithm. EPJ Web of Conferences, Vol. 176, 06012.

#### Intelligent Management Systems in Hotels: Machine Learning Meets Optimization Heuristics

Roberto Battiti, Mauro Brunato

University of Trento, Italy roberto.battiti@unitn.it, mauro.brunato@unitn.it

**Keywords.** Machine learning and Intelligent optimization; Hotel revenue management; Simulation-Based Optimization; Optimization Heuristics.

The complexity of managing hotels to optimize quality and profits is growing. In addition to the traditional "property management" issues, activities related to revenue management (deciding what to sell, when to sell, to whom to sell, and for which price), to marketing and selling over multiple channels (e.g., Online Travel Agencies) are becoming of paramount importance to increase profitability. One witnesses a transition from "Property Management Systems" (PMS) to more global "Intelligent Management Systems" (IMS), which tend to be data-driven and based on flexible models and optimization.

In this context, hotel management is characterized by nonlinearities, many parameters and constraints, and stochasticity (in particular in the demand by customers). Effective heuristics can incorporate "learning" ("reactive" schemes) that update strategies based on the past history of the process (the history of the past reservations received up to a certain time) [1]. The most effective global optimization schemes [2] need to be combined with heuristics and massively parallel computation.

The experimental results show the effectiveness of intelligent heuristics with respect to exact optimization methods like dynamic programming, in particular for more constrained situations (cases when demand tends to saturate hotel room availability), when the simplifying assumptions needed to make the problem analytically treatable do not hold.

#### Acknowledgements.

This work was supported by the Russian Science Foundation, project 470 no. 15–11–30022 "Global optimization, supercomputing computations, and applications".

- [1] Battiti R. and Brunato M. (2018) The LION way. Machine Learning plus Intelligent Optimization. LIONlab, University of Trento, Italy.
- [2] Strongin R. G. and Sergeyev Y.D. (2013) Global optimization with non-convex constraints: Sequential and parallel algorithms, vol. 45. Springer Science and Business Media.

# Novel pinning adaptive intermittent control for finite-time function projective synchronization of delayed nonlinear complex dynamical networks with hybrid coupling

Thongchai Botmart<sup>1</sup>, Wajaree Weera<sup>2</sup>,

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Khon Kaen University, Khon Kaen 40002, Thailand <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, University of Pha Yao , Pha Yao 56000, Thailand thongbo@kku.ac.th, wajaree.we@up.ac.th,

**Keywords.** finite-time function projective synchronization; nonlinear complex dynamical networks; pinning adaptive intermittent control, mixed time-varying delay, hybrid asymmetric coupling.

In this paper, finite-time function projective synchronization of delayed nonlinear complex dynamical networks (DNCDNs) with mixed time-varying and hybrid coupling delays is investigated via new pinning adaptive intermittent control method. The definition of finite-time function projective synchronization for DNCDNs is first studied. The designed controller ensures that the finite-time function projective synchronization of DNCDNs are proposed via new pinning adaptive intermittent control. Moreover, based on finite-time stability theory, a new differential inequality, Gronwall-Bellman inequality, common unitary matrix, Kronecker product of matrix, Wirtinger's inequality, improved Lyapunov–Krasovskii functional, new sufficient conditions for finite-time projective synchronization of DNCDNs are obtained and formulated in terms of linear matrix inequality. Furthermore, the minimum number of pinning nodes is determined by node dynamics required to achieve generalized finite-time function projective synchronization. Two examples based on Chua's circuit system and Lorenz chaotic system are included to illustrate the validity of the theoretical results.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by Khon Kaen University and the Thailand Research Fund (TRF), the Office of the Higher Education Commission (OHEC) (grant number: MRG6280149).

- [1] Liang Y., Qi X., Wei Q. (2018) Synchronization of delayed complex networks via intermittent control with non-period, *Physica A*, Vol. 492, pp. 1327–1339.
- [2] Cheng L., Yang Y., Li L., Sui X. (2018) Finite-time hybrid projective synchronization of the drive-response complex networks with distributed-delay via adaptive intermittent control, *Physica A*, Vol. 500, pp. 273–286.

## Verified solution of ODEs by Taylor models implemented in MATLAB/INTLAB

#### Florian Bünger

Institute for Reliable Computing, Hamburg University of Technology, Am Schwarzenberg-Campus 3, D-21073 Hamburg, Germany florian.buenger@tuhh.de

**Keywords.** ordinary differential equations, Taylor models, INTLAB.

Taylor models have been used successfully for solving ordinary differential equations (ODEs) rigorously. Implementations are COSY INFINITY [1], ODEIntegretor [2], and RIOT [3]. Here, COSY INFINITY developed by Berz and Makino and their group is the most advanced implementation. Recently, we implemented the Taylor model approach in MATLAB/INTLAB [4].

We give a short introduction to Taylor models, their rigorous arithmetic, and the Taylor model method for enclosing solutions of ordinary differential equations in a verified manner. We only treat initial value problems

$$y' = f(t, y), \qquad y(t_0) = y_0$$

where the initial value  $y_0$  may be an interval vector. For specific ODEs we demonstrate how to use and call our verified ODE solver. This is designed to be very similar to calling MATLAB's non-verified ODE solvers like ode45. Finally, results and run times are compared to those of COSY INFINITY, RIOT and Lohner's classical AWA.

- [1] Berz M., Makino K., et al. *COSY INFINITY*: www.bt.pa.msu.edu/index\_cosy.htm
- [2] Dzetkulič, T. (2015) Rigorous integration of non-linear ordinary differential equations in chebyshev basis. *Numer Algor*, Vol. 69, pp. 183–205.

  ODEintegrator: https://sourceforge.net/projects/odeintegrator
- [3] Eble, I. (2007) Über Taylor-Modelle. Dissertation at Karlsruhe Institute of Technology
  - RIOT: www.math.kit.edu/ianm1/~ingo.eble/de
- [4] Rump, S.M. (1999) INTLAB INTerval LABoratory. In *Developments in Reliable Computing* (ed. by Tibor Csendes), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 77–104.

# Bayesian Optimization of partially defined functions under unknown constraints: approximating feasible region boundary via Support Vector Machine

Antonio Candelieri, Francesco Archetti

University of Milano-Bicocca, viale Sarca 336, Italy antonio.candelieri@unimib.it,francesco.archetti@unimib.it

**Keywords.** Bayesian Optimization; Constrained Global Optimization; Support Vector Machines.

We present a Bayesian Optimization (BO) [1] framework for optimizing a blackbox, multi-extremal and expensive function, also partially defined [2], meaning that it cannot be computed outside the feasible region. Moreover, constraints defining the feasible region, within the search space, are unknown. The framework consists of two consecutive stages: a Support Vector Machine classifier approximates the boundary of the feasible region, then BO searches for a global feasible optimum. While in the first phase the next point to evaluate is chosen, over the entire search space, by dealing with the trade-off between improving the estimate of the boundary and discovering possible disconnected feasible regions, in the second phase BO is performed on the estimated feasibility region, only. We used 2D test functions to show how the framework works, then results on real-world simulation-optimization problems are reported. Indeed, simulation software often could be not able to compute function and/or constraints, due to computational reasons. Unlike previous works on BO with unknown constraints [3, 4], we do not rely on assumptions like a-priori knowledge on the number of constraints and their independence, since the classifier approximates the entire boundary of the feasible region, instead of having a model for each constraint.

- [1] Frazier, P. I. (2018) Bayesian Optimization, In Recent Advances in Optimization and Modeling of Contemporary Problems INFORMS, 255-278
- [2] Sergeyev, Y.D., Kvasov ,D.E., and Khalaf, F. M. (2007) A one-dimensional local tuning algorithm for solving GO problems with partially defined constraints, Optimization Letters, 1(1), 85-99
- [3] Gramacy, R. B., Lee, H. K. M., Holmes, C., and Osborne, M. (2012) Optimization Under Unknown Constraints, Bayesian Statistics, 9
- [4] Hernández-Lobato, J. M., Gelbart, M. A., Hoffman, M. W., Adams, R. P., and Ghahramani, Z. (2015) Predictive entropy search for Bayesian Optimization with unknown constraints, In *Proceedings of the 32nd International Conference on Machine Learning*, 37

#### Dimensionality Reduction methods to scale Bayesian Optimization up

Antonio Candelieri, Riccardo Perego

University of Milano-Bicocca, viale Sarca 336, Italy antonio.candelieri@unimib.it, riccardo.perego@unimib.it

**Keywords.** Bayesian Optimization; Dimensionality Reduction; Deep Autoencoders; Kernel.

Bayesian Optimization (BO) is a sample efficient method to optimize multi-extremal expensive black-box functions, under a given "budget", usually a limited number of function evaluations. Despite successful results in many application domains, especially Automatic Machine Learning, a well-known issue is that BO does not scale well with the number of dimensions. Random dropout was proposed [1], based on the assumption that just few dimensions are relevant for the BO process. Instead of a brute dropout, random embedding [2,3] was suggested. This paper proposes to exploit the dimensionality reduction intrinsically offered by Deep autoencoders and then perform BO in the induced latent space. A first attempt to combine autoencoders and BO was presented in [4] to encode continuous representations of discrete variables and, eventually, reduce dimensionalty. We analyze the interplay between BO and the two mappings computed by the autoencoder - from the original to the latent space (encoding) and viceversa (deconding). To do not be stuck in local optima, we conclude that adaptive sampling in the original space is required when exploration is nullified by (inaccurate) decoding. Results on a set of examples with growing dimensionality are presented, along with a comparison with kernel methods, where encoding and decoding are replaced by kernel-pca and kernel, respectively.

- [1] Li, C., Gupta, S., Rana, S., Nguyen, V., Venkatesh, S., and Shilton, A. (2018) High dimensional bayesian optimization using dropout. arXiv preprint arXiv:1802.05400
- [2] Wang, Z., Zoghi, M., Hutter, F., Matheson, D., and De Freitas, N. (2013) Bayesian optimization in high dimensions via random embeddings. In 23rd International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence
- [3] Qian, H., Hu, Y. Q., and Yu, Y. (2016). Derivative-Free Optimization of High-Dimensional Non-Convex Functions by Sequential Random Embeddings. In 25th International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence
- [4] Griffiths, R. R., and Hernández-Lobato, J. M. (2017) Constrained bayesian optimization for automatic chemical design. arXiv preprint arXiv:1709.05501

## Pump Scheduling Optimization for water supply systems: a pilot in the peri-urban area of Milan

Antonio Candelieri, Bruno Galuzzi, Ilaria Giordani, Francesco Archetti

University of Milano-Bicocca, viale Sarca 336, 20125 Milan, Italy Consorzio Milano-Ricerche, via Roberto Cozzi 53, 20126 Milan, Italy antonio.candelieri@unimib.it, bruno.galuzzi@unimib.it, ilaria.giordani@unimib.it, francesco.archetti@unimib.it

Keywords. Pump Scheduling Optimization; Simulation-Optimization.

Pump Scheduling Optimization (PSO) is a challenging problem, with solutions proposed from both mathematical programming and machine learning communities [1]. Solving PSO consists to define which pumps are to be operated, and with which settings (e.g. speed), at different time of the day, with the goal to minimize energy costs. If there are storage tanks, cost reductions is performed by storing water when energy price is lower and then using this capacity during the remaining part of the day. Most of the approaches consider explicit pump scheduling, that is the state of each pump during predefined equal time intervals. This leads to a large number of decision variables (mixed-integer in the case that on/off and variable speed pumps coexist) [2]. Another approach considers, as decision variables, the start/end run times of the pumps [3], allowing to reduce the dimensionality of the problem and avoiding predefined equal time intervals. We present a PSO formalization, and preliminary results, for a case study whose pumps activation is currently decided depending on the pressure value monitored online. This policy aims at respecting lower and upper bounds on pressure, whose violation could lead to under-service and bursts, respectively. In our approach the goal is to also include energy costs minimization.

**Acknowledgements.** This work is partially supported by the PERFORM WATER 2030 (Platform for Integrated Operation Research and Management of Public Water towards 2030) project, funded by the Lombardy region.

- [1] Mala-Jetmarova, H., Sultanova, N., and Savic, D. (2017) Lost in optimisation of water distribution systems? A literature review of system operation. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, Vol. 93, 209–254
- [2] Candelieri, A., Perego, R., and Archetti, F. (2018) Bayesian optimization of pump operations in water distribution systems. *Journal of Global Optimization*, pp.1–23
- [3] Bagirov, A.M., Barton, A.F., Mala-Jetmarova, H., Al Nuaimat, A., Ahmed, S.T., Sultanova, N., and Yearwood, J. (2013) An algorithm for minimization of pumping costs in water distribution systems using a novel approach to pump scheduling, Math. Comput. Model. 57 (3-4), 873–886

#### Network Science Strategies for Accelerating the Training of Artificial Neural Networks

Lucia Cavallaro<sup>1</sup>, Ovidiu Bagdassar<sup>1</sup>, Pasquale De Meo<sup>2</sup>, Giacomo Fiumara<sup>2</sup>, Antonio Liotta<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Derby, Kedleston Road, Derby DE22 1GB, UK
<sup>2</sup>University of Messina, Polo Universitario SS Annunziata, Messina 98168, Italy
1.cavallaro@derby.ac.uk, o.bagdasar@derby.ac.uk, pasquale.demeo@unime.it,
giacomo.fiumara@unime.it, a.liotta@derby.ac.uk

Keywords. Network Science; Complex Networks; Artificial Neural Networks.

Deep Learning has relaunched artificial intelligence, opening it to an unprecedented number of new applications. A critical success factor is the ability to train deeper neural networks, striving for stable and accurate models. This translates into Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) that become unmanageable as the number of features increase.

While most current strategies focus on new machine learning algorithms, our approach is to employ network science strategies to tackle the complexity of the actual ANNs iteratively, that is at each epoch of the training process. The work presented herein originates in our earlier publications [1], [2], where we explored the acceleration effects obtained by enforcing, in turn, scale-freeness, small-worldness, and sparsity during the ANN training process. The efficiency of our approach has also been recently confirmed by independent researchers, who managed to train a million-node ANN on non-specialized laptops [3].

Encouraged by these results, we have now moved into looking at new network science strategies to pursue a further acceleration effect, whilst maintaining the accuracy and stability of the final models. Our method is independent from specific machine learning algorithms or datasets since we operate merely on the topology of the ANNs. We demonstrate various heuristics for orderly weight removal/replacement, which keep the ANN network sparse during the whole training without loss of efficiency. We also show how centrality metrics may be used to adjust the network sparsity during the training process.

- [1] Mocanu D.C., et al. (2016) A topological insight into restricted Boltzmann machines. *Mach Learn*, 104: 243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10994-016-5570-z
- [2] Mocanu D.C., et al. (2018) Scalable training of artificial neural networks with adaptive sparse connectivity inspired by network science. *Nature Communications*, Vol. 9, Article number. 2383. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04316-3
- [3] Liu S., et al. (2019) Sparse evolutionary Deep Learning with over one million artificial neurons on commodity hardware. *ArXiv*. arXiv:1901.09181

## Numerical simulation of astrophysical and astrochemical problems on supercomputers

Igor Chernykh, Igor Kulikov, Victor Protasov

Institute of Computational Mathematics and Mathematical Geophysics SB RAS, Lavrentjeva ave. 6, Novosibirsk, Russia

chernykh@sscc.ru, kulikov@ssd.sscc.ru, inc\_13@mail.ru

**Keywords.** Astrophysics; high-performance computing; astrochemistry.

Implementation of a new vectorized high-order accuracy numerical method for solving gravitational gas dynamics equations on supercomputers equipped with Intel Xeon Skylake-SP or Intel Xeon Phi processors is presented in the paper. Combination of the Godunov method, the Harten-Lax-Van Leer method and the piecewise parabolic method on local stencil is at the basis of the method, that allows achieving high-order accuracy for smooth solutions and low dissipation on discontinuities. The impact of low-level code vectorization technique on performance is compared with compiler's auto-vectorization. Astrochemical model of formation and destruction of molecules based on chemical kinetics approach is presented. Numerical experiment results, which describe the mechanism of formation of  $O_2$ , CO, SiS, and SO, are shown.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the RFBR grants 18-01-00166 (high order parallel numerical methods) and 18-07-00757 (astrochemical kinetics simulation)

- [1] Kulikov I., Chernykh I., Tutukov A. (2016) A New Hydrodynamic Model for Numerical Simulation of Interacting Galaxies on Intel Xeon Phi Supercomputers. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, Vol. 719, Article Number 012006.
- [2] Kulikov I.M., Chernykh I.G., Glinskiy B.M., Protasov V.A. (2018) An Efficient Optimization of HLL Method for the Second Generation of Intel Xeon Phi Processor. Lobachevskii Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 39, pp. 543–550.
- [3] Van Dishoeck E.F., Black J.H. (1986) Comprehensive models of diffuse interstellar clouds Physical conditions and molecular abundances. *The Astrophysical Journal Supplement Series*, Vol. 62, pp. 109–145.
- [4] Cherchneff I., Dwek E. (2009) The chemistry of population III supernova ejecta. I. formation of molecules in the early universe. *The Astrophysical Journal*, Vol. 703, pp. 642–661.

#### An Efficient Solution to a Series of Weighted Least Squares Problems if Only Weights Vary

Marco Cococcioni

University of Pisa - 56122 Pisa, Italy marco.cocccioni@unipi.it

Keywords. Weighted Least Squares; Fuzzy Logic; Interior Point Methods.

Solving a series of Weighted Linear Least Squares (WLLS) problems, when only the weights varies over time, is a problem frequently found in real world applications. To name a few, consider the problem of estimating the consequent parameters of a Takagi-Sugeno fuzzy system of the first order [1] or the problem of estimating the next approximating solution of a Linear Programming (LP) problem, when using Interior Point Methods (IPMs) [2], or the iterative re-weighted least squares problem. The problem is the following: given a real matrix  $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  (with  $m \gg n$ ), a vector  $\in \mathbb{R}^m$ , and a series of weighting diagonal matrices  $\mathbf{W}_i$ ,  $\forall i = 1, ..., r$  (where  $\mathbf{W}_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ ), find each vector  $\mathbf{x}$  which minimizes the weighted 2-norm of  $\mathbf{A}\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{b}$ . In mathematical terms:

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}} \|\mathbf{A}\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{b}\|_{\mathbf{W}_i}.$$

The first idea that comes to mind to efficiently solve this series of problems where both  $\mathbf{b}$  and (more importantly)  $\mathbf{A}$  remain the same, is to figure out if one can factorize matrix  $\mathbf{A}$  only once at the beginning, and reuse such factorization on all the r estimation problems. For instance, one could think about factorizing  $\mathbf{A}$  using one of the standard factorizations, such as LU, QR, SVD or Cholesky. Unfortunately, this approach is very likely to not work. Even worse, proving this negative result is an even harder problem. The author spent a lot of time on trying to solve this puzzle, also asking their opinion to numerical linear algebra specialists. All of them were unanimous in considering the solution of each subsequent WLLS problem unrelated with that of the previous ones: at each step a new WLLS problem must be solved from scratch. In general we would tend to agree with them, but, fortunately, something can still be said:

- 1. at the implementation level;
- 2. and/or when  $\mathbf{W}_i$  have special structure.

In this work we will discuss the two topics above and their usefulness in fuzzy system identification and on specific classes of LP problems tackled with IPMs.

- [1] Cococcioni M., Lazzerini B., Marcelloni F. (2011) On reducing computational overhead in multiobjective genetic Takagi-Sugeno fuzzy systems, *Applied Soft Computing*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 675–688
- [2] Ferris Michael C., Mangasarian Olvi L., Wright Stephen J. (2008) Linear Programming with MAT-LAB. Society for Industrial Mathematics.

#### Approaching Lexicographic Mixed-Integer Linear Programming Problems Using Grossone Methodology

Marco Cococcioni<sup>1</sup>, Alessandro Cudazzo<sup>1</sup>, Massimo Pappalardo<sup>1</sup>, Yaroslav D. Sergeyev<sup>2,3</sup>

**Keywords.** Multi-Objective Optimization; Lexicographic Optimization; Mixed Integer Linear Programming; Numerical Infinitesimals.

In a previous work (see [1]) the authors have shown how to solve a Lexicographic Multi-Objective Linear Programming (LMOLP) problem using the grossone-based methodology described in [2]. We have named such an algorithm GrossSimplex, since it was based on the well-known simplex algorithm.

The aim of this work is to provide an algorithm able to solve the same problem, when some or all the decision variables are constrained to be integer. We have called this problem LMILP (Lexicographic Mixed Integer Linear Programming).

This new problem is solved by introducing the GrossBB algorithm, which is the generalization of the Branch and Bound (BB) algorithm able to deal with lower-bound and upper-bound estimates which involve infinite and infinitesimal numbers (i.e., grossone-based numbers). After providing the theoretical conditions for its correctness, we show hot it can be coupled with the GrossSimplex solver described in [1], to solve the original LMILP problem. To test the correctness of the proposed algorithm we introduce a series of LMILP benchmarks having a known solution. We demostrate the ability of the GrossBB combined with the GrossSimplex to solve the proposed LMILP test problems.

- [1] Cococcioni M., Pappalardo M., Sergeyev Ya.D. (2018) Lexicographic Multi-Objective Linear Programming using Grossone Methodology: Theory and Algorithm, *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, Vol. 318, pp. 298-311
- [2] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems, EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 219-320

## Objective and Violation Upper Bounds on a DIRECT-filter Method for Global Optimization

M. Fernanda P. Costa<sup>1</sup>, Ana Maria A.C. Rocha<sup>2</sup>, Edite M.G.P. Fernandes<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre of Mathematics, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal <sup>2</sup>ALGORITMI Center, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal mfc@math.uminho.pt, arocha@dps.uminho.pt, emgpf@dps.uminho.pt

**Keywords.** Global Optimization; DIRECT; Filter Method.

This paper addresses the problem of solving a constrained global optimization problem using a modification of the DIRECT method [3] that incorporates the filter methodology [2] to simultaneously minimize the objective function and the constraint violation. Using the filter methodology, in the "Selection" step of the herein proposed DIRECT-filter algorithm, the indices of center points of the hyperrectangles are divided into four sets and consequently separately handled. One includes the non-dominated hyperrectangles that lie in a "feasible-band" region with a sufficiently small constraint violation value, as well as the "feasible" hyperrectangle with the smallest objective function value. The other includes the dominated hyperrectangles with center points inside the "feasible-band" region appended with the remaining "feasible" hyperrectangles. The indices of "infeasible" hyperrectangles are integrated into two separate sets, one contains the non-dominated center points and the other the dominated ones.

Moreover, the new algorithm also imposes upper bounds on the objective function and constraint violation, in some of the mentioned sets of indices (not all), aiming to discard some hyperrectangles from the process of identifying the potentially optimal ones. A heuristic that avoids the exploration of the hyperrectangles that have been mostly divided is also implemented. Numerical experiments are carried out to test the effectiveness of the heuristic and the imposed upper bounds, and to compare with other available methods [1].

**Acknowledgements.** This work has been supported by FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Projects Scope: UID/CEC/00319/2019 and UID/MAT/00013/2013.

- [1] Costa, M.F.P., Rocha, A.M.A.C., Fernandes, E.M.G.P. (2018) Filter-based DI-RECT method for constrained global optimization. *Journal of Global Optimization*, Vol. 71, pp. 517–536.
- [2] Fletcher, R., Leyffer, S. (2002) Nonlinear programming without a penalty function. Mathematical Programming, Series A, Vol. 91, pp. 239–269.
- [3] Jones D.R., Perttunen C.D., Stuckman B.E. (1993) Lipschitzian optimization without the Lipschitz constant. *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, Vol. 79, pp. 157–181.

## The approximate synthesis of optimal control for heterogeneous discrete systems with intermediate criteria

Olga Danilenko<sup>1</sup>, Irina Rasina<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Trapeznikov Institute of Control Sciences of RAS, Moscow, Russia <sup>2</sup>Ailamazyan Program Systems Institute of RAS, Perslavl-Zalessky, Russia olga@danilenko.org, irinarasina@gmail.com

**Keywords.** heterogeneous discrete system; intermediate criteria; approximate synthesis; optimal control.

We consider one of the classes of hybrid systems: heterogeneous discrete systems (HDSs) [1]. The mathematical model of an HDS is a two-level model, where the lower level represents descriptions of homogeneous discrete processes at separate stages and the upper level (discrete) connects these descriptions into a single process and controls the functioning of the entire system to ensure a minimum of functionality. In addition, each homogeneous subsystem has its own goal.

A method of the approximate synthesis of optimal control is constructed on the basis of Krotov-type sufficient optimality conditions obtained for such a model in two forms [2, 3]. Each iteration of the method includes the solution of the vector-matrix HDS Riccati type for the first and second derivatives of the Krotov functions of both levels. The increments of the controls of both levels linearly depend on the increments of the states, which makes it possible to obtain a solution in the form of an approximate linear synthesis of optimal control.

A theorem on the convergence of the method with respect to a function is proved and an illustrative example is given.

- [1] Rasina I. (2014) Hierarchical models of control systems of heterogeneous structure. Fizmatlit, Moscow. (In Russian).
- [2] Rasina I. (2016) Discrete heterogeneous systems and sufficient optimality conditions. The Bulletin of Irkutsk State University. Series Mathematics., Vol. 19, pp. 62–73. (In Russian).
- [3] Rasina I., Guseva I. (2018) Control improvement method for geterogeneous discrete systems with intermediate criteria. *Program Systems: Theory and Applications*, 9:2(37), pp. 23–38. (In Russian).

## Modelling climate changes with stationary models: is it possible or is it a paradox?

Davide Luciano De Luca<sup>1</sup>, Andrea Petroselli <sup>2</sup>, Luciano Galasso <sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Informatics, Modelling, Electronics and System Engineering, University of Calabria, 87036 Rende (CS), Italy

<sup>2</sup>DEIM Department - Water Engineering Section, Tuscia University, 01100 Viterbo (VT), Italy davide.deluca@unical.it, petro@unitus.it, luciano.galasso@unical.it

**Keywords.** Rainfall processes; Climate changes; Stationary models.

Climate is changing; many analyses of time series converge in this sentence, but this does not imply that the past is no more representative of the future, and then that "stationarity is dead". In fact, "stationarity" and "change" are not mutually exclusive. As examples: 1) according to Newton's first law, without an external force, the position of a body in motion changes in time but the velocity is unchanged; 2) according to Newton's second law, a constant force implies a constant acceleration and a changing velocity. Consequently, "non-stationarity" is not a synonymous with change; change is a general notion applicable everywhere, including to the real (material) world, while stationarity and non-stationarity only regard the adopted models. Thus, stationary models can be also adopted for environmental changes. With this aim, in this work authors show some numerical experiments concerning rainfall processes. In details, a Neymann Scott Rectangular Pulse model (NRSP, which is one of the most used for generating continuous rainfall time series) with some changing temporal scenarios for its parameters is adopted, and the derived Block Maxima time series are investigated for several temporal resolutions (sub-hourly and hourly scales). The goal is to analyze if there are some particular scales in which some sets of the assumed temporal changes in parameters could be "hidden" when Block Maxima time series (which are nowadays more available and longer than high-resolution continuous time series for many sites in the world) are studied, and then stationary models for Extreme Value distribution could be however adopted. The numerical experiments confirm that is obtained from analysis of Annual Maximum Rainfall (AMR) series in some parts of Italy, for which it is not essential to remove the hypothesis of stationary parameters: significant trends could not appear only from the observed Block Maxima data, as a relevant rate of outlier events also occurred in the central part of the last century.

## An efficient optimal solution approach for the preference-based multicriteria shortest path problem with reference points

Luigi Di Puglia Pugliese<sup>1</sup>, Francesca Guerriero<sup>1</sup>, Janusz Granat<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mechanical, Energy and Management Engineering, University of Calabria, Rende, Italy

<sup>2</sup>Institute of Control and Computation Engineering, Warsaw University of Technology, Warsaw, Poland

 ${\it ^3} National\ Institute\ of\ Telecommunications,\ Warsaw,\ Poland\ \{luigi.dipugliapugliese;francesca.guerriero\}\\ {\it @unical.it,\ J.Granat@itl.waw.pl}$ 

**Keywords.** Multiple criteria analysis; Pareto-optimal paths; Reference point method.

The shortest path problem arises in several context, e.g., in transportation and telecommunication fields. New requirements in solving practical problems impose that more than one criterion should be considered. Since the objectives are in conflict, the solution is not unique, rather a set of (efficient) solutions is defined optimal. Among the efficient solutions, the decision maker chooses the most satisfactory. Generally, computing the entire set of efficient solutions is time consuming. Given an aspiration point, we consider the problem of finding an efficient solution that better satisfies the requirement of the decision maker [1]. This results in a max-min problem for which classical optimality principle for the shortest path problem is not valid. To overcome this issue, we propose an equivalent formulation dealing with the constrained shortest path (CSP) problem [2]. The idea is to define a set of constraints guaranteeing that the optimal solution to the problem at hand lies in the feasible region of the defined CSP problem. Then, we propose a labelling algorithm to search for the optimal solution to the CSP problem that is also the optimal for the problem at hand. The method is compared with the state-of-the-art considering random and grid networks, under several scenarios.

- [1] Wierzbicki A. (1977) Basic properties of scalarizing functionals for multiobjective optimization. *Mathematische Operationsforschung und Statistik, s. Optimization*, Vol. 8, pp. 55–60.
- [2] Di Puglia Pugliese L. and Guerriero F. (2013) A Survey of Resource Constrained Shortest Path Problems: Exact Solution Approaches. *Networks*, Vol. 62, pp. 183–200.

#### A Novel Geometric Approach to the Problem of Multidimensional Scaling

Gintautas Dzemyda, Martynas Sabaliauskas

Vilnius University, Institute of Data Science and Digital Technologies, Akademijos St. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania gintautas.dzemyda@mii.vu.lt, martynas.sabaliauskas@mii.vu.lt

**Keywords.** Multidimensional scaling; Geometric approach; Minimization.

Multidimensional scaling (MDS) is one of the most popular methods for a visual representation of multidimensional data [1], [2]. Low-dimensional visualization requires holding proximities between multidimensional points (observations)  $X_i = (x_{i1}, x_{i2}, \ldots, x_{in}), i = 1, \ldots, m$ , as much as possible. MDS requires estimating the coordinates of new points  $Y_i = (y_{i1}, y_{i2}, \ldots, y_{id}), i = 1, \ldots, m$ , in a lower-dimensional space (d < n) by minimizing some stress function. Proximity can be measured by the distance. Consider such stress:  $E_{\text{MDS}}(Y_1, \ldots, Y_m) = \sum_{i < j} (D(X_i, X_j) - D(Y_i, Y_j))^2$ , where D is the Euclidean distance between a pair of points. The stress function has many local minima often, and iterative algorithms are used for its minimization. Various attempts are made to find the global minimum of the stress function still now. Classical approaches to minimize the stress reached their limits. New viewpoint to the problem is necessary, including its formulation and ways of solving.

The proposed idea is based on a novel geometric interpretation of the stress function and MDS in general. Following this interpretation, the step size and direction forward the minimum of the stress function are found analytically for a separate point without reference to the analytical expression of the stress function, numerical evaluation of its derivatives and the linear search. It is proved theoretically that the direction coincides with the steepest descent direction, and the analytically found step size guaranties almost the optimal step in this direction. Moreover, regions for optimal starting points for local optimization may be disclosed. Various strategies of application of the discovered option to minimize the stress function are presented and examined. According to the experiments, the realizations of our approach tends to solve the global optimization problem.

- [1] Dzemyda G., Kurasova O., Žilinskas J. (2013) Multidimensional data visualization: Methods and applications. Series: Springer optimization and its applications, Vol. 75, Springer.
- [2] Borg I., Groenen P.J.F., Mair P. (2018) Applied multidimensional scaling and unfolding. 2nd ed., Springer.

## Finite-time stability for neural networks with time varying delay based on an improved reciprocally convex inequality

Chanikan Emharuethai<sup>1</sup>, Piyapong Niamsup<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Maejo University, Chiangmai 50290 Thailand <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Chiangmai University Chiangmai 50200 Thailand chanikan@mju.ac.th, piyapong.n@cmu.ac.th

**Keywords.** Finite-time stability; neural networks; time varying delay.

Finite-time stability for neural network with time-varying delay is considered by using improved reciprocally convex inequalities and some integral inequalities, which are employed to provide a tight upper bound on the time-derivative of some Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional. New sufficient conditions for finite-time stability are established to guarantee finite-time stability for the system are given in terms of linear matrix inequalities(LMIs). Numerical examples are given to illustrate the effectiveness of the obtained result.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Thailand Research Fund (TRF), the Office of the Higher Education Commission (OHEC) (grant number: MRG6180034)

- [1] Seuret A., Gouaisbaut F. (2013) Wirtinger-based integral inequality: Application to time-delay systems. *Automatica*, Vol. 49 no.9, pp. 2860–2866.
- [2] Zhang X. M., Han Q. L., Seuret A., Gouaisbaut F. (2017) An improved reciprocally convex inequality and augmented Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional for stability of linear systems with time-varying delay. *Automatica*, Vol. 49 no.9, pp. 1–6.
- [3] Zhang X. M., Han Q. L. (2017) State estimation for static neural networks with time-varying delays based on an Improved reciprocally convex inequality. *IEEE Transaction on neural networks and learning systems*, Vol. 49 no.9, pp. 1–6.
- [4] Park P. G., Ko J. W., Jeong C. (2011) Reciprocally convex approach to stability of systems with time-varying delays. *Automatica*, Vol. 47 no.9, pp. 235–238.

## A Simulink-based Infinity Computer simulator and some applications

Alberto Falcone, Alfredo Garro, Marat S. Mukhametzhanov, Yaroslav D. Sergeyev

Department of Informatics, Modeling, Electronics and Systems Engineering (DIMES), University of Calabria, 87036 Rende (CS) - Italy

alberto.falcone@dimes.unical.it, alfredo.garro@unical.it, marat@dimes.unical.it, yaro@dimes.unical.it

Keywords. Infinity Computer; Numerical differentiation; Scientific Computing.

On a wide range of problems in different mathematical domains (such as numerical differentiation, optimization, divergent series, ordinary differential equations, fractals, and set theory), the results obtained by exploiting the *Infinity Computing* methodology have shown an higher accuracy respect to the results obtained by traditional tools used to work with mathematical objects involving infinity [1,2]. In this context, the availability of software libraries able to work numerically with infinite and infinitesimal Grossone-based numbers can promote a wider adoption of the Infinity Computing and related benefits. Indeed, such software libraries can be integrated in popular scientific computational environments and platforms so as to allow a seamless exploitation of Infinity Computing-based algorithms and methods in solving a wide range of scientific and technological problems. To this aim, the paper presents the design and implementation of a software library for the Simulink platform that allows to represent Grossone-based numbers and use them in Simulink computational models. For a basic set of classical mathematical problems (including ordinary differential equations), the results obtained by using the library are compared with those achievable by using the standard Simulink functions showing a considerable increase in both accuracy and efficiency. Future research efforts will be geared to improve and extend the library as well as to exploit it for modeling and simulating complex engineered systems.

- [1] Sergeyev Ya.D., Garro A (2015) The Grossone Methodology Perspective on Turing Machines. *Automata, Universality, Computation*, cap. 7, pp. 139–169. ISBN 978-3-319-09038-2, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Germany.
- [2] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, vol. 4, n. 2, pp. 219–320. ISSN 2308-2151, European Mathematical Society Publishing House.

#### Issues on Large Symmetric Indefinite Linear Systems and Grossone

#### Giovanni Fasano

University Ca' Foscari of Venice, Department of Management, Cannaregio 873, 30121, Italy fasano@unive.it

**Keywords.** Indefinite Linear Systems; Conjugate Gradient (CG); Grossone.

We are interested about investigating the effective and efficient solution of large indefinite linear systems, by means of iterative procedures. In particular, we focus on Krylov-subspace methods based on the generation of conjugate directions, which are quite appealing for their simplicity and versatility in optimization frameworks. Among them we also consider a possible extension of the Conjugate Gradient (CG) method [1], as was recently proposed in [2], for the solution of positive definite linear systems. We investigate to what extent pairing the numeral grossone (see [4]) with CG-based methods, may possibly deflate pivot breakdown of the CG in the indefinite case. In this regard, we use the results in [3] and we also focus on preconditioning issues, as well as on numerical performance. Finally, recalling that our main interest is for indefinite linear systems in optimization frameworks, we also study the impact of using grossone on the generation of negative curvature directions for the objective function. This latter subject is of great interest on large scale settings, since computing negative curvature directions without storing full matrices is a challenging issue.

#### Acknowledgements.

G. Fasano thanks the National Research Council-Marine Technology Research Institute (CNR-INSEAN), Italy, for the support received.

- [1] Hestenes, M.R. and Stiefel, E. (1952), Methods of conjugate gradients for solving linear systems, *Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards*, Vol. 49, pp. 409–435.
- [2] Fasano, G. (2015), A Framework of Conjugate Direction Methods for Symmetric Linear Systems in Optimization, *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, Vol. 164, pp. 883–914.
- [3] De Leone, R., Fasano, G. and Sergeyev, Y.D. (2018), Planar methods and grossone for the Conjugate Gradient breakdown in nonlinear programming, *Computational Optimization and Applications*, Vol. 71, pp. 73–93.
- [4] Sergeyev, Y.D. (2007), A new applied approach for executing computations with infinite and infinitesimal quantities, *Informatica*, Vol. 14, pp. 567–596.

### Non-Archimedean Game Theory and the Infinity Computer: a Numerical Approach

Lorenzo Fiaschi, Marco Cococcioni

University of Pisa, Largo Lucio Lazzarino, 1 – 56123 Pisa, Italy lorenzo.fiaschi@gmail.com, marco.cocccioni@unipi.it

**Keywords.** Game Theory; Prisoner's Dilemma; Non-Archimedean Payoffs and Probabilities; Infinity Computer; Grossone Methodology.

In this work we aim at generalizing Pure and Impure PD iterated games [1] when using finite/infinitesimal payoffs and finite/infinitesimal probabilities, i.e., dealing with non-Archimedean quantities (realm so far investigated only on the theoretical side, e.g. [2]). In our work we are able to generalize Pure and Impure iterated PD games, both from the theoretical and operational standpoints, by means of the Sergeyev's Infinity Computer and his Grossone Methodology [3]. Indeed, the theoretical novelties introduced have been also validated numerically in Matlab, by means of an Infinity Computer simulator.

Pragmatically, we have analytically proved that in Pure and Impure Iterated PD games involving non-Archimedean quantities, if the latter have different orders of infinite than the magnitude of the players average expectations per iteration can span all such orders (i.e., can be either infinite, finite or infinitesimal) depending on the adopted strategies. Moreover, exploiting the Infinity Computer simulator we have plot such expectations for both the PD scenarios, numerically validating the theoretical results. Finally, we have shown that the new graphic thus obtained is a generalization of the finite case, proving the maintaining of the requested properties of linearity, continuity and proper slope of its edges.

This new approach opens the door to a more precise modeling of non-Archimedean scenarios, as demonstrated in a previous work of the same authors [4]. Here, the existence and the relative numerical treatment of a new class of PD Tournaments (which previous approaches were not able to discover, nor to manage) has been demonstrated by means of such finer modeling paradigm.

- [1] Steven K. (Spring 2017) *Prisoner's Dilemma*. The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy, https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/spr2017/entries/prisoner-dilemma/.
- [2] Blume L., Brandenburger A., Dekel E. (1991) Lexicographic Probabilities and Choice Under Uncertainty *Econometrica*, Vol. 59, pp. 61–79.
- [3] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4, pp. 219–320.
- [4] Fiaschi L. and Cococcioni M. (2018) Numerical Asymptotic Results in Game Theory Using Sergeyev's Infinity Computing International Journal of Unconventional Computing, Vol. 14, pp. 1–25.

# High-performance algorithms for large-scale multiobjective radiotherapy planning problems

E. Filatovas<sup>1</sup>, O. Kurasova<sup>1</sup>, J.J. Moreno<sup>2</sup>, E.M. Garzón<sup>2</sup>, J. Miroforidis<sup>3</sup>, D. Podkopaev<sup>3</sup>, I. Kaliszewski<sup>3</sup>

**Keywords.** Evolutionary Multiobjective Optimization; High-Performance Computing; Radiotherapy Planning; Sparse-matrix Computations.

Modern intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) equipment operates several radiation beams, each of them consisting of thousands of beamlets. The intensity of irradiation doses is controlled at the level of a single beamlet. Designing radiotherapy treatment plans (RTTPs) is often modeled as multiobjective optimization problems (MOPs). In clinical practice, solving such MOPs can be done by finding a fair, discrete representation of the set of Pareto optimal RTTPs, which represents non-dominated trade-offs between the radiation doses delivered to the tumor and these delivered to healthy organs.

Radiation doses in all the voxels (the 3D mesh of irradiated part of patient's body) represented by vector d, are evaluated using sparse matrix multiplication d = Dx, where D is the the dose-influence matrix specific to the patient, and x is the vector of beamlet intensities. All constraints and objectives of the MOP are defined over vectors d. The challenge is that the search space of vector x is very large, as it represents all possible geometric configurations of the irradiation system, and may contain tens of thousands of components. Due to that, classic optimization methods are inefficient.

In order to address this challenge and handle radiotherapy planning MOPs effectively, we combine preference-based evolutionary multiobjective optimization algorithms, large sparse matrix multiplication techniques, and parallel computing. The efficiency of the developed hybrid algorithms has been experimentally explored on modern high-performance computing platforms by solving real-life RTTP cases. Significant acceleration has been reported.

**Acknowledgements.** The research work of E. Filatovas was funded by a Grant (No. S-MIP-17-67) from the Research Council of Lithuania.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Vilnius University, Institute of Data Science and Digital Technologies, Akademijos str. 4, LT–08663 Vilnius, Lithuania

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Informatics, University of Almería, Ctra. Sacramento s/n. La Cañada de San Urbano, 04120 Almería, Spain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Systems Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, ul. Newelska 6, 01-447 Warsaw, Poland ernest.filatov@gmail.com

## A Spherical Separation Approach for Multiple Instance Learning

Antonio Fuduli, Annabella Astorino, Matteo Avolio

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Calabria, Rende, Italy Institute of High Performance Computing and Networking, Italian National Research Council, Rende, Italy

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Calabria, Rende, Italy antonio.fuduli@unical.it, annabella.astorino@icar.cnr.it, matteoavolio0@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Multiple Instance Learning; Spherical Separation; Classification.

Multiple Instance Learning (MIL) consists in classifying sets of points: such sets are called bags and the points inside the bags are called instances. The main characteristic of a MIL problem is that in the learning phase only the labels of the bags are known whereas the labels of the single instances inside the bags are unknown.

We consider the binary case whose objective is to discriminate between positive and negative bags, in the presence of positive and negative instances as well. In particular we assume that a bag is positive if it contains at least a positive instance and it is negative if all its instances are negative.

Starting from this assumption, we propose an instance-level algorithm based on the spherical separation of sets. Our approach consists in the alternation between the computation of the radius of the separating sphere when the center is fixed, and of the computation of the center when the radius is fixed.

Preliminary computational results are presented on some datasets drawn from the literature.

- [1] Amores J. (2013) Multiple instance classification: Review, taxonomy and comparative study, *Artificial Intelligence*, Vol. 201, pp. 81–105.
- [2] Carbonneau M., Cheplygina V., Granger E., Gagnon G. (2018) Multiple instance learning: a survey of problem characteristics and applications, *Pattern Recognition*, Vol. 77, pp. 329 353.

### Computing Stationary Equilibria in Multi-Leader-Follower Games

#### Masao Fukushima

Nanzan University, Nagoya, Japan fuku@nanzan-u.ac.jp

**Keywords.** Multi-leader-follower game; equilibrium problem with equilibrium constraints; stationary equilibrium; penalty method.

In a multi-leader-follower game, there are several players who serve as leaders and the rest of players who serve as followers. As a bilevel game, all leaders compete with each other in a non-cooperative Nash game in the upper-level and make their decisions first by anticipating the responses of followers. The followers observe the leaders' decisions and then make their decisions in the lower-level with the strategies of leaders as exogenous parameters. A mathematical formulation to model the multileader-follower game is the equilibrium problem with equilibrium constraints (EPEC), which is a single-level equilibrium problem where each leader's optimization problem is a mathematical program with equilibrium problem (MPEC). Such an EPEC is still difficult to deal with, since the constraints of each leader's problem depend on the other leaders' strategies, and all leaders share decision variables of the followers. In this work, we propose an algorithm that combines the penalty approach for an MPEC with a diagonalization method that solves each leader's MPEC cyclically by fixing the other rival leaders' strategies. In the proposed method, each leader's MPEC is transformed into a differentiable optimization problem by means of a penalty technique, in such a way that the constraints of the problem do not depend on the other rival players' strategies. Hence it can be dealt with as an ordinary Nash equilibrium problem, where each player's problem is a nonconvex optimization problem. We show that a limit point of the sequence generated by the algorithm is an EPEC S-stationarity point under suitable assumptions.

[This talk is based on the joint work [1] with Atsushi Hori.]

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported in part by Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) (26330029) from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

#### References

[1] Hori A., Fukushima, M. (2019) Gauss-Seidel method for multi-leader-follower games. *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, Vol. 180, pp. 651–670.

## Enclosure of the Range of a Complex Polynomial Over a Complex Interval

Jürgen Garloff, Jihad Titi

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Konstanz, D-78464 Konstanz, Germany Institute for Applied Research, University of Applied Sciences / HTWG Konstanz, D-78405 Konstanz, Germany

garloff@htwg-konstanz.de

**Keywords.** Multivariate complex polynomial; Enclosure of the range; Bernstein polynomial.

Bounding the range of a function over a given region is an important task which is inherent in a remarkable variety of problems in mathematics and many of its applications. These include quantitative estimation of the remainder terms in numerical integration and differentiation, sensitivity analysis of systems, the certification of properties of function like monotonicity, convexity, and univalence, and branch and bound methods in global optimization, to name only a few. In this talk, we consider complex polynomials. The regions over which the range of such polynomials are sought are axis-aligned compact regions in the complex plane called complex intervals. The tool we are using is the expansion of the given polynomial into Bernstein polynomials, see, e.g., [1]. The convex hull of the coefficients of this expansion, the so-called Bernstein coefficients, provides an enclosure for the range of the given polynomial over the complex interval.

We first briefly recall the expansion of a multivariate real polynomial into Bernstein polynomials over a box and some of its fundamental properties as well as from [2,3], a matrix method for the computation of the Bernstein coefficients. We present the Bernstein expansion for a complex polynomial which is applied for finding an upper bound for the modulus of a polynomial. It turns out that the computation of the range of a complex polynomial over a complex interval can be reduced to the calculation of the range over its boundary. We discuss some methods for the computation of the Bernstein coefficients of a complex polynomial and extend them to multivariate complex polynomials and to rational functions.

- [1] Rivlin T. J. (1970) Bounds on a polynomial, J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, Vol. 74(B), pp. 47–54.
- [2] Titi J., Garloff J. (2017) Fast determination of the tensorial and simplicial Bernstein forms of multivariate polynomials and rational functions, *Reliab. Comput.*, Vol. 25, pp. 24-37.
- [3] Titi J., Garloff J. (2019) Matrix methods for the tensorial Bernstein form, Appl. Math. Comput., Vol. 346, pp. 254–271.

# MINLP formulations of the Feature Selection problem in SVM framework

Manlio Gaudioso, Giovanni Giallombardo, Giovanna Miglionico

Universitá della Calabria, 87036 Rende, Italy (gaudioso, giallo, gmiglionico)@dimes.unical.it

Keywords. SVM; Feature Selection; Sparse Optimization; DC function.

We consider a sparse optimization problem, where the two objectives of minimizing a convex, not necessarily differentiable, function  $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}, d \geq 2$  and of keeping as small as possible the number of nonzero components of the optimal point are simultaneously pursued. Such problem is of interest in Feature Selection within the SVM (Support Vector Machine) binary classification. We adopt the following formulation:

$$f_0^* = \min_x f(x) + ||x||_0, \tag{1}$$

where the symbol  $\|\cdot\|_0$  indicates the  $\ell_0$  pseudo-norm, which counts the number of nonzero components of any vector.

A "big M" reformulation of the problem is easily obtained by introducing a set of binary variables counting the sparsity of vector x.

Our alternative approach [1] is based on using a class of polyhedral norms known as k-norm and indicated by  $\|\cdot\|_{[k]}$ ,  $k = 1, \ldots, d$ . In fact  $\|x\|_{[k]}$  is the sum of the k largest components (in modulus) of x. The following property holds:

$$||x||_{\infty} \le ||x||_{[1]} \le ||x||_{[2]} \le \ldots \le ||x||_{[d]} = ||x||_{1}$$

The approach we use [2], is based on the equivalence, valid for  $1 \le k \le d$ ,

$$||x||_0 \le k \iff ||x||_1 - ||x||_{[k]} = 0,$$

which allows us to obtain a Mixed Integer Nonlinear Programming (MINLP) formulation of problem (1). We focus on the solutions provided by the continuous relaxations of the two above mentioned formulations. In particular the proposed approach benefits from the use of DC (Difference of Convex) optimization.

- [1] Gaudioso M., Gorgone E., Hiriart-Urruty J.-B. (2018) Feature selection in SVM via polyhedral k-norms. Optimization Letters. Submitted.
- [2] Gotoh J., Takeda A., Tono K. (2018) DC formulations and algorithms for sparse optimization problems. *Mathematical Programming, Ser. B*, Vol. 169, pp. 141–176.

# Multidimensional global search using numerical estimations of minimized function derivatives and adaptive nested optimization scheme

Victor Gergel, Alexey Goryachikh

Department of Software and Supercomputing, Lobachevsky State University, Gagarin Avenue 23, Nizhni Novgorod 603950, Russia gergel@unn.ru, a\_goryachih@mail.ru

**Keywords.** Multiextremal optimization; global search algorithms; Lipschitz condition; numerical estimations of derivative values; dimensionality reduction; numerical experiments;

This paper reviews combination of novel approaches for solving the multidimensional multiextremal problem – the adaptive method with numerical derivatives for solving one-dimensional problems and adaptive nested optimization scheme for dimensionality reduction. The considered method uses not only the minimized function values but also the values of derivatives of these functions to increase the efficiency of global optimization, while the adaptive scheme enables to develop methods of the global optimum search, which are more efficient in comparison with the ones on the base of the usually used nested optimization scheme. The descriptions of the method and its computational scheme are provided. Results of numerical experiments on the well-known classes of the test multiextremal functions confirm the developed approach is promising.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Russian Foundation of Basic Research, project No 19-07-00242 "High-performance parallel global optimization methods for supercomputer simulation".

- [1] Gergel V.P. and Goryachih A.S. (2017) Global optimization using numerical approximations of derivatives, Learning and Intelligent Optimization. n: Battiti R., Kvasov D.E., Sergeyev Y.D. (eds) Learning and Intelligent Optimization. LION 2017. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol.10556. Springer, Cham, pp.320–325.
- [2] Gergel V.P., Grishagin V.A. and Gergel A.V. (2015) Adaptive nested optimization scheme for multidimensional global search, *Journal of Global Optimization* Vol.6, pp.35–51.
- [3] Goryachih A.S. and Rachinskaya M.A. (2017) Multidimensional global optimization method using numerically calculated derivatives. In Proceedings of the *International Young Scientist Conference on Computational Science*, YSC 2017 (ed. by A. Klimova, A. Bilyatdinova, J. Kortelainen, A. Boukhanovsky), (Finland), pp.90–96.

### On a Family of Fourth-order Simple-root Finders

#### Young Hee Geum

Department of Applied Mathematics, Dankook University, Cheonan, Korea geumyh@hotmail.com

**Keywords.** fourth-order convergence; optimal order; basin of attraction.

In this paper we develop a family of two-point optimal [1] fourth-order methods that make use of one function and two derivatives for a simple-root finding problems. The proposed method is described by using the weighting functions. The convergence analysis [2] regarding proposed scheme is proved through a various numerical examples and their basin of attraction [3,4].

- [1] Kung H.T., Traub J. F. (1974) Optimal order of one-point and multipoint iteration, J. Assoc. Comput. Mach., Vol. 21, pp. 643–651.
- [2] Ahlfors L.V. (1979) Complex Analysis, McGraw-Hill Book, Inc.
- [3] Gulick D. (1992) Encounters with Chaos, Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- [4] Wolfram S. (2003) The Mathematica Book, Wolfram Media.

## Convex Optimization for Structured Matrix Completion

Jonathan Gillard<sup>1</sup>, Konstantin Usevich<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Mathematics, Cardiff University, CF24 4AG, UK <sup>2</sup>Centre de Recherche en Automatique de Nancy (CRAN) / UMR (mixed research unit) of CNRS and University of Lorraine

gillardjw@cardiff.ac.uk, konstantin.usevich@univ-lorraine.fr

Keywords. Matrix completion, Forecasting, Big data

Matrix completion has been one of the breakthrough areas of mathematics in recent years. One can impute the missing values of a matrix with extremely high probability by solving a convex optimization problem. This is because observed data often belongs to some low dimensional subspace. Existing technology for matrix completion assumes: (i) the missing values appear randomly throughout the matrix and (ii) the non-missing values are recorded without error. It is these two assumptions which have restricted the application of matrix completion for substantive statistical problems.

This talk is motivated by the problem of forecasting. In this scenario the non-missing values are almost certainly recorded with error, and the missing values are not spread randomly throughout the matrix (but are contained in the bottom right hand corner of a structured matrix). This is known as structured matrix completion. We consider convex relaxations for the structured low-rank matrix completion problem with specific application to forecasting time series. Low rank optimization problems are known, in general, to be difficult global optimization problems, see [1] and [2] for example.

This is a fashionable approach in the statistics of big data: difficult non-convex optimization problems are 'convexified' to make them tractable. The question then is: how close is the solution of the convex optimization problem to the non-convex one (which is the one we really want to solve)? A full description of the work is available in [1]

- [1] Gillard, J., Zhigljavsky, A. A. (2013). Optimization challenges in the structured low rank approximation problem. *Journal of Global Optimization*, 57(3), 733-751.
- [2] Gillard, J., Kvasov, D.E. (2017). Lipschitz optimization methods for fitting a sum of damped sinusoids to a series of observations. *Statistics and its Interface*, 10(1), 59-70.
- [3] Gillard, J., Usevich, K. (2018). Structured low-rank matrix completion for forecasting in time series analysis. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 34(4), 582-597.

# Adaptive Nested Multiextremal Optimization in Accessible Region with Computable Boundaries

Vladimir Grishagin, Ruslan Israfilov

Lobachevsky State University, 23 Gagarin Avenue, 603950 Nizhni Novgorod, Russia vagris@unn.ru, ruslan@israfilov.com

**Keywords.** Multiextremal problems; dimensionality reduction; computable boundaries.

The paper considers multidimensional optimization problems with multiextremal objective functions over search domains determined by constraints which form a special type of domain boundaries called computable ones and, in general case, are non-linear and multiextremal. The regions of this class can be complicated sufficiently including non-convex, nonsimply connected, and even disconnected domains. For solving such problems a new global optimization technique based on the adaptive nested scheme [1] developed recently for unconstrained optimization is proposed. This scheme follows the dimensionality reduction approach in the framework of which instead of solving a multidimensional problem a set of reduced univariate subproblems connected recursively is solved. The suggested optimization algorithm is a generalization of the method [2] which applied the classical nested reduction for global optimization problems over regions with computable boundaries. The advantages of the adaptive nested scheme over the classical one consist in more efficient use of new information about the solved problem obtained in the course of optimization, because for planning the search the adaptive scheme takes into account the data from all one-dimensional subproblems, whereas the classic prototype during solving a current subproblem ignores the information of the subproblems completed earlier [3].

For efficiency estimation of the proposed algorithm built on the base of adaptive nested scheme in comparison with the classical nested optimization and the penalty function method a representative numerical experiment on the test class of multi-dimensional multiextremal functions was carried out. The results of the experiment demonstrate the significant advantage of the adaptive scheme over its opponents.

- [1] Gergel V.P., Grishagin V.A., Gergel A.V. (2016) Adaptive nested optimization scheme for multidimensional global search. *Journal of Global Optimization*. Vol. 66, No. 1, pp. 35–51.
- [2] Grishagin V., Israfilov R. (2015) Multidimensional Constrained Global Optimization in Domains with Computable Boundaries. CEUR Workshop Proceedings, Vol. 1513, pp. 75-84.
- [3] Grishagin V., Israfilov R., Sergeyev Y.D. (2018) Convergence conditions and numerical comparison of global optimization methods based on dimensionality reduction schemes. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, Vol. 318, pp. 270–280.

# Fluid Flow and Meniscus Behavior during Horizontal Single Belt Casting (HSBC) of Aluminum Strips

Roderick Guthrie, Mihaiela Isac

McGill Metals Processing Centre, 3610 University Street, Montreal, Canada Roderick.Guthrie@Mcgill.ca, Mihaiela.Isac@McGill.ca

Keywords. Computational Fluid Dynamic; Strip Casting; Aluminum.

Horizontal Single Belt Casting (HSBC) is a green process, potentially capable of replacing the current, conventional, Direct Chill (DC) casting for aluminum alloys, as well as Thin Slab Casting (TSC) for steel. HSBC is a novel, friction-free, near-net-shape continuous casting process, with significant high cooling capability. Because of high cooling rates, the HSBC strips have reduce structural anisotropy, and reduce micro-and macro-segregation of elements within the strip product. The HSBC involves direct contact of liquid metals with cooling substrate. The quality of strips produced via the HSBC process are directly dependent on: fluid flow behavior within the delivery system, the shape of the metal delivery system, the texture of the cooling substrate, the meniscus behavior at the quadruple point of contact between melt/cooling substrate/air/refractory-containing-material, and most importantly, the interfacial heat transfer between the melt and cooling substrate. As such, High Performance Computational Fluid Dynamic modelling is the most suitable way to investigate the effect of these various conditions on the strips product quality.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was funded by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), and by industrial supporting companies of the McGill Metals Processing Centre. ANSYS Fluent Inc. that granted us with software license.

- [1] Isac M.M. and Guthrie R.I.L., (2016) Treatise on Process Metallurgy, Volume 2: Process Phenomena, Chapter 4.4 Solidification: pp.497-514.
- [2] Xu M., Isac M., Guthrie R.I.L., (2019) Flow Instabilities in Horizontal Single Belt Casting Process with an Inclined Feeding System; ISIJ International, Vol 59, No.1. pp. 69-75.
- [3] Guthrie R.I.L., Isac M.M., (2014), Horizontal Single Belt Casting of Aluminum and Steel, Steel Research International, pp.1291-302.

# Novel criteria for finite-time stability, dissipativity, and passivity analysis of discrete-time neural networks with time-varying delays

#### Porpattama Hammachukiattikul

Phuket Rajabhat University, Phuket, Thailand porpattama@pkru.ac.th

**Keywords.** Finite-time Stability, dissipativity and passivity analysis, Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional.

This paper is improved finite-time stability, dissipativity, and passivity condition of discrete-time neural networks with time-varying delays. The neural network time-varying delay is obtained. A delay-dependent condition is provided to ensure the considered discrete-time neural networks with time-varying delays to be finite-time stability, dissipativity, and passivity. An effective of LMI approach is proposed to derive the finite-time stability, dissipativity, and passivity criterion. The new Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional constructing to a novel sufficient criterion on finite-time stability, dissipativity, and passivity of the discrete-time neural networks with time-varying delays.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by Phuket Rajabhat University.

- [1] S. Haykin, Neural Networks: A Comprehensive Foundation, Prentice-Hall, NJ, 1998.
- [2] W. He and J. Cao, Exponential synchronization of hybrid coupled networks with delayed coupling, *IEEE Trans. Neural Netw.* **21** (4) (2010) 571–583.
- [3] Popov, V.-M.: Hyperstability of Control Systems. Springer, Berlin (1973).
- [4] Willems, J.C., Dissipative dynamical systems part I: general theory, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 45 (5) (1972) 321–351.

## A dynamic precision floating-point arithmetic based on the Infinity Computer framework

Felice Iavernaro<sup>1</sup>, Pierluigi Amodio<sup>1</sup>, Luigi Brugnano<sup>2</sup>, Francesca Mazzia<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Bari, Italy <sup>2</sup>Dipartimento di Matematica e Informatica "U. Dini", Università di Firenze, Italy <sup>3</sup>Dipartimento di Informatica, Università di Bari, Italy

felice.iavernaro@uniba.it

**Keywords.** Infinity Computer; floating-point arithmetic; conditioning.

The Infinity Computer paradigm is based on a positional numeral system with the infinite radix 1 (called grossone) representing, by definition, the number of elements of the set of natural numbers  $\mathbb{N}$  [1,2]. A number in this system is a linear combination of powers of 1 (grosspowers) with coefficients in the standard numeral system. Of particular interest in our study are grossnumbers consisting of a finite expansion of integer grosspowers such as, for example,

 $X = \mathbb{O}^P \sum_{j=0}^T x_j \mathbb{O}^{-j}$ , with grossdigits  $x_j = \pm \beta^p \sum_{i=0}^t d_{ij} \beta^{-i}$ , where  $P, p \in \mathbb{Z}$  and T, t are given positive integers, while  $\beta$  stands for the base of the traditional floating-point arithmetic system (usually  $\beta = 2$ ).

This representation suggests interesting applications of the Infinity Computer if now  $\oplus$  is allowed to assume a suitable prescribed finite value. The idea is to exploit the grossdigits  $x_i$  in order to store a large number of significant digits in a dynamic manner during the execution of an algorithm. This means that the accuracy may be increased/decreased on demand during the flow of computations by automatically activating/deactivating a number of negative grosspowers. Our study explores this path of investigation and is addressed to the accurate solution of ill-conditioned/unstable problems [3, 4]. It should be noticed that, in principle, neither the user nor the programmer needs to know what the value of  $\oplus$  actually is. This assumption should be instead understood as an inherent feature of the machine architecture which, consistently with the Infinity Arithmetic methodology, will perceive the negative powers of  $\oplus$  as infinitesimal-like quantities if related to the classical floating-point system.

- [1] Sergeyev Y.D. (2008) A new applied approach for executing computations with infinite and infinitesimal quantities. *Informatica*, Vol. 19(4), pp. 567-596.
- [2] Sergeyev Y.D. (2009) Numerical computations and mathematical modelling with infinite and infinitesimal numbers. *Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computing*, Vol. 29(1-2), pp. 177–195.
- [3] Iavernaro F., Mazzia F., Trigiante D. (2006) Stability and conditioning in numerical analysis, JNAIAM J. Numer. Anal. Ind. Appl. Math., Vol. 1(1), pp. 91–112.
- [4] Brugnano L., Mazzia F., Trigiante D. (2011) Fifty years of stiffness. In *Recent* advances in computational and applied mathematics, Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 1–21.

# Ensemble Modeling for Minimization of Noisy Expensive Functions

#### Keiichi Ito

Helmholtz Zentrum München, Ingolstädter-Landstraße 1, Neuherberg, Germany itokeiic@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Self Organizing Map; Ensemble Modeling; Stochastic Optimization, Noisy Function.

In nonlinear regression, avoiding over- and underfitting is always an issue, particularly when the sample size is small. Furthermore, estimating a minimum of the underlying function is affected by the regression (surrogate) model. This paper shows first results of fitting multiple surrogates to a noisy function using Self-Organizing Map Based Adaptive Sampling (SOMBAS) [1] and sampling new points based on the values returned by these surrogates using Differential Evolution [2, pp. 38,39]. The proposed approach does not require the selection of suitable model complexity (e.g. polynomial order). Furthermore, it does not require matrix (pseudo) inverses to fit the surrogate models nor to find its minimum (on average) points. Our initial results show that the new method effectively avoids over- and underfitting, and can estimate the minimum of an underlying function. We assume that we know the responses are noisy (e.g. expected measurement error) but we do not know the underlying function. The novelty here is that we do not aim at the least-square error but allow a threshold error tolerance below which a surrogate is supposed to achieve. The diversity of surrogates is expected to automatically cancel out the variance component to avoid over-fitting, even though we do not know the complexity (e.g. polynomial order) of the underlying function. We use statistical information of responses to adaptively sample new points for the purpose of narrowing down parameter estimate uncertainties or inferring an optimal point (an input that generates the minimum average of responses). This work was part of the Ph.D. thesis [3], but has not been published in journals nor in conference proceedings.

- [1] Ito K., Couckuyt I., d'Ippolito R. and Dhaene T. (2016) Design space exploration using self-organizing map based adaptive sampling. Applied Soft Computing, 43:337 346.
- [2] Price K., Storn R. M. and Lampinen J. A. (2005) Differential Evolution: APractical Approach to Global Optimization. Springer.
- [3] Ito K. Sampling High-Dimensional Design Spaces for Analysis and Optimization. PhD thesis, Ghent University, December 2016. ISBN: 978-90-8578-952-9.

# Noise-induced kinetic transition in two-component environment

Dmitry Iudin<sup>1</sup>, Feodor Iudin<sup>2</sup>, Yaroslav Sergeyev<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Applied Physics of Russian Academy of Sciences, 46 Ul'yanov Street, 603950, Nizhny Novgorod, Russia

<sup>2</sup>Lobachevsky State University, 23 Gagarin Ave., 603950, Nizhni Novgorod, Russia <sup>3</sup>Universita della Calabria, Via P. Bucci, Cubo 42-C, 87036 Rende (CS), Italia iudin@ipfran.ru, fd.iudin@gmail.com, yarosit@yahoo.it

**Keywords.** Grossone; noise-induced nonequilibrium phase transitions; percolation theory.

Over the past 30 years, noise-induced nonequilibrium phase transitions have occupied a special place in nonlinear dynamics and statistical physics. The presence of noise can not only reduce, but, on the contrary, significantly increase the sensitivity of systems to weak external influences and lead to the appearance of dynamic modes, the realization of which in the absence of noise is impossible. In systems where the interacting components have contrasting properties (significantly different mobilities, diffusion coefficients, lifetimes), the addition of noise leads to the effect of subthreshold reproduction with the redistribution of the "resource" components (deposition) and is accompanied by a significant decrease in the generation threshold of complex (most often fractal) dissipative structures compared to systems without noise [1]. Recently [2] a number of traditional models related to the percolation theory have been considered by means of a new computational methodology [3] that does not use Cantor's ideas and describes infinite and infinitesimal numbers in accordance with the principle "The whole is greater than the part" (Euclid's Common Notion 5). Here we apply this methodology to the noise-induced kinetic transitions in multicomponent distributed systems.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by Russian Science Foundation grant 17-12-01439.

- [1] Iudin D.I. (2017) Lightning-Discharge Initiation as a Noise-Induced Kinetic Transition, *Radiophys Quantum El*, Vol. 60, No. 5, , pp. 374–394, doi.org/10.1007/s11141-017-9807-x.
- [2] Iudin D.I., Sergeyev Ya.D., Hayakawa M. (2015) Infinity computations in cellular automaton forest-fire model. *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, 20(3), pp. 861–870.
- [3] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems, *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, 4(2), pp. 219-320.

# Effect of Education Campaign on Mathematical Model SEIR for Controlling the Spread of Chickenpox

#### Anuwat Jirawattanapanit

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Technology, Rajabhat Phuket University, Phuket, Thailand

**Keywords.** Mathematical model; Chickenpox; Control the spread; Education Campaign.

The objective of this research is to develop and evaluate stability of mathematical modelling for controlling the spread of Chickenpox on Education Campaign. The model is analysed using standard methods, the equilibrium point, stability of the equilibrium points and analytic solutions. The effectiveness of Education Campaign ( $\omega$ ) in mathematical modelling and numerical solutions of basic reproductive number ( $R_0$ ) is studied.

The analysis model found that the stability of equilibrium points when the effectiveness of Education Campaign  $\omega = 0.5$ , have basic reproductive number  $R_0 = 0.914$ , and the effectiveness of Education Campaign  $\omega = 0$ , then the basic reproductive number  $R_0 = 1.827$ . The effectiveness of Education Campaign is the factor affecting to the mathematical modelling. If the risk of infection's population has Education Campaign and follow hypothesis increase then the spread of Chickenpox decreased until no epidemic.

- [1] World Health Organization (WHO), Global Tuberculosis Report, 2016.
- [2] Prihutami L., Stability Analysis of Tuberculosis Transmission Model, Thesis, Diponegoro University, Semarang, 2009.
- [3] Al-Darraji H.A.A., Altice F.L., Kamarulzaman A.: Undiagnosed pulmonary tuberculosis among prisoners in Malaysia: an overlooked risk for tuberculosis in the community. Tropical Medicine and International Health (2016).
- [4] Sangthongjeen S., Sudchumnong A., Naowarat S. (2015) Effect of Educationa Campaign on Transission Model of Conjunctivitis. Australia Journal of Basis and Applied Science 9(7) 811-815.

# Constant-factor approximations for generalizations of the asymmetric Vehicle Routing and Traveling Salesman Problems

Michael Khachay<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Katherine Neznakhina<sup>1,2</sup>, and Yuri Ogorodnikov<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Krasovsky Institute of Mathematics and Mechanics, Ekaterinburg, Russia
<sup>2</sup> Ural Federal University, Ekaterinburg, Russia
<sup>3</sup> Omsk State Technical Univerity, Omsk, Russia
mkhachay@imm.uran.ru, enaznakhina@yandex.ru, yogorodnikov@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Asymmetric TSP; the triangle inequality; constant-factor polynomial time approximation.

The Traveling Salesman Problem (TSP) and Vehicle Routing Problem (VRP) are well-known combinatorial optimization problems having numerous valuable practical applications in operations research. Both problems along with their various modifications and generalizations are strongly NP-hard and remain intractable even in the Euclidean plane.

Although, all these problems are inapproximable as well in the general case, their metric settings defined by edge-weighted (indirected) graphs, whose weights satisfy the triangle inequality, can be approximated efficiently within constant factors, whilst their Euclidean settings admit Polynomial Time Approximation Schemes (PTAS) for any fixed dimension of the underlying space. As a rule, approximation algorithms developed for all these problems are based on the celebrated Christofides-Serdyukov 3/2-approximation algorithm for the metric TSP.

Meanwhile, for the Asymmetric Traveling Salesman Problem (ATSP), the question on polynomial time approximability within a constant ratio remained open for decades.

In this paper, relying on the long-awaited approximation result presented in [1] for the ATSP, we propose novel constant-factor approximation algorithms for several relevant generalizations of the ATSP and Asymmetric VRP.

**Acknowledgments.** This research was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, grants no. 19-07-01243 and 17-08-01385.

#### References

[1] Svensson, O., Tarnawski, J., Végh, L.A.: A constant-factor approximation algorithm for the asymmetric traveling salesman problem. In: Proceedings of the 50th Annual ACM SIGACT Symposium on Theory of Computing. pp. 204–213. STOC 2018, ACM (2018). https://doi.org/10.1145/3188745.3188824, http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/3188745.3188824

# Exact Parameterized Linear-Time Algorithm for K-Means Problem with Optimized Number of Clusters for the 1D Case

Vladimir Khandeev<sup>1,2</sup>, Alexander Kel'manov<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, 4 Koptyug Ave., 630090 Novosibirsk, Russia <sup>2</sup>Novosibirsk State University, 2 Pirogova St., 630090 Novosibirsk, Russia kelm@math.nsc.ru, khan@math.nsc.ru

**Keywords.** Partition, set, one dimensional case, parameterized, optimized number of clusters, exact algorithm, linear-time.

In the well-known [1] clustering K-Means problem, an N-element set  $\mathcal{Y}$  of points in d-dimension Euclidean space and a positive integer K are given. It is required to find a partition of the input set  $\mathcal{Y}$  into K non-empty clusters minimizing the sum over all clusters of the intracluster sums of squared distances between the elements of each cluster and its centroid (geometrical center). K-Means problem is relevant, for example, to statistics, computational geometry, data mining, and data analysis.

It is known that this problem is strongly NP-hard in the general case [2] when the space dimension is a part of the input. But in the one-dimensional case, this problem is polynomially solvable [1]. The running time of the algorithm presented in [1] is linear on K and quadratic on N.

In [3], it was shown that if the input points are ordered, then the problem is solvable in a time that is linear both on K and N. Note that one can obtain the same running time using the approach presented earlier in [4].

Unfortunately, in the case when the number of clusters is optimized, the solution of K-Means problem is trivial, i.e., the number of clusters is equal to the number of points. In this paper, we present a new approach to this case. Namely, we consider some parameterized modification of K-Means problem and propose an algorithm that allows one to find an optimal partition as well as an optimal number of clusters in linear time.

- [1] Rao M. (1971) Cluster Analysis and Mathematical Programming. J. Amer. Stat. Assoc., Vol. 66, pp. 622–626.
- [2] Aloise D., Deshpande A., Hansen P., Popat P. (2009) NP-hardness of Euclidean Sum-of-Squares Clustering. *Mach. Learn.*, Vol. 75, Iss. 2, pp. 245–248.
- [3] Xiaolin Wu. (1991) Optimal quantization by matrix searching. *J. Algorithms*, Vol. 12, Iss. 4, pp. 663–673.
- [4] Gimadutdinov E.Kh. (1969) On the properties of solutions of one location problem of points on a segment. *Controlled systems*, Iss. 2, pp. 77–91. (in Russian)

## Polynomial-Time Approximation Scheme for a Problem of Searching for the Largest Subset

#### Vladimir Khandeev

Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, 4 Koptyug Ave., 630090 Novosibirsk, Russia Novosibirsk State University, 2 Pirogova St., 630090 Novosibirsk, Russia khandeev@math.nsc.ru

**Keywords.** Euclidean space; largest subset; quadratic variation; NP-hard problem; polynomial-time approximation scheme.

In the paper, we consider a problem of searching for the largest subset in a given finite set of points in Euclidean space. The sum of squared distances between the elements of this subset and its unknown centroid (geometrical center) must not exceed a given value, which is defined as percentage of the sum of squared distances between the elements of the input set and its centroid. The problem is relevant, in particular, in Data mining, Data cleaning, Data reduction, statistics. The essence of the problem considered is searching for the largest well-concentrated subset of points.

In [1], it was shown that this problem is strongly NP-hard. In the same paper, a polynomial-time 1/2-approximation algorithm was presented for the problem.

An exact algorithm for the case of integer-valued input points was proposed in [2]. If the space dimension is bounded by some constant, the algorithm runs in a pseudopolynomial time.

In this paper, we improve the result of [1] and propose a polynomial-time algorithm for the problem with relative performance guarantee greater than 1/2. We prove that our algorithm implements a polynomial-time approximation scheme.

- [1] Ageev A., Kel'manov A., Pyatkin A., Khamidullin S., Shenmaier V. (2017) Approximation Polynomial Algorithm for the Data Editing and Data Cleaning Problem. *Pattern Recognition and Image Analysis*, Vol. 17, Iss. 3, pp. 365–370.
- [2] Kel'manov A., Khamidullin S., Khandeev V., Pyatkin A. (2018) Exact Algorithms for Two Quadratic Euclidean Problems of Searching for the Largest Subset and Longest Subsequence. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, Vol. 11353, pp. 326-336.

# On a comparison of several numerical integration methods for ordinary systems of differential equations

A.G. Korotchenko, V.M. Smoryakova

N.I. Lobachevsky State University, Gagarin Av.23, 603950 Nizhni Novgorod, Russia koangr@yandex.ru, smorykov@mail.ru

Keywords. finite difference formulas, integration strategies, optimal strategy

The paper considers the numerical integration methods for ordinary systems of differential equations that have the end of the integration interval undefined a priori but defined during the integration process instead. Moreover, the calculation of right parts of such systems is expensive procedure.

The paper describes a new integration strategy based on implicit fourth order method [1]. The proposed strategy uses the behavior of obtaining solution to control the integration process. Let us remark that at every fixed interval the number of integration nodes selected by the mentioned method is minimal under the limitations defined by the local error occurring as a result of approximation of system derivatives [1]. Denote by  $\alpha_1$  the developed strategy.

In order to evaluate the effectiveness of the proposed strategy  $\alpha_1$  it was compared with ode45 and ode15s methods provided in MATLAB. Below these methods will be called  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  respectively. The compared methods were evaluated using the following criteria. The first criterion is the number N of integration nodes, the second criterion is the number  $N_1$  of right part calculations of the system at the integration interval and the third criterion is the maximum of difference  $\delta$  of exact solution and approximate solution of test (model) problems for each solution component at every integration node. A variety of experiments was carried out on a range of model problems. It was identified that  $\alpha_1$  strategy shows better results (according to criteria mentioned above) on low tolerance. One of model problems used in experiments is a third-order linear system [2]. Results of  $\alpha_1$  were N = 19,  $\delta = 0.02$ ,  $N_1 = 39$ , results of  $\alpha_2 - N = 20$ ,  $\delta = 0.05$ ,  $N_1 = 51$ , results of  $\alpha_3 - N = 57$ ,  $\delta = 0.09$ ,  $N_1 = 81$ .

- [1] Korotchenko A., Smoryakova V. (2016) On a method of construction of numerical integration formulas: AIP Conf. Proc., Numerical Computations: Theory and Algorithms (NUMTA2016), 1776, 090012
- [2] Korotchenko A. G., Lapin A. V. (2001) On an numerical integration algorithm with optimal choice of step:Vestnik of Lobachevsky State University of Nizhni Novgorod, Vol. 24(2), pp. 270–278.

# On Polyhedral Estimates of Reachable Sets of Discrete-Time Systems with Uncertain Matrices and Integral Bounds on Additive Terms

#### Elena K. Kostousova

Krasovskii Institute of Mathematics and Mechanics, UB RAS, 16 S.Kovalevskaya str., Ekaterinburg, 620108, Russia kek@imm.uran.ru

**Keywords.** Discrete-time systems; reachable sets; uncertain matrix; integral constraints; polyhedral estimates.

The reachability problem is one of the fundamental problems of the control theory [1]. Since exact construction of reachable sets is usually a very complicated problem, different numerical methods are developed, in particular, methods based on estimating sets by domains of simple shape such as ellipsoids [1, 2], parallelepipeds [3, 4], which are not too computationally demanding.

The research is devoted to estimating reachable sets of bilinear discrete-time (difference) systems with integral non-quadratic constraints on additive terms, where the bilinearity is caused by uncertainty in coefficients of the system under interval constraints. We present techniques for constructing external and internal polyhedral estimates in the form of parallelepipeds, paralleletopes and special polytopes. The main attention is paid to internal estimates. The approach described in [3] for linear time dependent systems is expanded to the more complicated case of bilinear systems, which have properties of nonlinear ones (in particular, reachable sets can be non-convex). Also we present novel (in comparison with [4]) primary internal estimates for the result of multiplying an interval matrix on a paralleletope. The constructed estimates can be used for obtaining estimates of reachable sets for impulsive differential systems [2].

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, Projects 18-01-00544a and 16-29-04191 ofi\_m.

- [1] Kurzhanski A.B., Varaiya P. (2014) Dynamics and control of trajectory tubes: theory and computation. Birkhäuser, Basel.
- [2] Filippova T.F. (2016) Estimates of reachable sets of impulsive control problems with special nonlinearity. *AIP Conf. Proc.*, Vol. 1773, pp. 100004-1–100004-10.
- [3] Kostousova E.K. (2009) External polyhedral estimates for reachable sets of linear discrete-time systems with integral bounds on controls. *Int. J. Pure Appl. Math.*, Vol. 50, pp. 187–194.
- [4] Kostousova E.K. (2011) On polyhedral estimates for reachable sets of discrete-time systems with bilinear uncertainty. *Automat. Remote Control*, Vol. 72, pp.1841–1851.

### Numerical Investigation Of Natural Rough-Bed Flow

Agostino Lauria, Giancarlo Alfonsi, Domenico Ferraro, Roberto Gaudio

Department of Civil Engineering, University of Calabria Via Bucci 42b, 87036 Rende (Cosenza), Italy agostino.lauria@unical.it, giancarlo.alfonsi@unical.it, domenico.ferraro@unical.it, roberto.gaudio@unical.it

**Keywords.** Gravel bed flow; Large Eddy Simulation; Volume of Fluid.

The turbulent flow in natural rough-bed watercourses is a rather complex phenomenon, still poorely investigated. The majority of the existing works on this subject are of experimental nature, while the numerical ones are mostly related to artificially and regularly roughened beds. In the present work a nu- merical investigation is carried out, in which the fully turbulent flow in an open channel is simulated, where the channel bottom is constituted by natural-pebble layers. In the numerical simulations, the LES approach is used (Large Eddy Sim- ulation), in conjunction with the WALE (Wall-Adapting Local Eddy viscosity [1]) SGS closure model (Sub-Grid Scale) at Reynolds number 46500 and Froude number 0.186. For the simulations, the pebble-bed surface has been captured from the bottom of a laboratory flume with a high-resolution 3D laser scanner, and used to morphologically characterize the bottom of the numerical channel. The Finite-Volume discretized governing equations are solved numerically by means of the InterFOAM solver, embedded in the OpenFOAM C++ libraries. In order to take into account the free-surface dynamics, the VoF (Volume of Fluid) method is used. A CPU-based computational system has been used for the computations. The system included one worker node equipped with two 8- core Intel E5-2640 CPUs (a total of 16 cores/16 threads at 2.0 GHz), 128 GB RAM at 1899 MHz, and 4 TB disk space. The code has been parallelized through the public domain OpemMPI implementation of the standard Message Passing Interface (MPI). The results of the simulations are compared with those ob- tained in a companion experiment [2] mainly in terms of turbulence statistics of different orders, obtaining a rather good agreement. Moreover, the vorticity field has been visualized using the relation between vorticity and Turbulent Kinetic Energy (TKE) dissipation [3].

- [1] Nicoud F., Ducros F. (1999). Subgrid-scale stress modelling based on the square of the velocity gradient tensor. Flow, Turbul. Combust., Vol. 62, pp. 183-200.
- [2] Ferraro D. (2017) Turbulence characteristics in open-channel flows with highly rough beds. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Calabria, Italy.
- [3] Tennekes H., Lumley J.L. (1972) A First Course in Turbulence. The MIT Press.

### Numerical Simulation Of Ski-Jump Hydraulic Behavior

Agostino Lauria, Giancarlo Alfonsi

Fluid Dynamics Laboratory, University of Calabria Via Bucci 42b, 87036 Rende (Cosenza), Italy agostino.lauria@unical.it, giancarlo.alfonsi@unical.it

Keywords. Ski jump, RANS modeling, OpenFOAM toolkit.

The hydraulics of ski jumps is an issue of great importance in dam construction, the former being in practice the only existing solution as related to the dissipation of energy from high-speed spillway flows from large dams. Inspite of the fact that thousands of dams have been built all over the world in the years, and besides the reporting of specific case studies, the general hydraulic behavior of the ski jumps has been scarcely investigated. In the present work, the hydraulic behavior of ski jumps is investigated numerically using the OpenFOAM digital library [1]. A number of skijump cases has been simulated numerically following the RANS (Reynolds Averaged Navier-Stokes equations) approach, using the kappa-omega SST closure model [2] and ther VoF technique (Volume of Fluid) for the tracking of the flow free surface [3]. The numerical procedure appears to be a rather favourable option to overcome the complexities always associated to experimental measurements. Particular attention is given to the forces, to the pressure distribution in the zone of impact of the falling jet, and to the length of the jet itself. The issue of the length of the falling jet is particularly considered, as defined as the distance along the x- direction between the point of maximum dynamic pressure head in the zone of impact of the jet along the centerline of the tailwater channel, and the origin of the reference system. A chart is proposed, reporting the correlation lines (and correspondent formal expressions) between the approach Froude numbers and the lengths of the jets, in the limit of the range of other parameters tested. The chart may serve as a useful tool to determine the length of the jet taking off from the bucket, starting from the value of the approach Froude number.

- [1] Jasak, H. (1996) Error analysis and estimation for the finite volume method with applications to fluid flows. Ph.D. Thesis..Imperial College, London, UK.
- [2] Menter, F.R., Kuntz, M., and Langtry, R. (2003). In Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Turbulence, Heat and Mass Transfer Antalya, (Turkey) October 12-17.
- [3] Hirt, C.W., and Nichols, B.D. (1981) Volume of Fluid (VoF) method for the dynamics of free boundaries. Journal of Computational Physics, Vol. 39, pp. 201-225.

# Approximating the solution set of nonlinear inequalities by using Peano space-filling curves

D. Lera<sup>1</sup>, M.A. Posypkin<sup>2</sup>, Ya.D. Sergeyev<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dipartimento di Matematica e Informatica, University of Cagliari, Italy <sup>2</sup>Dorodnicyn Computing Centre, Federal Research Center "Computer Science and Control" of Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow, Russia

<sup>3</sup>Dipartimento di Ingegneria Informatica, Modellistica, Elettronica e Sistemistica, University of Calabria, Italy - Lobachevsky University of Nizhni Novgorod, Russia lera@unica.it, mposypkin@gmail.com, yaro@dimes.unical.it

**Keywords.** Nonlinear inequalities; space-filling curves approximations; Lipschitz constant.

In this paper we study an algorithm for solving systems of nonlinear inequalities coming from practical applications (see [1,2]) that uses a non-uniform covering approach of the domain, that generates inner and outer approximations of the solution set. In particular, we propose a method that uses one of the mostly abstract mathematical objects, the space-filling curves introduced by Peano in 1890 and independently by Hilbert in 1891 (see [3,4]). The main idea consists of the reduction of the dimension of the initial problem in order to pass from a multivariate problem to a univariate one in which we use the Peano curves to pass from a domain in N dimension to a one-dimensional interval. That is, the proposed method builds a coverage of the domain in N dimensions going to work in the interval  $[0,1] \subset \mathbf{R}$ . Finally, we apply the methods to find the working area of some parallel robots.

Acknowledgements. The research work of D. Lera and Ya. D. Sergeyev (both are members of the INdAM Research group GNCS) was supported by the INdAM/GNCS 2018 Research Project of the Italian National Group for Scientific Computation of the National Institute for Advanced Mathematics F. Severi.

- [1] Evtushenko Y., Posypkin M., Rybak L., Turkin A. (2018) Approximating a Solution Set of Nonlinear Inequalities. *J. Glob. Optim.*, Vol. 71, pp. 129–145.
- [2] Gosselin C.M., Jean M. (1996) Determination of the workspace of planar parallel manipulators with joint limits. *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, Vol. 17, pp. 129–138.
- [3] Lera D., Sergeyev Ya.D. (2015) Deterministic global optimization using space-filling curves and multiple estimates of Lipschitz and Hölder constants. *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, Vol. 23(1-3), pp. 328–342.
- [4] Sergeyev Ya.D, Strongin R.G., Lera D. (2013) Introduction to Global Optimization Exploiting Space-Filling Curves. Springer, New York.

# Numerical simulation of Hyperbolic conservation laws using high Resolution schemes with the indulgence of Fuzzy logic

Ruchika Lochab, Vivek Kumar

Delhi Technological University(Formerly DCE), Shahbad Daulatpur, New Delhi, India rchklchb@gmail.com, vivekkumar.ag@gmail.com

Keywords. Conservation laws; fuzzy logic; limiters.

In this paper we apply some fuzzy operators to reconstruct several higher order numerical methods to solve problems in Hyperbolic Conservation laws including the high resolution total variation diminishing (HR-TVD)methods and some very high order finite volume methods for scalar conservation laws. High resolution methods are significant for hyperbolic conservation laws because of better results as compared to the first generation methods which are in general, least concerned with the initial solution. So, in order to avoid this drawback various strategies have already been given by many researchers like Van Leer, Sweby, Roe etc. In this paper we introduce these high resolution methods using a different approach based upon the optimization of existing high resolution methods using fuzzy logic. Mainly, in our work, we target a few applications using some fuzzy logic features in order to enhance the quality of existing numerical solutions via some standard test problems. Further, we discuss the application of our work by demonstrating the performance of these optimized schemes as compared to the popular numerical schemes in existing literature.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by University Grants Commission(UGC), India.

- [1] Culbert B. Laney (1998) Computational Gasdynamics. Cambridge University Press, New York, 1st Edition.
- [2] Hirsch C. (2007) Numerical Computation of Internal and External Flows: The Fundamentals of Computational Fluid Dynamics. Elsevier, 2nd Edition.
- [3] Breuss M. and Dietrich D. (2009) Fuzzy Logic for Hyperbolic Numerics. In *In B. Mertsching: KI 2009. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence, Vol. 5803, 419-426* (ed. by M. Hund and Z. Aziz.), Springer(Berlin). pp. 10–20.

# General framework for binary nonlinear classification on top samples

Václav Mácha<sup>1</sup>, Lukáš Adam<sup>2,1</sup>, Václav Šmídl<sup>1</sup>

macha@utia.cas.cz, adam@utia.cas.cz, smidl@utia.cas.cz,

**Keywords.** Binary classification; duality; kernels; accuracy at the top; ranking; hypothesis testing.

In our previous work [1], we have proposed a general framework to handle binary linear classification for top samples. Our framework includes ranking problems, accuracy at the top or hypothesis testing. We have summarized known methods, such as [2–4], belonging to this framework and proposed new ones. Note that these methods were either derived in their primal form, or they did not use kernels. This forced a restriction on only linear classifiers.

In this work, we employ the convexity results derived in [1]. For all methods from our framework, we derive their equivalent dual formulation. We utilize their SVM-like structure and incorporate kernels into the dual formulation. This allows us to pass from linear to nonlinear classifiers. We show how to recover the primal solution and classification value for new samples. We propose an effective computation method and perform a numerical analysis showing the efficiency of our framework.

Acknowledgements. This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (Grant No. 18-21409S), by the Program for Guangdong Introducing Innovative and Enterpreneurial Teams (Grant No. 2017ZT07X386) and by the Shenzhen Peacock Plan (Grant No. KQTD2016112514355531).

- [1] Adam L., Mácha V., Šmídl V. and Pevný T. (2019) General framework for binary classification on top samples. *Submitted*.
- [2] Boyd S., Cortes C., Mohri M. and Radovanovic A. (2012) Accuracy at the top. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, pages 953–961.
- [3] Grill M. and Pevný T (2016) Learning combination of anomaly detectors for security domain. *Computer Networks*, 107:55–63.
- [4] Li N., Jin R. and Zhou Z.-H. (2014) Top rank optimization in linear time. In *Proceedings of the 27th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems Volume 1*, NIPS'14, pages 1502–1510, Cambridge, MA, USA, MIT Press.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  Institute of Information Theory and Automation, Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Computer Science and Engineering, Southern University of Science and Technology, Shenzhen, China

# On Faber's type decomposition for minimal spline spaces

#### Anton Makarov

St. Petersburg State University, 7/9 Universitetskaya nab., St. Petersburg, 199034, Russia a.a.makarov@spbu.edu

**Keywords.** Splines; wavelets; nonuniform knots; multiresolution analysis.

Splines and wavelets are widely used in information theory. Wavelet decompositions are connected with developing efficient algorithms for processing (e. g. compressing) huge digital data flows. One of the simplest and the most common processing schemes for such arrays is piecewise linear interpolation on uniform grids. It is well known if this scheme is used as a basis for multiresolution analysis, then it is often referred to as Faber decomposition. Faber decomposition has many attractive features from a computational perspective. It leads to decent compression, it is fast and simple in implementation.

We construct new types of Faber decomposition for spaces of minimal splines constructed on nonuniform grids on segment. The approach is based on development of algorithms of spline wavelet decomposition [1] uses approximation relations as an initial structure for constructing the spaces of minimal splines. These splines [2] as a special case include well known polynomial B-splines and share most properties of B-splines (linear independency, smoothness, nonnegativity, etc.). In the particular case of B-splines this approach (providing a lifting scheme in the general case) leads to constructing either lazy wavelets or wavelets with mixed supports [3]. The advantages of this approach are the possibilities of using nonuniform grids on segment and sufficiently arbitrary nonpolynomial spline wavelets.

- [1] Makarov A.A. (2012) Algorithms of wavelet compression of linear spline spaces. Vestnik St. Petersburg University: Mathematics, Vol. 45, Iss. 2, pp. 82–92.
- [2] Makarov A.A. (2011) Construction of splines of maximal smoothness. *J. Math. Sci.*, Vol. 178, Iss. 6, pp. 589–604.
- [3] Makarov A.A. (2018) On two algorithms of wavelet decomposition for spaces of linear splines. J. Math. Sci., Vol. 232, Iss. 6, pp. 926–937.

# Methodology for interval-valued matrix games with 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic information

Tanya Malhotra<sup>1</sup>, Anjana Gupta<sup>2</sup>, Anjali Singh<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1,2</sup>Delhi Technological University, Shahbad Daulatpur, Main Bawana Road, Delhi 110042, India <sup>3</sup> Jawaharlal Nehru Technological University, Hyderabad 500085, India <sup>1</sup>malhotra.tanya92@gmail.com, <sup>2</sup>anjanagupta@dce.ac.in, <sup>3</sup>anjilko1510@gmail.com

**Keywords.** 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic model; Interval-valued 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic model; Interval-valued linguistic linear programming method.

The 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic model formalized by Herrera and Martinez [1] represents linguistic information via 2-tuple i.e.  $(\ell_i, \alpha_i)$  where  $\ell_i$  belongs to a linguistic term set and  $\alpha_i \in [-0.5, 0.5)$ . Zhang [2] further extended this model to propose intervalvalued 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic (IVTFL) model. There is wide and extensive existing literature based on IVTFL approach and its application in problems of decision-making and other distinct fields. Game theory is one such application area where the fuzzy framework has shown progress and fuzzy linguistic game theory is pristing to deal with uncertainty. In this paper, we consider a non-cooperative 2-player constant sum IVTFL matrix game and develop a method to solve such class of IVTFL matrix game. For this, we have constructed an interval-valued linguistic linear programming (IVLLP) problem which is then transformed into interval linear programming (ILP) problem. Our objective is to obtain a strategy set of IVTFL game problem as the region which is not only completely feasible, but also totally optimal. The hypothetical example further implements the methodology to illustrate the expertise of the proposed method in the real world. Finally, the results are compared with the Best-Worst Case (BWC) method [3], Enhanced-Interval linear programming (EILP) method [3] and intervalvalued linguistic linear programming (IVLLP) method [4].

- [1] Herrera F., Martínez L. (2000) A 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic representation model for computing with words. *IEEE Transactions on fuzzy systems*, Vol. 8, pp. 746–752.
- [2] Zhang H. (2012) The multiattribute group decision making method based on aggregation operators with interval-valued 2-tuple linguistic information. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, Vol. 56, pp. 27–35.
- [3] Allahdadi M., Nehi H. M. (2013) The optimal solution set of the interval linear programming problems. *Optimization Letters*, Vol. 7, pp. 1893–1911.
- [4] Singh A., Gupta A. (2018) Matrix Games with Interval-Valued 2-Tuple Linguistic Information. *Games*, Vol. 9, Doi:10.3390/g9030062.

# Molecular Dynamics Performance Evaluation With Modern Computer Architecture

Filippo Marchetti<sup>1</sup>, Emanuele Breuza<sup>2</sup>, Giorgio Colombo<sup>1</sup>, Daniele Gregori<sup>2</sup>

**Keywords.** Gromacs; High Performance Computing; Molecular Dynamics.

Ligand-based control of protein functional motions can provide fresh opportunities in the study of fundamental biological mechanisms and in the development of novel therapeutics. A prototypical example is represented by integrin avb6, a transmembrane protein with promising anticancer properties. Despite the simplicity of the ligand-based model, fundamental mechanisms that regulate these interactions are poorly understood.

An adequate equipment is mandatory to unravel this scientific challenge, not only through cost savings but also with high-quality results. With this in mind, we performed Molecular Dynamics simulations using the Gromacs package (version 2018.3) on two promising platforms: Cavium ThunderX2 ARM based servers<sup>1</sup> and Shared-memory Intel based single-node machines<sup>2</sup>.

The performance test consisted in a solvated integrin avb6 complex with TGF- $\beta$  peptide using the X-Ray crystal structure [1] for the system preparation. Aforementioned tests were also performed on common Intel based servers<sup>3</sup> as a reference.

Acquired results shown that shared-memory machine is the fastest in our pool, mainly due to the higher clock frequency of its CPU. This being said, performance differences are significantly reduced with the increment of employed resources (i.e. number of sockets). As a matter of fact, ARM and Intel servers turned out to be as fast as Shared-memory machine when more than four sockets are adopted. This can be explained by the fact that Gromacs code does not take full advantage of the absence of network interfaces in the single-node setup.

#### References

[1] Dong X. et al, Structural determinants of integrin  $\beta$ -subunit specificity for latent TGF- $\beta$ , (2014) Nat Struct Mol, doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2905

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> University of Pavia Dep. of Drug Sciences, Viale Taramelli 12-14, 27100 Pavia, Italy <sup>2</sup> E4 computer Engineering, Viale Martiri della Libertà 66 Scandiano 42019, Italy oppilif576@msn.com, emanuele.breuza@e4company.com, g.colombo@unipv.it, daniele.gregori@e4company.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Four servers equipped with two Cavium ThunderX2® CN9980 processor, 256 GB of memory at 2666 MHz and Mellanox ConnectX5 EDR interface.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> One server equipped with eight Intel Xeon® Platinum 8168 and 1.5 TB of memory at 2666 MHz

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Four servers equipped with two Intel Xeon® Gold 6130, 96 GB of memory at 2400 MHz and Mellanox ConnectX5 EDR interface.

# Existence and uniqueness of time-fractional diffusion equation on a star graph

Vaibhav Mehandiratta<sup>1</sup>, Mani Mehra<sup>1</sup>, Günter Leugering<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, IIT Delhi,110016, India <sup>2</sup>Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg (FAU), Germany vaibhavmehandiratta@gmail.com, manimeh@gmail.com, guenter.leugering@fau.de

**Keywords.** Time-fractional diffusion equation; Caputo fractional derivative; Weak solution.

Mathematical modelling in different fields of science and engineering such as processes on the nets of gas pipeline [2], controlled vibrations of networks of strings [1], water wave propagation in open channel networks [4] naturally lead to partial differential equation on graphs. In this paper, we consider a time-fractional diffusion equation on a star graph. We investigated the existence and uniqueness of the weak solution based on eigenfunction expansions [3]. Some priori estimates and regularity results of solution are also proved.

#### Acknowledgements.

The authors acknowledge the support of this work by the Indo-German exchange program "Multiscale Modelling, Simulation and optimization for energy, Advanced Materials and Manufacturing" funded by UGC (India) and DAAD (Germany). At FAU coordination of the program via the "Central Institute for Scientific Computing" is appreciated.

- [1] Leugering G. (2000) On the semi-discretization of optimal control problems for networks of elastic strings:global optimality systems and domain decomposition. J. Comput. Appl. Math., 120:133-157.
- [2] Steinbach M. C. (2007) On PDE solution in transient optimization of gas networks. J. Comput. Appl. Math., 203:345-361.
- [3] Provotorov V.V. (2008) Eigenfunctions of the Sturm-Liouville problem on a star graph. Sbornik:Mathematics, 199(10):1523-1545.
- [4] Yoshioka H., Unami K. and Fujihara M. (2014) Burgers type equation models on connected graphs and their application to open channel hydraulics. http://hdl.handle.net/2433/195771.

## Handling Ill-Conditioning in Some Optimization Problems via Infinity Computing

Marat S. Mukhametzhanov, Dmitri E. Kvasov, Yaroslav D. Sergeyev

University of Calabria, Via Pietro Bucci 42C, 87036 Rende (CS), Italy Lobachevsky State University, Gagarin Av. 23, 603950 Nizhni Novgorod, Russia {m.mukhametzhanov,kvadim,yaro}@dimes.unical.it

**Keywords.** Lipschitz Global optimization; univariate problems; Infinity Computing

This contribution is dedicated to several issues of ill-conditioning in optimization and its handling by using numerical infinities and infinitesimals. First, scaled univariate Lipschitz global optimization problems are considered (see, e.g., [1]). In this case, numerical solution to the scaled problems can lead to incorrect results due to underflows and overflows if the traditional computational architectures are used (see, e.g., [2,3]). Second, ill-conditioning in multidimensional variable metric methods produced by discontinuity in the derivatives is also studied (see, e.g., [4]). It is shown that both the instances of ill-conditioning can be successfully resolved by using the Infinity Computing framework. Experimental results on several classes of test problems taken from the literature using a software simulator of the Infinity Computer confirm that the proposed techniques can be successfully used in practice.

#### Acknowledgements.

The work of M.S. Mukhametzhanov was supported by the INdAM-GNCS funding "Giovani Ricercatori 2018-2019".

- [1] Sergeyev Ya.D., Mukhametzhanov M.S., Kvasov D.E. and Lera D. (2016) Derivative-free local tuning and local improvement techniques embedded in the univariate global optimization. *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, Vol. 171(1), 186 208.
- [2] Sergeyev Ya.D., Kvasov D.E. and Mukhametzhanov M.S. (2018) On strong homogeneity of a class of global optimization algorithms working with infinite and infinitesimal scales. *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, Vol. 59, 319–330.
- [3] Kvasov D.E., Mukhametzhanov M.S. and Sergeyev Ya.D. (2019) Ill-conditioning provoked by scaling in univariate global optimization and its handling on the infinity computer. *AIP Conference Proceedings*, Vol. 2070(020011).
- [4] Gaudioso M., Giallombardo G. and Mukhametzhanov M.S. (2018) Numerical infinitesimals in a variable metric method for convex nonsmooth optimization. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, Vol. 318, 312–320.

## On the Exact Higher Order Differentiation Techniques on the Infinity Computer

Marat S. Mukhametzhanov, Dmitri E. Kvasov, Yaroslav D. Sergeyev

University of Calabria, Via Pietro Bucci 42C, 87036 Rende (CS), Italy Lobachevsky State University, Gagarin Av. 23, 603950 Nizhni Novgorod, Russia {m.mukhametzhanov,kvadim,yaro}@dimes.unical.it

**Keywords.** Numerical differentiation; High-Precision Computing; Infinity Computing

In this contribution, several techniques of the exact higher order numerical differentiation are presented for the Infinity Computer – a new type of a supercomputer that is able to work numerically with finite, infinite and infinitesimal numbers in a unique framework (see the patents [1] and the detailed description of the methodology in [2]). The objective function is considered to be given as a computational procedure unknown to the user, i.e., given as a "black-box" (see, e.g., [3]). Then, techniques for the exact differentiation of the function of interest given implicitly as a solution to an ordinary differential equation are also presented (see, e.g., [4]). It should be noted that the presented techniques are numerical and not symbolic giving so the possibility to calculate exactly the higher order derivatives using floating-point numbers. Moreover, it is shown that the presented techniques are efficient and much simpler and faster than symbolic ones.

#### Acknowledgements.

The work of M.S. Mukhametzhanov was supported by the INdAM-GNCS funding "Giovani Ricercatori 2018-2019".

- [1] Sergeyev Ya.D. Computer system for storing infinite, infinitesimal, and finite quantities and executing arithmetical operations with them: EU patent 1728149; RF Patent 2395111; USA patent 7,860,914.
- [2] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4(2), 219–320.
- [3] Sergeyev Ya.D., Mukhametzhanov M.S., Mazzia F., Iavernaro F. and Amodio P. (2016) Numerical Methods for Solving Initial Value Problems on the Infinity Computer. *International Journal of Unconventional Computing*, Vol. 12(1), 3-23.
- [4] Amodio P., Iavernaro F., Mazzia F., Mukhametzhanov M.S. and Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) A generalized Taylor method of order three for the solution of initial value problems in standard and infinity floating-point arithmetic. *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation*, Vol. 141, 24 39.

# Set-membership computation of integrals with uncertain endpoints

Olivier Mullier, Julien Alexandre dit Sandretto

ENSTA ParisTech, 828 bd des maréchaux 91120 Palaiseau, France mullier@ensta.fr, alexandre@ensta.fr

**Keywords.** Integral; Set-membership Computation; Interval Methods.

Numerical integration is one of the fundamental tool of scientific computation. Providing a reliable result to such problem is important for validated simulation [1] or for global optimization with continuous objective function [2]. An important work on inclusion methods for integral equations can be found in [3]. We propose an efficient **guaranteed** method for the computation of the **integral** of a nonlinear continuous function f between two **interval endpoints**  $[x_1]$  and  $[x_2]$ , define by:

$$\int_{[x_1]}^{[x_2]} f(x)dx = \left\{ \int_{x_1}^{x_2} f(x)dx : x_1 \in [x_1], x_2 \in [x_2] \right\}$$
 (1)

Two cases can occur whether the intervals  $[x_1]$  and  $[x_2]$  intersect or not. If the two intervals do not intersect, we produce an outer approximation of the set of possible values for the integral proving the following proposed theorem:

**Theorem 1.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a differentiable function. For  $[x_1] = [\underline{x_1}, \overline{x_1}]$  and  $[x_2] = [\underline{x_2}, \overline{x_2}]$  two intervals in  $\mathbb{IR}$ . Then the minimum and the maximum of set (1) can be defined by

$$\int_{[x_1]}^{[x_2]} f(x)dx = \left[ \min \int_{\mathcal{X}_{1-}^* \cup \{\overline{x_1}\}}^{\mathcal{X}_{2+}^* \cup \{\underline{x_2}\}} f(x)dx, \max \int_{\mathcal{X}_{1+}^* \cup \{\overline{x_1}\}}^{\mathcal{X}_{2-}^* \cup \{\underline{x_2}\}} f(x)dx \right]$$
(2)

usinq

$$\mathcal{X}_{i-}^* = \{x \in [x_i] : f(x) = 0, f'(x) < 0\}, \ \mathcal{X}_{i+}^* = \{x \in [x_i] : f(x) = 0, f'(x) > 0\}.$$

When the two intervals intersect, Second Fundamental Theorem of Calculus is applied. An implementation of the computation of the bounds (2) is introduced using interval analysis [4] and tested on several examples.

- [1] Alexandre dit Sandretto, J. and Chapoutot, A. (2016) Validated Explicit and Implicit Runge-Kutta Methods. Reliable Computing.
- [2] Hansen, Eldon R. (2003) Global Optimization Using Interval Analysis. CRC Press.
- [3] Corliss, G. (1987) Computing narrow inclusions for definite integrals. Computer-arithmetic (eds. E. Kaucher et al.), pp. 150—179. Wiley-Teubner, Stuttgart.
- [4] Moore, Ramon E. (1966) Interval analysis. Prentice-Hall Englewood Cliffs, NJ.

## On Acceleration of Derivative-Free Univariate Lipschitz Global Optimization Methods

Maria Chiara Nasso<sup>1</sup>, Dmitri E. Kvasov<sup>1,2</sup>, Marat S. Mukhametzhanov<sup>1,2</sup>, Yaroslav D. Sergeyev<sup>1,2</sup>

University of Calabria, Via Pietro Bucci 42C, 87036 Rende (CS), Italy
 Lobachevsky State University, Gagarin Av. 23, 603950 Nizhni Novgorod, Russia {mc.nasso,kvadim,m.mukhametzhanov,yaro}@dimes.unical.it

**Keywords.** Lipschitz Global optimization; univariate problems; derivative-free optimization

In this contribution, univariate box-constrained global optimization problems, where the objective function is supposed to be Lipschitz continuous and multiextremal on the search interval are considered (see, e.g., [1]). It is supposed also that the analytical representation of the objective function is unknown, i.e., it is given as a "black-box", and even one its evaluation is a computationally expensive procedure (see, e.g., [2]). Geometric and information statistical frameworks for construction of global optimization algorithms are discussed (see, e.g., [3,4]). Several powerful acceleration techniques are briefly described. Numerical experiments on broad classes of test problems taken from the literature show advantages of the presented techniques with respect to its direct competitors.

#### Acknowledgements.

The work of M.S. Mukhametzhanov was supported by the INdAM-GNCS funding "Giovani Ricercatori 2018-2019".

- [1] Kvasov D.E., Sergeyev Ya.D. (2012) Univariate geometric Lipschitz global optimization algorithms. *Numerical Algebra, Control and Optimization*, Vol. 2(1), 69–90.
- [2] Sergeyev Ya.D., Kvasov D.E. and Mukhametzhanov M.S. (2018) On the efficiency of nature-inspired metaheuristics in expensive global optimization with limited budget. *Nature Scientific Reports*, Vol. 8, n. 453.
- [3] Sergeyev Ya.D., Kvasov D.E. and Mukhametzhanov M.S. (2018) On strong homogeneity of a class of global optimization algorithms working with infinite and infinitesimal scales. *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, Vol. 59, 319–330.
- [4] Sergeyev Ya.D., Mukhametzhanov M.S., Kvasov D.E. and Lera D. (2016) Derivative-free local tuning and local improvement techniques embedded in the univariate global optimization. *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, Vol. 171(1), 186 208.

# On simplicial distances with a view to applications in statistics

Emily O'Riordan, Jonathan Gillard, Anatoly Zhigljavsky

Mathematics Institute, Cardiff University, CF24 4AG, UK oriordane1@cardiff.ac.uk, gillardjw@cardiff.ac.uk, zhigljavskyaa@cardiff.ac.uk

Keywords. Cluster analysis, Mahalanobis distance, Large dimension

The authors of [1] have introduced the following family of the so-called 'simplicial outlyingness functions' computed for a sample  $X_N$  of d-dimensional data:

$$O_k(x) = \frac{1}{k} \left\{ e_k \left[ \Lambda \left( \Sigma_N + (x - a)(x - a)^T \right) \right] - e_k \left[ \Lambda \left( \Sigma_N \right) \right] \right\}$$

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , k = 1, 2, ..., d,  $\Sigma_N$  is an empirical covariance matrix constructed from the sample  $X_N$ ,  $\Lambda(A)$  is a set of eigenvalues of a symmetric matrix A, a is the sample mean (which can be assumed to be zero) and  $e_k$  (k = 1, 2, ..., d) is a symmetric functions of order k. The k-th order simplicial Mahalanobis distance between  $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^d$  relative to the given sample is then  $O_k(z_1 - z_2)$ .

As shown in [1], the simplicial Mahalanobis distance is proportional to the sum of squared volumes of all simplices formed by vector x and all k-tuples of the sample  $X_N$ . If k = 1 then  $O_k(z_1 - z_2)$  is the standard Euclidean distance but  $O_d(z_1 - z_2)$  turns into the Mahalanobis distance between  $z_1$  and  $z_2$ .

As is well-known, the Mahalanobis distance is one of the key tools in applied statistics. However, it cannot be used when the data is degenerate; that is, lies very close to a lower-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We will demonstrate that in such situations the simplicial distance with an appropriate choice of k would be a very good substitute for the Mahalanobis distance.

Applications in classification and cluster-analysis problems are given.

#### References

[1] Pronzato, L., Wynn, H. P., Zhigljavsky, A. A. (2018). Simplicial variances, potentials and Mahalanobis distances. *Journal of Multivariate Analysis*, 168, 276-289.

## Parallel Algorithms for Convex Mixed-Integer Nonlinear Optimization

Prashant Palkar, Meenarli Sharma, Ashutosh Mahajan

Indian Institute of Technology Bombay, Powai, Mumbai (MH) 400076, India prashant.palkar@iitb.ac.in, meenarli@iitb.ac.in, amahajan@iitb.ac.in

**Keywords.** shared-memory parallel; branch-and-cut; convex MINLP

Exact algorithms for solving convex mixed-integer nonlinear programs (MINLPs) [1] are based on branch-and-bound. We implement parallel extensions of two such algorithms in a multi-threaded shared-memory architecture. First is the nonlinear programming (NLP) based branch-and-bound. Here, multiple threads of our process solve different NLP subproblems of the tree in parallel. We also develop a parallel extension of the LP/NLP based branch-and-bound [1]. This algorithm creates a mixed-integer linear programming (MILP) relaxation of the original MINLP using linear outer approximation of the nonlinear constraints and objective function. Multiple threads in our implementation solve different LP subproblems of the tree in parallel. Both these algorithms are available in the open-source MINLP toolkit, MINOTAUR [2].

We briefly describe subroutines critical for parallel versions of these algorithms: branching, node-selection, cut generation, warm-starting and heuristics. Since these techniques rely on information collected at various stages of the algorithm, we need to effectively share the updated information across all threads. While some information like globally-valid cuts, pseudo-cost scores for branching and the incumbent solution are useful globally, other information like updated bounds, presolve information etc. are only locally useful. A parallel version of reliability brancher is presented. Effective tree search strategies and heuristics that run in parallel are tested under various settings on the MINLP Library. MILP solvers that exploit parallelism can be used in a third algorithm called outer-approximation (OA). We compare the empirical performance of OA using a multi-threaded MILP solver as a black-box to the LP/NLP algorithm using multithreaded single tree search.

- [1] Belotti P., Kirches C., Leyffer S., Linderoth J., Luedtke J., and Mahajan A. (2013) Mixed-integer nonlinear optimization. *Acta Numerica*, 22, pp. 1–131.
- [2] Mahajan A., Leyffer S., Linderoth J., Luedtke J., Munson T. (2017) Minotaur: A mixed-integer nonlinear optimization toolkit. *Optimization Online*, 6275.
- [3] Quesada I., Grossmann I.E. (1992) An LP/NLP based branch and bound algorithm for convex MINLP optimization problems. Computers & chemical engineering, 1;16(10-11):937-47.

### An Approximation Polynomial-Time Algorithm for One Hard-to-Solve Weighted 2-Partitioning Problem of a Sequence

Anna Panasenko<sup>1,2</sup>, Alexander Kel'manov<sup>1,2</sup>, Sergey Khamidullin<sup>1</sup>

Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, 4 Koptyug Ave., 630090 Novosibirsk, Russia Novosibirsk State University, 2 Pirogova St., 630090 Novosibirsk, Russia a.v.panasenko@math.nsc.ru, kelm@math.nsc.ru, kham@math.nsc.ru

**Keywords.** Euclidean space; sequence of points; weighted 2-partition; quadratic variation; NP-hard problem; approximation algorithm; polynomial time.

We consider a problem of 2-partitioning a finite sequence of points in Euclidean space into clusters of the given sizes with some constraints. The solution criterion is the minimum of the sum of weighted intracluster sums of squared distances between the elements of each cluster and its center. The weight of the intracluster sum is equal to the cluster size. The center of one cluster is given as input (is the origin without loss of generality), while the center of the other one is unknown and is determined as a geometric center. The following constraints hold: the difference between the indices of two subsequent points included in the first cluster is bounded from above and below by some given constants.

This problem has been studied only without additional constraints earlier. The strong NP-hardness of the problem without additional constraints was shown in [1]. There have been presented some algorithmic results too (see, [2], [3] and references therein). Unfortunately, these results can not be applied for the considered problem that is important, in particular, in data analysis and data mining, when the data having in the hands is a time series.

In this paper, we have shown that the considered problem is the strongly NP-hard one and propose a polynomial-time 2-approximation algorithm for solving the problem.

- [1] Kel'manov A.V., Pyatkin A.V. (2015) NP-Hardness of Some Quadratic Euclidean 2-clustering Problems. *Doklady Mathematics*, Vol. 92 (2), pp. 634–637.
- [2] Kel'manov A. V., Motkova A. V. (2018) Polynomial-Time Approximation Algorithm for the Problem of Cardinality-Weighted Variance-Based 2-clustering with a Given Center. *Comp.Math. and Math.Phys.*, Vol. 58(1), pp. 130–136.
- [3] Kel'manov A., Khandeev V., Panasenko A. (2018) Randomized Algorithms for Some Clustering Problems. *CCIS*, Vol. 871, pp. 109–119.

### Finding Multiple Solutions to a Class of *p*-Laplace Problems Using Newton's Method

Suchismita Patra, V.V.K Srinivas Kumar

Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi, India suchismitapatra22@gmail.com, vvksrini@maths.iitd.ac.in

**Keywords.** Saddle points; *p*-Laplacian; Newton's method; Finite element method.

Classical critical point theory and traditional numerical methods mainly concern about finding local extrema. The critical points which are not local extrema called saddle points, which appears as unstable local equilibria or transient excited states in physical systems. Due to the unstable nature of saddle points, it is very difficult to compute them numerically in a stable way. The classical minimax principle characterizes saddle points as solutions to the two-level global minimax problem which is not useful for numerical implementation. Yao and Zhou [2] establish a local minimax characterization of saddle points and developed a numerical minimax method to solve quasi-linear elliptic PDE with the p-Laplace operator.

The Local Minimax method is a gradient type method, provides the first-order accuracy. If the corresponding energy functional  $J \in C^2(W_0^{1,p}(\Omega), \mathbb{R})$ , it is quite obvious to use Newton's method to speed up the convergence. However, for  $p \neq 2$ ,  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  is not isomorphic to its dual  $W^{-1,q}(\Omega)$ , as a consequence any critical point of J is degenerate in the classical sense. Hence, Newton's method can not apply directly. Therefore, we use Morse theory for Banach space [1] to overcome this degeneracy problem. Then we have used Newton's method together with the finite element method to solve the p-Laplace problem numerically.

- [1] Cingolani S., Vannella G. (2007) Marino-Prodi perturbation type results and Morse indices of minimax critical points for a class of functionals in Banach spaces, *Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata*, Vol. 186 (1), pp. 155–183.
- [2] Yao X., Zhou J. (2005) A minimax method for finding multiple critical points in Banach spaces and its application to quasi-linear elliptic PDE, SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, Vol. 26 (5), pp. 1796–1809.

### An enhanced BASBL solver for bilevel problems

Remigijus Paulavičius<sup>1</sup>, Claire S. Adjiman<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Vilnius University, Institute of Data Science and Digital Technologies, Lithuania <sup>2</sup>Imperial College London, Centre for Process Systems Engineering, UK remigijus.paulavicius@mii.vu.lt, c.adjiman@imperial.ac.uk

**Keywords.** Bilevel programming; Global optimization; Optimization software; BASBL solver; BASBLib.

Bilevel programming problems (BPP) are a class of very challenging optimization problems arising in many important practical applications, including transportation, pricing mechanisms, airline and telecommunication industry, chemical and civil engineering, machine learning, etc. The numerous various applications of bilevel programming problems provide a strong incentive for developing efficient solvers for this large class of problems. While (BPP) has been studied for a long time, the currently available software codes are mainly limited to special subclasses.

To address this, we present the most recent implementation of the Branch-And-Sandwich BiLevel solver (BASBL) capable of handling very general (BPP) problems. The BASBL solver is implemented within the open-source MINOTAUR (http://wiki.mcs.anl.gov/minotaur) toolkit and is based on the deterministic global optimization Branch-and-Sandwich algorithm introduced in [1,2], and extended in [3]. The performance of BASBL has been investigated with a detailed numerical study using the bilevel test problems from BASBLib (http://basblsolver.github.io/BASBLib/), and problems derived from practical applications using various algorithmic options. The results demonstrate the promising performance of BASBL.

The further BASBL developments, along with the possible directions, are summarized at the end of the talk.

**Acknowledgements.** The research work of R. Paulavičius was funded by a Grant (No. S-MIP-17-67) from the Research Council of Lithuania

- [1] Kleniati P.-M. and Adjiman C. S. (2014) Branch-and-Sandwich: a deterministic global optimization algorithm for optimistic bilevel programming problems. Part I: Theoretical development, *Journal of Global Optimization* 60, pp. 425–458.
- [2] Kleniati P.-M. and Adjiman C. S. (2014) Branch-and-Sandwich: a deterministic global optimization algorithm for optimistic bilevel programming problems. Part II: Convergence analysis and numerical results, *Journal of Global Optimization* 60, pp. 459–481.
- [3] Paulavicius R. and Adjiman C. S. (2019) New bounding schemes and algorithmic options for the Branch-and-Sandwich algorithm. Submitted.

### Delay-dependent on Robust Exponential Stability Analysis and $H_{\infty}$ Performance for Uncertain Neutral Time-varying Delays Systems

#### Sirada Pinjai

Department of Mathematics, Rajamangala University of Technology Lanna, Chiang Mai 50300, Thailand sirada@rmutl.ac.th

**Keywords.** Exponential stability;  $H_{\infty}$  performance; Time-varying delay; Neutral system.

The delay-dependent problems on robust exponential stability and the  $H_{\infty}$  performance for the uncertain neutral systems with time-varying delays is focused in this paper. By constructing a suitable augmented Lyapunov-krasovskii functional with quadruple integral terms. Combined the integral inequalities and the free weight matrices techniques, some delay-dependent exponential stability criteria and a prescribed performance index of  $H_{\infty}$  performance are yielded inform linear matrix inequality (LMIs). The numerical examples are finally shown the efficiency of the proposes method over some previous literature.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by Department of Mathematics, Rajamangala University of Technology Lanna, Chiang Mai, Thailand.

- [1] He Y., Ji Meng-Di, Zhang Chuan-Ke, Wu M. (2016) Global exponential stability of neural networks with time-varying delay based on free-matrix-based integral inequality. *Neural Networks*, Vol. 77, pp. 80–86.
- [2] Hua M., Yao F., Cheng P., Fei J., Ni J. (2017) Delay-dependent  $L_2-L_{\infty}$  filtering for fuzzy neutral stochastic time-varying systems. Signal Processing, Vol. 137, pp. 98–108.
- [3] Kwan O.M., Park J.H., Lee S.M., Cha E.J. (2014) New augmented Lyapunove-Krasovskii functional approach to stability analysis of neural networks with time-varying delays. *Nonlinear Dyn.*, Vol. 72, pp. 221–236.
- [4] Raja R., Zhu Q., Senthilrah S., Samidurai R. (2015) Improved stability analysis of uncertain neutral type neural networks with leakage delays and impulsive effects. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, Vol. 266, pp. 1050–1069.

### Epidemic spreading curing strategy over directed networks

Clara Pizzuti, Annalisa Socievole

National Research Council of Italy (CNR), Institute for High Performance Computing and Networking (ICAR), Via Pietro Bucci, 8-9C, 87036 Rende (CS), Italy clara.pizzuti@icar.cnr.it, annalisa.socievole@icar.cnr.it

**Keywords.** Epidemic spreading; NIMFA model; directed networks; genetic algorithms.

The diffusion of viruses within networks or among people has always attracted a lot of attention in many different research fields such as computer science, physics, medicine, and biology. The development of policies to control the epidemic spreading is a crucial problem. Epidemic models represent the network subject to the virus spreading with a graph where nodes are the individuals and the edges the direction of the infection from an infected individual to a susceptible one. One of the most popular epidemic models is the Susceptible-Infected-Susceptible (SIS) where a node can be either in the susceptible state S, in which it can contract the infection, or the infectious state I, in which it is infected. It is assumed that an individual can be reinfected, thus repeating the transition states  $S \to I \to S$  eventually forever. In general, when controlling the evolution of epidemics, the network resources are limited. Thus, a challenging problem is the research of an optimal curing policy able to suppress the epidemic. In [1], we proposed a constrained Genetic Algorithm's based method to find a minimal-cost curing strategy over a weighted and directed network able to suppress the epidemic spreading by exploiting the N-Intertwined Mean-Field Approximation (NIMFA) of the SIS spreading process, introduced by [2]. Specifically, we focused on a heterogeneous setting where each node has its own curing rate and cost, and each node infects the other with a particular infection rate.

In this paper we consider the formulation of the optimization problem for directed weighted networks and extend the GA method to deal with not symmetric adjacency matrices that are diagonally symmetrizable.

- [1] Pizzuti C, Socievole A (2018) A genetic algorithm for finding an optimal curing strategy for epidemic spreading in weighted networks. In: Proceedings of the Genetic and Evolutionary Computation Conference, GECCO 2018, Kyoto, Japan, July 15-19, 2018, pp 498–504.
- [2] Van Mieghem P, Omic J, Kooij R (2009) Virus spread in networks. IEEE/ACM Trans Netw 17(1):1–14.

# The singular value decomposition of the operator of the dynamic ray transform acting on 2D vector fields

Anna P. Polyakova<sup>1</sup>, Bernadette N. Hahn<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, Novosibirsk, Russia <sup>2</sup>University of Wurtzburg, Wurtzburg, Germany anna.polyakova@ngs.ru, bernadette.hahn@mathematik.uni-wuerzburg.de

**Keywords.** Dynamic ray transform; singular value decomposition; vector field.

An inverse problem is called dynamic if the investigated object changes during the measuring process. Most reconstruction methods are based on the supposition that the object is static during the data collection. Therefore, an application of standard techniques in the dynamic case causes serious motion artefacts in the reconstructed image. So novel method in the case must take into account the constant changes of the object.

The position of the x-ray source is described by unit vector  $\theta = (\cos(t\phi), \sin(t\phi))^T \in S^1$ , which can be uniquely described by a time instance t and the rotation angel of the source  $\phi$ . Also we consider dynamic setting with two-dimensional affine deformations. [1]

To construct singular value decomposition of the dynamic ray transform operator it is needed to choose an orthonormal system of vector fields in the initial space. For this aim we suggest to use harmonic and Jacobi polynomials. It is shown, that corresponding system of functions in the image space are constructed using harmonic and Gegenbauer polynomials. [2,3]

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by RFBR and DFG according to the research project 19-51-12008.

- [1] Hahn B. (2016) Null space and resolution in dynamic computerized tomography. *Inverse Problems*, Vol. 32, art. no. 025006.
- [2] Svetov I.E., Polyakova A.P. (2013) Comparison of two algorithms for the numerical solution of the two-dimensional vector tomography. Siberian Electronic Mathematical Reports, Vol. 10, pp 90-108.
- [3] Derevtsov E.Yu., Efimov A.V., Louis A.K., Schuster T. (2011) Singular value decomposition and its application to numerical inversion for ray transforms in 2D vector tomography. *Journal of Inverse and Ill-Posed Problems* Vol. 19, pp 689–715.

# Numerical investigation into a combined ecologically pure plasma-vortex generator of hydrogen and thermal energy

Denis Porfiriev<sup>1</sup>, Svetlana Kurushina<sup>1</sup>, Nonna Molevich<sup>2</sup>, Igor Zavershinsky<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Samara University, Moskovskoe shosse 34, Samara 443086, Russia <sup>2</sup>Lebedev Physical Institute (Samara Branch), Novo-Sadovaya 221, Samara 443011, Russia dporfirev@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Swirling flow; numerical simulation; plasma-chemical reactions; plasma-vortex reactor.

One of the promising approaches in clean energy is hydrogen production using the hydration reaction of a metal micropowder, stimulated by plasma formations. The potential of that methodology, such as high thermal energy excess rates, hydrogen cost values close to the best world level, was demonstrated in [1]. However, industrial production of plasma-vortex reactors requires interdisciplinary optimization both mechanical and thermodynamic parameters of setup.

In present work, we carried out a series of numerical simulations of the turbulent three-dimensional swirling flow in plasma-vortex reactor to provide further insights into use of such apparatus. The modelling has demonstrated that desirable behavior with heat transferred mostly downstream can be ensured by use of pipe-like electrode placed downstream from cylindrical one. Pressure forces, occurring in such case, draw out the hot gas towards the exit nozzle. At the next step, we used exact experimental geometry and flow composition. Using optimized electrode system and simplified kinetic scheme of plasma-chemical reactions, we tested several operating modes of the PVR and obtained time dependent flow characteristics, which, in turn, will be used for further adjustment of the scheme and overall apparatus.

#### Acknowledgements.

The study was supported by The Ministry of education and science of Russia through Competitiveness Enhancement Program 2013-2020, by State assignment to educational and research institutions through projects 102, 608.

#### References

[1] Klimov A., Bityurin V., Grigorenko A., Kutlaliev V., Moralev I., Tolkunov B., Tsymbal A. (2009) Plasma assisted combustion of heterogeneous fuel in high-speed airflow. In Proceedings of the 47th AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting including the New Horizons Forum and Aerospace Exposition, Orlando, FL, United States, Article number 2009-1411.

### A massively parallel Lipschitzian global optimizer

Mikhail Posypkin<sup>1</sup>, Alexei Gorbunov<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Moscow State University, Moscow, Leninskie gory, 1, Russia,
<sup>2</sup>Dorodnicyn Computing Centre, FRC CSC RAS, Moscow, Vavilova 44, Russia mposypkin@gmail.com, aleksey.gorbunov.97@gmail.com

**Keywords.** global optimization; high-performance computing; Lipschitz constant; performance comparison.

Lipschitzian global optimization is a promising and well-elaborated research area [1–5]. However, like any other deterministic global optimization techniques, it suffers from high computational complexity. Using high performance computing methods can significantly mitigate this issue. We propose an algorithm for massively parallel systems, e.g. many-core or GPU devices. The idea is to offload Lipschitzian constant estimation to a device and combine it with an incumbent value calculation. The estimation is done on a rectangular mesh making it highly suitable for massively parallel computations. We study the performance of the proposed approach on a number of benchmark problems and compare it with other state-of-the-art global optimization algorithms.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Russian Fund for Basic Research, project 19-01-00666.

- [1] Strongin, R. G., Sergeyev, Y.D. (2013). Global optimization with non-convex constraints: Sequential and parallel algorithms (Vol. 45). Springer Science & Business Media.
- [2] Sergeyev, Y.D., Kvasov, D.E. (2006). Global search based on efficient diagonal partitions and a set of Lipschitz constants. SIAM Journal on Optimization, 16(3), 910-937.
- [3] Paulavicius, R., Zilinskas, J. (2014). Simplicial global optimization (p. 1). New York: Springer.
- [4] Gergel, V., Grishagin, V., Israfilov, R. (2015). Local tuning in nested scheme of global optimization. Procedia Computer Science, 51, 865-874.
- [5] Pinter, J. D. (2013). Global optimization in action: continuous and Lipschitz optimization: algorithms, implementations and applications (Vol. 6). Springer Science & Business Media.

# Computer modeling of electrochemical impedance spectra for defected phospholipid membranes: finite element analysis

Tomas Raila<sup>1</sup>, Tadas Meškauskas<sup>1</sup>, Gintaras Valinčius<sup>2</sup>, Marija Jankunec<sup>2</sup>, Tadas Penkauskas<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Computer Science, Vilnius University, Lithuania <sup>2</sup> Life Sciences Center, Vilnius University, Lithuania tomas.raila@mif.vu.lt

**Keywords.** Finite element analysis; computer modeling; electrochemical impedance; phospholipid membranes.

Tethered bilayer lipid membranes (tBLM) are popular experimental platforms for studying protein-membrane interactions. One of alternating current (AC) techniques used to assess dielectric properties of such membranes is electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (EIS). While this method is useful for determining macroscopic properties of bilayers, it provides no direct information on structural properties of membranes containing defects. Such cases often require more complex microscopy techniques, such as atomic force microscopy (AFM).

The goal of this study was to investigate the relation between EIS spectral features and structural properties of defected membranes. We applied finite element analysis (FEA) technique to model EIS spectra for various defect distributions [1]. Three-dimensional membrane models were implemented and solved with COMSOL Multiphysics FEA software.

Both experimentally registered by AFM and computer-generated defect distributions of varying density and defect size were used in modeling. Comparison of modeled EIS spectra for heterogeneus defect distributions and analytical EIS solutions of homogeneous distributions indicated only quantitative differences between the two approaches. EIS spectra modeled with experimentally registered defects and computer-generated distributions of equivalent density exhibited discrepancies in cases of defect clusters present in experimental data. Comparing experimentally measured EIS spectra of real membranes with modeled spectra revealed significant correlation between EIS spectral features of both datasets.

#### References

[1] Raila T., Penkauskas T., Jankunec M., Dreižas G., Meškauskas T., Valinčius G. (2019). Electrochemical impedance of randomly distributed defects in tethered phospholipid bilayers: Finite element analysis. Electrochimica acta. 2019, vol. 299, p. 863-874.

### Improved less conservative stability criteria for stochastic uncertain discrete-time neural networks with mixed delays and an impulse

Raja Ramachandran <sup>1</sup>, Bundit Unyong <sup>2</sup>, Grienggrai Rajchakit <sup>3</sup> Anbalagan Pratap <sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Ramanujan Centre for Higher Mathematics, Alagappa University, Karaikudi-630 004, India
<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, Phuket Rajabhat University, Phuket, Thailand 83000

**Keywords.** Stochastic discrete-time recurrent neural networks; Leakage time varying delays; Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional; Global asymptotic stability; Impulses.

In this paper, we deal with the stability analysis problem for stochastic impulsive discrete-time recurrent neural networks with both time-varying discrete delays and time-varying leakage delays. By utilizing the linear matrix inequality method, stochastic analysis approach and a well-known inequality of Jenson, a new Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional is constructed to derive the global exponential stability in the mean square for the addressed recurrent neural networks with stochastic perturbations and impulsive disturbance. Moreover, the results are compared with some existing works in the literature and it shows the less conservatives of our system. The derived exponential stability criteria are made dependent on both the time-varying delays and the leakage delays, and are therefore it is less conservative than the delay independent criteria of traditional discrete-time neural network model. In addition to that, numerical examples with computer simulations are presented to illustrate the usefulness and effectiveness of the proposed theoretical results.

**Acknowledgements.** The article has been written with the joint financial support of RUSA-Phase 2.0 grant sanctioned vide letter No.F 24-51/2014-U, Policy (TN Multi-Gen), Dept. of Edn. Govt. of India, Dt 09.10.2018, UGC-SAP (DRS-I) vide letter No.F.510/8/DRS-I/2016(SAP-I) dated 23.08.2016 and DST (FIST- Phase I) vide letter No.SR/FIST/MS-I/2018-17 dated 20.12.2018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Maejo University, Chiang Mai, Thailand. <sup>4</sup> Department of Mathematics, Alagappa University, Karaikudi-630 004, India. rajarchm2012@gmail.com, bunditun@gmail.com, griengkrai@yahoo.com, kapmaths06@gmail.com

### A system of p-Laplacian equations on the Sierpiński gasket

Abhilash Sahu, Amit Priyadarshi

Indian Institute of Technology Delhi, Hauz Khas, New Delhi-110016, India sahurikuabhilash@gmail.com, priyadarshi@maths.iitd.ac.in

**Keywords.** Sierpinski gasket; p-Laplacian; weak solutions; p-energy; system of equations.

Differential equations on fractals is an active area of research for the past few decades. Problems on fractal domains lead to nonlinear models, for example, reaction-diffusion equations, problems on elastic fractal media or fluid flow through fractal regions. Earlier many researchers have studied Laplacian equations on fractal domains, but there is not much literature on p-Laplacian equations on fractals due to some difficulties in handling these equations. So, we are interested in studying p-Laplacian equations on fractals.

We have studied following system of equations on the Sierpiński gasket.

$$-\Delta_{p}u = \lambda a(x)|u|^{q-2}u + \frac{\alpha}{\alpha+\beta}h(x)|u|^{\alpha-2}u|v|^{\beta} \text{ in } \mathcal{S} \setminus \mathcal{S}_{0};$$

$$-\Delta_{p}v = \gamma b(x)|v|^{q-2}v + \frac{\beta}{\alpha+\beta}h(x)|u|^{\alpha}|v|^{\beta-2}v \text{ in } \mathcal{S} \setminus \mathcal{S}_{0};$$

$$u = v = 0 \text{ on } \mathcal{S}_{0},$$
(1)

where S is the Sierpiński gasket in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $S_0$  is the boundary of S and  $\Delta_p$  denotes the p-Laplacian where p > 1.

We have proved the existence of two nontrivial weak solutions of problem (1) under suitable conditions on parameters involved in the equations. We have used Nehari manifold and fibering map like technique to the show existence of solutions.

- [1] Herman P. E., Peirone R., Strichartz R.S.(2004) p-energy and p-harmonic functions on Sierpinski gasket type fractals. *Potential Anal.*, Vol. 20(2), pp. 125-148.
- [2] Strichartz R.S., Wong C.(2004) The p-Laplacian on the Sierpiński gasket. *Nonlinearity*, Vol 17(2), pp. 595-616.

### Performance comparison of a geophysical code on manycore processors and hybrid clusters

#### Anna Sapetina

Novosibirsk State University, 1, Pirogova str., Novosibirsk, Russia Institute of Computational Mathematics and Mathematical Geophysics of SB RAS, 6, Prospect Akademika Lavrentjeva, Novosibirsk, Russia afsapetina@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Elastic wave; manycore systems; finite difference scheme; HPC; GPU; vectorization.

The solution of actual numerical simulation problems requires the development of parallel programs that efficiently use modern computational architectures. There is a possibility of choosing not only various mathematical methods and algorithms for solving a problem, but also various computational architectures. Therefore researchers have to solve a difficult task of determining the optimality of such a choice, which is often solved on partially intuitive level [1].

In this paper, the problem of seismic wave propagation in elastic 3D media typical of magmatic volcanoes is considered [2]. Using a finite difference method to solve this problem as an example, the features of the development and optimization of parallel codes for various modern multi-core architectures (Intel Broadwell, Intel Knights Landing, IBM POWER9, NVIDIA Fermi, NVIDIA Kepler) are considered. The effect of various strategies of computations and memory optimization on the final performance is investigated. We consider specific optimizations for different types of architectures.

Based on the carried out research, a high-performance software has been developed for the three types of clusters: equipped with processors Intel Xeon, Intel Xeon Phi and graphics accelerators. High scalability scores have been achieved.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research [grants No. 19-07-00085, 16-29-15120]; and the state assignment of FASO of Russia [No. 0315-2019-0009].

- [1] Glinskiy B.M., Kulikov I.M., Chernykh I.G., Snytnikov A.V., Sapetina A.F., Weins D.V. (2017) The Integrated Approach to Solving Large-Size Physical Problems on Supercomputers. *CCIS*, Vol. 793, pp. 278–289.
- [2] Glinskiy B.M., Martynov V.N., Sapetina A.F. (2015) 3D Modeling of Seismic Wave Fields in a Medium Specific to Volcanic Structures. *Yakutian Mathematical Journal*, Vol. 22(3), pp. 84–98

# Analysis of systems for operational data processing based on Big Data and their practical application

Kalamkas Seidakhmetova, Gulaiym Bayekova, Zhibek Sarsenova, Abu Kuandykov, Kulanda Duisebekova, Ryskhan Satybaldiyeva

International IT University, Almaty, Kazakhstan g.bayekova@iitu.kz, zh.sarsenova@iitu.kz, k.seidakhmetova@iitu.kz, a.kuadykov@iitu.kz, k.duisebekova@iitu.kz, r.satybaldiyeva@iitu.kz

**Keywords.** improve routing; air pollution; Neural network.

This article proposes a solution to improve routing and tracking the status of heterogeneous cargo to its destination, using GPS sensors and radio frequency identification (RFID) [1].

From large cargo emissions and air pollutants emissions, a solution is proposed, using IoT technologies, to collect incoming data on air humidity, temperature and maximum permissible concentrations of particulate matter in the atmosphere. Currently, all data is written manually in paper form and then transferred to a computer[2]. The authors analyze the existing systems and improve the existing ones.

The deterioration of environmental living conditions due to the large release of carbon dioxide into the environment leads to a decrease in the General condition of the human body and the development of cardiovascular diseases and cancer, tuberculosis, diabetes and others. According to the Universal health organization, cancer is in second place in mortality, both in the world and in Kazakhstan. It is recommended to build a neural network to identify the early stages of cancer of the citizens of the Republic of Kazakhstan, as well as General monitoring of the patient, forecasting the results of different methods of treatment and analysis of the effectiveness of the treatment.

- [1] Bashina O., Matraeva L. (2017) Sovremennye trendy ispol'zovaniia tekhnologii big data v ekonomicheskikh protsessakh v praktike zarubezhnykh i otechestvennykh kompanii. *Ekonomika i predprinimatel'stvo*, no. 5-1 (82-1), pp. 788-791.
- [2] Duysebekova K., Duzbaev N., Amanzholova S.(2018) Use applications for monitoring climate and climate environmental conditions. The bulletin of kazakh academy of transport and communications named after m. Tynyshpayev, Vol. 107, no.4 (2018), pp. 223-233.

## On an effective usage of numerical infinities and infinitesimals in economic models

Ekaterina Skatova, Maurizio La Rocca

University of Calabria, Via Pietro Bucci, 3C, 87036 Rende (CS), Italy ekaterina.skatova@unical.it, m.larocca@unical.it,

**Keywords.** Infinity in Economic Models; Infinity Computer; Numerical Computations; Paradoxes

There exist numerous economic models where infinite and infinitesimal quantities play an important role. It is sufficient to mention as examples infinite decision processes such as fair lotteries and other repeated games, games with an infinite number of players, and games appealing to infinitesimal probabilities. A typical example is the St. Petersburg paradox introduced by N. and D. Bernoulli in the early XVIII-th century. This paradox and other similar problems have attracted attention of numerous mathematicians and economists starting from De Morgan, Euler, Cournot, and Poisson, and more recently by Keynes, Arrow, Samuelson, Aumann, and Dutka. Unfortunately, traditional mathematical tools used to study these situations do not allow scientists to obtain unique, non disputable answers and often lead to very different results and paradoxes.

In our opinion, the reason is that traditional techniques either lead to various kinds of divergences and, as a consequence, become intractable mathematically or are based on purely symbolic considerations not involving numerical mathematics. In this talk, we discuss recent studies [1, 2] that approach infinite fair lotteries and some other infinite games numerically. This is done by applying a novel computational methodology (see [3,4]) giving the possibility to execute calculations with infinite, finite, and infinitesimal floating-point numbers. All of them (including the infinite ones) can be effectively stored in the memory of the supercomputer [3] and treated numerically. Advantages of this new, essentially numerical point of view on old economic models are discussed in the talk.

- [1] Fiaschi L., Cococcioni M. (2018) Numerical asymptotic results in game theory using Sergeyev's infinity computing. *International Journal of Unconventional Computing*, Vol. 14(1), 1–25.
- [2] Rizza D. (2019) Numerical methods for infinite decision-making processes. *International Journal of Unconventional Computing*, Vol. 14(2), 139–158.
- [3] Sergeyev Ya.D. Computer system for storing infinite, infinitesimal, and finite quantities and executing arithmetical operations with them: EU patent 1728149; RF Patent 2395111; USA patent 7,860,914.
- [4] Sergeyev Ya.D. (2017) Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 4(2), 219–320.

# Practical Enhancements for the LP/NLP Algorithm for Convex MINLPs

Meenarli Sharma and Ashutosh Mahajan

Indian Institute of Technology Bombay, Powai, Mumbai (MH) 400076, India meenarli@iitb.ac.in, amahajan@iitb.ac.in

Keywords. Convex MINLP; LP/NLP algorithm; Valid inequalities.

The LP/NLP based branch and bound [1] is one of the most effective algorithms for solving convex mixed-integer nonlinear programs (MINLPs). The algorithm starts by creating a mixed-integer linear relaxation of the nonlinear feasible region which is in turn solved by means of branch-and-cut. The linear relaxation is created using gradient based linear approximation of the functions in the constraints or objective. More such inequalities are added in order to obtain tighter relaxations as the algorithm progresses. While the algorithm is known to take finite number of steps, careful implementation and control are required for it to be practically useful. Convex MINLPs are known to be  $\mathcal{NP}$ -hard, and this algorithm, like others, can take long time to run. We demonstrate effectiveness of some practical ideas that enhance the performance of this algorithm. These methods have been implemented in the open-source MINOTAUR optimization toolkit and tested on benchmark instances.

First, we describe methods to detect the appropriate conditions for adding more inequalities. Adding them only when we reach integer feasible points in branch-and-cut tree may lead to a weak relaxation and hence a large tree, and adding too many of these early on can slow down the solution time. We use the primal and dual information provided by the solution of each node of the tree and the existing inequalities to ascertain whether new inequalities should be generated. Next, we describe methods to generate tight inequalities. A tight inequality should ideally touch a face of feasible region and also cut off a large portion of the relaxation. When a nonlinear constraint has both a nonlinear and a linear function with different variables, finding such an inequality is relatively easy and does not require solving a nonlinear problem. We note that this particular structure is widespread: almost all convex instances in the MINLP Library [2] exhibit this property in at least one constraint. Third, we present line search based methods for finding good points for generating linear inequalities when this structure is missing.

- [1] Quesada, I., Grossmann, I.E. (1992) An LP/NLP based branch and bound algorithm for convex MINLP optimization problems. In *Computers & chemical engineering*, 16(10-11), pp.937-947.
- [2] MINLP Library 2 (2014) http://www.gamsworld.org/minlp/minlplib2/html/

## Developing clustering algorithm for descriptor entities in education sector

Ivan Sharun<sup>1</sup>, Anna Zykina<sup>2</sup>, Olga Kaneva<sup>3</sup>,

Omsk State Technical University, 11 Mira, Omsk, Russia <sup>1</sup>ivan@sha.run, <sup>2</sup>avzykina@mail.ru, <sup>3</sup>okaneva@yandex.ru

#### Keywords.

descriptor approach; competence approach; semantic similarity.

The article proposes the algorithm to solve objects clustering problem for such subject areas as education and labour market. Such objects are competency, discipline, specialty, vacancy, etc. The main problem in clustering algorithm development proved to be the stage of attributes design since the named objects have descriptions in natural language. Consequently, a descriptive model for the objects was designed at first. The model was based on the fact that all necessary concepts are characterised in the space of descriptors "know", "can", etc. [1].

This allowed the object to be represented as a tuple based on the object name, descriptors (and their values) and keywords related to descriptors. To obtain such structures, the toolkit of context-relative text mining was used. The ability to represent the entities in question as a formal structure allowed the attribute space formation algorithm to be developed and complex metrics to be constructed to solve the stated clustering problem. The developed algorithm permits development of various services for a faster and more objective decision-making process in educational and professional sectors [2].

- [1] Kaneva O.N., Akimova K.A., Sharun I.V. (2017) Finding semantic similarity between the competences algorithm development *Informational bulletin of Omsk Scientific and Educational Center of OmSTU and SB RAS in the field of mathematics and computer science*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 155–157.
- [2] Zykina A.V., Kaneva O.N., Munko V.V. (2018) Algorithm of determining the competence of educational programs of higher education *Informational bulletin of Omsk Scientific and Educational Center of OmSTU and SB RAS in the field of mathematics and computer science*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 74–77.

# Compact filter regularization and error estimate for solving sideways heat equation

Ankita Shukla, Mani Mehra

Department of Mathematics, IIT Delhi, Hauz Khas, New Delhi-110016 ankita.shukla1509@gmail.com, mmehra@maths.iitd.ac.in

**Keywords.** Sideways heat equation; Compact filter regularization; Ill-posed problem; Error estimates.

In this paper, the sideways heat equation [1], sometimes referred to as the inverse heat conduction problem is considered to obtain a stable numerical solution. The sideways heat equation is a model of a problem where one wants to determine the temperature on both sides of a thick wall, but cannot measure the temperature on one side due to its inaccessibility. It is ill-posed in the sense of Hadamard, i.e., the solution (if it exists) does not depend continuously on the final temperature. Due to measurement and computational error, the numerical recovery of temperature at one end from measured data is a tough task. To overcome such difficulties, some regularization techniques [2,3] are required.

In this paper, the stable approximate solution of the sideways heat equation is obtained numerically using a compact filter regularization [4]. Proposed fourth-order compact filtering is first time used here as a new regularization technique of sideways heat equation where filtering is done in space rather than a Fourier domain. The heat equation is discretized by a differential-difference equation, where the time derivative has been replaced by a finite difference, and we analyze the approximation properties of time-discrete approximations using Fourier techniques. An error estimate between the exact and regularized solution is derived. The step length in the time discretization plays the role of the regularization parameter. Numerical examples are given to show that the method works effectively.

- [1] Eldén L. Approximations for a Cauchy problem for the heat equation. Inverse Problems, 3: 263–273, 1987.
- [2] Engl H. W., Hanke M. and Neubauer A. Regularization of Inverse problems. Kluwer Academics, Dordrecht, 1996.
- [3] Vogel C. R. Computational methods for inverse problems. SIAM, 2002.
- [4] Lele S. K. Compact finite difference schemes with spectral-like resolution. J. Comput. Phys., 103: 16–42, 1992.

### Finite Difference Approximation for Space-Time Fractional Diffusion Wave Equations

Abhishe Kumar Singh, Mani Mehra

Department of Mathematics, IIT Delhi,110016, India assinghabhi@gmail.com, manimeh@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Implicit finite difference method; Riesz space-fractional derivative; Stability; Convergence.

The traditional wave equations are used to model the wave propagation in an ideal conducting medium. For characterizing the wave propagation in an inhomogeneous medium with frequency dependent power-law attenuation, the space time fractional diffusion wave equations (FDWEs) appears [1]. In these equations, the power law behavior is characterized by the fractional derivative. The range of the exponent of power-law varies from 0 to 2 for example, for most solid and highly viscous materials, it is close to 2, while for some medium of practical interest such as bio-materials, it is from 1 to 1.7. Some of the applications of FDWEs include charge transport in amorphous semiconductors [2], propogation of mechanical waves in visco-elastic media [3] and many more.

This paper is concerned with the space-time fractional diffusion wave equation having different space and time fractional order. We consider an implicit unconditional stable finite difference method for solving time-space fractional diffusion wave equations. We use the Gerschgorin theorem to study the stability and consistency of the method. We also find the analytic solution for the same. Numerical solution of the proposed fractional diffusion-wave equation is obtained and the behavior of the error is examined to verify the order of convergence.

- [1] Li Y., Wang Y. and Deng W. (2017) Galerkin finite element approximations for stochastic space-time fractional wave equations. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 55(6):3173-3202.
- [2] Scher H. and Montroll E. W. (1975) Anomalous transit-time dispersion in amorphous solids. Physical Review B, 12(6):2455.
- [3] Mainardi F. and Paradisi P. (2001) Fractional diffusive waves. Journal of Computational Acoustics, 9(04):1417-1436.

### Artificial Neural Network Model to Prediction of Eutrophication and *Microcystis aeruginosa* Bloom in Maekuang Reservoir, Chiangmai, Thailand

Pawalee Srisuksomwong<sup>1</sup>, Jeeraporn Pekkoh<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Phuket Rajabhat University, Phuket, Thailand <sup>2</sup>Chiang Mai University, Chiangmai, Thailand Pawalee.s@pkru.ac.th, jeeraporn.p@cmu.ac.th

**Keywords.** Artificial Neural Network model; eutrophication; toxic cyanobacteria.

Maekuang reservoir is one of the water resources which provides water supply, livestock and recreational in Chiangmai city, Thailand. The water quality and *Microcystis aeruginosa* are a severe problem in many reservoirs. *Microcystis aeruginosa* is the most widespread toxic cyanobacteria in Thailand. Artificial Neural Network (ANN) model is a more powerful machine learning. ANN is able to learn from previous data and has been used to predict value. ANN consists of three layers as input, hidden, and output layer. Water quality data is collected biweekly at Maekuang reservoir (1999-2000). Input data for training including nutrients (ammonium, nitrate, phosphorus), Secchi depth, BOD, temperature, conductivity, pH and output data for testing as Chlorophyll a and *Microcystis aeruginosa* cells. Results indicate that the ANN can be predicted eutrophication indicators during the summer season and ANN has efficient for providing the new data set and predict the behavior of *Microcystis aeruginosa* bloom process.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by Phuket Rajabhat University

- [1] Peerapornpisal Y., Sonthichai W., Sukchotiratana M., Lipigorngoson S., Ruangyuttikarn W., Ruangrit K., Pekkoh J., Prommana R., Panuvanitchakorn N., Ngernpat N., S. Kiatpradab, and S. Promkutkaew (2002) Survey and monitoring of toxic cyanobacteria in water resources for water supplies and fisheries in Thailand *Chiang Mai Journal of Science*, Vol.29(2), pp. 71-79.
- [2] Kuo J.T., Hsieh M.H., Lung W.S. and She N. (2007) Using artificial neural network for reservoirs eutrophication prediction *Ecological Modelling*, Vol.200, pp. 171-177.
- [3] Lee J.H.W., Huang Y., Dickman M. and Jayawardena A.W. (2003) Neural network modeling of coastal algal blooms *Ecological Modelling*, Vol159, pp. 179-201.
- [4] Rafiee M. and Jahangiri-Rad M. (2015) Artificial neural network approaches to the prediction of eutrophication and algal blooms in Aras Dam *Iran.*, *Iranian Journal of Health Science* Vol.3(1): pp. 25-32.

# Acceleration of global search through dual Lipschitz constant estimates

Roman Strongin, Konstantin Barkalov, Semen Bevzuk

University of Nizhni Novgorod, Nizhni Novgorod, Russia barkalov@vmk.unn.ru

**Keywords.** Global optimization; multiextremal problems; Lipschitz constant estimates.

The paper considers global optimization problems with a black-box objective function satisfying the Lipschitz condition. Efficient algorithms for this class of problems require reliable estimates of the Lipschitz constant to be introduced. In fundamental work [1] various approaches have been proposed to take into account both global and local properties of the objective function. In particular, algorithms using local estimates of the Lipschitz constant have shown their potential [2, 3].

The new approach presented in this paper is based on simultaneous use of two estimates: one is substantially larger then the other. The larger estimate ensures global convergence and the smaller one reduces the total number of trials needed to find the global optimizer. Results of numerical experiments on the random sample of multidimensional functions demonstrate the efficiency of the suggested approach.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Russian Science Foundation, project No. 16-11-10150.

- [1] Strongin R.G., Sergeyev Ya.D. (2000) Global optimization with non-convex constraints. Sequential and parallel algorithms. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- [2] Lera D., Sergeyev Ya.D. (2010) (2010) An information global minimization algorithm using the local improvement technique. *J. Glob. Optim.*, Vol. 48(1), pp. 99–112.
- [3] Sergeyev Ya.D., Mukhametzhanov M.S., Kvasov D.E., Lera D. (2016) Derivative-free local tuning and local improvement techniques embedded in the univariate global optimization. *J. Optim. Theory Appl.*, Vol. 171(1), pp. 186–208.

# The method of approximate inverse in slice-by-slice vector tomography problems

Ivan E. Svetov<sup>1</sup>, Svetlana V. Maltseva<sup>1</sup>, Alfred K. Louis<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, Novosibirsk, Russia <sup>2</sup>Saarland University, Saarbrucken, Germany svetovie@math.nsc.ru, maltsevasv@math.nsc.ru, louis@num.uni-sb.de

**Keywords.** vector tomography; ray transform; solenoidal vector field.

Let a vector field be given in a three-dimensional unit ball. It is require to find the field by its known values of the ray transform, which maps vector fields to functions on a manifold of oriented lines.

The operator of ray transform has not trivial kernel. The kernel consists of potential vector fields with potentials that equal to zero on the unit sphere. Consequently we can reconstruct only solenoidal parts of vector fields from the ray transform.

In [1], [2] an algorithm of solving the problem of reconstruction of a solenoidal part of vector field was based on the inversion formulas [3]. The problem of recovering a solenoidal part of a three-dimensional vector field from ray transform known over all lines parallel to one of the coordinate planes was considered.

In this report we suggest an algorithm of solving the problem with the same scheme of data collection. The algorithm is based on the method of approximate inverse, which was successfully used to solve problems of two-dimensional vector and 2-tensor tomography [4].

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by RFBR and DFG according to the research project 19-51-12008.

- [1] Svetov I.E. (2012) Reconstruction of the solenoidal part of a three-dimensional vector field by its ray transforms along straight lines parallel to coordinate planes. *Numerical Analysis and Applications*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 271–283.
- [2] Svetov I.E. (2013) Slice-by-slice numerical solution of 3D-vector tomography problem. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, Vol. 410, art. no. 012042.
- [3] Sharafutdinov V.A. (2007) Slice-by-slice reconstruction algorithm for vector to-mography with incomplete data. *Inverse Problems*, Vol. 23, pp. 2603–2627.
- [4] Derevtsov E.Yu., Louis A.K., Maltseva S.V., Polyakova A.P., Svetov I.E. (2017) Numerical solvers based on the method of approximate inverse for 2D vector and 2-tensor tomography problems. *Inverse Problems*, Vol. 33, No. 12, art. no. 124001.

### A Numerical Approach of a Certain Type of Mixed Functional Differential Equations

#### M. Filomena Teodoro

CEMAT, Instituto Superior Técnico, Lisbon University, Av. Rovisco Pais, 1, 1048-001 Lisboa, Portugal

CINAV, Portuguese Naval Academy, Base Naval de Lisboa, Alfeite, 1910-001 Almada, Portugal maria.alves.teodoro@marinha.pt, mteodoro64@gmail.com

**Keywords.** Mixed-type functional differential equations; numerical approximation; homotopy analysis method.

In applied sciences, a wide number of mathematical models show up functional differential equations with delayed and advanced arguments, the mixed type functional differential equations (MTFDEs). MTFDEs appear in applied sciences such as biology, quantum physics, economy, control, acoustics, aerospace engineering. Some recent numerical methods to approximate the solution of a linear MTFDE were introduced in [1] and improved in [2,3]. More recently, these methods were adapted and used to solve numerically a nonlinear MTFDE [4]. This paper provides a technique to solve a functional nonlinear mixed differential equation. The proposed technique is based on homotopy analysis method. We analyze the performance and accuracy of the proposed method and compare with the results obtained previously using other numerical methods.

#### Acknowledgements.

his work was supported by Portuguese funds through the Center for Computational and Stochastic Mathematics (CEMAT), The Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT), University of Lisbon, Portugal, project UID/Multi-/04621/2019, and Center of Naval Research (CINAV), Naval Academy, Portuguese Navy, Portugal.

- [1] Iakovleva V., Vanegas C. (2005) On the Solution of differential equations with delayed and advanced arguments., *Journal of Differential Equation*, Conference 13, pp. 57–63.
- [2] Lima P. M., Teodoro M. F., Ford N. J., Lumb P. M. (2010) Analytical and Numerical Investigation of Mixed Type Functional Differential Equations. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, Vol. 234(9), pp. 2826–2837.
- [3] Lima P. M., Teodoro M. F., Ford N. J., Lumb P. M. (2010) Finite Element Solution of a Linear Mixed-Type Functional Differential Equation. *Numerical Algorithms*, Vol. 55, pp. 301–320.
- [4] Teodoro M. F. (2017) Numerical Solution of a Delay-Advanced Differential Equation from Physiology. Applied Mathematics & Information Sciences Vol. 11(5), pp. 1287-1297.

# Robust $H_{\infty}$ control for polytopic uncertainties discrete-time neural networks with leakage time-varying delay

Sasithorn Udpin, Eakachai Suntonsinsoungvon

Department of Mathematics Statistics and Computer Science, Faculty of Liberal Arts and Science, Kasetsart University, Kamphaeng Saen Campus, Nakhonpathom 73140, Thailand. sasithorn.u@ku.th, faasecs@ku.ac.th

**Keywords.** Discrete-time; Robust  $H_{\infty}$  control; Leakage time-varying delay; Polytopic uncertainties.

This paper is related to the robust  $H_{\infty}$  control problem for discrete-time neural networks (DNNs). The system with polytopic uncertainties, time-varying delay and time-varying delay of the leakage term is investigated. Our results are derived sufficient conditions in the form of linear matrix inequalities (LMIs). Base on the parameter dependent Lyapunov functional is presented to obtain delay dependent sufficient conditions for  $H_{\infty}$  optimal controller and S-procedure. The examples are given to show the effectiveness and guarantee of our theoretical results.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Kasetsart University Research and Development Institute (KURDI), Thailand.

- [1] Arunkumar A., Sakthivel R. and Mathiyalagan K. (2015) Robust reliable  $H_{\infty}$  control for stochatic neural networks with randomly occurring delays. *Neurocomputing*, Vol. 149, pp. 1524–1534.
- [2] Jarina L., Balasubramaniam P. (2016) Robust stability analysis for discrete-time neural networks with time-varying leakage delays and random parameter uncertainties. *Neurocomputing*, Vol. 179, pp. 126–134.
- [3] Niamsup P., Phat V.N. (2010)  $H_{\infty}$  control for nonlinear time-varying delay system with convex polytopic uncertainties. *Nonlinear Analysis*, Vol. 72, pp. 4254–4263.
- [4] Ricardo C. L. F. Oliverira, Pedro L. D. Peres (2008) Robust stability analysis and control design for time-varying discrete-time polytopic systems with bounbed parameter variation. In Proceedings of the *American Control Conference "2008"*, Seattle, Washington, USA, p. 3094.

### Computational Fluid Dynamics Methods for Wind Resources Assesment

Sabine Upnere<sup>1</sup>, Valerijs Bezrukovs<sup>1,2</sup>, Vladislavs Bezrukovs<sup>1</sup>, Normunds Jekabsons<sup>1</sup>, Linda Gulbe<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Ventspils University of Applied Sciences, Inzenieru Street 101, Latvia

<sup>2</sup>Institute of Physical Energetics, Riga, Latvia
sabineu@venta.lv, valerijsb@venta.lv, vladislavsb@venta.lv, normundsj@venta.lv,
lindag@venta.lv

**Keywords.** CFD; flow modelling; RANS equations; wind resources.

Increasing wind resource applicability leads to the interest of the wind turbine installations in areas with more uniform topography. In-site measurements could be the expensive and time-consuming way how to determine the suitability of the area for the wind power generation even there are used already existing infrastructures (such as telecommunications masts) for the mounting of measurement sensors. The alternative is to use numerical methods, for example, Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD).

In this research, the typical topology near the Baltic Sea is analysed using Reynolds Averaged Navier-Stokes equations to evaluate numerically the turbulent airflow over coastal terrain. The multispectral satellite images are utilized to describe the topology of the interested area. Digital Elevation Model is used to generate the ground surface which is applied as the input to develop the high-resolution computational mesh of the coastal terrain. Computational domain parallelization and the computational cluster is applied due to the complexity of the numerical simulations. Obtained results are compared with experimentally measured data from wind speed sensors located on the telecommunication mast.

#### Acknowledgements.

The work is carried out within the project New European Wind Atlas (NEWA), ENER/FP7/618122/NEWA ERA-NET PLUS, supported by the EUROPEAN COM-MISSION under the 7th Framework Programme for Research, Technological Development and Demonstration.

# On Stationary Points of Distance Depending Potentials

Alexei Yu. Uteshev, Marina V. Goncharova

St. Petersburg State University, 7-9 Universitetskaya nab., St. Petersburg, 199034 Russia alexeiuteshev@gmail.com, marina.yashina@gmail.com

Keywords. Coulomb potential; optimal facility location; Weber problem.

Given fixed points  $\{P_j\}_{j=1}^K \subset \mathbf{R}^n, K \geq 3$  and the nonnegative reals  $\{m_j\}_{j=1}^K$ , we investigate the structure of the stationary point set for the function

$$F(X) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} m_j |XP_j|^L, \ X \in \mathbf{R}^n$$

with  $|\cdot|$  standing for the Euclidean distance. We compare the structure of the stationary point sets for several values of the exponent  $L \in \mathbf{R}$ , focusing ourselves mainly onto the cases  $n \in \{2,3\}$  and

- (a) L = -1, i.e. Coulomb potential for the point charges  $\{m_j\}$  fixed at the positions  $\{P_j\}$  [1];
- (b) L = +1, i.e. the objective function for the Weber unifacility optimal location problem [2].

We develop the analytical approach to the problem aiming at finding the exact number of stationary points and their location in dependency of the parameters involved. Generalization of the problem to the case of the function

$$G(X_1, X_2) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} \left\{ m_{1,j} |X_1 P_j|^L + m_{2,j} |X_2 P_j|^L \right\} + m|X_1 X_2|^L, \ \{X_1, X_2\} \subset \mathbf{R}^n$$

is also discussed.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the RFBR according to the project No 17-29-04288.

- [1] Uteshev A.Yu., Yashina M.V. (2016) On Maxwell's conjecture for Coulomb potential generated by point charges. *Lect. Notes Comput. Sc.* Springer, Vol. 9570, pp. 68–80.
- [2] Uteshev A.Yu., Semenova E.A. (2019) Geometry and analytics of the multifacility Weber problem. Submitted for publication.

### Learning Aerial Image Similarity using Triplet Networks

Vytautas Valaitis, Virginijus Marcinkevičius

Vilnius University, Faculty of Mathematics and Informatics, Didlaukio g. 47, LT-08303 Vilnius, Lithuania

vytautas.valaitis@mif.vu.lt, virginijus.marcinkevicius@mii.vu.lt

**Keywords.** Image similarity; neural networks; localization.

Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) faces localization challenges in satellite navigation systems denied environments. Images taken from on-board cameras can be used to compare against orthophotographical map to support visual localization algorithms, such as particle filter localization, synchronous localization and mapping (SLAM). Image similarity estimation can be achieved calculating various similarity metrics, such as Pearson correlation, Mean squares, Pattern intensity or Mutual information. Pearson correlation is not robust against image displacement caused by aircraft frame movement, previous work [1] show that aircraft heading angle error of 5 degrees causes 35% decreased in correlation measure compared with matched image with no rotational error. In other hand, distance-based metrics (e.g. Mean squares) struggle from Curse of dimensionality. We propose a new architecture of triplet neuron network [2] to learn image similarity measure and to deal with such problems. The proposed architecture incorporates VGG16 network base layers, top layer structure being suggested by authors. Flight simulator was used to generate aerial images simulating UAV flight conditions. Images were matched to the maps from satellite photo. The matching results from proposed neural network architecture are compared and evaluated against Pearson correlation.

- [1] Jurevičius, R., Marcinkevičius, V., Taujanskas, V (2017). Application of vision-based particle filter and visual odometry for UAV localization, *Minsk: BGU*.
- [2] Wang J., Song Y., et al. (2014) Learning fine-grained image similarity with deep ranking. In Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pp. 1386-1393.

# Integral and differential operators as the tools of integral geometry and tomography

Yuriy Volkov<sup>1</sup>, Evgeny Derevtsov<sup>1</sup>, Thomas Schuster<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Sobolev Institute of Mathematics SB RAS, Novosibirsk, Russia <sup>2</sup>Saarland University, Saarbrücken, Germany volkov@math.nsc.ru, dert@math.nsc.ru, thomas.schuster@num.uni-sb.de

**Keywords.** Integral operators; tensor tomography; integral geometry; ray transform; angular moment.

Integral and differential operators are important tools at settings, investigations and solving methods for problems of integral geometry, tensor and refraction tomography. Integral transforms represent the essence of tomography approaches, consisting in nondestructive mode of obtaining information, which is accumulated along lines of integration. At present a list of integral operators, describing initial data, is very vast. It includes such operators as generalized Radon transforms, weighted longitudinal, transverse and mixed ray transforms of tensor fields [1]-[3].

Second family of integral operators is applied for investigations and solving the problems of integral geometry and refractive tensor tomography. It should be recalled that inversion formulas for the Radon transform contain integral operators of back-projection, Riesz potential, Fourier and Hilbert transforms. A generalization of back-projection operator provides the operators of angular moments for attenuated ray transforms of tensor fields, et al. Differential operators of tensor analysis and the operators of angular moments, present useful tools for investigation of integral geometry and tomography problems [3].

Properties of attenuated weighted ray transforms and angular moments of ray transforms for tensor fields are established. The differential equations for generalized ray transforms and their connections are investigated.

#### Acknowledgements.

The reported study was funded partially by RFBR and DFG according to the research project 19-51-12008.

- [1] Svetov I. E., Derevtsov E. Yu., Volkov Yu. S., Schuster T. (2014) A numerical solver based on B-splines for 2D vector field tomography in a refracting medium. *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation*, Vol. 97, pp. 207–223.
- [2] Derevtsov E. Yu., Svetov I. E. (2015) Tomography of tensor fields in the plane. Eurasian J. Math. Comp. Applications, Vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 24–68.
- [3] Derevtsov E. Yu. (2018) On a generalization of attenuated ray transform in tomography. Sib. J. of Pure and Applied Math., Vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 29–41.

# Modelling population size using Horvitz-Thompson approach based on the Poisson Lindley distribution

#### Ratchaneewan Wongprachan

Division of Statistics, Maejo University, Sansai, Chiangmai, 50290, Thailand ratchaneewan@mju.ac.th

**Keywords.** Poisson-Lindley distribution; Zero-truncated distribution; Horvitz-Thompson estimators; Variance estimation.

Capture-recapture analysis is applied to estimate the number of population in ecology, biology, social science, medicine, linguistics and software engineering. The Poisson distribution is one of the simplest models for count data and appropriate for homogeneous population. On the other hand, it is found to underestimate the counts for overdispersed data. In this study, I have focused on the mixture of Poisson and Lindley distribution which can exhibit overdispersed count data and right long tail. Consequently, there are some individuals unobserved, the zero-truncated Poisson Lindley distribution is considered. The parameter of distribution can be estimated using the maximum likelihood estimation. In simulation studies, the Horvitz-thompson estimator is presented for modelling the population size. Point and interval estimation of the target population under the zero-truncated Poisson Lindley distribution are proposed. The variance estimation by conditioning is used for the confidence interval of population size. Bias and mean square error are used for measuring the accuracy of the estimator. The simulation results show that the Horvitz-Thompson estimator under the zero-tuncated Poisson Lindley distribution provides a good fit rather than the zero-truncated Poisson distribution.

- [1] Böhning D. (2008) A simple variance formula for population size estimators by conditioning. *Statistical Methodology*, Vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 410–423.
- [2] Ghitany M. (2008) Zero-truncated poisson-lindley distribution and its application. Mathematics and Computers in Simulation, Vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 279–287.
- [3] Shanker R. (1970) The discrete poisson-lindley distribution. *Biometrics*, Vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 145–149.
- [4] van der Heijden P. G. (2003) Point and interval estimation of the population size using the truncated poisson regression model. *Statistical Modelling*, Vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 305–322.

# On unconstrained optimization problems solved using CDT and triality theory

#### Constantin Zălinescu

University "Al. I. Cuza" Iasi, Bd. Carol I, 11, 700506-Iasi, Romania zalinesc@uaic.ro

Keywords. Canonical duality theory; extended Lagrangian, dual function.

D.Y. Gao solely or in collaboration applied his Canonical duality theory (CDT) for solving a class of unconstrained optimization problems, getting the so-called "triality theorems".

As mentioned in the recent book [2], "triality theory can be used to identify both global and local optimality conditions and to develop powerful algorithms for solving challenging problems in complex systems".

Unfortunately, the "double-min duality" from the triality theorems published before 2010 revealed to be false, even if in the paper [1] DY Gao announced that "certain additional conditions" are needed for getting it.

Beginning with 2011, D.Y. Gao together with some of his collaborators published several papers in which they added additional conditions for getting "double-min" and "double-max" dualities in the triality theorems; a general case is considered in [3], while particular cases are treated in several papers.

Our aim in this talk is to indicate an approach for treating rigorously this kind of problems and to discuss several results concerning the "triality theory" obtained up to now.

- [1] Gao D.Y. (2003) Perfect duality theory and complete solutions to a class of global optimization problems, Optimization, Vol. 52, pp. 467–493.
- [2] Gao D.Y., Latorre V., Ruan N. (2017) Praface. In: Canonical Duality Theory. Unified Methodology for Multidisciplinary Study (ed. Gao D.Y. et al.), Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 37. Cham (Switzerland), Springer.
- [3] Gao D.Y., Wu C. (2017) Triality theory for general unconstrained global optimization problems. In: Canonical Duality Theory. Unified Methodology for Multidisciplinary Study (ed. Gao D.Y. et al.), Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 37, Cham (Switzerland), Springer, pp. 127–153.

# Potential usefulness of the grossone and infinity computer in probability

Anatoly Zhigljavsky

Mathematics Institute, Cardiff University, CF24 4AG, UK zhigljavskyaa@cardiff.ac.uk

**Keywords.** probability theory; uniform distribution; binomial distribution; normal distribution

As comprehensively surveyed in [1], a recently developed grossone-based methodology is finding more and more potential applications in diverse areas. So far, all these applications were concentrated around such areas as linear algebra, computational mathematics and optimization. In this talk, we discuss different aspects of applied probability theory where this methodology could also be useful. Grossone, denoted by ①, can either appear as a version of infinity or in the form 1/, where it would signify an infinitesimal. Both appearances can be very handy. For example, we can think of the binomial distribution  $Bin(\mathfrak{D},p)$ , where  $\mathfrak{D}$  is the number of Bernoulli trials and p is the probability of success in these trials. CLT (Central limit theorem) can be stated as saying that the distribution  $[Bin(\mathbb{Q},p)-p\mathbb{Q}]/\sqrt{\mathbb{Q}}$  is approximately N(0,1), Gaussian distribution with mean 0 and variance 1. As will be discussed in the talk, dealing with  $[Bin(\mathfrak{D},p)-p\mathfrak{D}]/\sqrt{\mathfrak{D}}$ , rather than with N(0,1), may have some advantages. In particular, the set of values, where the distribution  $[Bin(\mathfrak{Q},p)-p\mathfrak{Q}]/\sqrt{\mathfrak{Q}}$  is supported, is clearly defined and hence when we will be manipulating with the limiting distribution we can always track its support and, for example, avoid assigning negative values for estimators of p.

The second appearance of  $\mathbb{O}$ , in the form  $1/\mathbb{O}$ , can be even more useful. Consider, for example, a standard uniform distribution on [0,1] and its discretized version, the distribution assigning weights  $1/(\mathbb{O}-1)$  to points  $i/\mathbb{O}$  for  $i=1,2,\ldots,\mathbb{O}-1$  and weights  $1/2\mathbb{O}$  to points 0 and 1. Dealing with the discretized version allows us to avoid 'zero measure' discussions and makes interpretations of at least some results more intuitively clear. We shall discuss the problem of transforming discretized random variables and computing expectation of these random variable in detail. To a large extent, the discussions follow the lines used in studying 'computer arithmetic'; see [2].

- [1] Sergeyev, Y.D. (2017). Numerical infinities and infinitesimals: Methodology, applications, and repercussions on two Hilbert problems. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, 4(2), 219-320.
- [2] Brent, R. P., Zimmermann, P. (2010). *Modern computer arithmetic*. Cambridge University Press.

### On some challenges in Bayesian global optimization

#### Antanas Žilinskas

Vilnius University, Akademijos str. 4, Vilnius, LT-08663, Lithuania antanas.zilinskas@mii.vu.lt

**Keywords.** global optimization; Bayesian approach; statistical models.

Interest in Bayesian global optimization methods is increasing as well as in their applications. Despite the increasing interest, some crucial problems remain outside of the focus of researchers. A methodology of the selection of an appropriate statistical model of an aimed objective function is not available. Moreover, the estimability of parameters of some popular statistical models is questionable [1]. The majority of methods are based on the optimization of surrogate functions which are defined combining conditional mean and variance of a chosen statistical model without decision theoretic substantiation. Thus the contemporary developments seem moving away from the original ides to develop global optimization methods based on the theory of rational decision making under uncertainty. We argue for the continuation of the original concept of the Bayesian approach to global optimization. In the present paper we discuss the bi-objective selection of a current iteration of a global search method in the context of the theory of rational decision making under uncertainty. We show that some known methods are particular cases of the method of bi-objective selection. The appropriateness of a statistical model of a considered objective function during the optimization process is discussed. The possibilities of on old idea [2] of application of a dual model of an objective function for the development of hybrid algorithms are considered.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research was supported by the Research Council of Lithuania under Grant No. P-MIP-17-61

- [1] Zhigljavsky A., Žilinskas A. (2019) Selection of a covariance function for a Gaussian random field aimed for modeling global optimization problems. *Optimization Letters*, Vol. 13, pp. 249—259.
- [2] Žilinskas A.. (1978) Optimization of one-dimensional multimodal functions, Algorithm AS133. *Journal of Royal Statistical Society, ser. C*, Vol. 23, pp. 367–385.

# Ranking-based Discrete Optimization Algorithm for Asymmetric Competitive Facility Location

Julius Žilinskas<sup>1</sup>, Algirdas Lančinskas<sup>1</sup>, Pascual Fernández<sup>2</sup>, and Blas Pelegrín<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Vilnius University, Institute of Data Science and Digital Technologies
Akademijos 4, 08663, Vilnius, Lithuania.

<sup>2</sup>University of Murcia, Department of Statistics and Operations Research
Campus Espinardo, 30071 Murcia, Spain.

{algirdas.lancinskas, julius.zilinskas}@mii.vu.lt,
{pelegrin, pfdez}@um.es

**Keywords.** Asymmetric Facility Location; Binary Choice Rule; Combinatorial Optimization; Random Search.

A competitive facility location is important for firms which provide goods or services to customers in a certain geographical area and compete for the market share with other firms. There are various facility location models and strategies to solve them, which differ by their ingredients such as a facility attraction function, customers behavior rules, decision variables, a search space, objective function(s), etc.

We address a discrete competitive facility location problem for an entering firm, which wants to locate some new facilities with fixed qualities in a geographical region, where similar facilities of other competing firms are already present. The problem contains an asymmetric objective function and uses a binary customers choice rule. Both an integer linear programming formulation and a heuristic optimization algorithm based on ranking of candidate locations are designed to solve the problem. The proposed algorithm is specially adopted for the discrete facility location problems by utilizing their features such as geographical distances and the maximal possible utility of candidate locations, which can be evaluated in advance. Performance of the algorithm was experimentally investigated by solving different instances of the discrete competitive facility location problem with an asymmetric objective function.

The results of the experimental investigation demonstrate that the proposed heuristic algorithm is able to determine the optimal solution for different instances of facility location problems, and notably outperforms well-known heuristic algorithm, which is considered as a good strategy for such kind of problems.

**Acknowledgements.** This research is funded by the European Social Fund under the No 09.3.3-LMT-K-712 "Development of Competences of Scientists, other Researchers and Students through Practical Research Activities" measure.

This research is funded by the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness of Spain under the research project MTM2015-70260-P, and by the Fundación Séneca (The Agency of Science and Technology of the Region of Murcia) under the research project 19241/PI/14.

# Formulation of the preparation problem of a commercial product batch under uncertainty

Anna Zykina<sup>1</sup>, Olga Kaneva<sup>2</sup>, Vladimir Savkin<sup>3</sup>, Tatyana Fink<sup>4</sup>

Omsk State Technical University, 11 Mira, Omsk, Russia  $^1$ avzykina@mail.ru,  $^2$ okaneva@yandex.ru,  $^3$ just.a.man@list.ru,  $^4$ tatyanafink@yandex.ru

**Keywords.** Oil refining; mathematical tools of automated systems; production processes optimization; interval optimization.

Oil refining is a key industry of the world economy. The increasing production cost of hydrocarbons and global competition in the oil market contribute to stimulate the oil refining industry to optimize production scheme. The evolution of mathematical support of automated enterprise management systems is closely connected with the systems development at each level of management. And that mathematical tools performed from lower level to top level and invertedly by priorities [1].

Mathematical models of enterprise organizational and economic management and models of process control are widely presented in the literature and implemented in the information systems of enterprise. Operational-scheduled and dispatching production management one of the most complex problems. And operational planning of continuous production is not fully described in the literature and has no "box" solutions [2].

The paper deals with the blending problem of components from tanks to obtain the necessary quantity and quality of petroleum products in the product tank. The feature of the mathematical models is constructed under the constraint that the only quality indicators is specified. Interval and stochastic approaches are formalized to obtained uncertainty.

#### Acknowledgements.

The study was carried out with the financial support of the Russian Foundation for Basic Research and the Omsk Region in the framework of the research project No. 18-41-550003.

- [1] Zykina A.V., Savelev M.Yu., Fink T.Yu. (2018) Multi-level management of oil refining production. Requirements for research tasks *Omsk Scientific Bulletin*, Vol. 162, No. 6, pp. 271–274.
- [2] Zykina A.V., Savelev M.Yu., Fink T.Yu. (2018) Characteristics of the process of control account management in multi-level management of oil refining production *Applied mathematics and fundamental Informatics*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 5–14.

#### List of Authors

Acampora L., 127 Bonora M. A., 77, 79–81, 87 Borrelli A., 86 Aceto L., 155 Adam L., 206 Botmart T., 164 Adamo M. T., 66 Breuza E., 209 Addawe R. C., 156 Brugnano L., 193 Adjiman C. S., 219 Brunato M., 163 Agapito G., 113 Bubba T. A., 103 Aksonov V., 157 Caldarola F., 59, 60, 67, 69, 70, 77, 78 Alassar R., 158 Calidonna C. R., 120 Alberico I., 120 Campagna R., 43, 97 Aleksandrov A., 159 Candelieri A., 166–168 Alexandre Dit Sandretto J., 213 Cannataro M., 113 Alfonsi G., 202, 203 Capano G., 79–81, 87 Amodio P., 160, 193 Carini M., 79-81, 87 Antonelli L., 52 Caristi G., 136–138 Antoniotti L., 59 Caterina G., 144 Aràndiga F., 55 Cavallaro L., 169 Archetti F., 166, 168 Cavoretto R., 44, 46 Arcuri P., 115 Chernykh I., 170 Astorino A., 183 Chiaravalloti F., 81 Avolio E., 120 Chouzenoux E., 101, 102 Avolio M., 183 Cianflone G., 120 Bünger F., 165 Cicirelli F., 114 Bagdasar O., 161, 169 Cococcioni M., 171, 172, 181 Baranov N., 162 Colombo G., 209 Barberousse A., 143 Conti C., 43 Barilla D., 137, 138 Corbineau M. C., 102 Barkalov K., 236 Cortese D., 60 Battiti R., 163 Costa M. F. P., 173 Bayekova G., 229 Cotrona R., 80 Bellini E., 68 Crisci S., 104 Benfenati A., 101 Cudazzo A., 172 Bertacchini F., 62, 63, 65 Cuomo S., 43, 91, 94 Bertocchi C., 102 Bevzuk S., 236 D'Alotto L., 25 Bezrukovs V., 240 D'Ambrosio D., 115, 116, 119 Bianchini R., 35 d'Atri G., 59–61, 67, 69, 70 Bilotta E., 62, 63, 65 d'Atri S., 61 Bohner M., 135 D'Onghia M., 115

Bonettini S., 108

Danilenko O., 174

De Leone R., 26
De Luca D. L., 175
De Luca P., 92
De Marchi S., 49
De Meo P., 169
De Pietro M., 62
De Rango A., 115, 116, 119
De Rosa R., 120

De Rosa R., 120 De Rossi A., 44, 46

Deb K., 27

Dell'Accio F., 45–47

Demarco F., 63 Derevtsov E., 243

Di Gregorio S., 64, 120 Di Puglia Pugliese L., 176

di Serafino D., 52, 109 Di Tommaso F., 45–47 Diaz de Alba P, 51

Dominici R., 120 Donat R., 55

Dostál Z., 105

Duisebekova K., 229 Dzemyda G., 177

Edelat G., 136 Egidi N., 48, 50

Emharuethai C., 178

Erb W., 49

Falcone A., 179 Fasano G., 180 Fatone L., 50

Fermo L., 50

Fernández P., 248

Fernandes E. M. G. P., 173

Ferraro D., 202 Fiaschi L., 181 Filatovas E., 182

Fillion N., 145 Fink T., 249

Fiumara G., 169

Florio E., 121

Folino G., 117

Forestiero A., 118

Formaggia L., 28

Franchini G., 106

Francomano E., 52

Fuduli A., 183

Fukushima M., 184

Fuoco D., 86

Furnari L., 82, 116

Gabriele L., 65

Galaris E., 128

Galasso L., 175

Galletti A., 92

Galuzzi B., 168

Gangle R., 144

Gao K., 94

Garloff J., 185

Garrì D., 61

Garro A., 179

Garzón E. M., 182

Gaudio R., 202

Gaudioso M., 186

Gergel V., 187

Gerván H. H., 151

Geum Y. H., 188

Giallombardo G., 186

Giampaolo F., 91

Giannino F., 129, 132

Giglio S., 65 Gil M., 122

Gillard J., 189, 215

Giordani I., 168

Giordano A., 114-116, 119

Giunta G., 92

Goncharova M. V., 241

Gorbunov A., 224

Goryachikh A., 187

Graf O., 56

Granat J., 176

Gregoretti F., 52

Gregori D., 209

Grishagin V., 190

Gualdi S., 86

Guerriero F., 176

Gulbe L., 240

Gupta A., 208

Guthrie R., 191

Hahn B. N., 222 Hammachukiattikul P., 192 Hancyzc M. M., 93 Heidarkhani S., 137 Hesthaven J. S., 29 Horák D., 107 Iavernaro F., 193 Ingarozza F., 66 Isac M., 191 Israfilov R., 190 Iudin D., 195 Iudin F., 195 Jankunec M., 225 Jekabsons N., 240 Jirawattanapanit A., 196 KahramanoğullarıO., 93 Kaliszewski I., 182 Kaneva O., 232, 249 Kanzi N., 138 Kel'manov A., 198, 217 Khabdeev V., 198

Jirawattanapanit A., 196
KahramanoğullarıO., 93
Kaliszewski I., 182
Kaneva O., 232, 249
Kanzi N., 138
Kel'manov A., 198, 217
Khabdeev V., 198
Khachay M., 197
Khamidullin S., 217
Khandeev V., 199
Kolokolnikov T., 139
Korotchenko A. G., 200
Kostousova E. K., 201
Kounchev O., 53
Kuandykov A., 229
Kulikov I., 170
Kumar V., 205
Kumar V. V. K. S., 218
Kurasova O., 182
Kurushina S., 223
Kutyniok G., 103
Kvasov D. E., 211, 212, 214

La Rocca M., 230 Lančinskas A., 248 Larosa S., 120 Lassas M., 103 Lauria A., 202, 203 Leonardis A., 59, 67 Lera D., 204
Leugering G., 210
Liotta A., 161, 169
Lirer F., 120
Lochab R., 205
Lolli G., 146
Louis A. K., 237
Lupiano V., 120

März M., 103
Mácha V., 206
MacLeod M., 147
Mahajan A., 216, 231
Maiolo M., 70, 77–81, 87
Makarov A., 207
Malhotra T., 208

Makarov A., 207 Malhotra T., 208 Maltseva S. V., 237 Mancusi E., 130 Maponi P., 48 Marcellino L., 92 Marchetti F., 49, 209 Marcinkevičius V., 242 Marra F. S., 127

Marra F. S., 127 Martino M., 66 Martorell X., 122 Masi P., 97

Mastroianni C., 114 Mazzia F., 30, 193 Meškauskas T., 225 Mehandiratta V., 210 Mehra M., 210, 233, 234

Mei G., 94

Mendicino G., 82, 86, 116

Menniti D., 65 Miglionico G., 186 Miroforidis J., 182

Misci L., 50 Molevich N., 223

Moreno J. J., 182

Mukhametzhanov M. S., 179, 211, 212, 214

Mullier O., 213 Muranho J., 77 Murru N., 68

Napolitano J., 83

Nasso M. C., 214 Natalini R., 35 Neznakhina K., 197 Niamsup P., 178 Novati P., 155

O'Neill S., 161 O'Riordan E., 215 Occorsio D., 54 Ogorodnikov Y., 197

Palermo S. A., 84
Palermo S.A., 85
Paliaga M., 52
Palkar P., 216
Panasenko A., 217
Pantano P., 62, 63, 65
Pantusa D., 80, 81, 87
Pappalardo M., 172
Papuzzo G., 118
Parker M., 148
Patra S., 218

Paulavičius R., 219 Pecha M., 107

Pekkoh J., 235 Pelegrín B., 248

Pellegrini M., 59, 69

Pelosi N., 120

Penkauskas T., 225

Perego R., 167

Perracchione E., 49, 95

Pesquet J. C., 101, 102

Petroselli A., 175

Piccialli F., 94

Pinjai S., 220

Pinnarelli A., 65

Pirillo G., 70

Piro P., 85

Pirouz B., 84, 85

Pisani F. S., 117

Piscitelli A., 66

Pizzuti C., 221

Podkopaev D., 182

Polyakova A. P., 222

Pontieri L., 117

Porfiriev D., 223 Porta F., 104 Pospelov I., 140

Posypkin M. A., 204, 224

Pratap A., 226 Prato M., 102, 108 Primavera L., 121 Priyadarshi A., 227 Protasov V., 170

Raei M., 92

Rahnama Rad K., 96

Raila T., 225

Rajchakit G., 226

Ramachandran R., 226

Rasina I., 174

Rebegoldi S., 108

Rizza D., 71, 149

Rocha A. M. A. C., 173

Rodriguez G., 51 Romani L., 55

Romano A., 97

Rongo R., 115, 119

Rossini M., 49, 55 Ruggiero V., 104

Russo L., 129–132

Sabaliauskas M., 177

Sadaghieh A., 136

Sahu A., 227

Samek W., 103

Sanna A., 86

Sapentina A., 228

Sarsenova Z., 229

Satybaldiyeva R., 229

Savkin V., 249

Schuster T., 243

Scuoro C., 63

Sechi G. M., 83

Seidakhmetova K., 229

Senatore A., 82, 86, 115, 116

 $Sergeyev\ Ya.\ D.,\ 21,\ 36,\ 172,\ 179,\ 195,\ 204,$ 

 $211,\ 212,\ 214$ 

Serpe A., 72, 73

Settanni G., 160

Severino G., 91

Sharma M., 216, 231

Sharun I., 232

Shukla A., 233

Siettos C., 128–132

Siltanen S., 103

Singh A., 208

Singh K.S., 234

Sinopoli S., 87

Skatova E., 230

Šmídl V., 206

Smoryakova V. M., 200

Sochkov A.L., 150

Socievole A., 221

Sorrentino N., 65

Sousa J., 77, 80, 81

Spataro D., 115

Spataro W., 115, 119

Spiliotis K., 129, 132

Srinivasan V., 103

Srisuksomwong P., 235

Straface S., 116

Strongin R., 236

Suntonsinsoungvon E., 239

Svetov I. E., 237

Talarico V. C., 84

Tamberg G., 56

Teodoro M. F., 238

Thanh L. V., 61

Themistoclakis W., 54

Tiralongo S., 73

Titi J., 185

Toraldo G., 97, 109

Toropov V., 37

Trillini C., 152

Turco M., 85

Udpin S., 239

Unyong B., 226

Upnere S., 240

Usevich K., 189

Uteshev A. Yu., 241

Utrera G., 122

Valaitis V., 242

Valinčius G., 225

Viola M., 109

Viscomi A., 120

Visokolskis S., 151, 152

Vlach O., 105

Volkov Y., 243

Vrahatis M. N., 31

Weera W., 164

Wongprachan R., 244

Zălinescu C., 245

Zanni L., 104, 106

Zavershinsky I., 223

Zhigljavsky A., 32, 215, 246

Zhukova A., 140

Zilinskas A., 247

Žilinskas J., 248

Zykina A., 232, 249

ISBN 9788874581016

9 788874 581016 >